CURRENT INSIGHTS INTO HOST IMMUNE RESPONSES TO HUMAN RESPIRATORY SYNCYTIAL VIRUS (RSV) AND CHALLENGES TOWARDS EFFICIENT TREATMENTS AND VACCINES AGAINST RSV

EDITED BY: Alexis M. Kalergis and Steven Varga PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology



0





Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-918-2 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-918-2

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

1

CURRENT INSIGHTS INTO HOST IMMUNE RESPONSES TO HUMAN RESPIRATORY SYNCYTIAL VIRUS (RSV) AND CHALLENGES TOWARDS EFFICIENT TREATMENTS AND VACCINES AGAINST RSV

Topic Editors:

Alexis M. Kalergis, Pontificia Universidad Católica de chile, Chile Steven Varga, The University of Iowa, United States

We acknowledge the initiation and support of this Research Topic by the International Union of Immunological Societies (IUIS). We hereby state publicly that the IUIS has had no editorial input in articles included in this Research Topic, thus ensuring that all aspects of this Research Topic are evaluated objectively, unbiased by any specific policy or opinion of the IUIS

Citation: Kalergis, A. M., Varga, S., eds. (2018). Current Insights into Host Immune Responses to Human Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) and Challenges Towards Efficient Treatments and Vaccines Against RSV. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-918-2

Table of Contents

- **04** *Current Insights in the Development of Efficacious Vaccines Against RSV* Jorge A. Soto, Laura M. Stephens, Kody A. Waldstein, Gisela Canedo-Marroquín, Steven M. Varga and Alexis M. Kalergis
- 09 Role of Type I Interferon (IFN) in the Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) Immune Response and Disease Severity Diego R. Hijano, Luan D. Vu, Lawrence M. Kauvar, Ralph A. Tripp,

Fernando P. Polack and Stephania A. Cormier

23 Sublingual Immunization With an RSV G Glycoprotein Fragment Primes IL-17-Mediated Immunopathology Upon Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection

In Su Cheon, Joo Young Kim, Youngjoo Choi, Byoung-Shik Shim, Jung-ah Choi, Dae-Im Jung, Jae-Ouk Kim, Thomas J. Braciale, Hyewon Youn, Man Ki Song and Jun Chang

37 Antigenic Site-Specific Competitive Antibody Responses to the Fusion Protein of Respiratory Syncytial Virus Were Associated With Viral Clearance in Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation Adults

Xunyan Ye, Obinna P. Iwuchukwu, Vasanthi Avadhanula, Letisha O. Aideyan, Trevor J. McBride, Laura L. Ferlic-Stark, Kirtida D. Patel,

Felipe-Andres Piedra, Dimpy P. Shah, Roy F. Chemaly and Pedro A. Piedra

47 Immune-Modulation by the Human Respiratory Syncytial Virus: Focus on Dendritic Cells

Eduardo I. Tognarelli, Susan M. Bueno and Pablo A. González

- 60 LAIR-1 Limits Neutrophilic Airway Inflammation Kuldeep Kumawat, Ruben J. Geerdink, Marije P. Hennus, Mojtaba Abdul Roda, Ingrid van Ark, Thea Leusink-Muis, Gert Folkerts, Anita van Oort-Jansen, Alexandra Mazharian, Steve P. Watson, Frank E. Coenjaerts, Louis Bont and Linde Meyaard
- 69 Prevention of Pediatric Respiratory Syncytial Virus Lower Respiratory Tract Illness: Perspectives for the Next Decade Sofia S. Aranda and Fernando P. Polack
- 79 Cytokines in the Respiratory Airway as Biomarkers of Severity and Prognosis for Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection: An Update Yaneisi Vázquez, Liliana González, Loreani Noguera, Pablo A. González, Claudia A. Riedel, Pablo Bertrand and Susan M. Bueno
- 92 Biology of Infection and Disease Pathogenesis to Guide RSV Vaccine Development

Seyhan Boyoglu-Barnum, Tatiana Chirkova and Larry J. Anderson

102 Host Components Contributing to Respiratory Syncytial Virus Pathogenesis

Jonatan J. Carvajal, Andrea M. Avellaneda, Camila Salazar-Ardiles, Jorge E. Maya, Alexis M. Kalergis and Margarita K. Lay

121 Determining Immune and miRNA Biomarkers Related to Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) Vaccine Types

Lydia J. Atherton, Patricia A. Jorquera, Abhijeet A. Bakre and Ralph A. Tripp

3





Current Insights in the Development of Efficacious Vaccines Against RSV

Jorge A. Soto¹, Laura M. Stephens², Kody A. Waldstein², Gisela Canedo-Marroquín¹, Steven M. Varga^{2,3,4} and Alexis M. Kalergis^{1,5*}

¹ Departamento de Genética Molecular y Microbiología, Facultad de Ciencias Biológicas, Instituto Milenio de Inmunología e Inmunoterapia, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile, ² Interdisciplinary Graduate Program in Immunology, University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, United States, ³ Department of Microbiology and Immunology, University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, United States, ⁴ Department of Pathology, University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, United States, ⁵ Departamento de Endocrinología, Facultad de Medicina, Instituto Milenio de Inmunología e Inmunoterapia, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

Keywords: Respiratory Syncytial Virus, treatments, vaccines, antibodies, T cells

INTRODUCTION

Respiratory viral infections are one of the most important global public health burdens, resulting in millions of hospitalizations worldwide annually (1, 2). Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) is the leading cause of acute lower respiratory tract infections (ALRTI) in children under the age of 2 (3) and adults over 65 (4). RSV-induced disease can range from symptoms similar to the common cold to complex respiratory diseases, such as pneumonia or bronchiolitis, leading to extrapulmonary sequelae in the brain and other tissues (5). During the 1960s, a formalin-inactivated RSV (FI-RSV) vaccine was evaluated in children. Vaccinated individuals exhibited increased disease severity upon subsequent natural RSV infection compared to the controls (6-9). This vaccine-enhanced disease resulted from the failure of the vaccine to elicit either potent neutralizing antibodies or memory $CD8^+$ T cells as well as the induction of a strong inflammatory CD4 T cell response (10–13). Currently, the only treatment option available for RSV is a humanized monoclonal antibody against the RSV F surface protein, known as palivizumab (14). However, its usage is limited to high-risk individuals, such as preterm babies, and infants with congenic diseases (15-17). Due to prolonged concerns about vaccine safety, a better understanding of RSV-induced pathogenesis and the host immune response is needed to aid in the development of safe and effective treatments and vaccines for RSV. This Opinion article examines the various vaccine modalities currently undergoing testing and discusses the advantages and disadvantages of the strategies being employed.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Xulin Chen, Jinan University, China

Reviewed by: Xuguang Li, Health Canada, Canada

> *Correspondence: Alexis M. Kalergis akalergis@bio.puc.cl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Viral Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 31 March 2020 Accepted: 09 June 2020 Published: 17 July 2020

Citation:

Soto JA, Stephens LM, Waldstein KA, Canedo-Marroquín G, Varga SM and Kalergis AM (2020) Current Insights in the Development of Efficacious Vaccines Against RSV. Front. Immunol. 11:1507. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01507

RSV VACCINE MODALITIES AND LESSONS FROM THE HOST IMMUNE RESPONSE

Based on the knowledge gained from the unsuccessful FI-RSV vaccine trial, new vaccine formulations are being developed that promote neutralizing antibodies, induce activated memory and lung-resident CD8⁺ T cells, and can be administered to different target populations including children, elderly and pregnant women. The most promising vaccine candidates currently being evaluated in humans are live-attenuated, recombinant vector-based, and subunit vaccines.

Live-attenuated vaccines demonstrate favorable benefits including a low risk of causing vaccineenhanced disease, and they can promote both a humoral and cellular immune response. However, potential drawbacks include conserving the stability of the formulation, and balancing the attenuation of the virus while maintaining replicative activity and immunogenicity in the host (18). Additionally, further studies are needed to assess the safety of live-attenuated vaccines in multiple populations (19). Many live-attenuated vaccines are currently undergoing testing in clinical trials and demonstrate a robust induction of a humoral immune response; however, much

4

less information is known about the cellular immune responses induced by the vaccines. Deletion of the M2-2 protein from the RSV strain A2 (LID Δ M2-2) induced robust serum RSV-specific IgG and neutralizing antibody titers that correlated with lower nasal wash viral titers administered intranasally to seronegative children (20). A similar induction of serum neutralizing antibodies was observed with a cold-passage/stabilized RSV containing several attenuating point mutations as well as deletion of the small hydrophobic (SH) protein (RSVcps2) (21). Finally, preclinical studies of a recombinant BCG vaccine expressing the RSV nucleoprotein (N) demonstrated an effective cellular and humoral immune response in mice (22–25).

Recombinant vector-based vaccines allow the presentation of one or more antigens expressed on a viral vector such as parainfluenza virus type 3 (PIV3) or adenovirus. This allows for natural presentation of the antigen of interest to immune cells. A PIV3 vector expressing the RSV F protein (MEDI-534) demonstrated safety in a Phase 1 study when administered intranasally to young children (26). Interestingly, some discordance was observed in the specificity of the immune response. Sequencing of viral samples suggested that modifications were generated post-vaccination in a number of subjects that promoted a reduction in the expression of the F protein correlating with lower neutralizing antibodies in those individuals (27). A recently developed vaccine composed of a chimpanzee adenovirus viral vector expressing the RSV F, N, and M2-1 proteins (ChAd155-RSV) induced robust neutralizing antibody titers and interferon gamma (IFNy)secreting T cells compared to placebo controls (28). ReiThera Srl developed a similar vaccine using a chimpanzee adenovirus (PanAd3) viral vector expressing the RSV F, N, and M2-1 proteins in combination with a modified vaccinia virus Ankara (MVA). Intramuscular and intranasal delivery of the vaccine to healthy adults was well tolerated and induced both RSVspecific antibody titers and RSV-specific CD4 and CD8⁺ T cells (29-31). Interestingly, other clinical trials using adenovirus have been developed to date (NCT03982199, NCT03636906, among others).

Subunit vaccines are a common vaccine modality; however, some disadvantages are associated with these formulations such as the frequent need to use an adjuvant to increase the immunogenicity. A single dose of an RSV F protein subunit vaccine combined with aluminum hydroxide induced RSV Fspecific antibodies that persisted for >180 days post-vaccination (32). Similar results were observed following intramuscular administration to women of child-bearing age, suggesting that maternal immunization with this vaccine candidate could generate lasting antibodies to passively transfer to the fetus during the pregnancy (33). Another vaccine utilizing the RSV F protein demonstrated safety and efficacy in Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinicals trials when administered without an adjuvant, suggesting that a subunit vaccine may induce lasting protection without an added adjuvant (34). Interestingly, formulations using the RSV F protein have failed to provide protection against RSV infection in older adult populations, indicating that subunit vaccines may not be the best candidate for this target population (35).

Many vaccine prototypes are focused on viral surface proteins (36, 37). One of the most common viral targets for antibodies is the RSV fusion (F) protein (38, 39). Vaccine formulations containing the N protein also induce long-lasting neutralizing antibodies and could serve as a novel antiviral target (22, 25). The RSV G protein is involved in the initiation of the virus life cycle and has a potent effect on the regulation of the immune response (36). The SH protein can promote a protective immune response in animal models of RSV through Fc receptor-mediated interactions with macrophages and helping the promotion of long-lasting antibodies (40, 41). Furthermore, other protein targets are currently being or have been evaluated in clinical trials, including the nonstructural protein 2 (NS2) (NCT03596801, NCT03473002) and the M2-2 protein (20, 42). However, independent of the antigen evaluated, the key requirement of any RSV vaccine is the ability to promote a safe, but effective and protective immune response.

On the other hand, another type of vaccine strategy that has provided positive and interesting results in human tests is based on intranasal administration of a novel BLP (bacterium like particle) conjugated to the RSV fusion (F) protein eliciting both mucosal IgA responses and elevated IFN- γ production (43). Since BLP prototype is a promising strategy, more assays to evaluate long-lasting immune response are required.

The choice of administration route is an important decision in vaccine development, with most vaccines being delivered via the sublingual, intramuscular, or intranasal route. Sublingual administration of an RSV G protein vaccine induced enhanced cellular infiltration and pro-inflammatory cytokine production compared to intranasal delivery (37). Similar results were observed when a recombinant RSV attachment (G) protein containing the central regions for both RSV A and B serotypes was administrated either intranasally or sublingually (44). Sublingual delivery enhanced pulmonary eosinophil recruitment and body weight loss, while intranasal administration promoted enhanced IgG and IgA antibodies and lower pro-inflammatory cell recruitment into the lung. Mucosal administration may also induce a high titer of IgA in bronchial alveolar lavage (BAL) fluid and IgG antibodies in serum (44, 45). A murine cytomegalovirus vector expressing the RSV matrix (M) protein induced robust lung-resident memory T cell populations when administered intranasally compared to intraperitoneally, where this population was almost undetectable (46, 47). This suggests that intranasal administration of an RSV vaccine would induce an enhanced CD8⁺ T cell response, a strong secretion of IgG and IgA antibodies, and decrease the inflammatory state of the lung.

One way to aid in the successful development of an RSV vaccine is to gain a better understanding of the host immune response to the virus and the factors required for long-term immunity. Studies examining the host response during acute infection of infants suggest that the virus elicits a pathogenic Th2 dominant response (10–13). Th2-biased T cells, driven by IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 cytokines, lead to inflammation and hyperreactivity of the airways (48–51). Other T cell populations, including regulatory T cells (Tregs) and Th17 cells, also play an important role during RSV infection (52). Th17 cells can promote a pro-inflammatory state leading to enhanced neutrophil

recruitment and reduced $CD8^+$ T cell activation (53). Tregs are associated with the active recruitment of cytotoxic $CD8^+$ T cells in the lung; however, unbalanced Tregs could promote enhanced lung damage (54, 55). Interestingly, peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from infected children exhibit reduced Tregs compared to age-matched controls (56). Similarly, depletion of Tregs in mice promoted enhanced lung pathology following RSV infection (57, 58). Thus, a successful vaccine should induce a balanced T cell response characterized by Th1biased T cells as well as Tregs.

The induction of type I IFN are essential for RSV viral clearance. The absence of type I IFN promotes a proinflammatory response that helps to induce a lung pathology in both human and murine models of infection (59). The administration of IFN- α in RSV-naïve high-risk infants is associated with a decrease in lung pathology and enhanced viral clearance. However, RSV possesses several evasion mechanisms, and both the NS1 protein and the G protein can suppress the type I IFN response (60). A vaccine that induces a powerful type I IFN secretion within its response could be considered a good candidate against RSV.

 $CD8^+$ T cells play a critical role in RSV-clearance (61). Murine studies of RSV demonstrate a protective role for memory $CD8^+$ T cells in promoting viral clearance and providing protection from reinfection (61, 62). Nevertheless, natural RSV infection induces low levels of $CD8^+$ T cells. Thus, it would be advantageous for a vaccine to promote a Th-1 immune response and generate memory $CD8^+$ T cells (23–25). In contrast, $CD4^+$ T cells have a controversial role during RSV infection. Following natural infection, $CD4^+$ T cells can promote a dysbalanced host response that enhances immunopathology. However, adoptive transfer studies in the mouse model also suggest that $CD4^+$ T cells can play a protective role. The induction of a Th-1 polarized immune response that promotes both $CD8^+$ and $CD4^+$ T cells is essential for a vaccine to induce a protective immune response against RSV.

The decline in neutralizing antibodies after the RSV infection is an important factor in the reinfections that occur in children. Several formulations of vaccines seek to induce neutralizing antibodies in high risk populations and maternal antibodies that will be transferred from the mother to the fetus to protect against early RSV infections. Nevertheless, these formulations have been shown to induce antibodies that are short-lived. Interestingly, intranasal vaccines have demonstrated the ability to induce high levels of neutralizing antibodies and also promote the IgA

REFERENCES

- Bont L, Checchia PA, Fauroux B, Figueras-Aloy J, Manzoni P, Paes B, et al. Defining the epidemiology and burden of severe Respiratory Syncytial Virus infection among infants and children in Western Countries. *Infect Dis Ther.* (2016) 5:271–98. doi: 10.1007/s40121-016-0123-0
- Modjarrad K, Giersing B, Kaslow DC, Smith PG, Moorthy VS. WHO consultation on Respiratory Syncytial Virus vaccine development report from a World Health Organization Meeting held on 23–24 March 2015. *Vaccine*. (2016) 34:190–7. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.05.093

secretion that is directly associated with a protective immune response against RSV (43–45, 59, 63).

DISCUSSION

Severe RSV-induced disease continues to present a major global health burden in high-risk groups such as preterm infants, newborns, elderly populations, and those with many associated comorbidities. There is no licensed vaccine to prevent RSV infections, and the only prophylaxis currently approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) is the monoclonal antibody palivizumab. However, its limited use in high-risk groups (14), as well as the high cost and moderate effectiveness underscore the need for additional options. There remains a critical need to develop safe and effective RSV vaccines and therapeutics to combat RSV disease severity in infants and highrisk populations.

In conclusion a vaccine against RSV that promotes an effective antiviral response must induce a prolonged neutralizing antibody response, Th-1 polarized immunity that promotes both CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells, type I IFN secretion and an efficient mucosa immune response.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JS, LS, and KW wrote and revised the manuscript. GC-M contributed to the revision and editing of the manuscript. SV and AK were the lead investigators and revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This research was funded by FONDECYT 1190830, 3190590 and the Millennium Institute on Immunology and Immunotherapy P09/016-F. This work was supported by the Department of Microbiology and Immunology at the University of Iowa (to SV) and the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases of the National Institutes of Health (NIH, R01AI124093 to SV and T32AI007485 to LS).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

AK is a Helen C. Levitt visiting professor at the Department of Microbiology and Immunology of the University of Iowa.

- Nair H, Nokes DJ, Gessner BD, Dherani M, Madhi SA, Singleton RJ, et al. Global burden of acute lower respiratory infections due to Respiratory Syncytial Virus in young children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet.* (2010) 375:1545–55. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10) 60206-1
- Falsey AR, Hennessey PA, Formica MA, Cox C, Walsh EE. Respiratory Syncytial Virus infection in elderly and high-risk adults. *N Engl J Med.* (2005) 352:1749–59. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa043951
- Krilov LR. Respiratory Syncytial Virus disease: update on treatment and prevention. Exp Rev Anti Infect Ther. (2011) 9:27–32. doi: 10.1586/eri.10.140

- Kim HW, Canchola JG, Brandt CD, Pyles G, Chanock RM, Jensen K, et al. Respiratory Syncytial Virus disease in infants despite prior administration of antigenic inactivated vaccine. *Am J Epidemiol.* (1969) 89:422–34. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a120955
- Chin J, Magoffin RL, Shearer LA, Schieble JH, Lennette EH. Field evaluation of a Respiratory Syncytial Virus vaccine and a trivalent parainfluenza virus vaccine in a pediatric population. *Am J Epidemiol.* (1969) 89:449– 63. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a120957
- Fulginiti VA, Eller JJ, Sieber OF, Joyner JW, Minamitani M, Meiklejohn G. Respiratory virus immunization: a field trial of two inactivated respiratory virus vaccines; an aqueous trivalent paratnfluenza virus vaccine and an alumprecipitated Respiratory Syncytial Virus vaccine. *Am J Epidemiol.* (1969) 89:435–48. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a120956
- Kapikian AZ, Mitchell RH, Chanock RM, Shvedoff RA, Stewart CE. An epidemiologic study of altered clinical reactivity to Respiratory Syncytial (RS) virus infection in children previously vaccinated with an inactivated RS virus vaccine. Am J Epidemiol. (1969) 89:405–21. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a120954
- Olson MR, Varga SM. CD8 T cells inhibit Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) vaccine-enhanced disease. J Immunol. (2007) 179:5415–24. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.8.5415
- Olson MR, Hartwig SM, Varga SM. The number of Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV)-specific memory CD8 T cells in the lung is critical for their ability to inhibit RSV vaccine-enhanced pulmonary eosinophilia. *J Immunol.* (2008) 181:7958–68. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.11.7958
- Knudson CJ, Hartwig SM, Meyerholz DK, Varga SM. RSV vaccine-enhanced disease is orchestrated by the combined actions of distinct CD4 T cell subsets. *PLOS Pathog.* (2015) 11:e1004757. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004757
- Delgado MF, Coviello S, Monsalvo AC, Melendi GA, Hernandez JZ, Batalle JP, et al. Lack of antibody affinity maturation due to poor Toll-like receptor stimulation leads to enhanced Respiratory Syncytial Virus disease. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:34–41. doi: 10.1038/nm.1894
- Village EG. Palivizumab, a humanized Respiratory Syncytial Virus monoclonal antibody, reduces hospitalization from Respiratory Syncytial Virus infection in high-risk infants. *Pediatrics.* (1998) 102:531–7. doi: 10.1542/peds.102.3.531
- Subramanian KNS, Weisman LE, Rhodes T, Ariagno R, Sánchez PJ, Steichen J, et al. Safety, tolerance and pharmacokinetics of a humanized monoclonal antibody to Respiratory Syncytial Virus in premature infants and infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (1998) 17:110–5. doi: 10.1097/00006454-199802000-00006
- 16. Sáez-Llorens X, Castaño E, Null D, Steichen J, Sánchez PJ, Ramilo O, et al. Safety and pharmacokinetics of an intramuscular humanized monoclonal antibody to Respiratory Syncytial Virus in premature infants and infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (1998) 17:787– 91. doi: 10.1097/00006454-199809000-00007
- Village EG. Updated guidance for palivizumab prophylaxis among infants and young children at increased risk of hospitalization for Respiratory Syncytial Virus infection. *Pediatrics*. (2014) 134:415–20. doi: 10.1542/peds.2014-1665
- Kim HW, Arrobio JO, Brandt CD, Wright P, Hodes D, Chanock RM, et al. Safety and antigenicity of temperature sensitive (TS) mutant Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) in infants and children. *Pediatrics*. (1973) 52:56–63.
- Malkin E, Yogev R, Abughali N, Sliman J, Wang CK, Zuo F, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of a live attenuated RSV vaccine in healthy RSV-seronegative children 5 to 24 months of age. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e77104. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0077104
- McFarland EJ, Karron RA, Muresan P, Cunningham CK, Valentine ME, Perlowski C, et al. Live-attenuated Respiratory Syncytial Virus vaccine candidate with deletion of RNA synthesis regulatory protein M2-2 is highly immunogenic in children. J Infect Dis. (2018) 217:1347–55. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiy040
- Buchholz UJ, Cunningham CK, Muresan P, Gnanashanmugam D, Sato P, Siberry GK, et al. Live Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) vaccine candidate containing stabilized temperature-sensitivity mutations is highly attenuated in RSV-seronegative infants and children. J Infect Dis. (2018) 217:1338– 46. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiy066
- 22. Soto JA, Gálvez NMS, Rivera CA, Palavecino CE, Céspedes PF, Rey-Jurado E, et al. Recombinant BCG vaccines reduce pneumovirus-caused airway

pathology by inducing protective humoral immunity. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2875. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02875

- Bueno SM, Gonzalez PA, Cautivo KM, Mora JE, Leiva ED, Tobar HE, et al. Protective T cell immunity against Respiratory Syncytial Virus is efficiently induced by recombinant BCG. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2008) 105:20822– 7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0806244105
- 24. Cautivo KM, Bueno SM, Cortes CM, Wozniak A, Riedel CA, Kalergis AM. Efficient lung recruitment of Respiratory Syncytial Virus-specific Th1 cells induced by recombinant bacillus calmette-guérin promotes virus clearance and protects from infection. *J Immunol.* (2010) 185:7633–45. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0903452
- 25. Céspedes PF, Rey-Jurado E, Espinoza JA, Rivera CA, Canedo-Marroquín G, Bueno SM, et al. A single, low dose of a cGMP recombinant BCG vaccine elicits protective T cell immunity against the human Respiratory Syncytial Virus infection and prevents lung pathology in mice. *Vaccine*. (2017) 35:757– 66. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.12.048
- Gomez M, Mufson MA, Dubovsky F, Knightly C, Zeng W, Losonsky G. Phase-I study Medi-534, of a live, attenuated intranasal vaccine against Respiratory Syncytial Virus and parainfluenza-3 virus in seropositive children. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (2009) 28:655–8. doi: 10.1097/INF.0b013e318199c3b1
- 27. Yang C-F, Wang CK, Malkin E, Schickli JH, Shambaugh C, Zuo F, et al. Implication of Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) F transgene sequence heterogeneity observed in Phase 1 evaluation of MEDI-534, a live attenuated parainfluenza type 3 vectored RSV vaccine. Vaccine. (2013) 31:2822– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.04.006
- 28. Cicconi P, Jones C, Sarkar E, Silva-Reyes L, Klenerman P, de Lara C, et al. First-in-human randomized study to assess the safety and immunogenicity of an investigational Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) vaccine based on chimpanzee-adenovirus-155 viral vector-expressing RSV fusion, nucleocapsid, and antitermination viral proteins. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2020) 70:2073–81. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciz653
- Green CA, Scarselli E, Sande CJ, Thompson AJ, de Lara CM, Taylor KS, et al. Chimpanzee adenovirus– and MVA-vectored Respiratory Syncytial Virus vaccine is safe and immunogenic in adults. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7:300ra126. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aac5745
- 30. Green CA, Scarselli E, Voysey M, Capone S, Vitelli A, Nicosia A, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of novel Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) vaccines based on the RSV viral proteins F, N and M2-1 encoded by simian adenovirus (PanAd3-RSV) and MVA (MVA-RSV); protocol for an open-label, dose-escalation, single-centre, phase 1 cl. *BMJ Open.* (2015) 5:e008748. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-008748
- Green CA, Sande CJ, Scarselli E, Capone S, Vitelli A, Nicosia A, et al. Novel genetically-modified chimpanzee adenovirus and MVA-vectored Respiratory Syncytial Virus vaccine safely boosts humoral and cellular immunity in healthy older adults. J Infect. (2019) 78:382–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2019.02.003
- 32. Leroux-Roels G, De Boever F, Maes C, Nguyen TL-A, Baker S, Gonzalez Lopez A. Safety and immunogenicity of a Respiratory Syncytial Virus fusion glycoprotein F subunit vaccine in healthy adults: results of a phase 1, randomized, observer-blind, controlled, dosage-escalation study. *Vaccine*. (2019) 37:2694–703. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.04.011
- 33. August A, Glenn GM, Kpamegan E, Hickman SP, Jani D, Lu H, et al. A Phase 2 randomized, observer-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-ranging trial of aluminum-adjuvanted Respiratory Syncytial Virus F particle vaccine formulations in healthy women of childbearing age. *Vaccine*. (2017) 35:3749– 59. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.05.045
- Schwarz TF, McPhee RA, Launay O, Leroux-Roels G, Talli J, Picciolato M, et al. Immunogenicity and safety of 3 formulations of a Respiratory Syncytial Virus candidate vaccine in nonpregnant women: a phase 2, randomized trial. *J Infect Dis.* (2019) 220:1816–25. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiz395
- Falloon J, Yu J, Esser MT, Villafana T, Yu L, Dubovsky F, et al. An adjuvanted, postfusion F protein-based vaccine did not prevent Respiratory Syncytial Virus illness in older adults. J Infect Dis. (2017) 216:1362– 70. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jix503
- Boyoglu-Barnum S, Chirkova T, Anderson LJ. Biology of infection and disease pathogenesis to guide RSV vaccine development. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1675. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01675
- 37. Cheon IS, Kim JY, Choi Y, Shim B-S, Choi J, Jung D-I, et al. Sublingual immunization with an RSV G glycoprotein fragment primes IL-17-mediated

immunopathology upon Respiratory Syncytial Virus infection. Front Immunol. (2019) 10:567. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00567

- Ye X, Iwuchukwu OP, Avadhanula V, Aideyan LO, McBride TJ, Ferlic-Stark LL, et al. Antigenic site-specific competitive antibody responses to the fusion protein of Respiratory Syncytial Virus were associated with viral clearance in hematopoietic cell transplantation adults. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:706. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00706
- Aranda SS, Polack FP. Prevention of pediatric Respiratory Syncytial Virus lower respiratory tract illness: perspectives for the next decade. Front Immunol. (2019) 10:1006. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01006
- 40. Schepens B, Sedeyn K, Vande Ginste L, De Baets S, Schotsaert M, Roose K, et al. Protection and mechanism of action of a novel human Respiratory Syncytial Virus vaccine candidate based on the extracellular domain of small hydrophobic protein. *EMBO Mol Med.* (2014) 6:1436– 54. doi: 10.15252/emmm.201404005
- 41. Langley JM, MacDonald LD, Weir GM, MacKinnon-Cameron D, Ye L, McNeil S, et al. A Respiratory Syncytial Virus vaccine based on the small hydrophobic protein ectodomain presented with a novel lipid-based formulation is highly immunogenic and safe in adults: a first-in-humans study. J Infect Dis. (2018) 218:378–87. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiy177
- 42. Karron RA, Luongo C, Thumar B, Loehr KM, Englund JA, Collins PL, et al. A gene deletion that up-regulates viral gene expression yields an attenuated RSV vaccine with improved antibody responses in children. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7:312ra175. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed. aac8463
- Ascough S, Vlachantoni I, Kalyan M, Haijema B-J, Wallin-Weber S, Dijkstra-Tiekstra M, et al. Local and systemic immunity against Respiratory Syncytial Virus induced by a novel intranasal vaccine. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2019) 200:481– 92. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201810-1921OC
- Lee J-Y, Chang J. Universal vaccine against Respiratory Syncytial Virus A and B subtypes. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0175384. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0175384
- Yang K, Varga SM. Mucosal vaccines against Respiratory Syncytial Virus. Curr Opin Virol. (2014) 6:78–84. doi: 10.1016/j.coviro.2014.03.009
- Morabito KM, Ruckwardt TR, Redwood AJ, Moin SM, Price DA, Graham BS. Intranasal administration of RSV antigen-expressing MCMV elicits robust tissue-resident effector and effector memory CD8+ T cells in the lung. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2017) 10:545–54. doi: 10.1038/mi.2016.48
- 47. Li H, Callahan C, Citron M, Wen Z, Touch S, Monslow MA, et al. Respiratory Syncytial Virus elicits enriched CD8+ T lymphocyte responses in lung compared with blood in African green monkeys. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0187642. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0187642
- Tregoning JS, Yamaguchi Y, Harker J, Wang B, Openshaw PJM. The role of T cells in the enhancement of Respiratory Syncytial Virus infection severity during adult reinfection of neonatally sensitized mice. *J Virol.* (2008) 82:4115– 24. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02313-07
- Culley FJ, Pollott J, Openshaw PJM. Age at first viral infection determines the pattern of T cell-mediated disease during reinfection in adulthood. *J Exp Med.* (2002) 196:1381–6. doi: 10.1084/jem.20020943
- 50. You D, Marr N, Saravia J, Shrestha B, Lee GI, Turvey SE, et al. IL-4R α on CD4 + T cells plays a pathogenic role in Respiratory Syncytial Virus reinfection in mice infected initially as neonates. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2013) 93:933–42. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1012498
- 51. Shrestha B, You D, Saravia J, Siefker DT, Jaligama S, Lee GI, et al. IL-4R α on dendritic cells in neonates and Th2 immunopathology in

Respiratory Syncytial Virus infection. J Leukoc Biol. (2017) 102:153–61. doi: 10.1189/jlb.4A1216-536R

- Lukacs NW, Smit JJ, Mukherjee S, Morris SB, Nunez G, Lindell DM. Respiratory virus-induced TLR7 activation controls IL-17–associated increased mucus via IL-23 regulation. *J Immunol.* (2010) 185:2231– 9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000733
- Mukherjee S, Lindell DM, Berlin AA, Morris SB, Shanley TP, Hershenson MB, et al. IL-17-induced pulmonary pathogenesis during respiratory viral infection and exacerbation of Allergic Disease. *Am J Pathol.* (2011) 179:248– 58. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.03.003
- Mangodt TC, Van Herck MA, Nullens S, Ramet J, De Dooy JJ, Jorens PG, et al. The role of Th17 and Treg responses in the pathogenesis of RSV infection. *Pediatr Res.* (2015) 78:483–91. doi: 10.1038/pr.2015.143
- Openshaw PJ, Chiu C. Protective and dysregulated T cell immunity in RSV infection. *Curr Opin Virol.* (2013) 3:468–74. doi: 10.1016/j.coviro.2013.05.005
- Christiaansen AF, Syed MA, Ten Eyck PP, Hartwig SM, Durairaj L, Kamath SS, et al. Altered Treg and cytokine responses in RSV-infected infants. *Pediatr Res.* (2016) 80:702–9. doi: 10.1038/pr.2016.130
- Durant LR, Makris S, Voorburg CM, Loebbermann J, Johansson C, Openshaw PJM. Regulatory T cells prevent Th2 immune responses and pulmonary eosinophilia during Respiratory Syncytial Virus infection in mice. J Virol. (2013) 87:10946–54. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01295-13
- Fulton RB, Meyerholz DK, Varga SM. Foxp3 + CD4 regulatory T cells limit pulmonary immunopathology by modulating the CD8 T cell response during Respiratory Syncytial Virus infection. *J Immunol.* (2010) 185:2382– 92. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000423
- Hijano DR, Siefker DT, Shrestha B, Jaligama S, Vu LD, Tillman H, et al. Type I interferon potentiates IgA immunity to Respiratory Syncytial Virus infection during infancy. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:11034. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-29456-w
- Tognarelli EI, Bueno SM, González PA. Immune-modulation by the human Respiratory Syncytial Virus: focus on dendritic cells. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:810. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00810
- Graham BS, Bunton LA, Wright PF, Karzon DT. Role of T lymphocyte subsets in the pathogenesis of primary infection and rechallenge with Respiratory Syncytial Virus in mice. J Clin Invest. (1991) 88:1026– 33. doi: 10.1172/JCI115362
- Schmidt ME, Knudson CJ, Hartwig SM, Pewe LL, Meyerholz DK, Langlois RA, et al. Memory CD8 T cells mediate severe immunopathology following Respiratory Syncytial Virus infection. *PLOS Pathog.* (2018) 14:e1006810. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006810
- Salisch NC, Izquierdo Gil A, Czapska-Casey DN, Vorthoren L, Serroyen J, Tolboom J, et al. Adenovectors encoding RSV-F protein induce durable and mucosal immunity in macaques after two intramuscular administrations. NPJ Vaccines. (2019) 4:54. doi: 10.1038/s41541-019-0150-4

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Soto, Stephens, Waldstein, Canedo-Marroquín, Varga and Kalergis. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Role of Type I Interferon (IFN) in the Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) Immune Response and Disease Severity

Diego R. Hijano^{1†}, Luan D. Vu^{2,3†}, Lawrence M. Kauvar⁴, Ralph A. Tripp⁵, Fernando P. Polack⁶ and Stephania A. Cormier^{2,3*}

¹ Department of Infectious Diseases, St Jude Children's Research Hospital, Memphis, TN, United States, ² Department of Biological Sciences, Louisiana State University and School of Veterinary Medicine, Baton Rouge, LA, United States, ³ Department of Comparative Biomedical Sciences, Louisiana State University School of Veterinary Medicine, Baton Rouge, LA, United States, ⁴ Trellis Bioscience, LLC, Redwood City, CA, United States, ⁵ Department of Infectious Disease, University of Georgia, Athens, GA, United States, ⁶ Fundacion INFANT, Buenos Aires, Argentina

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Alexis M. Kalergis, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Chile

Reviewed by:

Jan Rehwinkel, University of Oxford, United Kingdom Anna-Lena Spetz, Stockholm University, Sweden Margarita Kam-Lem Lay, University of Antofagasta, Chile

*Correspondence:

Stephania A. Cormier stephaniacormier@lsu.edu

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Viral Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 15 January 2019 Accepted: 04 March 2019 Published: 26 March 2019

Citation:

Hijano DR, Vu LD, Kauvar LM, Tripp RA, Polack FP and Cormier SA (2019) Role of Type I Interferon (IFN) in the Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) Immune Response and Disease Severity. Front. Immunol. 10:566. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00566 Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) is the most common cause of lower respiratory tract disease in children <2 years of age. Increased morbidity and mortality have been reported in high-risk patients, such as premature infants, patients with cardiac disease, and severely immune compromised patients. Severe disease is associated with the virulence of the virus as well as host factors specifically including the innate immune response. The role of type I interferons (IFNs) in the response to RSV infection is important in regulating the rate of virus clearance and in directing the character of the immune response, which is normally associated with protection and less severe disease. Two RSV non-structural proteins, NS1 and NS2, as well as the envelope G glycoprotein are known to suppress type I IFN production and a robust type I IFN response to RSV does not occur in human infants or neonatal mouse models of RSV infection. Additionally, presence of type I IFNs are associated with mild symptoms in infants and administration of IFN- α prior to infection of neonatal mice with RSV reduces immunopathology. This evidence has driven RSV prophylaxis and therapeutic efforts to consider strategies for enhancing type I IFN production.

Keywords: infant immunity, respiratory syncytial virus, type I interferons, human, mouse, vaccine

INTRODUCTION

Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) is a common cause of lower respiratory tract disease in infants and young children (1–3). Although 30–70% of infants develop bronchiolitis upon primary RSV infection, only 1–3% are hospitalized (4). Despite this heterogeneous course of disease, the global burden of RSV disease is estimated at 64 million cases and 160,000 deaths annually (5, 6). Increased morbidity and mortality have been reported in high-risk patients, such as premature infants, infants with cardiac disease, and severely immuno-compromised patients (7–9). Moreover, the consequences of severe RSV infection are long lasting and constitute a risk factor for childhood asthma and bronchiolitis (10–14). The elderly and immune compromised also suffer from RSV, particularly those with prior pulmonary problems (15). Notwithstanding the advances in our understanding of the immune response to RSV and the recently determined high resolution

9

structures of the two major immunogenic viral proteins, the RSV F and G proteins, we still lack adequate therapeutics as well as a safe, robust, and effective vaccine (16).

Both viral and host immune factors have been implicated in severe infections (17-20). RSV is an orthopneumovirus in the Paramyxoviridae family (21, 22). The RNA genome contains 10 genes encoding 11 proteins. The envelope of the virus is formed by the matrix (M) protein, the small hydrophobic (SH) protein, and two abundant, glycosylated surface proteins: the fusion (F) and attachment (G) proteins. The G and F proteins control the initial phases of infection (23, 24). The G protein is composed of three epitope regions identified by murine monoclonal antibodies: mostly invariant epitopes in the central conserved domain (CCD); group-specific epitopes (subtype A or B); and strain-specific epitopes in the C-terminal hypervariable region of the G protein ectodomain (25, 26). The two antigenically distinct subtypes, A and B, can co-circulate during the same epidemic season (27-29). The clinical impact of different subtypes likely contributes to different disease severity. While the F protein has historically been the major target for antiviral and vaccine development, both G and F proteins are naturally targeted by neutralizing antibodies induced by infection (23, 24, 30-33). The two non-structural proteins, NS1 and NS2, suppress IFN production (34-36), with NS1 known to bind RIG-I within the cytoplasm of host cells thereby abrogating the signal transmitted via MAVS (2). Further, the G protein also impedes IFN- α expression through the interaction of the CX3C chemokine-like motif in G, which interacts with CX3CR1 and impairs the immune response to RSV. Infection with an RSV strain that lacks the CX3C motif (mimic of the human chemokine called fractalkine or CX3CL1) or treatment with an anti-G monoclonal antibody (MAb) that blocks binding to CX3CR1 result in increased levels of type I/III IFN (37).

The fractalkine receptor, CX3CR1, is expressed on human plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) and epithelial cells (37–39). The former are specialized immune cells that infiltrate the lung to produce large amounts of type I IFN in response to viral infection (40, 41).

The link between RSV G protein and type I IFN expression is well established (42-44) with details elucidated that include TLR4 signaling and SOCS3 regulation of type I IFN (45-50). For example, the RSV G protein contributes to immune evasion by modifying host cytokine and chemokine responses whose expression is negatively regulated by suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) proteins (48). SOCS1 and SOCS3 are closely related and well characterized members of the family acting through the JAK/STAT pathway to regulate cytokine expression via a kinase inhibitory region (51). SOCS1 and SOCS3 are downstream from toll like receptors (TLR) and can indirectly regulate them (52). Specifically, SOCS3 induction by TLR is dependent on Myd88 (52). SOCS1 and SOCS3 strongly suppress TLR7-mediated type I IFN production by binding IFN regulatory factor 7 (53). In addition, SOCS1 modulates TIRAP which is downstream of TLR1/2, TLR2/6 and TLR4 but not TLR9 (51). It has been shown that SOCS1 and SOCS3 regulate type I IFN in normal fully-differentiated human bronchial epithelial (NHBE) cells, with the pathway including interferon-regulatory factor (IRF)-3 activation and nuclear translocation (48). Further, interferon-stimulated gene (ISG)-15 expression is altered very early after infection and RSV infection has been shown to upregulate SOCS 1 and SOCS 3 in epithelial cells (46). NHBE cells infected with an RSV mutant virus lacking the G gene have distinct responses as compared to wild-type RSV (30). Notably, RSV mutant strains without secreted G induced less CCL2 and CCL5 with no apparent lung disease in mice. Interestingly, mice developed good antibody responses despite the attenuated infection (54). These findings suggest that RSV surface proteins signal through multiple pathways, and this may be an important means of reducing anti-viral type I IFN expression, thereby promoting virus replication.

Of interest, RSV does not induce robust, long term immunity and people may be repeatedly infected with the same and different strains of RSV (55, 56). These finding are particularly relevant to the multiple failed RSV vaccine trails to date, including the original formalin inactivated RSV (FI-RSV) vaccine as well as more recent subunit and live attenuated vaccines. The deficient response to both natural and artificial exposure to RSV antigens in human represents a barrier to the development of novel therapeutic or preventive strategies (57-64). Further, the immune response to both primary and repeat infections with RSV needs further study to better understand short- and longterm immunity. More detailed characterization of the response of healthy adults as compared to the elderly and to infants is also needed. The importance of elucidating the host response to RSV infection is underscored by recent clinical evaluation of prophylaxis with the anti-F protein monoclonal antibody (mAb) palivizumab in healthy preterm infants. In this singleblind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial, suppression of RSV replication did not have a major effect on reducing the RSVassociated asthma incidence at age 6 years, suggesting that other factors besides viral load contribute to the clinical severity (11, 65).

Type I IFNs are a group of related proteins that help regulate the activity of the immune system. The mammalian types are named IFN-α (alpha), IFN-β (beta), IFN-κ (kappa), IFN-δ (delta), IFN-ε (epsilon), IFN- τ (tau), IFN- ω (omega), and IFN- ζ (zeta) (66, 67). IFN- α has 13 different subtypes in humans (α1/13; α2; α4; α5; α6; α7; α8; α10; α14; α16; α17; α 21) (68) and is primarily produced by pDCs, while IFN- β is produced largely by fibroblasts; both have antiviral activity that is an important component of the innate immune response. Quantitative and qualitative differences in gene expression have been observed, with type I IFN being notably absent in the RSV infected cells (69). This result is consistent with results from the INFANT study, conducted by Argentine doctors to investigate the causes of respiratory diseases that seriously affect children such as RSV associated asthma and bronchiolitis, and pneumonia and influenza virus infection. In the INFANT study, RSV infection failed to induce a robust type I IFN response in the nasal mucosa of infants even when co-infected with influenza, which normally induces a robust response (70). Intriguingly, neonatal mouse models of RSV infection recapitulate these data from humans. Specifically, neonatal mice infected with RSV fail to induce a type I IFN response to RSV in contrast to adult mice infected with RSV (71). Furthermore, as compared to nontreated controls, administration of IFN- α during infection of the neonate enhances the immune response to RSV infection 5 weeks later and prevents Th2 biased immune responses (including perivascular inflammation and mucus production) and airway hyperreactivity (71). Notably, studies examining human cord blood-derived pDCs exposed to RSV showed reduced type I IFN production when compared to vehicle control or left unstimulated (40). These recent correlations between type I IFN responses and RSV disease severity in infants merit further investigation. Here, we review the mechanism surrounding RSV and type I IFN production in humans and mouse models and discuss its implications for development of therapeutics and vaccines.

IFN Biology and RSV Disease

Human IFNs are classified as type I (IFN-I), type II (IFN-II), or type III (IFN-III) with each class binding to specific receptors. All type I IFNs bind to a specific cell surface receptor complex known as the IFN- α receptor (IFNAR) that consists of IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 chains (72). The ability to produce and respond to IFN-I is distributed in a wide variety of cells. This confers several autocrine and paracrine effects that have been extensively characterized, mainly in viral infections. IFN-I signaling is mediated through a common cell surface receptor, the IFN-I receptor (IFNAR), signaling through the JAK-STAT cascade leading to transcriptional upregulation of the IFN-ISGs. The IFN-II family is represented by a single gene product, IFN- γ , and is mainly produced by T lymphocytes and natural killer (NK) cells. The associated receptor (IFNGR) regulates several cell functions related to host defense to intracellular pathogens. IFN- λ comprises four subtypes: IFN- λ 1, IFN- λ 2, IFN- λ 3, and IFN- λ 4. The members of this IFN-III family interact through a unique receptor, the IFN- λ receptor (IFN- λ R). It has been shown that IFN systems differ in terms of tissue distribution of their receptors (73, 74). While IFN- α/β systems are more prominent on endothelial cells, they are expressed on all cells. On the other hand, IFN- λ expression is more restricted occurring predominantly on epithelial cells of the intestines and lungs (73). RSV infection induces high expression levels of IFN- λ 1–3 in the lungs, and these have been associated with more severe disease in children (75).

Type I and III IFNs are induced in virtually all cell types upon recognition of viral proteins by cytoplasmic and endosomal receptors (67, 68). IFN induction by RSV involves the recognition of RSV by TLRs which activate innate and acquired immunity (47, 49, 76–78). Leukocytes express several TLRs, including TLR2, TLR6, TLR3, TLR4, and TLR7 (79). Using knockout mice, TLR2 and TLR6 signaling in leukocytes has been shown to activate innate immunity against RSV by promoting TNF- α (tumor necrosis factor), IL-6 (interleukin-6), CCL2 (monocyte chemoattractant protein 1), and CCL5 (RANTES) (80). TLR4 was shown to also contribute to cytokine activation, and TLR2 and TLR6 activation was shown to be important for controlling viral replication *in vivo* in mice (81). TLR2 interactions with RSV promoted neutrophil migration and dendritic cell activation within the lung. TLR3 has been associated with more severe disease in mice models (82).

TLR4 is upregulated by RSV F protein interaction with TLR4 (76, 77). RSV G protein reduced TLR4 activity to baseline levels even in the presence of LPS (lipopolysaccharide), a strong stimulus, as assayed using a luciferase reporter construct for TLR4 signaling (76). As previously noted, RSV infection of normal human bronchoepithelial cells has been shown to modulate expression of SOCS, an effect mediated by G protein, leading to inhibition of type I IFN and ISG15 expression (48). These findings suggest that RSV surface proteins signal through multiple TLRs, and that enhanced expression and activation of type I IFNs may promote viral replication. Accordingly, IFN- α has been considered as an adjuvant for RSV vaccines as it is known to promote the activation and survival of virus-specific T cells (83).

The role of type I IFN in RSV infection, shedding, and disease severity in humans has been a subject of interest for decades (84, 85). While early studies struggled to identify a role for type I IFN in RSV disease (84-88), novel findings in recent years implicate type I IFN as determinants of RSV pathogenesis and immune responses (40, 41, 89, 90). RSV is a poor inducer of IFN and as a consequence, these IFNs and related cytokines have been speculated to have a limited role in the host defense against viral infection (84, 85, 87, 88). In fact, most hypotheses for RSV disease susceptibility in infants have been based on unique structural respiratory factors such as smaller airway size, lack of interalveolar pores and channels and different innervation patterns, inflammatory responses, and Th2 polarization of the adaptive immune response (78, 91, 92). Reconsideration of this bias is needed. Unlike the case in infants and children infected with influenza virus, IFN levels were undetectable or low in nasal secretions of infants and young children with RSV lower respiratory tract illness and did not correlate with resolution of clinical signs (84, 85). In a more recent study of infants in Argentina, type I IFN was detected more frequently in those infected with influenza A virus than in those infected with RSV or hMPV (93). RSV infected infants hospitalized with bronchiolitis displayed low, intermittent concentrations of IFN-a in respiratory secretions (87). No significant correlation was seen between these low respiratory IFN levels and RSV shedding (88). In human macrophages and peripheral blood mononuclear cells, RSV infection also induced minimal IFN activity and elicited no detectable transcription of IFN- α or IFN- β gene products (86), which is consistent with low IFN-a production in monocyte cultures from young infants (40).

Intriguingly, RSV-induced IFN- α expression by primary pDC collected from older children (from 1 to 5-year-olds) was notably higher than that of healthy full-term infant counterparts suggesting expression may be linked to age of the patient. Likewise, higher IFN- α expression was detected in primary pDCs obtained from healthy adults (40). Age at the time of initial infection is an important predictive factor for disease severity (94, 95). Cohort studies demonstrated that young infants (<6 months of age at initial infection) are at greater risk for severe disease than older infants (96, 97). Furthermore, long-term consequences

of RSV infection, such as development of asthma, are closely associated with severity of infection (10, 13). Extrapolation of response to vaccines or therapeutics in adults to those in young infants is thus highly problematic.

While clear linkage between IFN expression and RSV infection in humans has been elusive, a factor that needs further study is the prolonged incubation period of RSV disease in infants for whom the mean time from infection to symptoms is 4-6 days (87) in sharp contrast to the considerably shorter incubation period for influenza virus (average of 2 days). Type I IFN levels peak early after infection, and therefore sampling of respiratory secretions after symptoms appear may be too late to detect its antiviral effects for infants infected with RSV (84, 85, 93). Support for a function of type I IFNs in RSV pathogenesis is also growing from analysis of developmental innate immune mechanisms associated with poor type I IFN responses in newborn and young infants. For instance, and as mentioned above, RSV-induced IFN-a production appears to be primarily mediated by pDC, (40, 41). Indeed, compared to adult pDC production of type I IFN during RSV infection is substantially impaired in infants when disease is particularly severe (40, 90). Impairment in infants is explained by deficits either in MAVS or RIG-I at the post-translational level or by signaling events downstream of MAVS (40).

Additional evidence supporting a role for type I IFN in RSV infection and illness is the strong inhibition of IFN induction and signaling mediated by the two earliest genes transcribed among the 11 RSV gene products, NS1 and NS2 (89). NS1 and NS2 have been postulated to have various roles in RSV pathogenesis, generally linked to their anti-IFN activity. In addition to antagonizing type I IFN, NS1, and NS2 may negatively modulate dendritic cell maturation, affect Th17 lymphocyte proliferation, and promote Th2 polarization (35, 98–105). Deletion of anti-IFN proteins NS1 and NS2 in RSV live vaccines is responsible for attenuated phenotypes (89).

In the era prior to availability of antibodies against RSV, topical administration of recombinant IFN-α-2a accelerated control of upper respiratory tract symptoms during RSV infection in a randomized, double-blinded trial while not affecting duration or magnitude of viral shedding (106). This early result is of interest in the context of a more recent study of nasal epithelial cells from children with wheeze and/or atopy that showed reduced IFN- β in the nasal swabs in response to RSV infection, which was associated with increased viral shedding (107). However, consistent with other successful immunotherapies, this regimen elicited adverse effects and severity of those effects were dose-dependent (108). Common side effects due to IFN-a include flu-like symptoms, pulmonary toxicity (109), gastrointestinal symptoms (110), and neurotoxicity (111). Lethal toxicities associated with IFN- α regimen are rare and severe toxicities due to IFN- α are manageable if recognized expeditiously (112, 113). Importantly, IFN-α therapy in children (114) and infants with RSV-induced bronchiolitis (115) is generally safe and well tolerated. However, caution is still warranted in use of recombinant IFN-a in the context of an RSV infection, due to the side effects mentioned above.

It is also possible that antiviral agents may benefit from restoring natural type I IFN responses, which may lead to faster clearance of the virus. Two studies using healthy adult volunteers experimentally infected with RSV and treated with antivirals showed that rapid RSV clearance was related to reduced disease (116, 117). Similarly, a higher RSV load was linked to an increased risk for severe bronchiolitis in a large multicenter trial in the United States (28). None of these studies have attempted to define the mechanism by which higher viral load contributes to disease severity. In that regard, a study in infants with RSV bronchiolitis that described an association between viral load and disease severity (length of hospital stay) is of interest since a correlation was also noted with relative expression of ISG-56 (118). Finally, additional evidence for the role of type I IFN in disease severity comes from two studies of rare loss-of-function variants in IFIH1 (which encodes a RIG-I-like receptor involved in the sensing of viral RNA); the variants result in defective innate recognition of RNA viruses preventing the activation of an efficient antiviral IFN response. These rare but serious immunodeficiencies lead to extreme susceptibility to RSV and other respiratory viruses (119, 120).

Responses in Mice

Mice provide a semi-permissive model for human RSV and while attempts to adapt a strain to this model have repeatedly failed (121) data from numerous laboratories demonstrate similarities in age related immune responses between humans and neonatal mice. Since, our current understanding of the features that contribute to severe RSV disease in infants is tied to our understanding of developmental immunity during the first year of life, the neonatal mouse model of RSV infection is a helpful tool (122-124). Numerous studies utilizing mouse models of RSV infection have revealed a bias toward a T helper type 2 (Th2) cytokine response when mice are initially infected as neonates as compared to adults (71, 125-128). Upon reinfection, mice initially infected as neonates mount significantly greater Th2 responses as compared to mice initially infected as adults (126). This skewed Th2 response upon reinfection is associated with lung dysfunction (lung eosinophilia, increased mucus production, and air hyperresponsiveness) (126, 127, 129). Such responses mirror observations made in infants with severe RSV disease (130-132). Production of type I IFN by pDC during RSV infection of the neonate mouse, as in humans, is considerably impaired. However, both pDC number and production of type I IFN in response to RSV increase with age; adult mice recruit substantially higher numbers of pDCs to the lungs after RSV infection when compared to those of same age that are not infected and to neonatal mice infected with RSV (71). A single dose of IFN- α or adoptive transfer of adult-derived pDCs (capable of mounting a type I IFN response), prior to a primary RSV infection, substantially impedes the Th2biased immunopathology observed during reinfection (71). A related strategy to revert poor outcomes associated with RSV infection in neonatal mice has been administering Flt3 ligand to neonates before RSV infection (133). Ftl3 ligand is a growth factor that stimulates the proliferation of hematopoietic cells that triggers expansion of cDCs and pDCs in human cord blood and strongly promotes IFN- α production by pDCs in response to viral exposure (134, 135). This treatment has led to increased lung DC numbers and reconditioning of the type I IFN pathway toward Th1-mediated immunity. In addition, these mice were protected from exacerbated airway disease upon adult re-exposure to RSV (133).

Treating mice with neutralizing mAbs against the RSV G protein reduced G protein-mediated lung inflammation. Specifically, TRL3D3, a human mAb against the G protein CCD, enhanced IFN responses, decreased airway inflammation, and improved lung function upon secondary infection, whereas mice treated with an anti-F mAb (palivizumab) had less IFN than mock infected mice (30, 33). Since RSV infection is inhibited by IFN-induced transmembrane proteins (71, 117), the impact of counteracting the G protein's suppressive effect on IFN production likely also contributes to the antiviral effect of such mAbs. Consistent with these results, intranasal IFN- α administration in neonatal mice prior to RSV infection appreciably reduced RSV viral load in both nasal associated lymphoid tissue and lungs when compared to age-matched controls (136).

Interestingly, while the IFN- α response to RSV progressively increases with age (40, 136); another cytokine IL33, an alarmin cytokine, decreases with age (126). Recent work has demonstrated that IL-33 is significantly greater in neonatal compared to adult mice during RSV infection. IL-33 signaling in the neonatal mouse model of RSV has been shown to induce RSV immunopathogenesis including Th2 bias (126). Elevations in IL-33 are inversely correlated with age at RSV infection (126) and severity of RSV infantile disease has been associated with elevated levels of respiratory IL-33 and polymorphisms within ST2, the receptor for IL-33, (137). IL-33 promotes Th2 responses via multiple signaling pathways that are summarized in Figure 1. Similarly, intranasal instillation of IL-33 significantly impaired the production of IFN- α/λ in the BALF and reduced the expression of IFN-stimulated genes in the lung following PVM infection (138). Table 1 summarizes the significant advances in the role of age-dependent differences in various immune and non-immune cells related to the immune pathogenesis of RSV infection in infants. Figure 1 highlights age-dependent differences in RSV-mediated immune pathogenesis.

Implications for RSV Vaccines and Therapeutic Agents

Current RSV vaccine candidates seek to induce high levels of RSV-specific serum neutralizing antibodies, which are associated with reduced RSV-related hospitalization rates. However, serum neutralizing antibodies may not be sufficient to prevent infection and/or induce protective responses. This feature of RSV biology was exemplified by the antibody responses induced to the FI-RSV vaccine in the 1960's, which elicited lower avidity, non-protective antibodies as compared to those that develop after natural RSV infection (150). Furthermore, mucosal antibodies have been shown to correlate better with RSV protection than serum antibodies in both infants and adults (151–153).

The majority of vaccine efforts to date have focused on the RSV F protein, based on the assumption that reducing RSV load will reduce or eliminate disease. While mAbs against RSV F protein (palivizumab) given to premature infants (at or before 35 weeks) do help to protect children with certain lung or heart conditions who are at high risk for severe RSV disease, such treatment does not fully protect from disease. Further, in a recent study of viral burden in healthy full-term infants (<70 days old), nearly a third experienced a multi-log rebound in viral load at around 2 weeks after onset of symptoms (154). Since viral load had declined by several orders of magnitude by that point, the most likely cause was mutational escape which is a well characterized response to anti-F protein mAbs (155).

In short, the role of RSV viral load as a driver for severity of infection remains controversial. On the one hand, quantitative RT-PCR correlation with disease severity in patients showed that viral load was associated with disease severity in younger patients although not in older patients (63). For patients intubated due to respiratory distress, RSV infection resulted in higher viral load than those not intubated, and higher viral loads were associated with longer hospitalization (156). In the adult human RSV challenge model, virus replication is inversely correlated with the level of nasal secretory neutralizing antibody prior to infection (157). Higher nasal immunoglobulin (Ig) A predicts lower infectivity and lower measures of viral replication (151) and low RSV-specific nasal IgA is an independent significant risk factor for RSV infection (158). On the other hand, several groups have failed to find an association of higher viral load in nasopharyngeal lavage (159) or nasal aspirates with either length of hospitalization, duration of oxygen supplement or severe bronchiolitis in either infants (160) or children (161).

The picture that is emerging is that primary reduction in viral load is useful, but not sufficient, to reduce the clinically relevant pathology. Accordingly, a combination of an anti-viral agent with an agent that reduces the RSV induced alteration in the innate immune response is the most likely route to improved outcomes. Targeting the F protein addresses the first issue. Targeting the G protein addresses the second issue; since anti-G protein mAbs also have potent antiviral activity, targeting the G protein alone may be sufficient to achieve both goals.

The optimal type of RSV vaccine employed, i.e., RSV F and/or G protein, will likely be dependent on the host target population (162, 163), with four groups being of interest: (1) infants and young children, (2) adults, (3) the elderly, and (4) pregnant woman. Immunization schedule (prime/boost) and the specific platform for delivery of the vaccine are also likely to be important (162, 164, 165). Consequently, there are a spectrum of RSV vaccines being tested that include live-attenuated and chimeric virus, purified F protein (including variants engineered to present predominantly the prefusion conformation), particle and vector-based presentations of the antigen(s) (165). For example, RSV F protein particlebased (Novovax) (166, 167) and RSV F subunit (GSK; NIH) vaccines are being evaluated for use in pregnant mothers, while RSV F protein particle-based (Novovax; Mucosis) and live-attenuated vaccines such as RSV deletion mutant vaccines, e.g., $\Delta M2-2$ and $\Delta NS2$ constructs (Sanofi; NIH) are being



FIGURE 1 Age-dependent differences RSV-mediated immune pathogenesis. The expression of RSV-induced IFN α is limited during infantile RSV infection and progressively increases with age. Type I IFNs are capable of suppressing Th2 development and promoting type 1 immunity. Type I IFNs have been implicated in the regulation of NK and CD8⁺ T cells functionality. Type I IFNs can elicit the activation of cytotoxic IFN- γ^+ CD8⁺ T cells by enhancing the recruitment of inflammatory myeloid cells into infected lungs. These infiltrating myeloid cells then differentiate into macrophage and DC, and acquire antigen presenting ability, subsequently activate CD8⁺ T cells and trigger CD8⁺ T cells IFN- γ production. In addition, type I IFNs can also act directly on CD8⁺ T cells and NK cells by targeting its receptor IFNAR1 on membrane of CD8⁺ T cells. In contrast with IFN- α , IL-33 has been implicated in the induction of Th2-biased immune pathogenesis during neonatal RSV infection. A large amount of IL-33 is rapidly released following RSV infection in neonatal but not adult mice. IL-33 can elicit ILC2-mediated IL-13/IL-4 production through its cellular receptor ST2 on ILC2. ILC2-derived IL-13/IL-4 then can facilitate cognate expansion of Th2 by upregulating the expression of Th2 cells. Similarly, IL-33 can promote Th2 polarization from naïve CD4⁺ T cells by target IL-4 also promotes the proliferation of Th2 cells. It involves the upregulation of IL4Ra on both DC and Th2 cells. Similarly, IL-33 can promote Th2 polarization from naïve CD4⁺ T cells.

targeted for the pediatric population with potential extension to older children and young adults (168). An important caveat for using live vaccines is the need to prevent transmission to the immune compromised, or those with reduced or waning immunity. An additional issue for vaccinating infants and young children is that the vaccine needs to balance safety (higher attenuation) and efficacy (lower attenuation). A promising recent study of an RSV vaccine candidate having a deletion of the M2-2 coding sequence showed downregulation of viral replication and upregulation of transcription and antigen synthesis (169). For healthy older adults, several RSV vaccine candidates are being considered, including vectorbased platforms such as VXA-RSV F oral (Vaxart) and Ad26.RSV.preF (Janssen) (168). Given the high transmissibility of RSV, even a safe and effective vaccine will likely leave gaps in protection for high-risk, very young infants. Vaccinating pregnant women has become an area of high interest to induce passive protection in the infant by generating high maternal antibody titers.

Antibodies directed to dominant antigenic sites on the F protein have variable neutralization capacities with the

most potent neutralization epitopes associated with the pre-F conformation (170–174). Stabilized F protein antigen in both pre- and post-fusion morphology are being explored (31, 172, 175, 176). The typical benchmark is achieving a protective titer at a defined time point, but the time course of increase in antibody titer is also an important parameter, which will likely differ according to vaccine type and composition. The RSV G protein is also an antigenic target for neutralizing antibodies, but despite this fact, the G protein has not usually been considered as a RSV vaccine candidate because of its variability across RSV strains (175–177). However, with the recent discovery of the G protein structure (29, 32), and the known role of the G protein oligomer on the virus surface vs. its monomeric secreted form (54, 178), there has been reinvigorated interest in its potential as a RSV vaccine candidate.

Passive transfer of antibodies is protective against severe RSV infection using polyclonal or monoclonal antibodies (mAbs; RSV-IVIG, palivizumab) (179) The ratio of antibody transfer and decay kinetics is considered a principal parameter to measure protection. More recent versions of mAbs have become available with improved antibody transfer and decay kinetics such as

TABLE 1 | Differences in immunological responses toward RSV in the respiratory tract.

Respiratory immune responses	Adult mice	Neonatal mice	Human infants
IFNα UPSTREAM SIGNALING			
Respiratory/pulmonary pDC	+++(71, 139)	+ (71, 139)	older (\geq 4 months) infants had fewer BAL pDC than younger (<4 months) (140)
IFN-α	+ + + (71, 133, 139)	+ [(71, 139), Remot, 2016 #432]	IFN- α production by primary pDC collected from healthy term infants is lower than older children (from 1-year to 5-year-olds) (40)
IFNα MEDIATED IgA-PRODUCTIO	ON OF B CELLS		
Nasal associated lymphoid tissue—B cells	+ + + (136)	++ (136)	
Respiratory IgA	+++(136, 141)	+ (136)	IgA levels in nasal aspirates are lower in younger infants (4–8 months) compared to older infants and young children (9–21 months during RSV infection (142, 143)
OTHER IMMUNE MEDIATORS			
CD103 ⁺ /CD11b ⁺ DC	+: CD103 ⁺ /CD11b ⁺ ratio (144)	+++: CD103 ⁺ /CD11b ⁺ ratio (144)	
	+++: CD80 and CD86 (144)	+: CD80 and CD86 (144)	
	+: OX40L expression (145)	+++: OX40L expression (145)	
CD4 ⁺ T cells	Th1 responses >Th2 responses (126, 146)	Th2 responses >Th1 responses (126, 146)	Th2 responses > Th1 responses (131, 132, 147) (Cormier SA, Unpublished Data)
CD8 ⁺ T cells	+ + +: IFN- γ producing (148)	+: IFN-γ producing (148)	+ + + (149) and Tc2 responses > Tc1 responses (Cormier SA, Unpublished Data)

(+, low; +++, high).

MEDI-8897 which is optimized from the human antibody D25 that targets RSV pre-F protein (24, 170, 172, 180, 181). This type of treatment potentially offers novel immunotherapeutic strategies to bridge gaps with RSV vaccine candidates.

Many studies indicate that certain cytokines can mediate strong vaccine responses associated with a good outcome. For example, IFN-a2b is an FDA-approved therapy for adjuvant treatment of patients with certain cancers (182) and hepatitis C (183). Of particular interest is the recent demonstration that administration to neonatal mice of IFN-a prior to RSV infection increased RSV specific IgA production in nasal washes when compared to age matched controls (136). Furthermore, IgA levels became comparable to those of adult mice infected with RSV (136). In addition, IFN- α induced expression of B cell activating factor (BAFF) in nasal associated lymphoid tissue (NALT) (136). BAFF, a B cell survival factor and mediator of B cell activation and class switching, and APRIL, a TNF ligand family member that shares receptors with BAFF, regulate B cell survival, proliferation and differentiation. Gene expression analysis from NALT and lung homogenates further support a role for IFN- α in regulating granulocyte migration and neutrophil-mediated immunity (136).

Comparative studies of genetic background of mice has shown diverse influences on Th cell differentiation by controlling the capacity for IL-2-induced IL-4 production by naive CD4+ T cells. BALB/c mice are Th2-prone, while C57BL/6 mice are Th1-prone (28, 184–186). Notably, type I IFN pathways are reconditioned in neonatal BALB/c mice after RSV infection as lung dendritic cells (DC) numbers increase; the associated shift toward a Th1 response protected the mice from exacerbated airway disease (187). Adult mice produce considerably higher

levels of type I IFNs in response to RSV than do neonatal mice. Finally, recent studies have implicated the type III IFN- λ as being significant for mucosal antiviral immune responses to RSV infection (41, 65).

Since SOCS-1 and SOCS-3 negatively regulate the IFNinduced signal cascade, and NS1, NS2, and G protein inhibit the type I IFN response, any of these viral proteins may prove to be useful targets to induce a more effective innate immune response (45, 50). Understanding how these viral proteins modify host immune responses is thus crucial to the development of effective countermeasures. Although no animal model perfectly mimics the human response, the mouse offers a far greater set of tools for analyzing the immune system than other popular models, such as the cotton rat, and the mouse has for that reason become the nearly exclusive model for studies on RSV and the host immune response.

Clinical Implications

Over the past decade, targeting the F protein has repeatedly produced disappointing clinical results. In particular, agents targeting the F protein have not been proven effective postinfection. This is not only problematic for the multiple populations in need of treatment but also for vaccines since healthy full term infants (<70 days old) experienced a significant rebound in viral load at around 2 weeks after onset of symptoms in nearly a third of the study population (154). Moreover, palivizumab is only approved for prophylaxis in premature infants and those at high risk for severe RSV disease. Retrospective analysis of samples from the clinical trials leading to approval of this drug revealed a striking skewing of TLR4 polymorphisms (188). Mutations that interfere with function of this key innate immune system receptor have an incidence in the general population of \sim 10%, but 90% of the high-risk premature birth infants had a TLR4 mutation. This striking result has been replicated (78). As described above, the RSV F protein stimulates TLR4, while the G protein suppresses this signaling pathway (48). In the premature birth population, antibody mediated removal of the TLR4 stimulus should not impact the overall response since the pathway is already suppressed genetically. In the broader population, however, removal of that beneficial stimulus may contribute to the lower observed efficacy compared to what was expected.

In light of these empirical failures and the improved understanding of RSV disease mechanisms, interest has increased in the role of the other major viral envelope protein, the RSV G protein, on viral entry, on viral neutralization, and most critically on RSV-mediated pathology (33). In mouse pDCs, mutating the G protein CCD prevented suppression of IFN- α attributable to the G protein; the Fab of a murine mAb against this region of the G protein was nearly as effective as the mutation (39).

Human mAbs targeting the CCD of RSV G protein (189) have recently been compared to anti-F mAbs, as both prophylactic and therapeutic treatment in BALB/c mice. The results showed that targeting the G protein was more effective for reducing viral load, leukocyte infiltration, and pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in cell-free bronchial alveolar lavage (BAL) supernatants (190). These results are consistent with *in vitro* studies on the type I IFN response of normal human bronchial epithelial cells to RSV in conjunction with mAbs to either the F or G protein which showed clear superiority for targeting the G protein (48).

TLR3D3 is a native human mAb that binds the G protein CCD with low pM affinity; it has strong activities as both an antiviral and for immune response normalization (189). It is currently in IND-enabling preclinical development. In light of the accumulated results summarized here on the mechanisms underlying RSV disease, it is appropriate to test this agent as a post-infection treatment. If proven effective, design of a vaccine to induce comparable mAbs will benefit from recently published structural analysis of the binding of TRL3D3 to the G protein CCD (32).

CONCLUSION

RSV infections continue to be a major cause of morbidity and mortality around the world affecting a wide variety of patients. Infants, the elderly, and those with comorbidities are at particularly high risk of hospitalization and death. Mainstream

REFERENCES

- 1. Hall CB. Respiratory syncytial virus and parainfluenza virus. N Engl J Med. (2001) 344:1917–28. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200106213442507
- Hall CB, Weinberg GA, Iwane MK, Blumkin AK, Edwards KM, Staat MA, et al. The burden of respiratory syncytial virus infection in young

therapy remains restricted to supportive care. Despite successful antigen presentation leading to high titer of neutralizing antibodies by several approaches, we still do not have a licensed vaccine. Although the single licensed monoclonal antibody, palivizumab, is effective, it protects only a minor fraction of the population at high risk. Advances in therapeutic and vaccine development for RSV has mainly been hampered by the lack of understanding of the immune response to the virus both in the setting of primary infection as well as recurrent reinfections. Diverse approaches have converged over the last few years on identification of Type I IFN as a key actor and a readily measured biomarker of the broader innate immune response. Clinical studies in human infants have shown that RSV is a poor inducer of type I IFN responses, and there is accumulating literature reporting an inverse correlation between type I IFN responses and disease severity.

As our understanding improves of how viral proteins modify host immune responses, and the age dependence of those responses, research efforts can focus on development of effective countermeasures to overcome the virus's sophisticated sabotage of the host immune system. Animal models, complemented by studies on human cells in vitro, continue to be essential in the discovery and/or confirmation of the key features surrounding the host-virus interaction. Mouse models have proven to be particularly informative, including demonstrations that neonatal mice fail to produce IFN-a in the setting of RSV infection due to poor pDC recruitment, and that administration of IFNα decreases Th2-biased immunopathology and viral load. In addition, and importantly, administration of IFNa enhances mucosal RSV specific IgA production, which is critical given the clinical evidence that suggests that mucosal antibodies correlate better than systemic antibodies with protection. Although the known toxicities of recombinant IFN precludes use in this setting, a variety of approaches to restoring the normal IFN response have been identified, offering new opportunities for both therapeutic and vaccine discovery.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by grants from NIH to SC (R01AI090059, R01ES015050, and P42ES013648), BMGF (OPP1157162) and NIEHS Director's Challenge Award to FP, the Georgia Research Alliance to RT, SBIR grant from NIAID to LK (2R44AI122360-03).

children. N Engl J Med. (2009) 360:588–98. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa08 04877

 Hall CB, Simoes EA, Anderson LJ. Clinical and epidemiologic features of respiratory syncytial virus. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol.* (2013) 372:39–57. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-3 8919-1_2

- Blanco JCG, Boukhvalova MS, Morrison TG, Vogel SN. A multifaceted approach to RSV vaccination. *Hum Vaccin Immunother.* (2018) 14:1734–45. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2018.14 72183
- Shi T, McAllister DA, O'Brien KL, Simoes EAF, Madhi SA, Gessner BD, et al. Global, regional, and national disease burden estimates of acute lower respiratory infections due to respiratory syncytial virus in young children in 2015: a systematic review and modelling study. *Lancet.* (2017) 390:946–58. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30938-8
- Stein RT, Bont LJ, Zar H, Polack FP, Park C, Claxton A, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus hospitalization and mortality: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pediatr Pulmonol.* (2017) 52:556–69. doi: 10.1002/ppul. 23570
- Higgins D, Trujillo C, Keech C. Advances in RSV vaccine research and development - A global agenda. *Vaccine*. (2016) 34:2870–5. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.03.109
- Paes B, Fauroux B, Figueras-Aloy J, Bont L, Checchia PA, Simoes EA, et al. Defining the risk and associated morbidity and mortality of severe respiratory syncytial virus infection among infants with chronic lung disease. *Infect Dis Ther.* (2016) 5:453–71. doi: 10.1007/s40121-01 6-0137-7
- Checchia PA, Paes B, Bont L, Manzoni P, Simoes EA, Fauroux B, et al. Defining the risk and associated morbidity and mortality of severe respiratory syncytial virus infection among infants with congenital heart disease. *Infect Dis Ther.* (2017) 6:37–56. doi: 10.1007/s40121-01 6-0142-x
- Carroll KN, Wu P, Gebretsadik T, Griffin MR, Dupont WD, Mitchel EF, et al. Season of infant bronchiolitis and estimates of subsequent risk and burden of early childhood asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2009) 123:964–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2008. 12.011
- Gelfand EW. Development of asthma is determined by the agedependent host response to respiratory virus infection: therapeutic implications. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2012) 24:713–9. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2012. 08.011
- Caballero MT, Jones MH, Karron RA, Hartert TV, Simoes EA, Stein RT, et al. The impact of respiratory syncytial virus disease prevention on pediatric asthma. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (2016) 35:820–2. doi: 10.1097/INF.0000000000 001167
- Lu S, Hartert TV, Everard ML, Giezek H, Nelsen L, Mehta A, et al. Predictors of asthma following severe respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) bronchiolitis in early childhood. *Pediatr Pulmonol.* (2016) 51:1382–92. doi: 10.1002/ppul.23461
- Dupont W, Wu P, Gebretsadik T, Hartert T. RSV prevention in infancy and asthma in later life. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2018) 6:e32. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(18)30231-5
- Falsey AR, Hennessey PA, Formica MA, Cox C, Walsh EE. Respiratory syncytial virus infection in elderly and high-risk adults. *N Engl J Med.* (2005) 352:1749–59. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa043951
- Jorquera PA, Tripp RA. Respiratory syncytial virus: prospects for new and emerging therapeutics. *Expert Rev Respir Med.* (2017) 11:609–15. doi: 10.1080/17476348.2017.1338567
- Walsh EE, McConnochie KM, Long CE, Hall CB. Severity of respiratory syncytial virus infection is related to virus strain. J Infect Dis. (1997) 175:814–20. doi: 10.1086/513976
- DeVincenzo JP, Wilkinson T, Vaishnaw A, Cehelsky J, Meyers R, Nochur S, et al. Viral load drives disease in humans experimentally infected with respiratory syncytial virus. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2010) 182:1305–14. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201002-0221OC
- Caserta MT, Qiu X, Tesini B, Wang L, Murphy A, Corbett A, et al. Development of a Global Respiratory Severity Score for Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection in Infants. J Infect Dis. (2017) 215:750–6.
- Walsh EE, Wang L, Falsey AR, Qiu X, Corbett A, Holden-Wiltse J, et al. Virus-specific antibody, viral load, and disease severity in respiratory syncytial virus infection. J Infect Dis. (2018) 218:208–17. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiy106

- Tregoning JS, Schwarze J. Respiratory viral infections in infants: causes, clinical symptoms, virology, and immunology. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* (2010) 23:74–98. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00032-09
- Vandini S, Biagi C, Lanari M. Respiratory syncytial virus: the influence of serotype and genotype variability on clinical course of infection. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2017) 18:E1717. doi: 10.3390/ijms18081717
- McLellan JS, Chen M, Joyce MG, Sastry M, Stewart-Jones GB, Yang Y, et al. Structure-based design of a fusion glycoprotein vaccine for respiratory syncytial virus. *Science*. (2013) 342:592–8. doi: 10.1126/science.12 43283
- McLellan JS, Chen M, Leung S, Graepel KW, Du X, Yang Y, et al. Structure of RSV fusion glycoprotein trimer bound to a prefusion-specific neutralizing antibody. *Science*. (2013) 340:1113–7. doi: 10.1126/science.12 34914
- Johnson PR, Spriggs MK, Olmsted RA, Collins PL. The G glycoprotein of human respiratory syncytial viruses of subgroups A and B: extensive sequence divergence between antigenically related proteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1987) 84:5625–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.84.16.5625
- Cortjens B, Yasuda E, Yu X, Wagner K, Claassen YB, Bakker AQ, et al. Broadly reactive anti-respiratory syncytial virus G antibodies from exposed individuals effectively inhibit infection of primary airway epithelial cells. J Virol. (2017) 91:e02357-16. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02357-16
- Borchers AT, Chang C, Gershwin ME, Gershwin LJ. Respiratory syncytial virus-a comprehensive review. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol.* (2013) 45:331–79. doi: 10.1007/s12016-013-8368-9
- Rodriguez-Fernandez R, Tapia LI, Yang CF, Torres JP, Chavez-Bueno S, Garcia C, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus genotypes, host immune profiles, and disease severity in young children hospitalized with bronchiolitis. J Infect Dis. (2017) 217:24–34. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jix543
- Jones HG, Ritschel T, Pascual G, Brakenhoff JPJ, Keogh E, Furmanova-Hollenstein P, et al. Structural basis for recognition of the central conserved region of RSV G by neutralizing human antibodies. *PLoS Pathog.* (2018) 14:e1006935. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006935
- Kauvar LM, Harcourt JL, Haynes LM, Tripp RA. Therapeutic targeting of respiratory syncytial virus G-protein. *Immunotherapy*. (2010) 2:655–61. doi: 10.2217/imt.10.53
- Capella C, Chaiwatpongsakorn S, Gorrell E, Risch ZA, Ye F, Mertz SE, et al. Prefusion F, postfusion F, G antibodies, and disease severity in infants and young children with acute respiratory syncytial virus infection. *J Infect Dis.* (2017) 216:1398–406. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jix489
- Fedechkin SO, George NL, Wolff JT, Kauvar LM, and DuBois RM. Structures of respiratory syncytial virus G antigen bound to broadly neutralizing antibodies. *Sci Immunol.* (2018) 3:eaar3534. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aar3534
- Tripp RA, Power UF, Openshaw PJM, and Kauvar LM. Respiratory syncytial virus: targeting the G protein provides a new approach for an old problem. J Virol. (2018) 92:e01302-17. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01302-17
- Bossert B, Marozin S, Conzelmann KK. Nonstructural proteins NS1 and NS2 of bovine respiratory syncytial virus block activation of interferon regulatory factor 3. J Virol. (2003) 77:8661–8. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.16.8661-86 68.2003
- 35. Spann KM, Tran KC, Chi B, Rabin RL, Collins PL. Suppression of the induction of alpha, beta, and lambda interferons by the NS1 and NS2 proteins of human respiratory syncytial virus in human epithelial cells and macrophages [corrected]. *J Virol.* (2004) 78:4363–9. doi: 10.1128/JVI.78.8.4363-4369.2004
- Appiah GD, Blanton L, D'Mello T, Kniss K, Smith S, Mustaquim D, et al. Influenza activity - United States, 2014-15 season and composition of the 2015-16 influenza vaccine. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* (2015) 64:583–90.
- Chirkova T, Boyoglu-Barnum S, Gaston KA, Malik FM, Trau SP, Oomens AG, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus G protein CX3C motif impairs human airway epithelial and immune cell responses. *J Virol.* (2013) 87:13466–79. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01741-13
- Chirkova T, Lin S, Oomens AG, Gaston KA, Boyoglu-Barnum S, Meng J, et al. CX3CR1 is an important surface molecule for respiratory syncytial virus

infection in human airway epithelial cells. J Gen Virol. (2015) 96:2543–56. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.000218

- Boyoglu-Barnum S, Todd SO, Meng J, Barnum TR, Chirkova T, Haynes LM, et al. Mutating the CX3C motif in the G protein should make a live respiratory syncytial virus vaccine safer and more effective. *J Virol.* (2017) 91:e02059-16. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02059-16
- Marr N, Wang TI, Kam SH, Hu YS, Sharma AA, Lam A, et al. Attenuation of respiratory syncytial virus-induced and RIG-I-dependent type I IFN responses in human neonates and very young children. *J Immunol.* (2014) 192:948–57. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1302007
- Hillyer P, Mane VP, Chen A, Dos Santos MB, Schramm LM, Shepard RE, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus infection induces a subset of types I and III interferons in human dendritic cells. *Virology*. (2017) 504:63–72. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2017.01.017
- Barik S. Respiratory syncytial virus mechanisms to interfere with type 1 interferons. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol.* (2013) 372:173–91. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-38919-1_9
- Russell CD, Unger SA, Walton M, Schwarze J. The human immune response to respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* (2017) 30:481–502. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00090-16
- Hillyer P, Shepard R, Uehling M, Krenz M, Sheikh F, Thayer KR, et al. Differential responses by human respiratory epithelial cell lines to respiratory syncytial virus reflect distinct patterns of infection control. *J Virol.* (2018) 92:e02202-17. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02202-17
- 45. Moore EC, Barber J, Tripp RA. Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) attachment and nonstructural proteins modify the type I interferon response associated with suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) proteins and IFN-stimulated gene-15 (ISG15). *Virol J.* (2008) 5:116. doi: 10.1186/1743-422 X-5-116
- Hashimoto K, Ishibashi K, Ishioka K, Zhao D, Sato M, Ohara S, et al. RSV replication is attenuated by counteracting expression of the suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) molecules. *Virology.* (2009) 391:162–70. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2009.06.026
- Klein Klouwenberg P, Tan L, Werkman W, van Bleek GM, Coenjaerts F. The role of Toll-like receptors in regulating the immune response against respiratory syncytial virus. *Crit Rev Immunol.* (2009) 29:531–50. doi: 10.1615/CritRevImmunol.v29.i6.40
- Oshansky CM, Krunkosky TM, Barber J, Jones LP, Tripp RA. Respiratory syncytial virus proteins modulate suppressors of cytokine signaling 1 and 3 and the type I interferon response to infection by a toll-like receptor pathway. *Viral Immunol.* (2009) 22:147–61. doi: 10.1089/vim.200 8.0098
- Mukherjee S, Lukacs NW. Innate immune responses to respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol.* (2013) 372:139–54. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-38919-1_7
- Wang S, Zheng G, Zhao L, Xu F, Qian J. Shp-2 contributes to anti-RSV activity in human pulmonary alveolar epithelial cells by interfering with the IFN-alpha-induced Jak/Stat1 pathway. J Cell Mol Med. (2015) 19:2432–40. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.12629
- Croker BA, Kiu H, Nicholson SE. SOCS regulation of the JAK/STAT signalling pathway. Semin Cell Dev Biol. (2008) 19:414–22. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2008.07.010
- Baetz A, Frey M, Heeg K, Dalpke AH. Suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) proteins indirectly regulate toll-like receptor signaling in innate immune cells. J Biol Chem. (2004) 279:54708–15. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M410992200
- Yu CF, Peng WM, Schlee M, Barchet W, Eis-Hubinger AM, Kolanus W, et al. SOCS1 and SOCS3 target IRF7 degradation to suppress TLR7-mediated type I IFN production of human plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *J Immunol.* (2018) 200:4024–35. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700510
- Maher CF, Hussell T, Blair E, Ring CJ, Openshaw PJ. Recombinant respiratory syncytial virus lacking secreted glycoprotein G is attenuated, non-pathogenic but induces protective immunity. *Microbes Infect.* (2004) 6:1049–55. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2004.07.001
- Scott PD, Ochola R, Ngama M, Okiro EA, James Nokes D, Medley GF, et al. Molecular analysis of respiratory syncytial virus reinfections in infants from coastal Kenya. *J Infect Dis.* (2006) 193:59–67. doi: 10.1086/498246

- Zhang W, Lockey RF, Mohapatra SS. Respiratory syncytial virus: immunopathology and control. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol.* (2006) 2:169–79. doi: 10.1586/1744666X.2.1.169
- Woolums AR, Singer RS, Boyle GA, Gershwin LJ. Interferon gamma production during bovine respiratory syncytial virus (BRSV) infection is diminished in calves vaccinated with formalin-inactivated BRSV. *Vaccine*. (1999) 17:1293–7. doi: 10.1016/S0264-410X(98)00379-X
- Haynes LM, Jones LP, Barskey A, Anderson LJ, Tripp RA. Enhanced disease and pulmonary eosinophilia associated with formalin-inactivated respiratory syncytial virus vaccination are linked to G glycoprotein CX3C-CX3CR1 interaction and expression of substance P. J Virol. (2003) 77:9831–44. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.18.9831-9844.2003
- Plotnicky H, Siegrist CA, Aubry JP, Bonnefoy JY, Corvaia N, Nguyen TN, et al. Enhanced pulmonary immunopathology following neonatal priming with formalin-inactivated respiratory syncytial virus but not with the BBG2NA vaccine candidate. *Vaccine*. (2003) 21:2651–60. doi: 10.1016/S0264-410X(03)00055-0
- Johnson TR, Graham BS. Contribution of respiratory syncytial virus G antigenicity to vaccine-enhanced illness and the implications for severe disease during primary respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (2004) 23(Suppl. 1):S46–57. doi: 10.1097/01.inf.0000108192. 94692.d2
- Johnson TR, Teng MN, Collins PL, Graham BS. Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) G glycoprotein is not necessary for vaccine-enhanced disease induced by immunization with formalin-inactivated RSV. J Virol. (2004) 78:6024–32. doi: 10.1128/JVI.78.11.6024-6032.2004
- Castilow EM, Olson MR, Varga SM. Understanding respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) vaccine-enhanced disease. *Immunol Res.* (2007) 39:225–39. doi: 10.1007/s12026-007-0071-6
- Fuller JA, Njenga MK, Bigogo G, Aura B, Ope MO, Nderitu L, et al. Association of the CT values of real-time PCR of viral upper respiratory tract infection with clinical severity, Kenya. J Med Virol. (2013) 85:924–32. doi: 10.1002/jmv.23455
- Loebbermann J, Durant L, Thornton H, Johansson C, Openshaw PJ. Defective immunoregulation in RSV vaccine-augmented viral lung disease restored by selective chemoattraction of regulatory T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2013) 110:2987–92. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1217580110
- 65. Scheltema NM, Nibbelke EE, Pouw J, Blanken MO, Rovers MM, Naaktgeboren CA, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus prevention and asthma in healthy preterm infants: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2018) 6:257–64. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(18)30055-9
- Kotenko SV. IFN-lambdas. Curr Opin Immunol. (2011) 23:583–90. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2011.07.007
- Durbin RK, Kotenko SV, Durbin JE. Interferon induction and function at the mucosal surface. *Immunol Rev.* (2013) 255:25–39. doi: 10.1111/imr.12101
- Gibbert K, Schlaak JF, Yang D, Dittmer U. IFN-α subtypes: distinct biological activities in anti-viral therapy. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2013) 168:1048–58. doi: 10.1111/bph.12010
- Ioannidis I, McNally B, Willette M, Peeples ME, Chaussabel D, Durbin JE, et al. Plasticity and virus specificity of the airway epithelial cell immune response during respiratory virus infection. J Virol. (2012) 86:5422–36. doi: 10.1128/JVI.06757-11
- Scotta MC, Greff D, Goecks Oliveira S, de Moura A, Rhoden Estorgato G, Duarte de Souza AP, et al. Evaluation of nasal levels of interferon and clinical severity of influenza in children. *J Clin Virol.* (2019) doi: 10.1016/j.jcv.2019.02.003. [Epub ahead of print].
- Cormier SA, Shrestha B, Saravia J, Lee GI, Shen L, DeVincenzo JP, et al. Limited type I interferons and plasmacytoid dendritic cells during neonatal respiratory syncytial virus infection permit immunopathogenesis upon reinfection. J Virol. (2014) 88:9350–60. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00818-14
- Crisler WJ, Lenz LL. Crosstalk between type I and II interferons in regulation of myeloid cell responses during bacterial infection. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2018) 54:35–41. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2018. 05.014
- Sommereyns C, Paul S, Staeheli P, Michiels T. IFN-lambda (IFN-lambda) is expressed in a tissue-dependent fashion and primarily acts on epithelial cells *in vivo*. *PLoS Pathog.* (2008) 4:e1000017. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000017

- Blumer T, Coto-Llerena M, Duong FHT, Heim MH. SOCS1 is an inducible negative regulator of interferon lambda (IFN-lambda)induced gene expression *in vivo*. J Biol Chem. (2017) 292:17928–38. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M117.788877
- 75. Selvaggi C, Pierangeli A, Fabiani M, Spano L, Nicolai A, Papoff P, et al. Interferon lambda 1-3 expression in infants hospitalized for RSV or HRV associated bronchiolitis. J Infect. (2014) 68:467–77. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2013.12.010
- Kurt-Jones EA, Popova L, Kwinn L, Haynes LM, Jones LP, Tripp RA, et al. Pattern recognition receptors TLR4 and CD14 mediate response to respiratory syncytial virus. *Nat Immunol.* (2000) 1:398–401. doi: 10.1038/80833
- 77. Haynes LM, Moore DD, Kurt-Jones EA, Finberg RW, Anderson LJ, Tripp RA. Involvement of toll-like receptor 4 in innate immunity to respiratory syncytial virus. J Virol. (2001) 75:10730–7. doi: 10.1128/JVI.75.22.10730-10737.2001
- Caballero MT, Serra ME, Acosta PL, Marzec J, Gibbons L, Salim M, et al. TLR4 genotype and environmental LPS mediate RSV bronchiolitis through Th2 polarization. J Clin Invest. (2015) 125:571–82. doi: 10.1172/JCI75183
- Said EA, Tremblay N, Al-Balushi MS, Al-Jabri AA, Lamarre D. Viruses seen by our cells: the role of viral RNA sensors. J Immunol Res. (2018) 2018:9480497. doi: 10.1155/2018/9480497
- Murawski MR, Bowen GN, Cerny AM, Anderson LJ, Haynes LM, Tripp RA, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus activates innate immunity through Toll-like receptor 2. J Virol. (2009) 83:1492–500. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00671-08
- Kim TH, Lee HK. Innate immune recognition of respiratory syncytial virus infection. *BMB Rep.* (2014) 47:184–91. doi: 10.5483/BMBRep.2014.47.4.050
- 82. Dou Y, Zhao Y, Zhang Z-Y, Mao H-W, Tu W-W, Zhao X-D. Respiratory syncytial virus infection induces higher Toll-like receptor-3 expression and TNF- α production than human metapneumovirus infection. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e73488. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0073488
- Pletneva LM, Haller O, Porter DD, Prince GA, Blanco JC. Induction of type I interferons and interferon-inducible Mx genes during respiratory syncytial virus infection and reinfection in cotton rats. J Gen Virol. (2008) 89(Pt 1):261–70. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.83294-0
- Hall CB, Douglas RGJr, Simons RL, Geiman JM. Interferon production in children with respiratory syncytial, influenza, and parainfluenza virus infections. J Pediatr. (1978) 93:28–32. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(78)80594-0
- McIntosh K. Interferon in nasal secretions from infants with viral respiratory tract infections. J Pediatr. (1978) 93:33–6. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(78)80595-2
- Krilov LR, Hendry RM, Godfrey E, McIntosh K. Respiratory virus infection of peripheral blood monocytes: correlation with ageing of cells and interferon production *in vitro*. J Gen Virol. (1987) 68:1749–53. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-68-6-1749
- Isaacs D. Production of interferon in respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. Arch Dis Child. (1989) 64:92–5. doi: 10.1136/adc.64.1.92
- Taylor CE, Webb MS, Milner AD, Milner PD, Morgan LA, Scott R, et al. Interferon alfa, infectious virus, and virus antigen secretion in respiratory syncytial virus infections of graded severity. *Arch Dis Child.* (1989) 64:1656–60. doi: 10.1136/adc.64.12.1656
- Teng MN, Whitehead SS, Bermingham A, St Claire M, Elkins WR, Murphy BR, et al. Recombinant respiratory syncytial virus that does not express the NS1 or M2-2 protein is highly attenuated and immunogenic in chimpanzees. *J Virol.* (2000) 74:9317–21. doi: 10.1128/JVI.74.19.9317-9321.2000
- Hornung V, Schlender J, Guenthner-Biller M, Rothenfusser S, Endres S, Conzelmann KK, et al. Replication-dependent potent IFN-alpha induction in human plasmacytoid dendritic cells by a single-stranded RNA virus. *J Immunol.* (2004) 173:5935–43. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.173. 10.5935
- Martinez FD, Morgan WJ, Wright AL, Holberg CJ, Taussig LM. Diminished lung function as a predisposing factor for wheezing respiratory illness in infants. N Engl J Med. (1988) 319:1112–7. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198810273 191702
- Hull J, Thomson A, Kwiatkowski D. Association of respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis with the interleukin 8 gene region in UK families. *Thorax.* (2000) 55:1023–7. doi: 10.1136/thorax.55.12.1023

- Melendi GA, Coviello S, Bhat N, Zea-Hernandez J, Ferolla FM, Polack FP. Breastfeeding is associated with the production of type I interferon in infants infected with influenza virus. *Acta Paediatr.* (2010) 99:1517–21. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2010.01862.x
- DeVincenzo JP, El Saleeby CM, Bush AJ. Respiratory syncytial virus load predicts disease severity in previously healthy infants. J Infect Dis. (2005) 191:1861–8. doi: 10.1086/430008
- El Saleeby CM, Somes GW, DeVincenzo JP, Gaur AH. Risk factors for severe respiratory syncytial virus disease in children with cancer: the importance of lymphopenia and young age. *Pediatrics*. (2008) 121:235–43. doi: 10.1542/peds.2007-1102
- Sommer C, Resch B, Simões EA. Risk factors for severe respiratory syncytial virus lower respiratory tract infection. *Open Microbiol J.* (2011) 5:144–54. doi: 10.2174/1874285801105010144
- Rodríguez DA, Rodríguez-Martínez CE, Cárdenas AC, Quilaguy IE, Mayorga LY, Falla LM, et al. Predictors of severity and mortality in children hospitalized with respiratory syncytial virus infection in a tropical region. *Pediatr Pulmonol.* (2014) 49:269–76. doi: 10.1002/ppul.22781
- Lo MS, Brazas RM, Holtzman MJ. Respiratory syncytial virus nonstructural proteins NS1 and NS2 mediate inhibition of Stat2 expression and alpha/beta interferon responsiveness. J Virol. (2005) 79:9315–9. doi: 10.1128/JVI.79.14.9315-9319.2005
- Becker Y. Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) evades the human adaptive immune system by skewing the Th1/Th2 cytokine balance toward increased levels of Th2 cytokines and IgE, markers of allergy-a review. *Virus Genes*. (2006) 33:235–52. doi: 10.1007/s11262-006-0064-x
- 100. Bitko V, Shulyayeva O, Mazumder B, Musiyenko A, Ramaswamy M, Look DC, et al. Nonstructural proteins of respiratory syncytial virus suppress premature apoptosis by an NF-kappaB-dependent, interferon-independent mechanism and facilitate virus growth. J Virol. (2007) 81:1786–95. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01420-06
- 101. Gonzalez PA, Prado CE, Leiva ED, Carreno LJ, Bueno SM, Riedel CA, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus impairs T cell activation by preventing synapse assembly with dendritic cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2008) 105:14999–5004. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0802555105
- Munir S, Le Nouen C, Luongo C, Buchholz UJ, Collins PL, Bukreyev A. Nonstructural proteins 1 and 2 of respiratory syncytial virus suppress maturation of human dendritic cells. J Virol. (2008) 82:8780–96. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00630-08
- 103. Munir S, Hillyer P, Le Nouen C, Buchholz UJ, Rabin RL, Collins PL, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus interferon antagonist NS1 protein suppresses and skews the human T lymphocyte response. *PLoS Pathog.* (2011) 7:e1001336. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1001336
- 104. Okabayashi T, Kojima T, Masaki T, Yokota S, Imaizumi T, Tsutsumi H, et al. Type-III interferon, not type-I, is the predominant interferon induced by respiratory viruses in nasal epithelial cells. *Virus Res.* (2011) 160:360–6. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2011.07.011
- 105. Chatterjee S, Luthra P, Esaulova E, Agapov E, Yen BC, Borek DM, et al. Structural basis for human respiratory syncytial virus NS1mediated modulation of host responses. *Nat Microbiol.* (2017) 2:17101. doi: 10.1038/nmicrobiol.2017.101
- 106. Sung RY, Yin J, Oppenheimer SJ, Tam JS, Lau J. Treatment of respiratory syncytial virus infection with recombinant interferon alfa-2a. *Arch Dis Child*. (1993) 69:440–2. doi: 10.1136/adc.69.4.440
- 107. Spann KM, Baturcam E, Schagen J, Jones C, Straub CP, Preston FM, et al. Viral and host factors determine innate immune responses in airway epithelial cells from children with wheeze and atopy. *Thorax.* (2014) 69:918–25. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2013-204908
- Sriskandan K, Garner P, Watkinson J, Pettingale KW, Brinkley D, Calman FMB, et al. A toxicity study of recombinant interferon-gamma given by intravenous infusion to patients with advanced cancer. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol.* (1986) 18:63–8. doi: 10.1007/BF00253067
- 109. Savale L, Sattler C, Gunther S, Montani D, Chaumais MC, Perrin S, et al. Pulmonary arterial hypertension in patients treated with interferon. *Eur Respir J.* (2014) 44:1627–34. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00057914
- 110. Schmidinger M. Understanding and managing toxicities of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) inhibitors. *EJC Suppl.* (2013) 11:172–91. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcsup.2013.07.016

- 111. Caraceni A, Gangeri L, Martini C, Belli F, Brunelli C, Baldini M, et al. Neurotoxicity of interferon-alpha in melanoma therapy: results from a randomized controlled trial. *Cancer.* (1998) 83:482–9. doi: 10.1002/ (SICI)1097-0142(19980801)83:3<482::AID-CNCR17>3.0.CO;2-S
- 112. Gogas H, Bafaloukos D, Ioannovich J, Skarlos D, Polyzos A, Fountzilas G, et al. Tolerability of adjuvant high-dose interferon alfa-2b: 1 month versus 1 year–a Hellenic Cooperative Oncology Group study. *Anticancer Res.* (2004) 24:1947–52.
- 113. Minami T, Kishikawa T, Sato M, Tateishi R, Yoshida H, Koike K. Meta-analysis: mortality and serious adverse events of peginterferon plus ribavirin therapy for chronic hepatitis C. J Gastroenterol. (2013) 48:254–68. doi: 10.1007/s00535-012-0631-y
- Dubois J, Hershon L, Carmant L, Bélanger S, Leclerc J-M, David M. Toxicity profile of interferon alfa-2b in children: a prospective evaluation. *J Pediatrics*. (1999) 135:782–5. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(99)70104-6
- 115. Portnoy J, Hicks R, Pacheco F, Olson L. Pilot study of recombinant interferon alpha-2a for treatment of infants with bronchiolitis induced by respiratory syncytial virus. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. (1988) 32:589–91. doi: 10.1128/AAC.32.4.589
- 116. DeVincenzo JP, Whitley RJ, Mackman RL, Scaglioni-Weinlich C, Harrison L, Farrell E, et al. Oral GS-5806 activity in a respiratory syncytial virus challenge study. N Engl J Med. (2014) 371:711–22. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1401184
- 117. DeVincenzo JP, McClure MW, Symons JA, Fathi H, Westland C, Chanda S, et al. Activity of oral ALS-008176 in a respiratory syncytial virus challenge study. N Engl J Med. (2015) 373:2048–58. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa 1413275
- 118. Scagnolari C, Midulla F, Selvaggi C, Monteleone K, Bonci E, Papoff P, et al. Evaluation of viral load in infants hospitalized with bronchiolitis caused by respiratory syncytial virus. *Med Microbiol Immunol.* (2012) 201:311–7. doi: 10.1007/s00430-012-0233-6
- 119. Asgari S, Schlapbach LJ, Anchisi S, Hammer C, Bartha I, Junier T, et al. Severe viral respiratory infections in children with IFIH1 lossof-function mutations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2017) 114:8342–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1704259114
- 120. Lamborn IT, Jing H, Zhang Y, Drutman SB, Abbott JK, Munir S, et al. Recurrent rhinovirus infections in a child with inherited MDA5 deficiency. J Exp Med. (2017) 214:1949–72. doi: 10.1084/jem.20161759
- Taylor G. Animal models of respiratory syncytial virus infection. Vaccine. (2017) 35:469–80. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.11.054
- 122. Cormier SA, You D, Honnegowda S. The use of a neonatal mouse model to study respiratory syncytial virus infections. *Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther.* (2010) 8:1371–80. doi: 10.1586/eri.10.125
- 123. Ruckwardt TJ, Malloy AM, Gostick E, Price DA, Dash P, McClaren JL, et al. Neonatal CD8 T-cell hierarchy is distinct from adults and is influenced by intrinsic T cell properties in respiratory syncytial virus infected mice. *PLoS Pathog.* (2011) 7:e1002377. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat. 1002377
- 124. Battles MB, Langedijk JP, Furmanova-Hollenstein P, Chaiwatpongsakorn S, Costello HM, Kwanten L, et al. Molecular mechanism of respiratory syncytial virus fusion inhibitors. *Nat Chem Biol.* (2016) 12:87–93. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.1982
- 125. Adderson E, Branum K, Sealy RE, Jones BG, Surman SL, Penkert R, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of an intranasal Sendai virus-based human parainfluenza virus type 1 vaccine in 3- to 6-year-old children. *Clin Vaccine Immunol.* (2015) 22:298–303. doi: 10.1128/CVI.00618-14
- 126. Saravia J, You D, Shrestha B, Jaligama S, Siefker D, Lee GI, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus disease is mediated by age-variable IL-33. *PLoS Pathog.* (2015) 11:e1005217. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005217
- 127. Chu HY, Chin J, Pollard J, Zerr DM, Englund JA. Clinical outcomes in outpatient respiratory syncytial virus infection in immunocompromised children. *Influenza Other Respir Viruses*. (2016) 10:205–10. doi: 10.1111/irv.12375
- 128. Shrestha B, You D, Saravia J, Siefker DT, Jaligama S, Lee GI, et al. IL-4Ralpha on dendritic cells in neonates and Th2 immunopathology in respiratory syncytial virus infection. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2017) 102:153–61. doi: 10.1189/jlb.4A1216-536R
- 129. Ripple MJ, You D, Honnegowda S, Giaimo JD, Sewell AB, Becnel DM, et al. Immunomodulation with IL-4R alpha antisense oligonucleotide prevents

respiratory syncytial virus-mediated pulmonary disease. J Immunol. (2010) 185:4804-11. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000484

- 130. Roman M, Calhoun WJ, Hinton KL, Avendano LF, Simon V, Escobar AM, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus infection in infants is associated with predominant Th-2-like response. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. (1997) 156:190–5. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.156.1.9611050
- 131. Pinto RA, Arredondo SM, Bono MR, Gaggero AA, Diaz PV. T helper 1/T helper 2 cytokine imbalance in respiratory syncytial virus infection is associated with increased endogenous plasma cortisol. *Pediatrics*. (2006) 117:e878–886. doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-2119
- 132. Bermejo-Martin JF, Garcia-Arevalo MC, De Lejarazu RO, Ardura J, Eiros JM, Alonso A, et al. Predominance of Th2 cytokines, CXC chemokines and innate immunity mediators at the mucosal level during severe respiratory syncytial virus infection in children. *Eur Cytokine Netw.* (2007) 18:162–7. doi: 10.1684/ecn.2007.0096
- 133. Remot A, Descamps D, Jouneau L, Laubreton D, Dubuquoy C, Bouet S, et al. Flt3 ligand improves the innate response to respiratory syncytial virus and limits lung disease upon RSV reexposure in neonate mice. *Eur J Immunol.* (2016) 46:874–84. doi: 10.1002/eji.201545929
- 134. Pulendran B, Banchereau J, Burkeholder S, Kraus E, Guinet E, Chalouni C, et al. Flt3-ligand and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor mobilize distinct human dendritic cell subsets *in vivo. J Immunol.* (2000) 165:566–72. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.165.1.566
- Willems F, Vollstedt S, Suter M. Phenotype and function of neonatal DC. *Eur J Immunol.* (2009) 39:26–35. doi: 10.1002/eji.200838391
- 136. Hijano DR, Siefker DT, Shrestha B, Jaligama S, Vu LD, Tillman H, et al. Type I interferon potentiates IgA immunity to respiratory syncytial virus infection during infancy. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:11034. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-29456-w
- 137. Faber TE, Schuurhof A, Vonk A, Koppelman GH, Hennus MP, Kimpen JL, et al. IL1RL1 gene variants and nasopharyngeal IL1RL-a levels are associated with severe RSV bronchiolitis: a multicenter cohort study. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e34364. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0034364
- 138. Lynch JP, Werder RB, Simpson J, Loh Z, Zhang V, Haque A, et al. Aeroallergen-induced IL-33 predisposes to respiratory virus-induced asthma by dampening antiviral immunity. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2016) 138:1326–37. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.02.039
- 139. Lynch JP, Werder RB, Loh Z, Sikder MAA, Curren B, Zhang V, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells protect from viral bronchiolitis and asthma through semaphorin 4a-mediated T reg expansion. J Exp Med. (2018) 215:537–57. doi: 10.1084/jem.20170298
- 140. Kerrin A, Fitch P, Errington C, Kerr D, Waxman L, Riding K, et al. Differential lower airway dendritic cell patterns may reveal distinct endotypes of RSV bronchiolitis. *Thorax.* (2017) 72:620–7. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2015-207358
- 141. Singleton R, Etchart N, Hou S, Hyland L. Inability to evoke a longlasting protective immune response to respiratory syncytial virus infection in mice correlates with ineffective nasal antibody responses. *J Virol.* (2003) 77:11303–11. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.21.11303-11311.2003
- 142. Murphy BR, Graham BS, Prince GA, Walsh EE, Chanock RM, Karzon DT, et al. Serum and nasal-wash immunoglobulin G and A antibody response of infants and children to respiratory syncytial virus F and G glycoproteins following primary infection. *J Clin Microbiol.* (1986) 23:1009–14.
- 143. Tsutsumi H, Matsuda K, Yamazaki H, Ogra PL, Chiba S. Different kinetics of antibody responses between IgA and IgG classes in nasopharyngeal secretion in infants and children during primary respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Acta Paediatr Jpn.* (1995) 37:464–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1442-200X.1995.tb03356.x
- 144. Ruckwardt TJ, Malloy AMW, Morabito KM, Graham BS. Quantitative and qualitative deficits in neonatal lung-migratory dendritic cells impact the generation of the CD8+ T cell response. *PLoS Pathog.* (2014) 10:e1003934. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003934
- 145. Han J, Dakhama A, Jia Y, Wang M, Zeng W, Takeda K, et al. Responsiveness to respiratory syncytial virus in neonates is mediated through thymic stromal lymphopoietin and OX40 ligand. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2012) 130:1175–86.e79. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.08.033
- 146. You D, Marr N, Saravia J, Shrestha B, Lee GI, Turvey SE, et al. IL-4R α on CD4+ T cells plays a pathogenic role in respiratory syncytial virus reinfection in mice infected initially as neonates. *J Leukocyte Biol.* (2013) 93:933–42. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1012498

- Legg JP, Hussain IR, Warner JA, Johnston SL, Warner JO. Type 1 and type 2 cytokine imbalance in acute respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2003) 168:633–9. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200210-1148OC
- 148. Tregoning JS, Yamaguchi Y, Harker J, Wang B, Openshaw PJM. The role of T cells in the enhancement of respiratory syncytial virus infection severity during adult reinfection of neonatally sensitized mice. *J Virol.* (2008) 82:4115–24. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02313-07
- 149. Heidema J, Lukens MV, van Maren WW, van Dijk ME, Otten HG, van Vught AJ, et al. CD8+ T cell responses in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid and peripheral blood mononuclear cells of infants with severe primary respiratory syncytial virus infections. *J Immunol.* (2007) 179:8410–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.12.8410
- 150. Delgado MF, Coviello S, Monsalvo AC, Melendi GA, Hernandez JZ, Batalle JP, et al. Lack of antibody affinity maturation due to poor Toll-like receptor stimulation leads to enhanced respiratory syncytial virus disease. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:34–41. doi: 10.1038/nm.1894
- 151. Bagga B, Cehelsky JE, Vaishnaw A, Wilkinson T, Meyers R, Harrison LM, et al. Effect of preexisting serum and mucosal antibody on experimental Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) challenge and infection of adults. *J Infect Dis*, (2015) 212:1719–25. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiv281
- 152. Habibi MS, Jozwik A, Makris S, Dunning J, Paras A, DeVincenzo JP, et al. Impaired antibody-mediated protection and defective IgA B-cell memory in experimental infection of adults with respiratory syncytial virus. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2015) 191:1040–9. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201412-2256OC
- 153. Vissers M, Ahout IM, de Jonge MI, Ferwerda G. Mucosal IgG levels correlate better with respiratory syncytial virus load and inflammation than plasma IgG levels. *Clin Vaccine Immunol.* (2015) 23:243–5. doi: 10.1128/CVI.00590-15
- 154. Brint ME, Hughes JM, Shah A, Miller CR, Harrison LG, Meals EA, et al. Prolonged viral replication and longitudinal viral dynamic differences among respiratory syncytial virus infected infants. *Pediatr Res.* (2017) 82:872–80. doi: 10.1038/pr.2017.173
- 155. Bates JT, Keefer CJ, Slaughter JC, Kulp DW, Schief WR, Crowe JE Jr. Escape from neutralization by the respiratory syncytial virus-specific neutralizing monoclonal antibody palivizumab is driven by changes in on-rate of binding to the fusion protein. *Virology.* (2014) 454-455:139–44. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2014.02.010
- DeVincenzo JP, Buckingham SC. Relationship between respiratory syncytial virus load and illness severity in children. J Infect Dis. (2002) 186:1376–7; author reply 1377. doi: 10.1086/344331
- Mills JT, Van Kirk JE, Wright PF, Chanock RM. Experimental respiratory syncytial virus infection of adults. Possible mechanisms of resistance to infection and illness. *J Immunol.* (1971) 107:123–30.
- Walsh EE, Falsey AR. Humoral and mucosal immunity in protection from natural respiratory syncytial virus infection in adults. J Infect Dis. (2004) 190:373–8. doi: 10.1086/421524
- 159. de Souza AP, de Freitas DN, Antuntes Fernandes KE, D'Avila da Cunha M, Antunes Fernandes JL, Benetti Gassen R, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus induces phosphorylation of mTOR at ser2448 in CD8 T cells from nasal washes of infected infants. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2016) 183:248–57. doi: 10.1111/cei.12720
- 160. Wright PF, Gruber WC, Peters M, Reed G, Zhu Y, Robinson F, et al. Illness severity, viral shedding, and antibody responses in infants hospitalized with bronchiolitis caused by respiratory syncytial virus. J Infect Dis. (2002) 185:1011–8. doi: 10.1086/339822
- 161. Franz A, Adams O, Willems R, Bonzel L, Neuhausen N, Schweizer-Krantz S, et al. Correlation of viral load of respiratory pathogens and coinfections with disease severity in children hospitalized for lower respiratory tract infection. J Clin Virol. (2010) 48:239–45. doi: 10.1016/j.jcv.2010. 05.007
- 162. Giersing BK, Karron RA, Vekemans J, Kaslow DC, Moorthy VS. Meeting report: WHO consultation on Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) vaccine development, Geneva, 25-26 April 2016. Vaccine. (2017). doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.02.068. [Epub ahead of print].
- 163. Villafana T, Falloon J, Griffin MP, Zhu Q, Esser MT. Passive and active immunization against respiratory syncytial virus for the young and old. *Expert Rev Vaccines*. (2017) 16:1–13. doi: 10.1080/14760584.2017.1 333425

- 164. Giersing BK, Vekemans J, Nava S, Kaslow DC, Moorthy V. Report from the World Health Organization's third Product Development for Vaccines Advisory Committee (PDVAC) meeting, Geneva, 8-10th June 2016. *Vaccine*. (2017). doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.10.090. [Epub ahead of print].
- 165. Noor A, Krilov LR. Respiratory syncytial virus vaccine: where are we now and what comes next? *Expert Opin Biol Ther.* (2018) 18:1247–56. doi: 10.1080/14712598.2018.1544239
- 166. Esposito S, Pietro GD. Respiratory syncytial virus vaccines: an update on those in the immediate pipeline. *Future Microbiol.* (2016) 11:1479–90. doi: 10.2217/fmb-2016-0106
- 167. Roberts JN, Graham BS, Karron RA, Munoz FM, Falsey AR, Anderson LJ, et al. Challenges and opportunities in RSV vaccine development: meeting report from FDA/NIH workshop. *Vaccine*. (2016) 34:4843–9. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.07.057
- 168. Mazur NI, Higgins D, Nunes MC, Melero JA, Langedijk AC, Horsley N, et al. The respiratory syncytial virus vaccine landscape: lessons from the graveyard and promising candidates. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2018) 18:e295–311. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(18)30292-5
- 169. Groppo R, DiNapoli J, Il Jeong K, Kishko M, Jackson N, Kleanthous H, et al. Effect of genetic background and delivery route on the preclinical properties of a live attenuated RSV vaccine. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0199452. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0199452
- 170. Ngwuta JO, Chen M, Modjarrad K, Joyce MG, Kanekiyo M, Kumar A, et al. Prefusion F-specific antibodies determine the magnitude of RSV neutralizing activity in human sera. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7:309ra162. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aac4241
- 171. Boyington JC, Joyce MG, Sastry M, Stewart-Jones GB, Chen M, Kong WP, et al. Structure-based design of head-only fusion glycoprotein immunogens for respiratory syncytial virus. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0159709. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0159709
- 172. Tian D, Battles MB, Moin SM, Chen M, Modjarrad K, Kumar A, et al. Structural basis of respiratory syncytial virus subtype-dependent neutralization by an antibody targeting the fusion glycoprotein. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:1877. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-01858-w
- 173. Mousa JJ, Binshtein E, Human S, Fong RH, Alvarado G, Doranz BJ, et al. Human antibody recognition of antigenic site IV on Pneumovirus fusion proteins. *PLoS Pathog.* (2018) 14:e1006837. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006837
- 174. Zhu Q, Lu B, McTamney P, Palaszynski S, Diallo S, Ren K, et al. Prevalence and significance of substitutions in the fusion protein of respiratory syncytial virus resulting in neutralization escape from antibody MEDI8897. J Infect Dis. (2018) 218:572–80. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiy189
- 175. Graham BS. Vaccine development for respiratory syncytial virus. *Curr Opin Virol.* (2017) 23:107–12. doi: 10.1016/j.coviro.2017.03.012
- 176. Taleb SA, Al Thani AA, Al Ansari K, Yassine HM. Human respiratory syncytial virus: pathogenesis, immune responses, and current vaccine approaches. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis.* (2018) 37, 1817–27. doi: 10.1007/s10096-018-3289-4
- 177. Anderson R, Huang Y, Langley JM. Prospects for defined epitope vaccines for respiratory syncytial virus. *Future Microbiol.* (2010) 5:585–602. doi: 10.2217/fmb.10.22
- 178. Teng MN, Whitehead SS, Collins PL. Contribution of the respiratory syncytial virus G glycoprotein and its secreted and membrane-bound forms to virus replication *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Virology. (2001) 289:283–96. doi: 10.1006/viro.2001.1138
- Collins PL, Melero JA. Progress in understanding and controlling respiratory syncytial virus: still crazy after all these years. *Virus Res.* (2011) 162:80–99. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2011.09.020
- 180. Zhu Q, McLellan JS, Kallewaard NL, Ulbrandt ND, Palaszynski S, Zhang J, et al. A highly potent extended half-life antibody as a potential RSV vaccine surrogate for all infants. *Sci Transl Med.* (2017) 9:eaaj1928. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaj1928
- Rossey I, McLellan JS, Saelens X, Schepens B. Clinical potential of prefusion RSV F-specific antibodies. *Trends Microbiol.* (2018) 26:209–19. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2017.09.009
- Carillo MC, Alvarez Mde L, Quiroga AD. Interferon alfa-2b triggers transforming growth factor-beta-induced apoptosis on preneoplasticliver. *Ann Hepatol.* (2006) 5:244–50.

- Jadoon SM, Jadoon S, Muhammad I. Response to standard interferon A2b and ribavirin combination therapy in chronic hepatitis C treatment naive patients. J Ayub Med Coll Abbottabad. (2010) 22:164–6.
- Biopharma A. Ansun BioPharma Announces Breakthrough Designation for its Experimental Drug DAS181 [Online]. (2017) Available: http://www. ansunbiopharma.com/news/ (Accessed September 3, 2018).
- 185. Stanisavljevic S, Dedovic N, Vujicic M, Saksida T, Jevtic B, Milovanovic B, et al. Strain-specific helper T cell profile in the gut-associated lymphoid tissue. *Immunol Lett.* (2017) 190:282–8. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2017. 08.017
- 186. Petrovic R, Bufan B, Arsenovic-Ranin N, Zivkovic I, Minic R, Radojevic K, et al. Mouse strain and sex as determinants of immune response to trivalent influenza vaccine. *Life Sci.* (2018) 207:117–26. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2018. 05.056
- 187. Harker JA, Yamaguchi Y, Culley FJ, Tregoning JS, Openshaw PJ. Delayed sequelae of neonatal respiratory syncytial virus infection are dependent on cells of the innate immune system. J Virol. (2014) 88:604–11. doi: 10.1128/JVI. 02620-13
- Awomoyi AA, Rallabhandi P, Pollin TI, Lorenz E, Sztein MB, Boukhvalova MS, et al. Association of TLR4 polymorphisms with symptomatic respiratory syncytial virus infection in high-risk infants and young children. J Immunol. (2007) 179:3171–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179. 5.3171

- 189. Collarini EJ, Lee FE, Foord O, Park M, Sperinde G, Wu H, et al. Potent high-affinity antibodies for treatment and prophylaxis of respiratory syncytial virus derived from B cells of infected patients. *J Immunol.* (2009) 183:6338–45. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901373
- 190. Caidi H, Miao C, Thornburg NJ, Tripp RA, Anderson LJ, Haynes LM. Anti-respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) G monoclonal antibodies reduce lung inflammation and viral lung titers when delivered therapeutically in a BALB/c mouse model. *Antiviral Res.* (2018) 154:149–57. doi: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2018.04.014

Conflict of Interest Statement: LK is an employee of Trellis Bioscience, and holds an equity interest in the company.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Hijano, Vu, Kauvar, Tripp, Polack and Cormier. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Sublingual Immunization With an RSV G Glycoprotein Fragment Primes IL-17-Mediated Immunopathology Upon Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection

In Su Cheon^{1†}, Joo Young Kim^{2†}, Youngjoo Choi^{1†}, Byoung-Shik Shim¹, Jung-ah Choi¹, Dae-Im Jung¹, Jae-Ouk Kim¹, Thomas J. Braciale³, Hyewon Youn^{4,5}, Man Ki Song^{1*} and Jun Chang^{2*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Steven Varga, The University of Iowa, United States

Reviewed by:

Catarina E. Hioe, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, United States Susan M. Bueno, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Chile

*Correspondence:

Man Ki Song mksong@ivi.int Jun Chang tcell@ewha.ac.kr

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Viral Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 17 September 2018 Accepted: 04 March 2019 Published: 28 March 2019

Citation:

Cheon IS, Kim JY, Choi Y, Shim B-S, Choi J, Jung D-I, Kim J-O, Braciale TJ, Youn H, Song MK and Chang J (2019) Sublingual Immunization With an RSV G Glycoprotein Fragment Primes IL-17-Mediated Immunopathology Upon Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection. Front. Immunol. 10:567. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00567 ¹ Laboratory Science Division, International Vaccine Institute, Seoul, South Korea, ² Graduate School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Ewha Womans University, Seoul, South Korea, ³ The Beirne B. Carter Center for Immunology Research and Department of Pathology, The University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA, United States, ⁴ Department of Nuclear Medicine, Cancer Research Institute, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea, ⁵ Cancer Imaging Center, Seoul National University Hospital, Seoul, South Korea

Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) is the leading cause of serious respiratory tract disease but there is no licensed RSV vaccine. Immunopathological mechanisms have long been suspected as operating in the development of severe RSV disease and have hampered the development of safe and effective vaccines. Here, we show that unlike intranasal immunization, sublingual immunization with RSV glycoprotein fragment containing the central conserved region (Gcf) primes the host for severe disease upon RSV challenge. This increased pathology does not require replication by the challenge virus and is associated with massive infiltration of inflammatory cells, extensive cell death, and excessive mucus production in the airway and lungs. This exacerbated RSV disease primed by sublingual Gcf immunization is distinct from the immunopathology by G-expressing vaccinia virus or formalin-inactivated RSV, and preceded by prominent IL-17 production. IL-17 deficiency abolished the enhanced disease. Our results suggest a novel mechanism of RSV vaccine-induced immunopathology by IL-17, and highlights the importance of vaccination site.

Keywords: RSV, glycoprotein, sublingual, IL-17, immunopathology

INTRODUCTION

Human respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) is a negative sense, single-stranded RNA virus belonging to the Paramyxovirus family. RSV infection is the leading cause of lower respiratory tract disease in infants and young children, and elderly worldwide (1, 2). However, there is no safe and effective vaccine presently licensed for human use. In the 1960s, children that received formalin inactivated RSV (FI-RSV) vaccine experienced severe enhanced disease, characterized by extensive pulmonary inflammation and eosinophilia, upon subsequent natural infection with RSV (3, 4). Similarly, mice immunized with a recombinant vaccinia virus expressing RSV G protein (vvG) also experienced extensive pulmonary inflammation and pulmonary eosinophilia upon RSV infection, mimicking

23

the enhanced disease in children that received FI-RSV vaccination (5). The vaccine-enhanced disease caused by FI-RSV or vvG vaccination was also typified by extensive secretion of Th2 cytokines, and abrogating the functions of these cytokines reduced disease severity in both models (6, 7). The similar disease characteristics of pulmonary eosinophilia and Th2-biased cytokine response following RSV challenge in FI-RSV- and vvG-vaccinated subjects implicated RSV G protein as the likely cause of disease enhancement (8, 9). Accordingly, subsequent studies have revealed that RSV G protein possesses immuno-modulatory properties capable of altering the immune response in the RSV infected host (10-12). For example, it has been reported that RSV G protein inhibits the development of an innate immune response normally elicited by the virus and endotoxin (12). Johnson et al. also reported that priming with secreted form of G glycoprotein augmented IL-5 production and tissue eosinophilia after RSV challenge (10). Another mechanism of immune modification adopted by RSV G protein includes "chemokine mimicry" utilizing the CX3C chemokine-like motif (aa 182-186) within its central conserved region of G, which contains marked similarity to the receptor binding region of fractalkine, CX3CL1, thereby mimicking fracktalkine and interfering with leukocyte chemotactic activity (13, 14). Also, the immune response to a peptide corresponding to $G_{183-197}$, (a known CD4⁺ T cell epitope within G protein) has been linked with severe pulmonary eosinophilia suggesting involvement of this T cell epitope in the disease enhancement (15).

In present study, we have identified a novel vaccination route dependent type of RSV vaccine-induced disease, caused by prior exposure to RSV G protein distinct in mechanism and features, from the enhanced disease produced by vaccination with FI-RSV or vvG. We report that sublingual administration of Gcf, a recombinant polypeptide corresponding to the central conserved fragment of the RSV G protein predisposes the immunized animals to enhanced pulmonary disease upon challenge with live RSV. The observed disease enhancement was characterized by prominent IL-17 production, massive infiltration of inflammatory cells, and excessive mucus production in the airway and lungs of the affected animals. Moreover, we show using Gcf vaccinated IL-17 knockout mice that IL-17 is prerequisite for this Gcf-mediated disease enhancement.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Materials

For cell culture and virus preparation, Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) and fetal bovine serum (FBS) were purchased from Life Technologies (Grand Island, NY, USA) and Lonza (Basel, Switzerland), respectively. To measure cytokine concentrations, cytometric bead array (CBA) mouse inflammation/Th1/Th2/Th17 cytokine kit, mouse IL-5 and IL-13 flex sets were purchased from BD Biosciences (San Diego, CA, USA). All reagents for flow cytometry including Golgi Plug, Cytofix/Cytoperm solution, anti-mouse CD16/32 (Mouse BD Fc BlockTM), CD4-APC-Cy7, CD44-FITC, IFN-γ-APC, IL-17-PE, IL-5-APC, CD11c-FITC, CD45-PerCP, Siglec-F-PE, and Ly6G-PE-Cy7 were purchased from BD Biosciences. For development of ELISA, horseradish peroxidase (HRP)conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG was purchased from Southern Biotechnology (Birmingham, AL, USA). HRP-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG1 and IgG2a were purchased from Zymed Laboratories (San Francisco, CA, USA).

Virus Preparation

RSV A2 strain was propagated in HEp-2 cells (ATCC, Manassas, VA, USA) grown in DMEM containing 3% of FBS. RSV replication was confirmed by formation of syncytia. Infected cells were harvested by scraping at day 3 or 4 post infection. Harvested cells were lysed by sonication, and virus particles were isolated via high-speed centrifugation. Virus titer was determined by standard RSV plaque assay.

Preparation of Gcf

The plasmid containing genetic sequence for Gcf derived from RSV A2G protein spanning from amino acid residues 131-230 was prepared as follows. Gcf plasmid was transformed into Escherichia coli BL21 (DE3) strain (Novagen, Madison, WI, USA). Transformed E. coli were grown overnight at 37°C in Luria-Bertani (LB) medium supplemented with 100 mg/ml of ampicillin for selection. Bacterial culture was transferred into fresh LB medium and cultured at 37°C while shaking at 180 rpm until OD₆₀₀ of 0.6~0.8. Protein expression was induced by the addition of 0.5 M IPTG. E. coli were harvested by centrifugation at 6,000 rpm for 10 min. Bacterial pellets were suspended in binding buffer (20 mM Tris, 0.5 M NaCl, pH 7.9) and disrupted by sonication on ice. Soluble and insoluble fractions were separated by centrifugation for 40 min at 20,000 rpm. Soluble fractions were applied to a Talon metal affinity column, washed with binding buffer containing 20 mM imidazole, and then the proteins were eluted by using an elution buffer (300 mM imidazole, 20 mM Tris, 0.5 M NaCl, pH 7.4). The purified proteins were dialyzed in PBS. The endotoxin in each purified protein was removed by using Triton X-114 as previously described (16). The endotoxin level of each protein was measured by the limulus amebocyte lysate (LAL) assay kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (Lonza). Purified proteins were electrophoresed on 15% SDS-PAGE and the protein bands were visualized by staining with Coomassie Brilliant Blue (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA). Protein concentration was determined by Bradford protein assay kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories).

Mice and Immunization

Female BALB/c mice, 6–8 weeks old, were purchased from Orient Bio Inc. (Seoul, Korea). IL-17 knockout mice were provided by Yoon-Keun Kim (POSTECH, Korea). All mice were maintained under specific pathogen-free condition, and all studies were approved by Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) at International Vaccine Institute (Approval No. 2014-001). Mice were immunized with 20 μ g of Gcf with 2 μ g of CT (List Biological Lab. Inc. Campbell, CA, USA) via i.n. or s.l. route, and a booster immunization was administered 14 days after the primary immunization. For s.l. immunization, 20 μ l of prepared antigen was gently placed underneath the tongue of the anesthetized mice. Following antigen delivery, mice were maintained with heads positioned in anteflexion for at least 30 min. For i.n. immunization, 50 μl of prepared antigen were administered into the left nostril of the anesthetized mice. Three weeks after the booster immunization, mice were challenged with 2–3 \times 10⁶ PFU of live RSV A2. As control, mice were also immunized with 2 μg of CT sublingually, with 1 \times 10⁷ PFU of vvG by scarification or with 1 \times 10⁶ PFU of FI-RSV intramuscularly.

Cytokines

Mice were immunized on days 0 and 14 and challenged with RSV A2 as described above. On expected days (0–9 days) post-challenge, mice were sacrificed, and Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluids and lungs were harvested. Cytokine levels in BAL fluid and lung homogenate were determined using CBA mouse inflammation/Th1/Th2/Th17 cytokine kit, mouse IL-5 flex set, and mouse IL-13 flex set according to the manufacturer's protocol.

Lung Virus Titration

Lung virus titer was determined from the lungs harvested from mice at day 4 post challenge. Harvested lungs were passed through 70 μ m cell strainer (BD Biosciences) in serum-free RPMI-1640. Lung supernatant was collected via centrifugation, and RSV titer in the lung supernatant was determined by plaque assay on HEp-2 cells.

Detection of Eosinophils and Neutrophils in BAL and Lung

On expected days (0–9 days) post-challenge, mice were sacrificed and BAL fluids and lung samples were collected and cells were isolated from the BAL fluid or lung supernatant by centrifugation. Isolated cells were resuspended in FACS staining buffer (PBS with 1% FBS) and stained with CD11c-FITC, CD45-PerCP, Siglec-F-PE, and Ly6G-PE-Cy7 in the presence of antimouse CD16/32. Analysis of cell surface marker expression was performed using a BD LSRII flow cytometer (BD biosciences) and FlowJo software (Tree Star, San Carlos, CA, USA). A total of 100,000 events were analyzed per sample. Based on cell surface markers expression two different cell type were identified: CD45⁺, CD11c⁻, SiglecF⁺ cells as eosinophils and CD45⁺, CD11c⁻, Ly6G⁺ cells as neutrophils.

Expression of T-bet, GATA-3 and ROR γ t in CD4 T Cells

Fourteen days after the booster immunization, immunized mice were sacrificed, spleens were harvested, and single cell suspension was prepared by passage of spleen samples through $70 \,\mu$ m cell strainer (BD Biosciences) in serum-free RPMI-1640. To examine the expression of t-bet (Th1), GATA-3 (Th2), and RORyt (Th17) transcription factors, cells were stimulated with $10 \,\mu$ g/ml of RSV G peptide corresponding to the amino acid (aa) sequence 183–195 (WAICKRIPNKKPG) for 18hr at 37° C. Cells were stained with anti-mouse CD4-APC-Cy7 and CD44-FITC. Cells were then fixed, permeabilized using Cytofix/Cytoperm solution, and further stained with anti-mouse T-bet-BV421, GATA-3-PE, and RORyt-APC and anti-mouse IL-17-PE or anti-mouse IL-5-APC.

The cells were analyzed using BD LSRII flow cytometry and FlowJo software.

ELISA for Detection of Antibodies

Levels of Gcf- or RSV A2-specific antibodies in the sera and BAL fluids were detected by ELISA. In brief, 96-well plates (Nunc, Roskilde, Denmark) were coated overnight with 100 μ l of 2 × 10⁴ PFU/ml of purified RSV A2 diluted in 0.05 M carbonate-bicarbonate buffer at 4°C. After blocking with PBS containing 5% dried-skim milk for 1 h at room temperature, serially diluted serum or BAL fluid samples were added into the plate and incubated for 1 h at 37°C. Gcf- or RSV A2-specific antibodies were detected with HRP conjugated antibodies specific for mouse IgG, IgG1, IgG2a, or IgA followed by addition of TMB substrate for development. The absorbance at wavelength 450 nm was measured, and the endpoint titer was determined using O.D. cut-off values of 0.2.

Histology

For histological analysis, mice were sacrificed at day 4 post-challenge and lungs were harvested following perfusion with 10 ml of heparinized PBS. Harvested lungs were fixed in 4% formalin for 48 h, embedded in paraffin, sectioned. Staining with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) or periodic acid-Schiff (PAS) was performed to demonstrate inflammation and mucus production, respectively. Pathological score assigned representing the inflammatory cell infiltration shown in H&E staining and PAS positive cells per millimeter of bronchial basement membrane (mmBM) were measured by MetaMorp 4.6 (Universal imaging, Downingtown, PA, USA). TUNEL assay was performed using *In Situ* Cell Death Detection Kit (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

Fluorescence Imaging

To assess the localization of antigens after their application, the anesthetized mice were injected with 5 μ g of Alexa Fluor[®] 647-streptavidin conjugate (Invitrogen) via i.n. or s.l. route. The distribution of the fluorescence dye was monitored by *in vivo* imaging system (IVIS Lumina III; PerkinElmer Health Sciences, Waltham, MA) with Ex/Em of 640 nm/710 nm at 0.5, 1, and 24 h following injection. The average photon radiance on the certain surface of a mice was expressed as photons *per second* per centimeter squared per steradian (p/s/cm²/sr).

Statistical Analysis

All data were plotted as a mean \pm standard error, and statistical differences were determined using GraphPad Prism version 7 software (GraphPad Software, Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA). Data were analyzed for significance using an unpaired two-tailed Student's *t*-test, one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) or two-way repeated-measures ANOVA with Tukey *post-hoc* test for group comparisons. The difference was considered statistically significant when the P < 0.05.

RESULTS

Recombinant polypeptide vaccine corresponding to the structurally conserved central core region of the RSV G protein (Gcf) has previously been developed (17). In an effort to evaluate the effectiveness of mucosal delivery of the polypeptide vaccine, we compared delivery by the intranasal (i.n.) or sublingual (s.l.) route of the Gcf polypeptide in a Cholera Toxin (CT) based adjuvant for protection against RSV infection. Sublingual immunization with CT alone was used as negative control, and FI-RSV- and vvG-immunization were used as controls to compare potential vaccine-enhanced disease which may arise from receiving an RSV G-based vaccine. There was a significant increase in the RSV-specific serum IgG titers detected in animals immunized with Gcf via i.n. and s.l. routes (Figure 1A and Figure S1A). Upon challenge with live RSV, significant reduction in RSV titer was observed in the lungs of Gcf-, FI-RSV- and vvG-immunized animals indicating that Gcf immunization via both i.n. and s.l. routes effectively reduced lung virus titer (Figure 1B and Figure S1B). Surprisingly, however, unlike the animals that received intranasal Gcf immunization, animals that received sublingual Gcf immunization suffered severe weight loss following RSV challenge (Figure 1C and Figure S1C). These observations suggested that prior exposure to this central conserved fragment of RSV G protein delivered via sublingual mucosa primes the host for enhanced morbidity upon subsequent RSV infection with a morbidity profile. Further, these data suggested that enhanced morbidity observed in Gcf s.l. group animals following RSV challenge was not caused by differences in antibody levels or the efficiency of virus clearance at the site of infection.

Next, to determine if enhanced morbidity in Gcf s.l. group, was reflected in the extent of lung injury, lung tissues were harvested at day 4 post RSV challenge and evaluated by light microscopy. Inflammatory cell infiltrations in the peribronchial and perialveolar regions were conspicuous in all RSV-challenged animals. However, the degree of inflammatory cell infiltration was markedly higher in the animals that received sublingual Gcf immunization, FI-RSV immunization and vvG immunization than in the animals that received intranasal Gcf or CT immunization (Figure 2A and Figures S2A,B). Inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, TNF-a and MCP-1 were also higher in the animals that received sublingual Gcf immunization and FI-RSV immunization than in the animals that received CT immunization (Figure 2B). In addition, detection of cell death by TUNEL assay revealed extensive cell deaths in the airway and lungs of Gcf s.l group animals (Figure 2C). Increased cell death was also seen in RSV challenged vvG-immunized animals (Figure S2C). Such extensive cell death was not observed following intranasal Gcf or CT immunization (Figure 2C and Figure S2C). Furthermore, goblet cell hyperplasia and excessive airway mucus secretion which are features of the response to RSV infection in FI-RSV and vvG primed mice was also detected by PAS staining in the airway of animals in sublingual Gcfimmunized animals following RSV challenge (Figure 2A and Figure S2A). Goblet cell hyperplasia and airway mucus secretion were minimal in challenged animals that received intranasal Gcf- or CT-immunization. Histopathologic scoring of lungs also indicated significant lung pathology exclusively in sublingual Gcf- and vvG-immunized animals undergoing challenge RSV infection (**Figure S2B**). Together, these data demonstrated that the enhanced pathology induced with RSV infection after sublingual Gcf immunization is associated with massive infiltration of inflammatory cells and cytokines, extensive cell death, and excessive mucus production in the airway and lungs upon RSV infection. In addition, the finding that different manifestations of disease were displayed in FI-RSV-, vvG- and sublingual Gcf-primed groups led us to surmise that FI-RSV, vvG and sublingual Gcf immunization may cause disease enhancement by distinctly different mechanisms.

Pulmonary eosinophilia is a well-known disease marker for RSV vaccine-enhanced disease (18, 19). Therefore, we examined eosinophil recruitment to the airway and lungs of Gcf- or FI-RSV-immunized animals following RSV challenge. As expected, we detected significant increase in BAL fluid eosinophil counts in FI-RSV-immunized animals (**Figure 3A**). Unexpectedly, BAL fluid eosinophil counts were also elevated in RSV challenged animals primed by sublingual Gcf immunization and at a level seven-fold higher than the increase detected in FI-RSV-immunized animals. Group-to-group statistical comparison confirmed significance of the difference in eosinophil count in Gcf s.l. group over the Gcf i.n. group (**Figure 3A**). These differences in eosinophil count between sublingual Gcf- and FI-RSV-primed mice undergoing challenge RSV infection were also evident in the infected lung parenchyma (**Figure 3B**).

At the same time, we also examined neutrophil recruitment to the airway and lungs. We detected significant increase in BAL fluid neutrophil counts in animals given sublingual Gcf immunization (Figure 3C). BAL fluid neutrophil counts were also elevated but to a lesser extent in challenged mice primed by Gcf via the i.n. route. Again, neutrophil count in the lungs among the immunization groups directly paralleled findings in the BAL fluid i.e., significantly increased neutrophil counts in the lungs of sublingual Gcf-primed animals over intranasal Gcf-primed animals (Figure 3D). Of note, we did not detect significant increase in neutrophil recruitment to the lungs in animals that received FI-RSV immunization compared to control CT primed and challenged mice. These results suggest that just as pulmonary eosinophilia characterizes vaccine-enhanced disease generated by prior immunization with FI-RSV, pulmonary neutrophilia appeared to be a prominent feature of enhanced disease produced by prior sensitization to RSV G protein introduced into the sublingual mucosa, and that the enhanced disease produced via sublingual immunization with G protein is distinctly different from the manifestation of disease exacerbation caused by FI-RSV immunization i.e., enhanced disease associated with the recall response to RSV induced by priming with FI-RSV characterized by pulmonary eosinophilia while priming to Gcf via the s.l. route results following RSV challenge in enhanced disease characterized by both pulmonary eosinophilia and neutrophilia.

Next, to further examine the mechanism of enhanced disease caused by sublingual Gcf immunization, we examined cytokine levels in the airway and lungs of all immunized animals at $0\sim9$ days post-challenge. BAL fluid IFN- γ , IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13



concentrations were significantly elevated in FI-RSV-immunized animals compared to animal given CT- or Gcf-immunization via either the i.n. or s.l. route. BAL fluid IFN-y, IL-2, IL-5, and IL-13 concentrations were also significantly increased in Gcf s.l. group animals (Figure 4). With the significant increase in IL-17 concentration detected in the BAL fluids of animals in Gcf s.l. group (Figure 4F), the IL-17- and/or IFN-γ- producing CD4 T cells were also increased in the lungs and mediastinal lymph node of Gcf s.l. group following RSV challenge (Figure 5). Both Th1 and Th2 cytokines represented by IFN-y and IL-4/5/13, respectively, were notably elevated in the BAL fluid of vvGimmunized mice, as previously described [Figure S3A; (20)], and IL-5 producing CD4T cells were increased in the lung of FI-RSV-immunized mice (Figure 5B). However, we observed a significant increase in IL-17 levels in the BAL fluids and IL-17-producing CD4T cells in the lungs and the draining lymph node of Gcf s.l. group animals, demonstrating the difference in the mechanism of disease exacerbation induced by FI-RSV, vvG and sublingual Gcf immunization. An exaggerated Th17 T cell-dependent cytokine response is most likely responsible for the enhanced RSV disease in animals given sublingual Gcf immunization, whereas, as our results and published findings (21) suggest, excessive Th1 and Th2 cytokine responses contribute to the enhanced RSV disease in animals primed by FI-RSV or vvG immunization.

We next analyzed the expression of canonical Th1, Th2, and Th17 transcription factors by intracellular staining in CD4 T cells in the spleens of immunized mice prior to RSV challenge. In keeping with the above findings, this analysis revealed significant increase in the percentage of ROR γ t expressing CD4 T cells in animals immunized with Gcf, while the percentages of t-bet (Th1) and GATA-3 (Th2) expressing CD4 T cells were increased in the spleens of vvG-immunized animals (**Figure S3B**). These results indicate that exposure to RSV G protein via the sublingual mucosa primes the host for Th17-biased immune response.

Next, we assessed whether a deficiency in IL-17 would affect the development of enhanced disease during RSV infection by using IL-17 deficient (KO) animals primed with Gcf via



s.l. route. First, we determined Gcf-specific serum IgG2a/IgG1 ratio in order to determine Th1-Th2 bias. In WT animals, the IgG2a/IgG1 ratio was similar between the Gcf i.n. and s.l. groups (**Figure 6A**). However, the difference between serum IgG2a and IgG1 levels was significantly reduced in the FI-RSV group, indicating skewing of the immune response toward Th2. In IL-17 KO animals, the IgG2a/IgG1 ratios

did not vary significantly between the immunization groups and there was no significant decrease in the IgG2a/IgG1 ratio in FI-RSV group in contrast to that observed in WT animals (**Figure 6A**).

We also observed a difference following RSV challenge in morbidity between WT and IL-17 KO mice as a function of prior immunization strategy. Among WT mice, animals immunized



with Gcf s.l. or FI-RSV experienced more severe weight loss than animal that received no immunization or intranasal Gcf immunization (Figure 6B). The WT Gcf s.l. primed animals experienced prolonged weight loss and delayed weight recovery following RSV challenge, which was more pronounced even than in animals primed with FI-RSV. By contrast, among IL-17 KO mice, the Gcf s.l. primed animals experienced weight loss that was comparable to control unimmunized mice undergoing RSV infection (Figure 6C), suggesting a link between IL-17 expression and enhanced morbidity following RSV challenge in mice primed with Gcf via sublingual route. Histological analysis of infected lungs further supported a critical role for IL-17 in enhanced morbidity as there was a significant reduction, compared to WT IL-17 sufficient mice, in inflammatory cell infiltration and mucus secretion in the airway of IL-17 deficient Gcf s.l. primed animals following RSV challenge. Interestingly, severe inflammatory cell infiltration and excessive mucus secretion was still observed in FI-RSV immunized animals, even in the absence of IL-17 (Figure 7). Pulmonary eosinophilia was detected in FI-RSV group animals in both WT and IL-17 KO models (Figure 8). However, eosinophils as well as neutrophils were significantly reduced in the BAL fluids of IL-17 KO Gcf s.l. primed animals compared to the corresponding primed and challenged WT mice. In sum, these data strongly suggest a critical role of IL-17 as a mediator of enhanced disease following RSV infection in animals sensitized to RSV G via sublingual mucosa.

Finally, to gain insight into the mechanisms leading to severe immunopathology by sublingual administration, we analyzed and compared the antigen trafficking following sublingual or intranasal administration using fluorochromeconjugated protein. Fluorescence was detected near the tongue and salivary glands of the mice at 0.5 h after sublingual administration of Alexa Fluor 647 conjugated with streptavidin and fluorochrome-conjugated protein was no longer detectable within an hour (Figure 9). Draining lymph nodes around the sublingual mucosa, such as submandibular and deep cervical lymph nodes, showed no significant fluorescence during the indicated time period (Figures 9A,B). In contrast, in the case of intranasal administration, a large amount of fluorescence was observed in the lung tissue and the mediastinal lymph node at the same time point and even after 24 h (Figures 9A,C), suggesting that antigen trafficking and lymphatic drainage is different between sublingual and intranasal routes of immunization.

DISCUSSION

During our evaluation of various mucosal immunization routes to administer our RSV G-based subunit vaccine candidates,





we unexpectedly observed that administration of Gcf via sublingual mucosa exacerbated disease severity upon live RSV challenge. Intranasal administration of the same antigen did not cause disease exacerbation, instead intranasal Gcf delivery conferred protection against RSV infection characterized by significant reduction in morbidity, lung virus titer, lung inflammation, and airway mucus secretion following live RSV challenge. Hence, because of the exacerbated disease severity we further investigated this immunization strategy as it related to the vvG and FI-RSV immunization models, which also have been shown to induce disease exacerbation upon RSV infection (22). First, our study demonstrated no correlation among the severity of disease, viral replication in the lung tissues, and the levels of RSV-specific antibodies distributed either systemically in the serum. The mice in immunization groups that produced similar RSV-specific serum IgG did not experience similar disease exacerbation. Further, our study demonstrated that quantity of live RSV in the lungs was not associated with the disease enhancement given that animals in CT group, even with their significantly higher lung virus titers, did not experience enhanced disease following challenge.



As expected, RSV challenge following FI-RSV or vvGimmunization induced pulmonary eosinophila; enhanced Th2-type responses such as increased airway and lung secretion levels of IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13; eosinophilic airway inflammation; and development of goblet cell hyperplasia and mucus hyperproduction. Elevation in airway secretion of IFN- γ was also simultaneously detected. Interestingly, in a previous study elevated production of IFN-y was implicated in the increased clinical illness and airway resistance following RSV challenge of animals previously immunized with vvG (18). By contrast while a similar increase in eosinophil recruitment following RSV challenge in animals primed with sublingual Gcf there was also a, significant elevation in neutrophil recruitment and IL-17 secretion in the airway and lungs exclusively in the animals exposed Gcf via sublingual mucosa. Interestingly, disease characteristics in mice undergoing challenge following sublingual Gcf exposure with elevated neutrophil infiltration resemble the disease spectrum in subgroup of severe asthma described as "refractory" asthma. Of note in this regard a previous study demonstrated excessive neutrophilic infiltration to the airway of RORyt-overexpressing mice, with enhanced lung expression of IL-17A following exposure to the sensitizing antigen (23). We observed a remarkably similar disease pattern and cytokine profile in animals that received priming with Gcf by the sublingual route followed by RSV challenge.

It is also interesting to note that there are significant increases in both eosinophil and neutrophil recruitment to the BAL fluids and lung tissues of Gcf s.l. group post RSV challenge. This simultaneous elevation in eosinophil/neutrophil recruitment was unique to animals exposed Gcf via sublingual mucosa. This pattern of mixed granulocyte infiltration into the lungs following RSV challenge, suggests that s.l. priming with Gcf promotes an environment favoring IL-17 production. Consistent with this notion IL-17 has been shown to induce the release of eotaxin from airway smooth muscle cells as well as neutrophil influx (24). However, based on previous findings (18), it is unlikely that eosinophils contribute to the exacerbation of disease, although we observed significant increase in airway and lung eosinophil recruitment in Gcf s.l. group animals experiencing exacerbated disease.

The detrimental role of IL-17 in the development of inflammatory lung diseases such as asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and cystic fibrosis has been well-documented (25). These evidences strongly suggest that IL-17 might play a prominent role in the pathogenesis of lung inflammation by promoting the recruitment of neutrophils. In our study, severe exacerbation of RSV disease characterized by induction of IL-17-biased immunity and pulmonary neutrophila/eosinophilia in mice that were previously exposed to RSV G protein via sublingual mucosa was observed. The presence of IL-17 in this Gcf-mediated disease exacerbation is critical since the absence of



Representative results of two independent experiments are shown. All data are expressed in mean \pm S.E.M (n = 4). *Significant difference with Control group (P < 0.05). #Significant difference with FI-RSV group (P < 0.05). WT, wild type Balb/c mice; KO, IL-17 knock-out mice.

IL-17, reflected by IL-17 KO model, prevented the phenomenon. These suggest that IL-17 could play a prominent role in the pathogenesis of RSV G-based vaccine-enhanced disease.

The major source of IL-17 produced during the course of RSV infection was most likely Th17 cells because IL-17-producing CD4 T cells were increased in the lungs and mediastinal lymph node of Gcf s.l. group following RSV challenge (Figure 5) and the RORyt expression level was increased in splenic CD4T cells following sublingual Gcf immunization (Figure S3). The resident memory CD4T cells in the lung might produce IL-17 at early times during RSV infection (26). However, we cannot exclude the possibility that other immune cells such as $\gamma\delta$ T cells and innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) could produce IL-17 upon RSV challenge (27). Another possibility is that novel IL-17-producing Th2-like cells might contribute to the Gcf s.l. immunization-induced vaccine enhanced diseases. Previously, it has been reported that antigen-specific inflammatory IL-17producing Th2 cells promote influx of heterogeneous leukocytes including eosinophils and neutrophils and exacerbate allergic asthma (28).

Presently, sublingual mucosa is being targeted for sublingual immunotherapy (SLIT) for treatment of type 1 allergic hypersensitivity (13). Sublingual mucosa is also being extensively evaluated as a delivery route for various vaccines (29). These strategies to target sublingual mucosa for immunotherapy for allergies or as a vaccine delivery route have been broadly gaining momentum. Sublingual antigens might trigger the tolerogenic or immunogenic response depending on the type of antigen and adjuvant through local or systemic pathways (30, 31). Nagai et al. reported that sublingually administered antigens could be transported across epithelial cells in the sublingual ductal system to the ductal antigen-presenting cells within an hour. They also suggested that the sublingual duct, composed of pseudostratified and simple columnar epithelium could spread antigen rapidly through the paracellular and transcellular pathways, although mucosa-associated lymphoid tissues or M cell-like structures were not identified (32). In this study, we observed a rapid disappearance of sublingual antigen within 1 h near the tongue and salivary glands. In particular, it was rarely observed in the draining lymph nodes near the sublingual compartment, which is contrasted with the fact that nasal antigen remained in the mediastinal lymph node for up to 24 h after administration. These results suggest that the initial response to the sublingual antigen may be different from nasal administration.

Our findings represent a cautionary note regarding the use of sublingual route for antigen administration as SLIT or vaccination strategies. Although it is likely that the phenomenon observed in our study is specific to RSV G protein, we cannot



(A) is 10X and the inset shows 4 mice; ND, Not detected.

exclude a possibility that other antigens, when administered via sublingual mucosa, could prime the recipient for an exacerbated disease upon subsequent re-exposure. In this regard, it is worth noting that increase in IL-17 mRNA expression in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) was detected in children given SLIT for allergic rhinitis (33). Lastly, exposure to RSV G protein via different delivery routes appears to prime for T helper cell immunity that is differentially biased. For example,

intramuscular FI-RSV immunization establishes Th2 bias (34), while vvG immunization via scarification primes for excessive Th1 and Th2 bias. Our findings reveal that sublingual delivery of RSV G institute Th17 bias. It is possible that such capability of inducing selective skewing of T helper immunity may potentially be used beneficially.

In conclusion, we report here a novel class of RSV vaccineenhanced immunopathology which is primed by sublingual



FIGURE 8 Granulocyte phenotypes in BAL fluid from wild-type and IL-17 KO mice immunized with different routes of Gcf after RSV challenge. BAL fluid cells were collected, counted and then analyzed by flow cytometry at 5 days after RSV challenge. (A) Eosinophils and (B) neutrophils in BAL fluid from wild type and IL-17 KO mice were measured in accordance with each of the criteria (CD45⁺ CD11c⁻ SiglecF⁺ and CD45⁺ CD11c⁻ Ly6G⁺, respectively). Representative results of two independent experiments are shown. All data are expressed in mean \pm S.E.M (n = 4). *Statistical significance with "Control" (p < 0.05). #Statistical significance with "WT" (p < 0.05). WT, wild type Balb/c mice; KO, IL-17 knock-out mice; ND, Not detected.



FIGURE 9 | Localization of antigens following sublingual administration. Mice were anesthetized and injected with 5 µg of Alexa Fluor 647-streptavidin conjugate via s.l. or i.n. route. (A) Fluorescence images were measured by IVIS Lumina III with Ex/Em of 640 nm/710 nm at 0.5, 1, and 24 h following injection. *Small boxes*, draining lymph nodes from sublingual compartment or lung tissue. Average photon radiance of mice treated with the fluorescence dye via (B) s.l. and (C) i.n. route. Representative results of three independent experiments are shown. *Avg Radiance*, the average photon radiance on the certain surface of a mice was expressed as photons *per second* per centimeter squared per steradian (p/s/cm²/sr); *Gland*, Salivary gland; *cLN*, cervical lymph node; *sLN*, submandibular lymph node; *mdLN*, mediastinal lymph node.

immunization and is regulated by IL-17. Understanding the mechanism of vaccine-enhanced disease in RSV infection is essential for the development of safe and effective vaccines, and our results demonstrating IL-17-mediated disease exacerbation provides a new model for evaluating safety of RSV vaccine candidates.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MS and JC designed and conceived the study. IC, JYK, YC, BS, J-aC, DJ, J-OK and HY performed the experiments. IC, JYK, YC, TB, MS, and JC wrote the manuscript. All authors reviewed the manuscript before submission, etc.

FUNDING

This research was supported by a grant of the Basic Science Research Program through the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF) funded by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technology (NRF-2013R1A1A2060008).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2019.00567/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Dowell SF, Anderson LJ, Gary HE Jr, Erdman DD, Plouffe JF, File TM Jr, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus is an important cause of community-acquired lower respiratory infection among hospitalized adults. J Infect Dis. (1996) 174:456–62. doi: 10.1093/infdis/174.3.456
- Hall CB, Weinberg GA, Iwane MK, Blumkin AK, Edwards KM, Staat MA, et al. The burden of respiratory syncytial virus infection in young children. N Engl J Med. (2009) 360:588–98. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa08 04877
- Fulginiti VA, Eller JJ, Sieber OF, Joyner JW, Minamitani M, Meiklejohn G. Respiratory virus immunization. I A field trial of two inactivated respiratory virus vaccines; an aqueous trivalent parainfluenza virus vaccine and an alum-precipitated respiratory syncytial virus vaccine. *Am J Epidemiol.* (1969) 89:435–48. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a1 20956
- Kim HW, Canchola JG, Brandt CD, Pyles G, Chanock RM, Jensen K, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus disease in infants despite prior administration of antigenic inactivated vaccine. *Am J Epidemiol.* (1969) 89:422–34. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a120955
- Openshaw PJ, Clarke SL, Record FM. Pulmonary eosinophilic response to respiratory syncytial virus infection in mice sensitized to the major surface glycoprotein G. Int Immunol. (1992) 4:493–500. doi: 10.1093/intimm/4.4.493
- Connors M, Giese NA, Kulkarni AB, Firestone CY, Morse HC III, Murphy BR. Enhanced pulmonary histopathology induced by respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) challenge of formalin-inactivated RSV-immunized BALB/c mice is abrogated by depletion of interleukin-4 (IL-4) and IL-10. *J Virol.* (1994) 68:5321–5.
- Johnson TR, Graham BS. Secreted respiratory syncytial virus G glycoprotein induces interleukin-5 (IL-5), IL-13, and eosinophilia by an IL-4-independent mechanism. J Virol. (1999) 73:8485–95.
- 8. Varga SM, Wissinger EL, Braciale TJ. The attachment (G) glycoprotein of respiratory syncytial virus contains a single immunodominant epitope that

Figure S1 | Anti-RSV immunity and enhanced disease in RSV challenged mice following sublingual Gcf immunization. (A) RSV-specific serum IgG titers measured at day 14 post-booster immunization by ELISA using 2 x 10³ RSV A2 per well as the coating antigen. Titers are indicated in log₂. (B) Lung RSV titers at day 4 post-RSV A2 challenge determined by plaque assay. (C) Weight loss following RSV A2 challenge. Representative results of three independent experiments are shown. All data are expressed in mean \pm S.E.M (n = 5). * indicates significant different with CT group (P < 0.05). # indicates significant difference with vvG group (P < 0.05). ND, Not detected.

Figure S2 | Lung histology of mice immunized with Gcf through different routes. All samples were collected at day 4 post-RSV challenge and prepared from formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded lung tissues. H&E staining, TUNEL assay, and PAS staining were performed to determine inflammation, cell death, mucus secretion, respectively. (A) H&E staining (1st low, 20X magnification), and PAS staining (2nd low, 40X magnification) of lung samples harvested at day 4 post-challenge. (B) Lung pathological score assigned representing the inflammatory cell infiltration shown in H&E staining. (C) TUNEL⁺ cells (40X magnification) and quantification of cell death represented by TUNEL⁺ cells. Representative results of three independent experiments are shown. All data are expressed in mean \pm S.E.M (n = 3). * indicates significant difference with CT group (P < 0.05).

Figure S3 | Cytokine profiles and transcription factor expression levels in the mice immunized with Gcf. (A) IFN- γ , IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-13, and IL-17 levels in BAL fluid of mice immunized with Gcf at day 4 post-RSV A2 challenge determined by CBA. (B) Percentage of T-bet, GATA-3, or ROR γ t expressing splenic CD4+ T cells at day 7 post-booster immunization determined by intracellular staining. Representative results of three independent experiments are shown. All data are expressed in mean +/- S.E.M (n = 6). * indicates significant difference with CT group (P < 0.05). [†] indicates significant difference with Gcf i.n. group (P < 0.05). ND, Not detected.

elicits both Th1 and Th2 CD4+ T cell responses. *J Immunol.* (2000) 165:6487-95. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.165.11.6487

- Haynes LM, Jones LP, Barskey A, Anderson LJ, Tripp RA. Enhanced disease and pulmonary eosinophilia associated with formalin-inactivated respiratory syncytial virus vaccination are linked to G glycoprotein CX3C-CX3CR1 interaction and expression of substance P. *J Virol.* (2003) 77:9831–44. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.18.9831-9844.2003
- Johnson TR, Johnson JE, Roberts SR, Wertz GW, Parker RA, Graham BS. Priming with secreted glycoprotein G of respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) augments interleukin-5 production and tissue eosinophilia after RSV challenge. J Virol. (1998) 72:2871–80.
- Tripp RA, Jones LP, Haynes LM, Zheng H, Murphy PM, Anderson LJ. CX3C chemokine mimicry by respiratory syncytial virus G glycoprotein. *Nat Immunol.* (2001) 2:732–8. doi: 10.1038/90675
- Polack FP, Irusta PM, Hoffman SJ, Schiatti MP, Melendi GA, Delgado MF, et al. The cysteine-rich region of respiratory syncytial virus attachment protein inhibits innate immunity elicited by the virus and endotoxin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:8996–9001. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0409478102
- Calderón MA, Casale TB, Togias A, Bousquet J, Durham SR, Demoly P. Allergen-specific immunotherapy for respiratory allergies: from metaanalysis to registration and beyond. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2011) 127:30–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.08.024
- Chirkova T, Boyoglu-Barnum S, Gaston KA, Malik FM, Trau SP, Oomens AG, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus G protein CX3C motif impairs human airway epithelial and immune cell responses. *J Virol.* (2013) 87:13466–79. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01741-13
- Tebbey PW, Hagen M, Hancock GE. Atypical pulmonary eosinophilia is mediated by a specific amino acid sequence of the attachment (G) protein of respiratory syncytial virus. J Exp Med. (1998) 188:1967–72. doi: 10.1084/jem.188.10.1967
- Aida Y, Pabst MJ. Removal of endotoxin from protein solutions by phase separation using triton X-114. J Immunol Methods. (1990) 132:191–5. doi: 10.1016/0022-1759(90)90029-U
- Kim S, Joo DH, Lee JB, Shim BS, Cheon IS, Jang JE, et al. Dual role of respiratory syncytial virus glycoprotein fragment as a mucosal immunogen and chemotactic adjuvant. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e32226. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0032226
- Castilow EM, Legge KL, Varga SM. Cutting edge: eosinophils do not contribute to respiratory syncytial virus vaccine-enhanced disease. *J Immunol.* (2008) 181:6692–6. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.10.6692
- Castilow EM, Meyerholz DK, Varga SM. IL-13 is required for eosinophil entry into the lung during respiratory syncytial virus vaccine-enhanced disease. J Immunol. (2008) 180:2376–84. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.4.2376
- Varga SM, Wang X, Welsh RM, Braciale TJ. Immunopathology in RSV infection is mediated by a discrete oligoclonal subset of antigen-specific CD4(+) T cells. *Immunity*. (2001) 15:637–46. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00209-6
- Yu JR, Kim S, Lee JB, Chang J. Single intranasal immunization with recombinant adenovirus-based vaccine induces protective immunity against respiratory syncytial virus infection. J Virol. (2008) 82:2350–7. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02372-07
- Hussell T, Pennycook A, Openshaw PJ. Inhibition of tumor necrosis factor reduces the severity of virus-specific lung immunopathology. *Eur J Immunol.* (2001) 31:2566–73. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(200109)31:9<2566::AID-IMMU2566>3.0.CO;2-L
- Ano S, Morishima Y, Ishii Y, Yoh K, Yageta Y, Ohtsuka S, et al. Transcription factors GATA-3 and ROR gamma t are important for determining the phenotype of allergic airway inflammation in a murine model of asthma. J Immunol. (2013) 190:1056–65. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1202386
- Rahman MS, Yamasaki A, Yang J, Shan L, Halayko AJ, Gounni AS. IL-17A induces eotaxin-1/CC chemokine ligand 11 expression in human airway smooth muscle cells: role of MAPK (Erk1/2, JNK, and p38) pathways. J Immunol. (2006) 177:4064–71. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.6.4064
- Nembrini C, Marsland BJ, Kopf M. IL-17-producing T cells in lung immunity and inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2009) 123:986–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2009.03.033
- Teijaro JR, Turner D, Pham Q, Wherry EJ, Lefrancois L, Farber DL. Cutting edge: tissue-retentive lung memory CD4 T cells mediate optimal protection to respiratory virus infection. *J Immunol.* (2011) 187:5510–4. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102243
- Sutton CE, Mielke LA, Mills KH. IL-17-producing gammadelta T cells and innate lymphoid cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2012) 42:2221–31. doi: 10.1002/eji.201242569

- Schnyder-Candrian S, Togbe D, Couillin I, Mercier I, Brombacher F, Quesniaux V, et al. Interleukin-17 is a negative regulator of established allergic asthma. J Exp Med. (2006) 203:2715–25. doi: 10.1084/jem.200 61401
- Shim BS, Choi Y, Cheon IS, Song MK. Sublingual delivery of vaccines for the induction of mucosal immunity. *Immune Netw.* (2013) 13:81–5. doi: 10.4110/in.2013.13.3.81
- Wiedermann U, Jahn-Schmid B, Lindblad M, Rask C, Holmgren J, Kraft D, et al. Suppressive versus stimulatory effects of allergen/cholera toxoid (CTB) conjugates depending on the nature of the allergen in a murine model of type I allergy. *Int Immunol.* (1999) 11:1131–8. doi: 10.1093/intimm/11. 7.1131
- Kraan H, Vrieling H, Czerkinsky C, Jiskoot W, Kersten G, Amorij JP. Buccal and sublingual vaccine delivery. J Control Release. (2014) 190:580–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2014.05.060
- 32. Nagai Y, Shiraishi D, Tanaka Y, Nagasawa Y, Ohwada S, Shimauchi H, et al. Transportation of sublingual antigens across sublingual ductal epithelial cells to the ductal antigen-presenting cells in mice. *Clin Exp Allergy*. (2015) 45:677– 86. doi: 10.1111/cea.12329
- Nieminen K, Valovirta E, Savolainen J. Clinical outcome and IL-17, IL-23, IL-27 and FOXP3 expression in peripheral blood mononuclear cells of pollen-allergic children during sublingual immunotherapy. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2010) 21(1 Pt 2):e174–84. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.2009.0 0920.x
- 34. Waris ME, Tsou C, Erdman DD, Zaki SR, Anderson LJ. Respiratory synctial virus infection in BALB/c mice previously immunized with formalininactivated virus induces enhanced pulmonary inflammatory response with a predominant Th2-like cytokine pattern. J Virol. (1996) 70:2852–60.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Cheon, Kim, Choi, Shim, Choi, Jung, Kim, Braciale, Youn, Song and Chang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Antigenic Site-Specific Competitive Antibody Responses to the Fusion Protein of Respiratory Syncytial Virus Were Associated With Viral Clearance in Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation Adults

Xunyan Ye¹, Obinna P. Iwuchukwu¹, Vasanthi Avadhanula¹, Letisha O. Aideyan¹, Trevor J. McBride¹, Laura L. Ferlic-Stark¹, Kirtida D. Patel¹, Felipe-Andres Piedra¹, Dimpy P. Shah², Roy F. Chemaly³ and Pedro A. Piedra^{1,4*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Steven Varga, The University of Iowa, United States

Reviewed by:

Bert Schepens, VIB-UGent Center for Inflammation Research (IRC), Belgium Sang-Moo Kang, Georgia State University, United States

*Correspondence:

Pedro A. Piedra ppiedra@bcm.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Viral Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 08 December 2018 Accepted: 14 March 2019 Published: 29 March 2019

Citation:

Ye X, Iwuchukwu OP, Avadhanula V, Aideyan LO, McBride TJ, Ferlic-Stark LL, Patel KD, Piedra F-A, Shah DP, Chemaly RF and Piedra PA (2019) Antigenic Site-Specific Competitive Antibody Responses to the Fusion Protein of Respiratory Syncytial Virus Were Associated With Viral Clearance in Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation Adults. Front. Immunol. 10:706. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00706 ¹ Department of Molecular Virology and Microbiology, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States, ² Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, The University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio, San Antonio, TX, United States, ³ Departments of Infectious Diseases, Infection Control and Employee Health, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, United States, ⁴ Department of Pediatrics, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States

Background: Recent studies of human sera showed that the majority of the respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) neutralizing antibodies are directed against pre-fusion conformation of the fusion (F) protein of RSV and revealed the importance of pre-fusion antigenic site Ø specific antibodies. However, detailed analysis of multiple antigenic site-specific competitive antibody responses to RSV F protein and their contribution to virus clearance in humans are lacking.

Methods: We prospectively enrolled a cohort of RSV infected hematopoietic cell transplantation (HCT) adults (n = 40). Serum samples were collected at enrollment (acute, n = 40) and 14 to 60 days post-enrollment (convalescent, n = 40). Antigenic site-specific F protein antibodies were measured against pre-fusion site Ø, post-fusion site I, and sites II and IV present in both the pre-fusion and post-fusion F protein conformations utilizing four different competitive antibody assays developed with biotinylated monoclonal antibodies (mAb) D25, 131-2A, palivizumab, and 101F, respectively. The lower limit of detection were 7.8 and 1.0 μ g/mL for the competitive antibody assays that measured site Ø specific response, as well as sites I, II, and IV specific responses, respectively. Neutralizing antibody titers to RSV A and B subgroups was determined by microneutralization assays.

Results: The overall findings in RSV infected HCT adults revealed: (1) a significant increase in antigenic site-specific competitive antibodies in convalescent sera except for site Ø competitive antibody (p < 0.01); (2) comparable concentrations in the acute and convalescent serum samples of antigenic site-specific competitive antibodies between RSV/A and RSV/B infected HCT adults (p > 0.05); (3) significantly increased concentrations of the antigenic site-specific competitive antibodies in HCT adults who

had genomic RSV detected in the upper respiratory tract for <14 days compared to those for \geq 14 days (p < 0.01); and (4) statistically significant correlation between the antigenic site-specific competitive antibody concentrations and neutralizing antibody titers against RSV/A and RSV/B (r ranged from 0.33 to 0.83 for acute sera, and 0.50–0.88 for convalescent sera; p < 0.05).

Conclusions: In RSV infected HCT adults, antigenic site-specific antibody responses were induced against multiple antigenic sites found in both the pre-fusion and post-fusion F conformations, and were associated with a more rapid viral clearance and neutralizing antibody activity. However, the association is not necessarily the cause and the consequence.

Keywords: competitive antibody, fusion protein, viral clearance, respiratory syncytial virus, hematopoietic cell transplantation

INTRODUCTION

Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) is a negative-sense, singlestranded RNA virus of the family Pneumoviridae. RSV is transmitted via fomites and large droplet aerosols. RSV, traditionally considered as the most common respiratory pathogen in children <5 years old, has more recently been found to have a high prevalence in immunocompromised individuals (1, 2). RSV is also a leading cause of severe respiratory infection in children and adults with a compromised immune system, with mortality rates as high as 80% (3). The hematopoietic cell transplantation (HCT) recipients are highly vulnerable to the severe consequences of RSV infection with the highest risk for mortality within 100 days after transplantation (4). A licensed vaccine against RSV is not yet available because of problems with the stability, purity, reproducibility, tolerability, and potency of vaccine candidates (5-8). Moreover, immunocompromised patients may not respond adequately to vaccinations because of their relative immunologic suppression. Current treatment strategies of demonstrated efficacy in immunocompromised patients include antiviral therapies such as ribavirin, palivizumab, and immunomodulation with total IVIG (9-11).

RSV fusion (F) surface glycoprotein is a class I protein that mediates viral entry into host cells by transforming from a metastable trimeric pre-fusion conformation (pre-F) to a highly stable post-fusion conformation (post-F). The antigenic topology of RSV F is substantially altered during this transition. Molecules that prevent these structural changes can prevent viral fusion and have potential as therapeutics for treatment of RSV infection. Some groups of epitopes, referred to as antigenic sites, are generally conserved on both the pre-F and post-F conformations, whereas others are found either on the pre-F or post-F conformation (12). Six antigenic sites on the F protein have been described: Ø-V. Antigenic site Ø ("zero") presents at the apex of the pre-F trimer. The pre-F-specific antibodies (MEDI8897 and D25) recognize antigenic site \emptyset (13). Antigenic site I is found in the post-F conformation. mAb 131-2A binds to antigenic site I on the post-F confirmation (14, 15). Antigenic sites II and IV are found on both pre-F and post-F conformations. Palivizumab (Synagis) is the first characterized monoclonal antibody (mAb) and currently the only mAb licensed for the prevention of severe RSV infection in high-risk infants. It recognizes antigenic site II. mAb 101F recognizes antigenic site IV. Although the secondary structure elements that form site III are present on both pre-F and post-F, they adopt a different spatial arrangement in post-F that results in higheraffinity binding to pre-F (16). The potently neutralizing mAb MPE8 was shown to recognize antigenic site III (16). Antigenic site V is found in the pre-F conformation and located between sites Ø and III. mAb AM14 targets antigenic site V and is a potently neutralizing mAb (17, 18).

RSV is primarily a mucosally restricted virus causing damage to the upper and lower respiratory tracts during its multiple rounds of replication. It can elicit cellular and humoral immune responses at variable levels in HCT recipients, depending upon the degree to which individuals remain immunocompromised post-transplantation. RSV-specific neutralizing antibody play an important role in preventing severe infection while cellular immune responses are thought to play a critical function in destroying RSV infected cells and thus clearing the infection. Previously RSV naïve but immunocompetent infants can shed RSV from their upper respiratory tract (URT) for up to 21 days; by contrast, immunocompromised children can shed RSV for several months (19, 20). In the murine model of RSV infection, CD8+ T cells are capable of clearing RSV infection (14, 21–23). Limited data from studies of infants with primary RSV infection suggest that a cellular immune response with specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes are initiated within 10 days of infection (24, 25). Studies on the humoral immune responses after primary RSV infection in children and re-infection in children and adults have been reported (26-28). Although administration of intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) with high neutralizing antibody activity against RSV and palivizumab provides protection against severe RSV infection in high-risk infants, the role of neutralizing antibodies in recovery from an established infection is not clear. We have previously demonstrated that significantly greater levels of humoral palivizumab-competing antibody and neutralizing antibody titers are associated with more rapid RSV clearance in HCT recipients. This cohort of forty RSV infected HCT adults provided us an opportunity to further study other RSV epitope-specific competitive antibody levels and identify additional immune correlates of viral clearance. Three more RSV epitope-specific competitive antibody assays were developed and standardized to detect competitive antibodies to antigenic sites Ø, I, and IV. In addition, understanding the relationship between neutralization antibody and epitope specificity of the competitive antibodies elicited in response to natural RSV infection will be critical in the selection and design of new monoclonal antibodies and vaccines for prevention of RSV.

METHODS

Study Subjects

HCT recipients with laboratory-confirmed RSV upper respiratory tract infection at enrollment and negative chest radiography findings were enrolled within 72 h of RSV diagnosis and stratified by level of risk for progression to the lower respiratory tract as previously described (29). From January 2012 to April 2015, sera were collected from all patients at enrollment (acute) and 14-60 days after hospitalization (convalescent) for evaluating the humoral immune response. Nasal wash samples were collected at enrollment, day 7 (\pm 1), day 14 (\pm 1), and between day 21 and day 28 (± 1) for detecting of viruses in the RSV/A and RSV/B subtypes by real-time, reverse-transcription polymerase chain reaction (rtRT-PCR). At enrollment, an interview was performed to obtain historical information, and medical records were reviewed to extract demographic and clinical data. The institutional review boards of the University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center and Baylor College of Medicine approved the study protocol and written informed consent was obtained from all the participants.

Real-Time Reverse-Transcription Polymerase Chain Reaction (rtRT-PCR)

Viral RNA extraction and RSV/A and RSV/B detection in nasal wash samples by rtRT-PCR in a CLIA certified Respiratory Virus Diagnostic laboratory (CLIA ID# 45D0919666) were performed as previously described (30).

Antigenic-Site Competitive Antibody Assays

Four antigenic-site competitive antibody assays were used to measure concentrations of D25-competing antibody (site \emptyset), 131-2A-competing antibody (site I), palivizumab-competing antibody (site II), and 101F-competing antibody (site IV) in serum that compete with biotinylated mAbs for binding to the respective antigenic site of the RSV fusion protein. D25 and 101F were purchased from Cambridge Biologics, LLC, Brookline, MA, USA. Palivizumab was from MedImmune, LLC, Gaithersburg, MD, USA. 131-2A was from EMD Millipore Corporation, Temecula, CA, USA. mAbs were biotinylated with a PierceTM Antibody Biotinylation Kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL, USA) per manufacturer's instructions. The source of the fusion protein was from sucrose purified RSV/A/Bernett (spRSV, GA1) for sites I, II and IV. One hundred μ L of spRSV (total protein 7 μ g/mL) was coated onto the Immulon 2HB 96-well plate (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) for 18 h at 4°C. For site Ø competitive

antibody assay, 100 µL of HEp-2 cell suspension (24 x 10⁴ cells /mL) in 10% FBS/MEM were seeded on 96-well Falcon tissue culture plates from Corning (Pittston, Pennsylvania, USA). The plates were incubated at 37°C with 5% CO2 and 85% humidity for 24 h to form monolayers. Cells were inoculated with spRSV (MOI = 0.002) and incubated at the same condition for 2 days. The plates from all four assays were blocked for 1 h with 5% milk (Carnation Instant Nonfat Dry Milk) in 1X phosphate-buffered saline. One hundred µL of D25, 131-2A, palivizumab, and 101F at a concentration of 1.25 µg/mL in 5% milk (for 131-2A, palivizumab, and 101F) and 5% milk in 10% Defined Fetal Bovine Serum in Minimum Essential Medium (for D25) were added in duplicate followed by 2-fold serial dilutions (12,500 to 24.41 ng/mL) for generating a standard curve on each plate. Next 50 µL of 2-fold serial dilutions of serum samples (1:5 to 1:2,560) in duplicate were added to the coated plates, and then immediately 50 µL of 100 ng/mL of biotinylated mAbs (D25, 131-2A, palivizumab, and 101F) generated with a PierceTM Antibody Biotinylation Kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL) per manufacturer's instructions, were added, followed by 1 h incubation. After washing, HRP-conjugated streptavidin (SeraCare Life Sciences, Gaithersburg, MD) was added for an additional hour. Wells containing biotinylated mAb without sera served as positive controls representing maximum binding. Wells without biotinylated mAbs containing either 5% milk instead of sera or wells containing sera served as negative controls. A four-parameter logistic (4PL) regression model was used to calculate the competitive antibody concentrations $(\mu g/mL)$ based on the dynamic range of the standard curve by interpolating the concentration of the standards that corresponds to the absorbance value at which the test serum sample resulted in 50% inhibition. The lower limit of detection (LLoD) was 1.0 µg/mL for site I, II, and IV competitive antibody assays, and 7.8 ug/mL for site Ø competitive antibody assay. Samples with concentration below the LLoD were assigned a value of 0.5 and $3.9 \,\mu g$ /mL, respectively.

RSV F Protein Specific Microneutralization (MN) Assay

Serum samples and the four mAbs (D25, 131-2A, palivizumab, and 101F) were analyzed for neutralizing antibodies (Nt Ab) against RSV/A/Tracy and RSV/B/18537 in HEp-2 cells using a qualified microneutralization assay as previously described (31-33). Serum samples and mAbs (final concentration was 40 µg/mL) were diluted 1:8 initially, followed by 2-fold serially dilution. An equal volume of RSV/A Tracy or RSV/B 18537 was added to each dilution and incubated at 36°C with 5% CO₂ for 90 minutes. One hundred µL of HEp 2 cells was added to each well in the 96-well plate and incubated for 6-7 or 7-8 days for RSV/A and RSV/B microneutralization assays, respectively. Then the 96-well plates were fixed and stained with 10% formalin/0.01% crystal violet solution for ~24 h. After the 96-well plates were airdried, they were read. Neutralizing antibody titers were defined as the final dilution at which there was a 50% reduction in viral cytopathic effect (CPE). Any serum sample resulting in a titer <LLoD (2.5 log2) was assigned a value of 2 log2. Any mAbs resulting in a titer <LLoD was retested using the stock

RSV antibody	Ab target	Acute (<i>n</i> = 40)	Convalescent ($n = 40$)	Fold increase	P-value ^b
Competitive antibody	Antigenic site Ø	21.1 [14.9, 30.6] ^a	55.1 [37.5, 78.0]	2.6	<0.001
	Antigenic site I	2.0 [1.4, 3.0]	8.2 [4.8, 14.7]	4.1	<0.001
	Antigenic site II	2.9 [1.9, 4.4]	16.3 [8.9, 29.8]	5.6	<0.001
	Antigenic site IV	7.0 [5.0, 10.4]	28.2 [18.0, 47.3]	4.0	<0.001
Neutralizing antibody	RSV/A	6.9 [6.3, 7.5]	9.6 [8.7, 10.4]	6.5	<0.001
	RSV/B	7.2 [6.4, 8.1]	9.9 [8.8, 10.9]	6.5	< 0.001

TABLE 1 | RSV Antibody Levels in Acute and Convalescent Sera from RSV infected HCT Adults.

^aGeometric mean conc., µg/mL for competitive antibody and log2 for neutralizing antibody titer [95% Confidence Interval].

^b Paired t-test for difference in means of competitive antibody conc. (log2 µg/mL) or neutralizing antibody titer (log2) between acute and convalescent.

(1.0 mg/mL) and assigned a value of 0.2 log2 if the titer was negative again.

Statistical Analysis

For demographic characteristics and clinical outcomes, continuous variables and categorical variables were analyzed. A paired *t*-test was used to determine whether the geometric means of neutralizing antibody titer (GMT) (log2) or geometric mean of log transformed competitive antibody concentrations (GMC) differed significantly between acute and convalescent samples. A two-sample *t*-test was used to determine whether the neutralizing antibody (log2) or GMC of log transformed competitive antibody concentrations differed significantly between RSV/A and RSV/B infected patients, as well as between HCT recipients who shed virus for <14 and \geq 14 days. Statistical significance was indicated for *p*-values <0.05. Pearson's correlation coefficients were calculated between neutralizing antibody titers and site-specific competitive antibody concentrations. Statistical analyses were performed using the SPSS Statistic 22 (IBM, Armonk, NY).

RESULTS

Demographic and Clinical Variables of RSV Infected HCT Adults Were Comparable Between Study Groups

Clinical characteristics at enrollment are summarized for all 40 HCT adults in **Table 1** from previous publication (29), stratified by duration of RSV shedding (<14 or \geq 14 days) or by RSV infection subtype (RSV/A or RSV/B). Briefly, all listed variables were comparable between the groups. The only significant difference observed was recipients who shed RSV for \geq 14 days were more likely to have received an allogenic stem cell transplant compared to recipients with a shorter duration of viral shedding (18/20 vs. 11/20, p < 0.025). The absolute neutrophil count and the absolute lymphocyte count are within the normal ranges for these cohorts. The median time from transplantation to RSV infection is 169 and 100 days for adults shedding RSV from the URT for <14 and \geq 14 days, respectively.

The Site-Specific Competitive Antibody Assays Were Specific to the Corresponding Competitive Antibodies

Specificity of the four competitive antibody assays were confirmed using a panel of monoclonal antibody $(12.5 \,\mu g/mL)$



FIGURE 1 Specificity of RSV antigenic site-specific competitive antibody assays. Blue indicates there was the mAbs had no inhibition to the biotinylated mAbs specific to the RSV antigenic site. Red indicates there were strong inhibition to the RSV antigenic site. The 0.0–1.5 scale represents the level of mAb inhibition from the strongest to the weakest. PVZ, palivizumab; MVA, motavizumab. Data represented are from 3 independent duplicate competitive antibody assays.

to compete with biotinylated monoclonal antibody specific to their respective antigenic sites (**Figure 1**). Using a 125-fold higher concentration, the panel of monoclonal antibodies that bound antigenic sites on the F protein other than the site targeted by the biotinylated monoclonal antibody were not able to inhibit the biotinylated monoclonal antibody from binding to its antigenic site. For example, D25 inhibited or competed with the biotinylated D25 in the site Ø competitive antibody assay, while the rest of the monoclonal antibodies in the panel did not inhibit the biotinylated D25 from binding to site Ø.

Monoclonal Antibodies Showed Different Levels of Neutralizing Potency

Neutralizing activity of the monoclonal antibodies at a concentration of $40 \,\mu$ g/mL was evaluated in the RSV/A and RSV/B microneutralization assays (**Figure 2**). The mAb D25, that binds antigenic site Ø, is the most potent of the mAbs used in the competitive antibody assays. Palivizumab and 101F mAbs that bind site II and site IV, respectively, have moderate neutralizing antibody activity, and 131-2A, a site I mAb, did not have measurable neutralizing activity, which are consistent with the results previously reported (34).

Convalescent Sera Had Higher Concentration of Site-Specific Competing or Neutralizing Antibody Than Acute Sera

A significant increase in RSV antibody levels (competitive and neutralizing antibodies) in the convalescent sera compared to the acute sera was measured by all four competitive antibody assays and both microneutralization assays (**Table 1**). The GMC of D25-competing antibody (**Table 1**) was the highest in both acute and convalescent sera, followed by the 101F-competing antibody (site IV), palivizumab-competing antibody (site II), and 131-2A-competing (site I) antibodies. The RSV/A and RSV/B neutralizing antibody GMTs were comparable. However, the fold-increase in the competitive antibody concentration was greatest for palivizumab-competing antibody (5.6), and lowest for D25-competing competitive antibodies (2.6). The fold-increase was comparable between RSV/A and RSV/B neutralizing antibody titers (6.5).



FIGURE 2 | Neutralizing potency of RSV antigenic site-specific monoclonal antibody. RSV/A Tracy and RSV/B 18537 were used in the experiments. The concentration of the mAbs were 40 μ g/mL for D25, palivizumab, 131-2A, and 101F in both RSV/A and RSV/B microneutralization assays, except that mAb 131-2A was used at 1.0 mg/mL in the RSV/B microneutralization assay. The Y axis is the RSV/A Tracy or RSV/B 18537 neutralizing antibody titers (log2) for different mAbs used in the microneutralization assay. Data represented are from 3 independent duplicate microneutralization assays \pm standard deviation.

Higher Antibody Levels Were Detected in HCT Adults Shedding RSV <14 Days

The competitive antibody in GMC (μ g/mL) and neutralizing antibody in GMT (log2) were compared between HCT adults shedding virus from their URT for <14 and ≥ 14 days (Table 2). For the acute sera, there was no significant difference between the two groups for either site-specific competitive antibodies or RSVspecific neutralizing antibodies. However, for the convalescent sera, significantly higher levels (<0.01) were detected of both site-specific competitive antibodies and RSV-specific neutralizing antibodies in HCT adults shedding RSV <14 days, except for the site Ø competitive antibody. In addition, all the convalescent sera had higher antibody levels than acute sera for both sitespecific competitive antibody and RSV-specific neutralizing antibodies. The total GMC for the four competitive antibodies in the convalescent sera increased about 5-folds for HCT adults shedding virus <14 days and about 2.5 folds for those shedding virus \geq 14 days. For HCT adults shedding virus <14 days, the total GMC of the four site-specific antibodies increased from $47.4 \,\mu$ g/mL in the acute sera to $228.6 \,\mu$ g/mL in the convalescent sera. For HCT adults shedding virus >14 days, the total GMC increased from 34.1 μ g/mL in the acute sera to 91.8 μ g/mL in the convalescent sera.

The proportion of the contribution for each site-specific competitive antibody GMC to the total GMC for acute and convalescent sera from HCT adults shedding virus < 14 days and \geq 14 days are illustrated in **Figure 3**. For HCT adults shedding virus <14 days, ~60% of the total GMC was composed by D25-competing antibody, and decreased to ~30% in the convalescent sera; while the percentages of 131-2A, palivizumab-competing antibody, and 101F-competing antibodies increased. For HCT adults shedding virus \geq 14 days, ~70% of the total GMC was also composed by D25-competing antibody in the acute sera, and the percent contribution by the four competitive antibodies did not increase even though the total GMC increased

TABLE 2 RSV Antibody Levels between RSV Infected HCT Adults Who Shed RSV <14 days and \geq 14 Days.

• • •			, – ,		
RSV antibody	Ab target	Serum	<14 days (<i>n</i> = 20)	≥14 days (<i>n</i> = 20)	<i>P</i> -value ^b
Competitive antibody	Ø	Acute	22.6 [13.6, 37.2] ^a	26.6 [19.2, 38]	0.712
		Convalescent	59.7 [33.9, 103.8]	50.8 [33.0, 79.1]	0.672
	I	Acute	2.4 [1.3, 5.2]	1.6 [1.0, 2.6]	0.307
		Convalescent	18.2 [7.8, 41.1]	3.7 [2.3, 6.5]	0.001
	П	Acute	3.9 [1.9, 8.1]	2.2 [1.4, 3.3]	0.139
		Convalescent	44.4 [18.1, 108.9]	5.9 [3.3, 10.8]	<0.001
	IV	Acute	9.0 [5.7, 16.2]	5.5 [3.5, 8.1]	0.156
		Convalescent	60.2 [28.6, 134.0]	13.2 [8.5, 20.6]	<0.001
	Ø, I, II, IV	Total Acute	47.4 [29.9, 79.8]	34.1 [22.9, 48.9]	0.306
		Total Convalescent	228.6 [116.8, 400.3]	91.8 [66.6, 123.1]	0.013
Neutralizing antibody	RSV/A	Acute	6.97 [6.14, 7.89]	6.22 [5.28, 7.20]	0.281
		Convalescent	10.21 [9.09, 11.37]	8.24 [7.30, 9.29]	0.016
	RSV/B	Acute	7.32 [6.30, 8.48]	6.35 [5.35, 7.32]	0.170
		Convalescent	10.78 [9.31, 12.44]	8.01 [6.82, 9.28]	0.006

^aGeometric mean conc., μ g/mL for competitive antibody and log2 for neutralizing antibody titer [95% Confidence Interval].

^b Two-sample t-test for difference in means of antigenic site competitive antibody conc. (log2 μg/mL) or neutralizing antibody titer (log2) between <14 and ≥14 days. The bold values significant means that the p-values are statistically significant at 0.05 level.

from $34.1\,\mu\text{g/mL}$ in the acute sera to $91.8\,\mu\text{g/mL}$ in the convalescent sera.

No Significant Differences Were Observed in Antibody Levels in the Acute and Convalescent Sera Between HCT Adults Infected With RSV/A vs. RSV/B

The site-specific competitive antibody GMC and neutralizing antibody GMT were compared between RSV/A and RSV/B infected HCT adults (**Table 3**). No significant differences



FIGURE 3 Percentage of each RSV antigenic site-specific competitive antibody GMC (μ g/mL) to the total GMC (μ g/mL) for acute and convalescent sera from HCT adults shedding virus <14 days and \geq 14 days. The Y axis is the percentage of each competitive antibody GMC to the total GMC. The X axis is the serum types: acute or convalescent sera from HCT adults shedding virus <14 days or \geq 14 days. The total GMC was the sum of 4 competitive antibody GMC. The percentage of each competitive antibody was that the competitive antibody GMC divided by the total GMC. GMC, geometric mean concentration. N = 40 in each competitive antibody assay.

TABLE 3 | RSV Antibody Levels between RSV/A and RSV/B Infected HCT Adults.

were observed in both the neutralizing antibody level and site-specific competitive antibody concentrations in the acute and convalescent sera between HCT adults infected with RSV/A vs. RSV/B. An increase in antibody activity were detected in the convalescent sera of RSV/A and RSV/B infected HCT adults by all 6 assays. In addition, the total GMC of the 4 competitive antibodies were comparable (133.6 vs. 159.9 μ g/mL) in convalescent sera between RSV/A and RSV/B infected HCT adults. This observation is consistent with antigenic site II and IV being well conserved among RSV isolates in the RSV/A and RSV/B subgroups.

The proportion of the contribution for each site-specific competitive antibody GMC to the total GMC for RSV/A and B infected HCT adults is illustrated in **Figure 4**. D25-competing antibody constitutes \sim 60% of the total GMC in the acute sera for both RSVA and B infected HCT adults, and decreased to \sim 50% in the convalescent sera; while the percentages of 131-2A, palivizumab-competing antibody, and 101F-competing antibodies increased in the convalescent sera for both A and B infected HCT adults.

Site-Specific Competing Antibodies Correlate to RSV-Specific Neutralizing Antibodies

Pearson's correlation coefficient was calculated to measure the strength of the linear association between site-specific competitive antibodies and RSV-specific neutralizing antibodies. We observed a significant positive correlation between sitespecific competitive antibody measured by the four site-specific competitive antibody assays to neutralizing antibody measured by the RSV/A and RSV/B microneutralization assays. Correlation coefficients ranged from 0.33 to 0.83 for acute sera, and 0.50 to 0.88 for convalescent sera with all correlations being significant (p < 0.05) (**Figure 5**). The highest correlation was observed between the site IV 101F-competing antibody concentration and

RSV antibody	RSV antibody target	Serum	RSV/A infected adults ($n = 22$)	RSV/B infected adults ($n = 18$)	P-value ^b
Competitive antibody	Ø	Acute	23.0 [16.1, 42.5] ^a	20.3 [12.9, 31.8]	0.423
		Convalescent	50.0 [27.6, 86.5]	62.1 [39.0, 92.1]	0.570
	I	Acute	2.5 [1.4, 5.1]	1.5 [0.9, 2.4]	0.213
		Convalescent	8.7 [3.5, 21.7]	7.6 [3.5, 15.9]	0.814
	II	Acute	3.7 [1.9, 7.5]	2.1 [1.4, 3.2]	0.176
		Convalescent	14.9 [6.0, 36.7]	18.1 [7.5, 43.7]	0.754
	IV	Acute	8.2 [5.2, 14.4]	5.8 [3.9, 8.8]	0.339
		Convalescent	25.7 [12.2, 60.8]	31.5 [16.0, 62.4]	0.678
	Ø, I, II, IV	Total Acute	45.0 [28.8, 75.1]	35.1 [25.0, 49.5]	0.442
		Total Convalescent	133.6 [72.7, 234.1]	159.9 [104.4, 256.1]	0.640
Neutralizing antibody	RSV/A	Acute	6.7 [5.6, 7.8]	6.9 [5.7, 8.1]	0.510
		Convalescent	9.1 [8.1, 10.3]	8.9 [7.5, 10.4]	0.807
	RSV/B	Acute	6.5 [5.7, 7.2]	6.7 [6.0, 7.7]	0.593
		Convalescent	9.3 [8.0, 10.7]	9.8 [8.3, 11.6]	0.395

^a Geometric mean conc., μ g/mL for competitive antibody and log2 for neutralizing antibody titer [95% Confidence Interval].

^b Two-sample t-test for difference in means of antigenic site competitive Ab conc. (log2 µg/mL) or neutralizing antibody titer (log2) between RSV/A and RSV/B.

RSV neutralizing antibody titers, and the lowest correlation was observed between site Ø D25-competing antibody concentration and RSV neutralizing antibody titers in RSV infected HCT adults.

DISCUSSION

An in-depth understanding of the human antibody response to RSV infection will aid the development and evaluation



(μ g/mL) to the total GMC (μ g/mL) for RSV/A and B infected HCT adults. GMC, geometric mean concentration. n = 40 in each competitive antibody assay.

of vaccines and therapeutics against RSV disease. Previous studies have reported on the epitopes targeted by RSV-specific neutralizing antibodies in human sera (35, 36), as well as reported the specificities and functional properties of antibodies elicited by natural RSV infection (17). To our knowledge, the present study is the first to describe site-specific competitive antibody responses to the pre-F and post-F conformations and to correlate these site-specific competitive antibody responses to viral clearance and neutralizing antibody responses in RSV naturally infected HCT adults.

In this prospective cohort study, pre-F and post-F competitive antibodies were elicited after RSV infection in HCT adults. The highest site-specific competitive antibody concentration in acute sera was against site Ø on the pre-F conformation, which is consistent with prior published results showing that prefusion F-specific antibodies are prevalent in polyclonal neutralizing antisera (36). However, the high levels of site Ø specific competitive antibodies present in the ≥ 14 days group were ineffective in viral clearance once virus infection was established. Ngwuta et al. (36) used methods that relied on absorption to define the neutralizing activity associated with pre-F and post F conformations as well as site Ø and site II. Our site-specific competitive antibody assays measured sitespecific competitive antibody concentrations but did not directly demonstrate the neutralizing activity of the antigenic site-specific competing-antibodies. In general, RSV-specific antibodies play an important role in preventing infection and a lesser role in



FIGURE 5 | Correlation of RSV antigenic site-specific competitive antibody and RSV-specific neutralizing antibody. Pearson's correlation coefficient was calculated to measure the strength of the linear association. Correlation coefficients ranged from 0.33 to 0.83 for acute sera, and 0.50–0.88 for convalescent sera. *Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed). **Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed). **Correlation assay.

viral clearance. The group that cleared the virus in <14 days were able to generate a more vigorous humoral response likely reflecting greater immunologic reconstitution after stem cell transplantation. Although we did not measured cell mediated immunity, it is highly likely that this group also had a more robust cellular immune response that contributed to improved viral clearance.

Site I had the lowest competitive antibody concentration, which is also consistent with the results published by Gilman and others (17, 37). The highest fold increase was detected against site II, suggesting that following RSV infection the immune response recognizes other antigenic sites that are not unique to the pre-F form. This was demonstrated by the increase in the proportion of site II, site IV and site I competitive antibody GMC but not site Ø to the total GMC in the convalescent sera of HCT adults who rapidly cleared their viral infection. It is not clear why antibodies that target sites unique to the pre-F form appear to persist for longer duration compared to sites shared by the pre-F and post-F forms. It is important to point out that most of the competitive antibodies were directed to site Ø in the acute serum samples. If similar concentration increases occurred to the four antigenic sites in the convalescent serum samples, this would have resulted in higher proportion increase of site-specific competitive antibodies that had lower concentration in the acute serum samples such as sites II and IV. The change in proportion in site-specific competitive antibody was compounded by a higher LLoD (7.8 µg/mL) for the cell based site Ø competitive antibody assay that was appreciably higher compared to the LLoD $(1.0 \,\mu g/mL)$ for the other three competitive antibody assays.

We used Pearson's correlation to determine the associations between the four site-specific competitive antibodies and between site-specific antibody concentrations to neutralizing antibody titers. The highest correlations to RSV-specific neutralizing antibody levels were observed with sites II and IV competitive antibodies. These results suggest that antibodies against palivizumab and 101F epitopes are responsible for a significant proportion of the virus neutralizing capacity of sera. It also suggest that the site-specific competitive antibody assays measures changes that directly relates to changes in neutralizing antibody levels. The lower correlation detected between antigenic-site Ø competitive antibody concentrations and neutralizing antibody titers might be related to antigenic site Ø being the least conserved region compared to other antigenic sites in the F protein (13, 38, 39), although this was not analyzed in the present study. The low correlation also might be due to the relative high LLoD of the site Ø antibody competitive assay compared to the lower LLoD for the other three site-specific competitive antibody assays. Additionally, small changes in antigenic site Ø competitive antibody concentration might be associated with greater changes in neutralizing antibody activity, thereby making it harder to detect a strong correlation due to assay variability. Of the four mAbs we tested for neutralizing antibody activity, D25 mAb that targets site Ø was the most potent of the mAbs, followed by 101F and palivizumab; 131-2A shows no neutralizing potency, which were consistent with what Phung and others reported (40). These different neutralizing antibody activities suggest that sites Ø, II, and IV are major target of the human neutralizing antibody response, and antigenic site I is not a major target. Interesting, although there was a strong correlation between site I competitive antibody concentration and RSV-specific neutralizing antibody titers, the site I mAb (131-2A) did not have detectable neutralizing antibody activity. The direct correlation observed likely reflects the HCT adults' ability to mount an effective humoral response to antigenic sites on the F protein rather than a mechanistic correlation between site I competitive antibody concentration and neutralizing antibody activity.

The effect of RSV infection by viral subgroups (RSV/A and RSV/B) on the humoral immune responses to the four antigenic sites was evaluated in this prospective cohort study. No significant differences were observed in both the neutralizing antibody level and site-specific competitive antibody concentrations measured between HCT recipients infected with RSV/A vs. RSV/B. In addition, the proportion and the total GMC of the four competitive antibodies were comparable in convalescent sera between RSV/A and RSV/B infected HCT adults. This observation is consistent with antigenic site II and site IV being well conserved between RSV/A and RSV/B subgroups, and suggests a monovalent RSV-F vaccine against infection with RSV/A and RSV/B is likely sufficient for protection against severe RSV disease.

Our study has some limitations. The small number of RSV infected HCT adults (n = 40) is not representative of adults in the general population. Higher rises in competitive antibody concentration and neutralizing antibody titer after an RSV infection might occur in healthy adults compared to the HCT adults. In addition, we did not measure competitive antibody concentration to site III and site V, the remaining pre-F antigenic sites. Thus, their contribution to the neutralizing antibody activity post-RSV infection was not determined in this cohort of HCT adults infected with RSV.

In summary, the study revealed significantly higher concentrations in RSV F site-specific competitive antibodies (except for site Ø) in HCT adults who shed RSV <14 days compared to ≥ 14 days, comparable concentrations of competitive antibodies in the convalescent sera between RSV/A and RSV/B infected HCT adults, and a significant positive correlation between site-specific competitive antibodies and RSV-specific neutralizing antibody activity. In conclusion, in RSV naturally infected HCT adults, site-specific competitive antibody responses occurred to antigenic sites found in both the pre-fusion and post-fusion F conformations and were associated with viral clearance. The data might suggest but does not demonstrate that these antibody responses are contributing to the observed more rapid viral clearance. The faster clearance in the individuals with higher antibody responses might just reflect the level of immune competence of these individuals. Therefore, the observed relation between higher antibody responses and more rapid clearance is not necessarily the cause and the consequence. In addition, further evaluation of how the T cell-mediated responses assist in RSV viral clearance is needed. Lastly, HCT recipients would likely benefit from monoclonal antibody immunoprophylaxis or RSV-F vaccine when licensed for prevention of severe RSV infection during their period of vulnerability post-transplantation.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the institutional review boards of the University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center and Baylor College of Medicine with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center and Baylor College of Medicine.

REFERENCES

- Choi JH, Choi EH, Kang HJ, Park KD, Park SS, Shin HY, et al. Respiratory viral infections after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in children. J Korean Med Sci. (2013) 28:36–41. doi: 10.3346/jkms.2013.28.1.36
- Lo MS, Lee GM, Gunawardane N, Burchett SK, Lachenauer CS, Lehmann LE. The impact of RSV, adenovirus, influenza, and parainfluenza infection in pediatric patients receiving stem cell transplant, solid organ transplant, or cancer chemotherapy. *Pediatr Transplant*. (2013) 17:133–43. doi: 10.1111/petr.12022
- Anak S, Atay D, Unuvar A, Garipardic M, Agaoglu L, Ozturk G, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus infection outbreak among pediatric patients with oncologic diseases and/or BMT. *Pediatr Pulmonol.* (2010) 45:307–11. doi: 10.1002/ppul.21184
- Asner S, Stephens D, Pedulla P, Richardson SE, Robinson J, Allen U. Risk factors and outcomes for respiratory syncytial virus-related infections in immunocompromised children. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (2013) 32:1073–6. doi: 10.1097/INF.0b013e31829dff4d
- Durbin AP, Karron RA. Progress in the development of respiratory syncytial virus and parainfluenza virus vaccines. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2003) 37:1668–77. doi: 10.1086/379775
- Kim HW, Canchola JG, Brandt CD, Pyles G, Chanock RM, Jensen K, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus disease in infants despite prior administration of antigenic inactivated vaccine. *Am J Epidemiol.* (1969) 89:422–34.
- Munoz FM, Piedra PA, Glezen WP. Safety and immunogenicity of respiratory syncytial virus purified fusion protein-2 vaccine in pregnant women. *Vaccine*. (2003) 21:3465–7. doi: 10.1016/S0264-410X(03)00352-9
- Wright PF, Karron RA, Belshe RB, Shi JR, Randolph VB, Collins PL, et al. The absence of enhanced disease with wild type respiratory syncytial virus infection occurring after receipt of live, attenuated, respiratory syncytial virus vaccines. *Vaccine*. (2007) 25:7372–8. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2007. 08.014
- Falsely AR, Walsh EE. Respiratory syncytial virus infection in adults. Clin Microbiol Rev. (2000) 13:371–84. doi: 10.1128/CMR.13.3.371
- Shiffer IT, Kirby K, Sanmaier B, Storb R, Corey L, Boeckh M. Timing and severity of community acquired respiratory virus infections lifter myeloablative versus non-myeloablative hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Haematologica*. (2009) 94:1101–8. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2008.003186
- 11. Ljungman P, Ward KN, Crooks BN, Parker A, Martino R, Shaw PJ, et al. Respiratory virus infections after stem cell transplantation: a prospective study from the infectious diseases working party of the european group for blood

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XY, RC, and PP designed the research. XY, OI, VA, LA, TM, and PP performed the research. XY, LF-S, and PP analyzed the data. DS and RC provided the samples. KP processed the samples. F-AP, VA, LA, TM, LF-S, KP, DS, RC, and PP edited the text. XY wrote the first draft of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors greatly appreciate Dr. Barney S Graham, M.D. Ph.D (Viral Pathogenesis Laboratory, NIAID/VRC, NIH Bethesda, MD) for providing these mAbs D25 and AM14 against antigenic sites during assay development. The authors acknowledge the contribution of the reviewers in improving the quality of the manuscript presentation. The authors acknowledge the opportunity of orally presenting the data in the 11th International Respiratory Syncytial Virus Symposium in 2018 in Asheville, NC, USA.

and marrow transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant. (2001) 28:479-84. doi: 10.1038/sj.bmt.1703139

- Killikelly AM, Kanekiyo M, Graham BS. Pre-fusion F is absent on the surface of formalin-inactivated respiratory syncytial virus. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:34108. doi: 10.1038/srep34108
- McLellan JS, Chen M, Leung S, Graepel KW, Du X, Yang Y, et al. Structure of RSV fusion glycoprotein trimer bound to a prefusion-specific neutralizing antibody. *Science*. (2013) 340:1113–7. doi: 10.1126/science.1234914
- Anderson JJ, Norden J, Saunders D, Toms GL, Scott R. Analysis of the local and systemic immune responses induced in BALB/c mice by experimental respiratory syncytial virus infection. J Gen Virol. (1990) 71 (Pt 7):1561–70.
- Sastre P, Melero JA, García-Barreno B, Palomo C. Comparison of affinity chromatography and adsorption to vaccinia virus recombinant infected cells for depletion of antibodies directed against respiratory syncytial virus glycoproteins present in a human immunoglobulin preparation. *J Med Virol.* (2005) 76:248–55. doi: 10.1002/jmv.20349
- Corti D, Bianchi S, Vanzetta F, Minola A, Perez L, Agatic G, et al. Crossneutralization of four paramyxoviruses by a human monoclonal antibody. *Nature*. (2013) 501:439–43. doi: 10.1038/nature12442
- Gilman MS, Castellanos CA, Chen M, Ngwuta JO, Goodwin E, Moin SM, et al. Rapid profiling of RSV antibody repertoires from the memory B cells of naturally infected adult donors. *Sci Immunol.* (2016) 1:eaaj1879. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aaj1879
- Mousa JJ, Kose N, Matta P, Gilchuk P, Crowe JE Jr. A novel prefusion conformation-specific neutralizing epitope on the respiratory syncytial virus fusion protein. *Nat Microbiol.* (2017) 2:16271. doi: 10.1038/nmicrobiol.2016.271
- Fishaut M, Tubergen D, McIntosh K. Cellular response to respiratory viruses with particular reference to children with disorders of cell-mediated immunity. J Pediatr. (1980) 96:179–86. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(80)80799-2
- Hall CB, Powell KR, MacDonald NE, Gala CL, Menegus ME, Suffin SC, et al. Respiratory syncytial viral infection in children with compromised immune function. N Engl J Med. (1986) 315:77–81. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198607103150201
- 21. Bangham CR, Cannon MJ, Karzon DT, Askonas BA. Cytotoxic T-cell response to respiratory syncytial virus in mice. *J Virol.* (1985) 56:55–9.
- Cannon MJ, Openshaw PJ, Askonas BA. Cytotoxic T cells clear virus but augment lung pathology in mice infected with respiratory syncytial virus. J Exp Med. (1988) 168:1163–8. doi: 10.1084/jem.168.3.1163
- Taylor G, Stott EJ, Hayle AJ. Cytotoxic lymphocytes in the lungs of mice infected with respiratory syncytial virus. J Gen Virol. (1985) 66 (Pt 12):2533–8. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-66-12-2533

- Chiba Y, Higashidate Y, Suga K, Honjo K, Tsutsumi H, Ogra PL. Development of cell-mediated cytotoxic immunity to respiratory syncytial virus in human infants following naturally acquired infection. *J Med Virol.* (1989) 28:133–9. doi: 10.1002/jmv.1890280304
- Isaacs D, Bangham CR, McMichael AJ. Cell-mediated cytotoxic response to respiratory syncytial virus in infants with bronchiolitis. *Lancet.* (1987) 2:769–71. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(87)92502-5
- Russell CD, Unger SA, Walton M, and Schwarze J. The human immune response to respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* (2017) 30:481–502. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00090-16
- 27. Kutsaya A, Teros-Jaakkola T, Kakkola L, Toivonen L, Peltola V, Waris M, et al. Prospective clinical and serological follow-up in early childhood reveals a high rate of subclinical RSV infection and a relatively high reinfection rate within the first 3 years of life. *Epidemiol Infect.* (2016) 144:1622–33. doi: 10.1017/S0950268815003143
- Hall CB, Walsh EE, Long CE, Schnabel KC. Immunity to and frequency of reinfection with respiratory syncytial virus. J Infect Dis. (1991) 163:693–8. doi: 10.1093/infdis/163.4.693
- Ye, X, Iwuchukwu, OP, Avadhanula, V, Aideyan, LO, McBride, TJ, Ferlic-Stark, LL, Piedra, PA. Comparison of palivizumab-like antibody binding to different conformations of the RSV F protein in RSV-infected adult hematopoietic cell transplant recipients. *J Infect Dis.* (2018) 217:1247–56. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiy026
- Avadhanula V, Chemaly RF, Shah DP, Ghantoji SS, Azzi JM, Aideyan LO, et al. Infection with novel respiratory syncytial virus genotype Ontario (ON1) in adult hematopoietic cell transplant recipients, Texas, 2011–2013. J Infect Dis. (2015) 211:582–9. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiu473
- 31. Piedra PA, Wyde PR, Castleman WL, Ambrose MW, Jewell AM, Speelman DJ, et al. Enhanced pulmonary pathology associated with the use of formalin-inactivated respiratory syncytial virus vaccine in cotton rats is not a unique viral phenomenon. *Vaccine*. (1993) 11:1415–23. doi: 10.1016/0264-410X(93)90170-3
- 32. Piedra PA, Grace S, Jewell A, Spinelli S, Bunting D, Hogerman DA, et al. Purified fusion protein vaccine protects against lower respiratory tract illness during respiratory syncytial virus season in children with cystic fibrosis. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (1996) 15:23–31. doi: 10.1097/00006454-199601000-00006
- Piedra PA, Hause AM, Aideyan L. Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV): neutralizing antibody, a correlate of immune protection. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2016) 1442:77–91. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-3687-8_7

- 34. Goodwin E, Gilman MSA, Wrapp D, Chen M, Ngwuta JO, Moin SM, et al. Infants infected with respiratory syncytial virus generate potent neutralizing antibodies that lack somatic hypermutation. *Immunity*. (2018) 48:339–349.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.01.005
- 35. Magro M, Mas V, Chappell K, Vazquez M, Cano O, Luque D, et al. Neutralizing antibodies against the preactive form of respiratory syncytial virus fusion protein offer unique possibilities for clinical intervention. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2012) 109:3089–94. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1115941109
- 36. Ngwuta JO, Chen M, Modjarrad K, Joyce MG, Kanekiyo M, Kumar A, et al. Prefusion F-specific antibodies determine the magnitude of RSV neutralizing activity in human sera. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7:309ra162. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aac4241
- 37. Widjaja I, Wicht O, Luytjes W, Leenhouts K, Rottier PJM, van Kuppeveld FJM, et al. Characterization of epitope-specific anti-respiratory syncytial virus (anti-RSV) antibody responses after natural infection and after vaccination with formalin-inactivated RSV. J Virol. (2016) 90:5965–77. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00235-16
- Nichols WG, Gooley T, Boeckh M. Community-acquired respiratory syncytial virus and parainfluenza virus infections after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: the Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center experience. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*. (2001) 7(Suppl.):11S-15S. doi: 10.1053/bbmt.2001.v7.pm11777098
- Connor AL, Bevitt DJ, Toms GL. Comparison of human respiratory syncytial virus A2 and 8/60 fusion glycoprotein gene sequences and mapping of sub-group specific antibody epitopes. J Med Virol. (2001) 63:168–77. doi: 10.1002/1096-9071(20000201)63:2<168::AID-JMV1012>3.0.CO;2-U
- Phung E, Chang LA, Morabito KM, Kanekiyo M, Chen M, Nair D, et al. Epitope-Specific Serological Assays for RSV: Conformation Matters. *Vaccines*. (2019) 7:E23. doi: 10.3390/vaccines7010023

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Ye, Iwuchukwu, Avadhanula, Aideyan, McBride, Ferlic-Stark, Patel, Piedra, Shah, Chemaly and Piedra. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Immune-Modulation by the Human Respiratory Syncytial Virus: Focus on Dendritic Cells

Eduardo I. Tognarelli, Susan M. Bueno and Pablo A. González*

Millennium Institute on Immunology and Immunotherapy, Departamento de Genética Molecular y Microbiología, Facultad de Ciencias Biológicas, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

The human respiratory syncytial virus (hRSV) is the leading cause of pneumonia in infants and produces a significant burden in the elderly. It can also infect and produce disease in otherwise healthy adults and recurrently infect those previously exposed to the virus. Importantly, recurrent infections are not necessarily a consequence of antigenic variability, as described for other respiratory viruses, but most likely due to the capacity of this virus to interfere with the host's immune response and the establishment of a protective and long-lasting immunity. Although some genes encoded by hRSV are known to have a direct participation in immune evasion, it seems that repeated infection is mainly given by its capacity to modulate immune components in such a way to promote non-optimal antiviral responses in the host. Importantly, hRSV is known to interfere with dendritic cell (DC) function, which are key cells involved in establishing and regulating protective virusspecific immunity. Notably, hRSV infects DCs, alters their maturation, migration to lymph nodes and their capacity to activate virus-specific T cells, which likely impacts the host antiviral response against this virus. Here, we review and discuss the most important and recent findings related to DC modulation by hRSV, which might be at the basis of recurrent infections in previously infected individuals and hRSV-induced disease. A focus on the interaction between DCs and hRSV will likely contribute to the development of effective prophylactic and antiviral strategies against this virus.

Keywords: dendritic cells (DCs), DC maturation, antigen presentation, T cell activation, inflammation, recurrent infection, immune evasion, immunity

INTRODUCTION

The human respiratory syncytial virus (hRSV) is the leading cause of infant pneumonia worldwide and also elicits significant morbidity in the elderly and children (1–3). Importantly, infants with partial airway development due to premature birth, airway hyperreactivity, pulmonary hypertension, cystic fibrosis, Down syndrome, neurologic conditions, congenital heart disease, and those that are immunosuppressed are at increased risk of developing severe complications due to hRSV infection, which may even lead to death (4, 5). Nevertheless, individuals that are otherwise healthy, such as infants 2 months old or older can also be infected with hRSV and suffer respiratory illness leading to significant morbidity and eventually life-threatening disease, mainly because of complicated pneumonia (3, 6, 7). Noteworthy, at present there are no vaccines available against hRSV, yet many are under development and being assessed clinically, although few would be suitable for direct application on to newborns (8–11).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Steven Varga, The University of Iowa, United States

Reviewed by:

Jürgen Schwarze, University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom Marco De Giovanni, San Raffaele Scientific Institute (IRCCS), Italy

> *Correspondence: Pablo A. González pagonzalez@bio.puc.cl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Viral Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 14 December 2018 Accepted: 26 March 2019 Published: 15 April 2019

Citation:

Tognarelli El, Bueno SM and González PA (2019) Immune-Modulation by the Human Respiratory Syncytial Virus: Focus on Dendritic Cells. Front. Immunol. 10:810. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00810

47

An important feature of hRSV is that it is capable of reinfecting healthy children and adults that have been previously infected with this virus (12, 13). hRSV can be classified into two groups (A or B) that mainly differentiate from each other based on nucleotide variability in the attachment glycoprotein G (14). Thanks to affordable sequencing costs and high-throughput sequencing techniques, at present circulating hRSV isolates, can be further sub-classified into at least 14 A genotype groups and 23 B genotypes groups, based on similarities of the G protein gene (14). Furthermore, improved access to whole genome sequencing has opened the possibility for molecular classification and molecular epidemiology studies on hRSV (15). However, despite nucleotide and antigenic variability in the attachment G protein of hRSV, recurrent infections with the same virus can occur at a high frequency within healthy individuals. For instance, adults that had a previous natural infection with hRSV and were then exposed to a virus belonging to the same strain group subsequently manifested several reinfections. At 26 months, 73% of individuals were shown to have two or more re-infections, and 47% had three or more infections (16). Thus, other immune-evasion mechanisms distinct from antigenic variation are likely at the base of host reinfections with hRSV. Because relatively few hRSV-encoded genes are known to directly interfere with the host's antiviral response in a somewhat direct manner, one could suggest that the capacity of hRSV to repeatedly infect the host may derive from its ability to elicit an adaptive antiviral immune response that is non-optimal for the host. Indeed, hRSV has been exhaustively described to skew the host's antiviral immune response toward phenotypes that promote exacerbated lung inflammation in response to lung infection which favor the virus (17-20). Importantly, hRSV lung infection can induce macrophages and monocyte-derived macrophages in this tissue to upregulate the surface expression of PD-L1, which will likely have adverse effects over the function of T cells (21). Furthermore, hRSV can elicit human neonatal regulatory B cells to secrete IL-10, which may also result in nonoptimal antiviral T cell responses (22). However, an immune cell of choice targeted by hRSV seems to be dendritic cells (DCs), critical immune cells that initiate and regulate antigen-specific adaptive antiviral immunes responses. Indeed, the phenotype and function of these cells have been broadly reported to be modulated during hRSV infection, both in vitro and in vivo. Here, we review the latest studies that describe the interaction between hRSV and DCs and how the outcome affects relevant functions of these cells, which will ultimately impact the establishment of an effective antiviral response against hRSV in the host.

HRSV GENES AND THE VIRION STRUCTURE

hRSV is an enveloped, negative-sense, and single-stranded RNA virus that encodes 10 genes that are translated into 11 proteins (**Figure 1**) (23). Its replication and gene transcription occur in

the cytoplasm, thanks to the aid of an RNA-dependent RNApolymerase that is encoded within the viral genome by the L gene (24, 25). For its adequate function, the L protein requires the viral phosphoprotein P, which associates to this RNA polymerase (26, 27). Importantly, the replication of the viral genome and the transcription of its genes are modulated by the hRSV-encoded factors M2-1 and M2-2, which are generated from a common mRNA transcript by a ribosome shift that occurs on the mRNA after producing the M2-1 protein; initiation of M2-2 takes place at a start codon that overlaps with the M2-1 open reading frame (ORF) (23, 28). Noteworthy, in the virion and infected cells, the viral genome is covered by the nucleoprotein N, which is highly expressed within infected cells (29-31). Covering the nucleocapsid, yet beneath the envelope is the matrix protein M, which has been reported to travel to the nucleus of infected cells during the replication cycle of hRSV to inhibit the transcription of host genes and was recently described to interact with actin within infected cells, likely contributing to the transport of virion components into budding virions (30, 32, 33). Importantly, the virion envelope is covered on its surface by the attachment glycoprotein G, which may be dispensable for infection in some cells (34-36), the fusion F glycoprotein which is a type-I integral membrane protein that binds nucleolin for cell infection (37, 38), and the transmembrane protein SH, which forms a viroporin that transports cationic ions (39, 40). Importantly, to date, there is accumulating data that describes the molecular interactions between hRSV structural components, which has allowed establishing an overall comprehensive scenario of how the virus' components are coordinately assembled within infected cells to favor its replication and exit (30). Finally, the nonstructural (NS) genes NS1 and NS2 that are at the foremost 3' of the viral genome, are solely expressed within infected cells (not contained within the virion), and are known to negatively modulate the cellular antiviral interferon type-I response early after infection (Figure 1) (41, 42). Importantly, several host factors that modulate the replication cycle of hRSV, such as factors involved in the regulation of host transcription, innate immune responses, regulation of the cytoskeleton, membrane remodeling, and cellular trafficking have been identified and confirmed. These factors could eventually be overexpressed or silenced in host cells to reduce infection or hamper virus replication during infection to avoid pathology (43-45). Although many of the abovementioned hRSV proteins have been studied individually in vitro, only few of them have been assessed within immune cells or more specifically DCs, which if performed could eventually reveal relevant immune-evasion or immune-modulation properties for hRSV-encoded viral factors and help identify key viral and host factors that modulate the virus' replication cycle in these cells.

HRSV INFECTS DENDRITIC CELLS

Dendritic cells (DCs) are immune cells that play vital roles in initiating and regulating antigen-specific immune responses against foreign and self-antigens in the organism (46–48). DCs are strategically located both, at peripheral sites and internal

Abbreviations: hRSV, Human respiratory syncytial virus; DCs, dendritic cells; IL, interleukin, LNs, lymph nodes.



organs in such a way to sense and capture both, foreign and self-proteins. If the captured protein is immunogenic or associated with activating molecules, DCs undergo phenotypic transformations, and migrate to lymph nodes (LNs) to present protein-derived peptides to antigen-specific CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells in MHC-I and MHC-II molecules, respectively (49-52). Importantly, DCs express a battery of molecular sensors that detect pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), which leads in most cases to transcriptional and phenotypical changes in these cells in a process known as DC maturation (46, 53, 54). In turn, this process will lead to the activation and modulation of other immune cells that can help resolve infection (49, 50, 55, 56). If DCs capture virus components DCs, these cells will ideally encounter, activate and differentiate virus-specific CD4⁺ T cells into helper cells (Th) that support the production of antiviral antibodies by B cells, as well as promote the generation of cytotoxic T cells (CTLs) that eliminate virus-infected cells (57-59). Given the crucial role of DCs in initiating antigenspecific adaptive antiviral immune responses, mainly through the activation and differentiation of T cells, such as CD4⁺ T helper cells, numerous viruses and other pathogens have evolved molecular determinants and mechanisms to interfere with the function of DCs, in such a way to impair the establishment of an effective antiviral immune response (60–67).

Noteworthy, hRSV infects DCs in vitro and is known to interfere with their functions, even though DCs seem not to be an optimal viral substrate for this virus. Indeed, many in vitro studies report relatively low virus yields from hRSV-infected DCs, even at multiplicity of infection (MOI) values that generally lead to complete infection of epithelial cell cultures (MOI > 3) (66, 68– 71). This phenomenon is suggestive of abortive hRSV infection in a significant proportion of DCs (66, 68, 69, 71, 72). Thus, it seems that hRSV likely infects DCs as a strategy to target a pivotal immune component to indirectly favor its infectious process in the host, namely the infection of epithelial lung cells that yield high amounts of infective virions, which will expand the magnitude of the infection within the individual and promote its dissemination onto others. Interestingly, hRSV may reach other tissues besides the airways during infection, such as the central nervous system (CNS) (73, 74).

Although cell surface receptors that lead to hRSV cell infection have been identified, such as cellular heparan sulfate glycosaminoglycans that act as attachment factors for the hRSV G glycoprotein (75, 76), as well as nucleolin (37) and ICAM1 (77) as ligands for the F fusion protein, the exact mechanism by which hRSV enters DCs has not been corroborated and could eventually be different compared to that observed in other cells, such as epithelial cells (78). Noteworthy, opsonized hRSV particles (hRSV covered with virus-specific antibodies), which is known to hamper virus-infection of epithelial cells, were recently shown to be nevertheless capable of infecting DCs and interfere with their function, such as activating T cells (Figure 2). Importantly, this process was shown to be mediated by Fcy receptors (FcyRs) expressed on the surface of DCs (79). Because opsonized hRSV particles retained the same ability as free hRSV to interfere with DC activation of T cells, this process would favor impaired DC function in time despite the individual having anti-hRSV antibodies. Thus, hindered DC function by hRSV would ensue during each exposure to the virus, likely hampering the capacity of the host to mount an effective response against this virus.

HRSV-DENDRITIC CELL INTERACTION

Growing amounts of studies have focused on the relationship between hRSV and DCs increasing our knowledge on the outcome of this interaction. While some reports indicate that DCs infected with hRSV can sense viral components, which can lead to somewhat activating signaling pathways within these cells, other reports indicate that hRSV determinants interfere with antiviral signaling pathways within DCs, such as those related to interferon type-I responses, which is mediated by STAT-1 and STAT-2 (80). Importantly, the activation or inhibition of distinct intracellular signaling pathways within DCs by hRSV generally leads to DC outcomes that are overall poorly activating for T cells, with hRSV-infected DCs displaying poor- or only partial-maturation phenotypes both, in human and murine DCs (58, 59, 66, 68, 69, 72, 81).

NS1 and NS2 have been reported as two hRSV factors that are directly involved in inhibiting the maturation of human DCs and impairing the secretion of type-I IFNs by



FIGURE 2 | hRSV modulates dendritic cell function. (1) DC infection with hRSV can occur even in the presence of antibodies bound to the virus (opsonized virus), which enter DCs through Fcy receptors (FcyRs). (2) hRSV is capable of inhibiting antiviral signaling pathways mediated by STAT-1 and STAT-2, likely through its NS proteins. (3) The G glycoprotein signals through L-/DC-SIGN and phosphorylates ERK1/2, which translates into the upregulation of surface expression of CD40, OX40L, and PD-L2, whereas it downregulates IFN-a secretion. (4) The hRSV NS1 and NS2 proteins interfere with type-I interferon secretion. (5) hRSV induces the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines by DCs. Some mDC subsets (BDCA-1⁺ and BDCA-3⁺) secrete IL-10. (6) hRSV induces autophagy and is processed by the autophagosome leading to cytokine release and lung inflammation. (7) hRSV differentially modulates the expression of interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs), through IFN-dependent and independent pathways. (8) hRSV induces the activity of demethylases to modulate gene expression, such as IFN-y, preventing an antiviral response. (9) hRSV upregulates the expression of specific host microRNAs. (10) hRSV stimulates the expression of CD80 and CD86. Additionally, the virus upregulates PD-L1 and CD38 expression on the DC surface to modulate inflammation in the lungs.

myeloid DCs (mDCs), which can enhance the differentiation of CD4⁺ T cells into Th2-phenotypes and promote the generation of Th2-polarized anti-hRSV immune responses in the host. Consequently, these immune responses can be detrimental to the host, as they promote exacerbated inflammation in the lungs (80, 82). Another hRSV-encoded determinant that has been reported to alter the maturation of DCs directly is the surface glycoprotein G, which was described to trigger ERK1 and ERK2 phosphorylation within these cells, mainly through DC- and L-SIGN molecules on the DC surface. Neutralization of DC- and L-SIGN induced significant secretion of IFN- α , MIP- 1α , and MIP-1 β in plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) inoculated with hRSV, suggesting that this virus alters DC maturation through this signaling pathway thanks to this glycoprotein (Figure 2) (83). Such intracellular signaling events induced by the hRSV G glycoprotein in these cells may explain why mice immunized with a recombinant vaccinia virus (rVV) expressing hRSV G and subsequently challenged with hRSV displayed lung inflammatory DCs that expressed increased levels of the programmed cell death 1 ligand 2 (PD-L2), as well as low CD40 and OX40 ligand (OX40L), when compared to mice inoculated with a rVV expressing the hRSV F fusion protein, which were also challenged with hRSV. Noteworthy, the expression or not of these co-stimulatory molecules on the DC surface was shown to have profound effects over T cell activation, suggesting that the hRSV G glycoprotein has some important immune-modulatory properties, possibly mediated through DCs (84).

Other studies have found that hRSV infection promotes DC maturation and the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines by these cells, either directly or through the infection of other cells. For instance, primary human DCs characterized as mDC1, mDC2 or pDC were found to upregulate phenotypic markers associated to maturation after hRSV inoculation, which was dependent on divalent cations suggesting the participation of C-type lectin receptors in this process (71). Other human DC subsets studied with hRSV have been BDCA-1+ and BDCA-3⁺ mDCs obtained from peripheral blood. Similar to other DC subsets, these cells were susceptible to infection with hRSV, and while they expressed increased amounts of CD80 and CD86 in response to this virus as compared to non-infected cells, they also expressed the inhibitory costimulatory receptor PD-L1 and secreted IL-10. Furthermore, hRSV-infected BDCA-1⁺ mDCs produced pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, namely IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-12, MIP-1 α , and TNF- α and displayed a reduced capacity to stimulate T cells (85). Hence, hRSV can produce significant changes in DCs once infected, namely by modulating the expression of T cell-activating molecules on their surface. etSuch modulation was accompanied by the expression of inhibitory receptors and the secretion of numerous immunemodulatory cytokines, mostly inflammatory.

Another study reported that depending on the hRSV strain used; human DCs can respond differentially to this virus by secreting different kinds of type-I and type-III IFNs, and transcribe distinct interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs). Although both serotypes of hRSV A and B induced the expressing of IFN- β , IFN- α 1, IFN- α 8, and IFN- λ 1-3, only the serotype A2 induced IFN- $\alpha 2$, - $\alpha 14$, and - $\alpha 21$ (86). Type-I IFN-dependent activation of ISGs during an hRSV infection was shown to be modulated by the virus' ability to downregulate suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS1 and SOCS3) through its RSV G protein, in turn affecting IFN-B and ISG15 expression (87). Moreover, during hRSV infection, airway epithelial cells activate cyclin-dependent kinase 9 (CDK9) and associates with bromodomain 4 (BRD4) to activate IRF3-dependent IFN-stimulated genes, independent of IFN-signaling. Altogether, these processes contribute to increased RSV-induced airway inflammation and disease (88, 89). Although these findings may have important implications over disease severity and the outcome of the host's immune response, as well as the modulation of immunity, the implications of different hRSV serotypes in clinical infections and in vitro studies are somewhat seldom assessed.

IL-33 is a key cytokine involved in Th2 immune responses and inflammatory airway diseases and is usually secreted in high amounts by epithelial cells in this tissue (90, 91). Interestingly, hRSV-infected DCs within the lungs of hRSV-infected animals have been reported to have elevated levels of IL-33 mRNA and were suggested to be a relevant source of IL-33 in the lungs of hRSV-infected mice (92). Noteworthy, blocking TLR3 or TLR7 signaling with antagonists significantly reduced the levels of IL-33 mRNA produced by DCs, suggesting that IL-33 expression in these cells upon hRSV infection is TLR-dependent (92). Interestingly, a study on the identification of enzymes that alter the methylation status of the host DNA suggests that the profile of cytokines secreted by DCs in response to hRSV may be driven by specific demethylases induced by infection with this virus (Figure 2). In a study by Ptaschinski and colleagues, it was shown that hRSV upregulates the expression of Kdm5b/Jarid1b H3K4 demethylase in response to in vitro hRSV infection of DCs and that inhibiting this factor with siRNA led to a 10-fold increase in IFN-ß production, as well as other cytokines. Furthermore, mice that had Kdm5b specifically deleted in DCs showed higher production of IFN-y and reduced IL-4 and IL-5 secretion after hRSV infection, as well as lesser lung inflammatory mucus production in this tissue. Some of these findings were mirrored in human DCs treated with an inhibitor of KDM5B suggesting that this factor, which is induced by hRSV can directly inhibit the expression of type-I IFN and other cytokines within infected DCs, likely favoring hRSV replication and virus-induced lung disease (93). This finding calls for further studies assessing the roles of such DNA-modification enzymes in host cells and how they are modulated by hRSV infection, potentially unveiling novel antiviral strategies.

Studies that have assessed the role of autophagy in hRSVinfected DCs have found that this process is involved in driving the production of cytokines that lead to lung inflammation (Figure 2). Indeed, inhibition of autophagy with inhibitors such as siRNA, or experiments with Beclin^{+/-} mouse-derived DCs, or exposing Beclin^{+/-} mice to hRSV significantly reduced the production of cytokines by CD4⁺ T cells. In these cases, hRSVinfected lungs displayed increased amounts of mucus secretion, and cellular infiltrates, unveiling important roles for autophagy in DCs in response to hRSV infection (94, 95). Additionally, Beclin-1^{+/-} DCs were shown to express reduced amounts of MHC class II molecules on their surface and were less effective at stimulating the production of IFN-y and IL-17 in co-cultures with CD4⁺ T cells, as compared to controls; furthermore, they promoted the secretion of Th2-cytokines by these T cells. On the other hand, transfer of hRSV-infected Beclin- $1^{+/-}$ DCs into the airways of wild-type mice elicited lung disease accompanied with the production of significant amounts of Th2 cytokines upon later challenge with hRSV (94, 95). Notably, a recent study found that hRSV induces Sirtuin-1 (SIRT1) expression in DCs, which is a NAD(+)-dependent deacetylase that is associated with the induction of autophagy. In this study, it was found that SIRT1 exerts antiviral effects against hRSV in vitro and that using an inhibitor of this enzyme, siRNA o analyzing the specific effect of SIRT1 knockout in DCs not only attenuated autophagy in these cells, but these animals manifested exacerbated hRSVpathology (96).

When searching for particular markers induced by hRSV infection in DCs or cytokines elicited by hRSV-infected DCs, a recent study found that this virus induces CD38 expression in these cells, which is an ectoenzyme that catalyzes the synthesis of cyclic ADPR (cADPR). The expression of this enzyme was found to be dependent on hRSV-induced type-I IFN and inhibitors of CD38 significantly reduced the expression of type-I/III IFNs, suggesting that CD38 is regulated by- and influences IFNs in

DCs and thus, modulating this enzyme may be an intriguing target for improving the host's response to hRSV infection and pathology (97).

Despite poor, or relatively low expression of surface markers associated with the potential capacity of DCs to activate or promote the activation of T cells, a common feature that has been repeatedly observed in hRSV-infected DCs is the secretion of cytokines that may promote the differentiation of T cells into phenotypes that are not favorable for the effective resolution of infection, such as IL-6 and IL-10, which lead to Th2 CD4⁺ T cell responses (66, 81). Concomitantly, cytokines such as IL-12 that tend to elicit T cells with phenotypes that are commonly associated with efficient viral clearance, such as Th1 are usually not secreted by hRSV-infected DCs, (66, 68, 69, 98-101). Interestingly, a study reported that the secretion of different cytokine profiles by hRSV-infected human DCs depends on whether these cells originate from neonates or adults. For instance, DCs derived from blood cord samples secrete more TGF-B1 than DCs obtained from adult blood in response to hRSV, suggesting the existence of age-related phenotypes in DCs that may translate into differential responses to hRSV (further discussed below) (102).

Interestingly, a somewhat novel approach that is being undertaken to study the relationship between hRSV and DCs is analyzing the profile of miRNA expression in these cells (**Figure 2**). A recent study found that DC infection with hRSV elicited the upregulation of a specific miRNA, namely let-7b (103). This study is complemented by another report that found that hRSV infection induces significant expression of three miRNAs, namely hsa-miR-4448, hsa-miR-30a-5p, and hsa-miR-4634 in human DCs (104). Interestingly, this latter study also performed comparative analyses of miRNA profiles between DCs infected with hRSV and a related virus, namely the human metapneumovirus, and found that both viruses induced the expression of elevated levels of hsa-miR-4634. Elucidating the contribution of these miRNAs in DCs in response to hRSV remains to be determined.

DENDRITIC CELL PHENOTYPE AND MIGRATION UPON HRSV INFECTION IN VIVO

Although the study of DC infection with hRSV *in vitro* has provided valuable insights on the consequences that hRSV infection has over these cells, studying the effects of hRSV over DCs at the site of infection is likely key for understanding the contribution of this interaction to airway disease. They are also important as they help determine if the results obtained *in vitro* mirror what occurs in the respiratory tissue. Interestingly, several studies have addressed the question of how DCs respond to lung infection with hRSV, yet only a few have directly assessed whether the analyzed DCs are actually infected with hRSV, or if the observed effects are driven by viral antigen or other factors in the virus-infected environment. Evidence for the participation of hRSV-infected DCs in the exacerbated inflammatory response to hRSV has been reported by the instillation of hRSV-infected DCs

directly into the airways, which produced a pathological Th2type response in mice (105). Regarding how DCs are infected by hRSV in vivo, a study by Ugonna et al. explored in an in vitro setting whether cells present in the respiratory tissues may contribute to hRSV access to DCs. Interestingly, by analyzing the interrelationship between DCs and epithelial cells, and their reciprocal infection in co-culture transwell assays they found that macrophages on the apical surface of differentiated epithelia helped hRSV infect DCs in the basal chamber, suggesting that lung macrophages may have a potentially relevant, and previously unknown role in DC infection with hRSV (106). However, this remains to be assessed and demonstrated in in vivo settings. Furthermore, other reports have analyzed whether cells that are usually adjacent to DCs in the infected tissues may influence the outcome of DCs. Interestingly, one study found that hRSV-infected rat airway epithelial cells elicited DC activation, increasing MHC-II and CD86 surface expression, as well as enhancing T cell proliferation in mixed lymphocyte reactions. Noteworthy, this activation was dependent on thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP), a pleiotropic cytokine implicated in inflammatory diseases, which was secreted by hRSV-infected airway epithelial cells (Figure 3) (107, 108). On the other hand, airway DCs incubated with inflammatory mediators secreted by hRSV-infected lung epithelial cells was shown to induce their differentiation into functional DCs capable of activating T cells characterized by a type-I IFN antiviral response. Nevertheless, these DCs only had a partial mature phenotype, as they were unable to up-regulate CD80, CD83, CD86, and CCR7, and were unresponsive to TLR triggering, suggesting that the airway epithelium elicits DCs with a somewhat suppressive phenotype, even under inflammatory conditions induced in the lungs after infection with hRSV (109).

Given the existence of diverse types of DCs in the lung tissue, different studies have focused on analyzing the effects of hRSV over distinct subtypes of DCs in the respiratory tissue and their contribution to hRSV-associated lung pathology (110). Early studies on the dynamics of DCs in vivo in the lungs of hRSV-infected animals showed that pDCs accumulate in this tissue and secrete type-I IFNs, thus contributing to limit viral replication and the extension of pathology induced by hRSV infection (111, 112). Interestingly, other subsets besides pDCs, such as conventional DCs (cDCs) also accumulate in the lungs of hRSV-infected animals (113, 114). Noteworthy, together with increased accumulation of DCs in the lungs, an increase in the amount of these cells in the associated LNs also occurs, with DCs exhibiting varying phenotypes at this site (114–118). However, in most cases, it is unclear whether the analyzed DCs are infected by hRSV, or if their migration is influenced by other factors within the infected tissue, such as hRSV antigens or cytokines elicited in the infected tissue.

Importantly, differences in the phenotype of DCs obtained from the lungs of hRSV-infected animals have also been assessed based on the age of the individual, by analyzing these cells in the lungs of neonates and adults. One such study found that while CD103+ DCs dominated the response to hRSV in neonates, CD11b⁺ DCs were underrepresented in this group both, in number and function as compared to adult animals.

For instance, pDCs from neonate animals display limited type-I IFN responses during hRSV infection, as compared to adult pDCs (119). Noteworthy, the transfer of adult pDCs into neonate animals reduced the Th2-biased immunopathology produced by hRSV which was elicited after a subsequent challenge with hRSV, further evidencing significant differences between DCs obtained from these different age-groups in response to hRSV infection (120). In line, with this notion, another study found that neonatal CD11b⁺ mDCs expressed increased levels of the IL-4 receptor IL-4Ra, as compared to adult DCs and that specifically deleting this cytokine receptor from CD11b⁺ mDCs significantly decreased hRSV-induced immunopathophysiology. Concomitantly, overexpression of IL-4Ra on the surface of CD11b⁺ DCs of adult animals and transferring them into adult mice elicited hRSV-induced immunopathology. Finally, an important finding in this study was also the fact that increased IL-4Ra expression in DCs was associated with reduced maturation of DCs during hRSV infection (121). Interestingly, another study found that age-dependent DC responses against hRSV could be modified through the use of TLR agonists, such as agonists for TLR4 or TLR9 at the time of infection. By using such agonists, a significant change in the response of hRSVspecific CD8⁺ T cells could be observed, evidenced as a shift in the immunodominance of the antigens to which these T cells responded when activated by neonate DCs. The shifted response found resembled more that was observed in adults, which is associated with less severe disease (122). Overall, the findings outlined above suggest particular and distinctive features between lung DCs from neonates and adults after hRSV infection, at least in the mouse model, and could be considered in the future for potential therapeutic and prophylaxis approaches in neonates and adults.

Another area of intense research regarding the interaction between hRSV and DCs is the migration of these cells, as hRSV lung infection may result in alterations on the of migration pattern of different subsets of DCs from the lungs to LNs. Interestingly, an in vitro study found that human monocytederived DCs infected with hRSV failed to downregulate CCR1, CCR2, and CCR5 from their surface, which is required for DCs to effectively migration to LNs. Indeed, these infected DCs migrated significantly less in chemokine gradients in in vitro assays. Furthermore, hRSV-infected DCs failed to upregulate CCR7 on their surface, which is known to promote the migration of antigen-exposed DCs to LNs for presenting antigens to T cells (123). Nevertheless, these findings need to be corroborated in hRSV-infected individuals. Even though cDCs accumulate in the lungs of hRSV-infected animals as mentioned above (113, 114), it has been reported that monocyte DC precursors are depleted during infection from this tissue. Importantly, this phenomenon has been suggested to favor opportunistic lung infections by pathogens, such as bacteria (116). Notably, two major subsets of lung tissue cDCs have been shown to transport hRSV RNA to the LNs, namely CD103⁺/CD11b^{low}/CD11c⁺ and CD103⁻/CD11b^{high}/CD11c⁺ cDCs and present hRSV antigens to T cells on MHC-I and MHC-II molecules (118). Interestingly, a study that was mentioned in the section above which analyzed the effects of TLR agonists over DCs infected with hRSV showed



that the treatment with these molecules increased the numbers of CD11b⁺ and CD103⁺ DCs migrating from the lungs to draining LNs in neonates, likely supporting an improved antiviral response thanks to DCs with adult-like phenotypes migrating to this site for optimal T cell activation (122).

Although some studies suggest a positive role for lung cDCs during hRSV infection, other reports indicate that these cells may play detrimental functions for the host during hRSV infection (111, 113, 115). These effects have been evidenced, for example by blocking the chemokine CCL20 in hRSV-infected animals or knocking-out its associated receptor (CCR6), which significantly reduced the presence of cDCs in the airway tissue without affecting pDCs. These scenarios overall translated into improved outcomes of hRSV infection, suggesting that a balance between pDCs and cDCs in the lungs is likely associated with hRSVinduced pathology (114, 124). The finding supports this notion that depletion of pDCs from the lungs of animals significantly increases pulmonary disease after a challenge with hRSV (112). Concomitantly, activation of pDCs in the lungs of hRSV-infected animals was shown to limit the replication of hRSV in the airways and decrease hRSV-associated pathology (114). Thus, pDCs, as well as cDCs in the airways, are considered to interplay limiting hRSV replication and regulating inflammation (111, 112, 114). However, whether the findings described above in the mouse model hold in humans remains to be determined. Interestingly, some observations performed in animal models have been mirrored in patients, such as individuals experiencing hRSV

bronchiolitis having significantly higher numbers of cDCs than pDCs in the blood, suggesting an imbalance in the proportion of DC subtypes in children with bronchiolitis, as compared to healthy individuals after hRSV infection (125).

MOLECULAR MECHANISMS INVOLVED IN THE REDUCED CAPACITY OF HRSV-INFECTED DCS TO ACTIVATE T CELLS

A substantial effect of hRSV over DC function is its ability to reduce the capacity of hRSV-infected DCs to effectively activate CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells (Figure 3). Although this phenomenon has been reported in vitro and is not necessarily echoed in vivo in humans or animal models, a relationship between the in vitro observations and potential in vivo effects likely exists in terms of non-optimal T cell activation taking place, as a result of DC infection with hRSV (66, 68, 72, 126). Given that the reported phenotype of hRSV-infected DCs is generally associated to weak or incomplete maturation, it is somewhat expected that the activation of T cells by infected DCs will not be optimal and may lead to less potent, or inadequately differentiated or polarized hRSV-specific T cells. Interestingly, some studies have identified particular hRSV factors that are involved in hampering the capacity of DCs to activate T cells. For instance, a report published in 2008 that studied the interaction between DCs and hRSV suggested that hRSV factors driving poor T cell activation by hRSV-infected DCs were membrane-bound and interfered with the establishment of the immunological synapse (IS) between T cells and hRSV-infected DCs *in vitro*, which is essential for productive T cell activation (49, 66). This notion was reinforced by the fact that supernatants from hRSVinfected DCs enhanced the activation of T cells in the presence of plate-bound activating anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies (66). However, another study suggested that soluble factors secreted by hRSV-infected DCs were involved in impaired T cell activation by hRSV-infected DCs (68, 99). It is possible thus that both, membrane-bound and soluble factors secreted on to the extracellular media, or at the DC-T cell immunological synapse negatively modulate the activation of T cells, given that the is highly susceptible to modulation by factors of both natures (49).

A membrane-bound hRSV factor that has been reported to mediate negative effects over T cells is the hRSV F fusion protein, which expressed on the surface of epithelial cells was shown to inhibit T cell activation in vitro (127). However, the effect of the hRSV F protein has not been assessed in the context of DC-T cell interactions. Still, a study that assessed the role of the hRSV N nucleoprotein in mediating detrimental effects over the DC-T cell interaction found that this protein was present on the surface of hRSV-infected DCs and could directly mediate the inhibition of T cell activation (128). An interesting finding in this study was the fact that the hRSV N protein was shown to be able to interfere with the establishment of productive immunological synapses between T cells and cognate ligand mounted on lipid bilayers (128). Importantly, the identification of the hRSV N protein on the surface of infected cells had not been previously reported for this virus. Another hRSV factor known to hamper the capacity of DCs to activate T cells is NS1, which has been found to negatively modulate the capacity of human DCs to activate both, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells (129). Additionally, NS1 has also been reported to favor the differentiation of DCs toward phenotypes that promote the activation of CD4⁺ T cells that secrete IL-4, yet by a mechanism that is independent of its capacity to modulate IFN-I signaling (129).

Again, depending on whether DCs inoculated with hRSV originate from neonate or adult animals, a study by Thornburg et al. reported differences in the capacity of such hRSV-infected DCs to activate autologous T cells, with DCs from adult mice eliciting IFN- γ , TNF- α , and IL-12 secretion in co-cultures and neonate DCs (from blood cords) eliciting IL-1β, IL-4, IL-6, and IL-17 release (102). Furthermore, neonatal CD103⁺ DCs have been shown to promote the proliferation of T cells differently, as compared to adult CD103⁺ DCs, namely by eliciting the expansion of T cells against distinct antigens, defining different hRSV antigenic hierarchal profiles. The differences observed with DCs from animals of different ages in this and other studies, suggest that neonatal DCs overall display limited T cell costimulatory properties when compared to adult DCs, which could eventually relate to infants being more susceptible to severe disease than adults after hRSV infection (119). Another report found two phenotypically and functionally distinct populations of CD103⁺ DCs in the lungs of neonatal mice following hRSV infection, and that those that were CD103^{lo} were functionally limited at activating hRSV-specific T cells, while those that were $CD103^{hi}$ were capable of potently activating T cells (130). Whether such differences mirror the adaptive immune responses to hRSV *in vivo* in both adults and infant humans, remains to be determined.

Although several studies have reported impaired T cell activation by hRSV-infected DCs in vitro, in vivo studies reveal that hRSV-specific T cells are expanded in the organism after infection, yet they generally display pro-inflammatory phenotypes that likely contribute, or are the root of exacerbated lung damage during hRSV infection (131-133). Thus, reduced activation of T cells in vitro seems to translate in vivo as the activation of virus-specific T cells with detrimental phenotypes that respond to an hRSV lung infection. Yet, a role for hRSVinfected DCs has also been described in regulating or controlling pathogenic T cells during infection. Analyses of human and murine lung DCs report that these cells express PD-L1 and that this molecule is critical for suppressing the activity of inflammatory T cells (Figure 3). This finding suggests a vital role for the PD-L1/PD-1 axis in DC-T cell interactions for limiting the inflammatory response of T cells to hRSV (134). Nevertheless, the results of this study contrast with those of another report that found that hRSV inhibited the capacity of pDCs to produce a regulatory T cell response to inhaled antigens, eliciting an alteration in their immunotolerogenic potential (135).

Because of the key role of DCs in mounting and regulating immune responses to viruses such as hRSV, novel vaccines are needed to strategically seek and target these cells in a specific manner. A recently described approach that directly involves DCs consists on a DNA vaccine encoding the ectodomain of the hRSV F protein fused to a single-chain variable fragment F (scFv) that directly targets the viral antigen to DEC205 on the DC surface. This viral protein is then phagocytosis by DCs through this receptor and processed for antigen presentation to T cells. Interestingly, this strategy has been reported to elicit high levels of anti-hRSV antibodies with neutralizing capacity and induce F-specific CD8⁺ T cells that elicit a Th1 response in mice (136).

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Over the last years, new studies have revealed novel features of the DC-hRSV interaction, providing unanticipated outcomes in DCs after infection with this virus and helping identify different host and viral factors that participate in these processes. Because DCs play pivotal roles in initiating and regulating antigenspecific immune responses to infections, it seems relevant that particular focus should be given to these cells both, before and after interacting with hRSV. Indeed, these cells are needed for establishing an effective antiviral immune response in the lungs to promote viral clearance, while altogether avoid exacerbated inflammation of the airways. The fact that hRSV can repeatedly reinfect the host without the need of varying its antigens calls for special attention to the steps that determine the founding events of the host antiviral response, in such a way to train the immune system to withstand the negative immune-modulatory properties of this virus or counteract its potent Th-skewing effects. In both

cases, a protective immune response elicited against hRSV, such as one that could be induced by a vaccine, should be strong enough to bear subsequent viral reinfections that will push to revert this outcome and elicit scenarios that are favorable for the virus. Overall, significant efforts should be invested in identifying viral and host factors that hamper hRSV-infected DCs, or bystander DCs in the infected tissue from promoting effective antiviral immune responses against this virus. Importantly, promoting positive hRSV-DC interactions during re-infections, after virus-specific immune components have already been polarized toward detrimental phenotypes by hRSV may be more complicated than promoting an effective immune response before primary infection. Indeed, shifting a pre-existing antigenspecific immune profile has proven somewhat challenging in the context of other diseases, such as cancer and autoimmunity, although the antigens involved in these pathologies are seldom known, which is not the case for hRSV.

Finally, some questions that remain open regarding the roles of DCs in hRSV infection are: How can we enable hRSV-infected DCs to elicit effective antiviral immune responses during primary infection and re-infections against this virus? Are there hRSV factors, or hRSV-induced factors elicited during reinfections that revert, through their effects over DCs, otherwise effective primary

REFERENCES

- Shi T, Mcallister DA, O'brien KL, Simoes EAF, Madhi SA, Gessner BD, et al. Global, regional, and national disease burden estimates of acute lower respiratory infections due to respiratory syncytial virus in young children in 2015: a systematic review and modelling study. *Lancet.* (2017) 390:946–58. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30938-8
- Ackerson B, Tseng HF, Sy LS, Solano Z, Slezak J, Luo Y, et al. Severe morbidity and mortality associated with respiratory syncytial virus versus influenza infection in hospitalized older adults. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2018). doi: 10.1093/cid/ciy991
- Haber N. Respiratory syncytial virus infection in elderly adults. Med Mal Infect. (2018) 48:377–82. doi: 10.1016/j.medmal.2018.01.008
- Welliver RC. Review of epidemiology and clinical risk factors for severe respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infection. J Pediatr. (2003) 143:S112–7. doi: 10.1067/S0022-3476(03)00508-0
- Manzoni P, Figueras-Aloy J, Simoes EAF, Checchia PA, Fauroux B, Carbonell-Estrany X, et al. Defining the incidence and associated morbidity and mortality of severe respiratory syncytial virus infection among children with chronic diseases. *Infect Dis Ther.* (2017) 6:383–411. doi: 10.1007/s40121-017-0160-3
- 6. Walsh EE. Respiratory syncytial virus infection in adults. *Semin Respir Crit Care Med.* (2011) 32:423–32. doi: 10.1055/s-0031-12 83282
- Alimi Y, Lim WS, Lansbury L, Leonardi-Bee J, Nguyen-Van-Tam JS. Systematic review of respiratory viral pathogens identified in adults with community-acquired pneumonia in Europe. J Clin Virol. (2017) 95:26–35. doi: 10.1016/j.jcv.2017.07.019
- Bueno SM, Gonzalez PA, Cautivo KM, Mora JE, Leiva ED, Tobar HE, et al. Protective T cell immunity against respiratory syncytial virus is efficiently induced by recombinant BCG. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2008) 105:20822–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0806244105
- Cespedes PF, Rey-Jurado E, Espinoza JA, Rivera CA, Canedo-Marroquin G, Bueno SM, et al. A single, low dose of a cGMP recombinant BCG vaccine elicits protective T cell immunity against the human respiratory syncytial virus infection and prevents lung pathology in mice. *Vaccine*. (2017) 35:757–66. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.12.048
- 10. Rey-Jurado E, Soto J, Galvez N, Kalergis AM. A safe and efficient BCG vectored vaccine to prevent the disease caused by the human

anti-hRSV immune responses? Do the different circulating hRSV A and B genotypes affect the outcomes of hRSV-infected DCs equally? What are the roles of hRSV-infected and non-infected DCs in the lungs of hRSV-infected individuals? Do the findings reported in the mouse model hold in humans? Hopefully, answers to these and many other questions regarding DCs and their interaction with hRSV will provide novel insights that will help limit the burden and mortality associated with the epidemiology of this important respiratory virus.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PG and SB wrote, revised, and edited the article and figures. ET wrote and revised the article and drew the figures.

FUNDING

Authors are supported by FONDECYT (Fondo Nacional de Desarrollo Científico y Tecnológico) grants #1190864 and #1170964 from the Comisión Nacional de Investigación Científica y Tecnológica (CONICYT), INNOVA-CORFO grant 13CTI-21526 and the Millennium Institute on Immunology and Immunotherapy (MIII), grant #P09-016-F.

respiratory syncytial virus. Hum Vaccin Immunother. (2017) 13:2092-7. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2017.1334026

- Mazur NI, Higgins D, Nunes MC, Melero JA, Langedijk AC, Horsley N, et al. The respiratory syncytial virus vaccine landscape: lessons from the graveyard and promising candidates. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2018) 18:e295–311. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(18)30292-5
- Cane PA. Molecular epidemiology of respiratory syncytial virus. *Rev Med Virol.* (2001) 11:103–16. doi: 10.1002/rmv.305
- O'shea MK, Ryan MA, Hawksworth AW, Alsip BJ, Gray GC. Symptomatic respiratory syncytial virus infection in previously healthy young adults living in a crowded military environment. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2005) 41:311–7. doi: 10.1086/431591
- 14. Obodai E, Odoom JK, Adiku T, Goka B, Wolff T, Biere B, et al. The significance of human respiratory syncytial virus (HRSV) in children from Ghana with acute lower respiratory tract infection: a molecular epidemiological analysis, 2006 and 2013-2014. *PLoS ONE*. (2018) 13:e0203788. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0203788
- Pangesti KNA, Abd El Ghany M, Walsh MG, Kesson AM, Hill-Cawthorne GA. Molecular epidemiology of respiratory syncytial virus. *Rev Med Virol.* (2018) 28:e1968. doi: 10.1002/rmv.1968
- Hall CB, Walsh EE, Long CE, Schnabel KC. Immunity to and frequency of reinfection with respiratory syncytial virus. J Infect Dis. (1991) 163:693–8. doi: 10.1093/infdis/163.4.693
- Gonzalez PA, Bueno SM, Carreno LJ, Riedel CA, Kalergis AM. Respiratory syncytial virus infection and immunity. *Rev Med Virol.* (2012) 22:230–44. doi: 10.1002/rmv.1704
- Acosta PL, Caballero MT, Polack FP. Brief history and characterization of enhanced respiratory syncytial virus disease. *Clin Vaccine Immunol.* (2015) 23:189–95. doi: 10.1128/CVI.00609-15
- Bohmwald K, Espinoza JA, Rey-Jurado E, Gomez RS, Gonzalez PA, Bueno SM, et al. Human respiratory syncytial virus: infection and pathology. *Semin Respir Crit Care Med.* (2016) 37:522–37. doi: 10.1055/s-0036-1584799
- Restori KH, Srinivasa BT, Ward BJ, Fixman ED. Neonatal immunity, respiratory virus infections, and the development of asthma. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1249. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01249
- Staples KJ, Nicholas B, Mckendry RT, Spalluto CM, Wallington JC, Bragg CW, et al. Viral infection of human lung macrophages increases PDL1 expression via IFNβ. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0121527. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0121527

- Zhivaki D, Lemoine S, Lim A, Morva A, Vidalain PO, Schandene L, et al. Respiratory Syncytial virus infects regulatory B cells in human neonates via chemokine receptor CX3CR1 and promotes lung disease severity. *Immunity.* (2017) 46:301–14. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017. 01.010
- Lay MK, Gonzalez PA, Leon MA, Cespedes PF, Bueno SM, Riedel CA, et al. Advances in understanding respiratory syncytial virus infection in airway epithelial cells and consequential effects on the immune response. *Microbes Infect.* (2013) 15:230–42. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2012.11.012
- Braun MR, Deflube LR, Noton SL, Mawhorter ME, Tremaglio CZ, Fearns R. RNA elongation by respiratory syncytial virus polymerase is calibrated by conserved region V. *PLoS Pathog.* (2017) 13:e1006803. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006803
- Cox RM, Toots M, Yoon JJ, Sourimant J, Ludeke B, Fearns R, et al. Development of an allosteric inhibitor class blocking RNA elongation by the respiratory syncytial virus polymerase complex. J Biol Chem. (2018) 293:16761–77. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA118.004862
- Asenjo A, Villanueva N. Phosphorylation of the human respiratory syncytial virus P protein mediates M2-2 regulation of viral RNA synthesis, a process that involves two P proteins. *Virus Res.* (2016) 211:117–25. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2015.10.011
- Pereira N, Cardone C, Lassoued S, Galloux M, Fix J, Assrir N, et al. New insights into structural disorder in human respiratory syncytial virus phosphoprotein and implications for binding of protein partners. J Biol Chem. (2017) 292:2120–31. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116. 765958
- Selvaraj M, Yegambaram K, Todd E, Richard CA, Dods RL, Pangratiou GM, et al. The structure of the human respiratory syncytial virus M2-1 protein bound to the interaction domain of the phosphoprotein P defines the orientation of the complex. *MBio.* (2018) 9: e01554–18. doi: 10.1128/mBio.01554-18
- Bakker SE, Duquerroy S, Galloux M, Loney C, Conner E, Eleouet JF, et al. The respiratory syncytial virus nucleoprotein-RNA complex forms a left-handed helical nucleocapsid. J Gen Virol. (2013) 94:1734–8. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.053025-0
- Gonzalez PA, Carreno LJ, Bueno SM, Riedel CA, Kalergis AM. Understanding respiratory syncytial virus infection to improve treatment and immunity. *Curr Mol Med.* (2013) 13:1122–39. doi: 10.2174/1566524011313070007
- Galloux M, Gabiane G, Sourimant J, Richard CA, England P, Moudjou M, et al. Identification and characterization of the binding site of the respiratory syncytial virus phosphoprotein to RNA-free nucleoprotein. *J Virol.* (2015) 89:3484–96. doi: 10.1128/JVI.03666-14
- 32. Ward C, Maselko M, Lupfer C, Prescott M, Pastey MK. Interaction of the human respiratory syncytial virus matrix protein with cellular adaptor protein complex 3 plays a critical role in trafficking. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0184629. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0184629
- Shahriari S, Wei KJ, Ghildyal R. Respiratory syncytial virus matrix (M) protein interacts with actin *in vitro* and in cell culture. *Viruses.* (2018) 10:E535. doi: 10.3390/v10100535
- 34. Karron RA, Buonagurio DA, Georgiu AF, Whitehead SS, Adamus JE, Clements-Mann ML, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) SH and G proteins are not essential for viral replication *in vitro*: clinical evaluation and molecular characterization of a cold-passaged, attenuated RSV subgroup B mutant. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1997) 94:13961–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.25.13961
- Techaarpornkul S, Barretto N, Peeples ME. Functional analysis of recombinant respiratory syncytial virus deletion mutants lacking the small hydrophobic and/or attachment glycoprotein gene. *J Virol.* (2001) 75:6825– 34. doi: 10.1128/JVI.75.15.6825-6834.2001
- Fedechkin SO, George NL, Wolff JT, Kauvar LM, Dubois RM. Structures of respiratory syncytial virus G antigen bound to broadly neutralizing antibodies. *Sci Immunol.* (2018) 3:eaar3534. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aar3534
- Tayyari F, Marchant D, Moraes TJ, Duan W, Mastrangelo P, Hegele RG. Identification of nucleolin as a cellular receptor for human respiratory syncytial virus. *Nat Med.* (2011) 17:1132–5. doi: 10.1038/ nm.2444

- Bilawchuk LM, Griffiths CD, Jensen LD, Elawar F, Marchant DJ. The susceptibilities of respiratory syncytial virus to nucleolin receptor blocking and antibody neutralization are dependent upon the method of virus purification. *Viruses.* (2017) 9:207. doi: 10.3390/v9080207
- Gan SW, Ng L, Lin X, Gong X, Torres J. Structure and ion channel activity of the human respiratory syncytial virus (hRSV) small hydrophobic protein transmembrane domain. *Protein Sci.* (2008) 17:813–20. doi: 10.1110/ps.073366208
- 40. Araujo GC, Silva RH, Scott LP, Araujo AS, Souza FP, De Oliveira RJ. Structure and functional dynamics characterization of the ion channel of the human respiratory syncytial virus (hRSV) small hydrophobic protein (SH) transmembrane domain by combining molecular dynamics with excited normal modes. J Mol Model. (2016) 22:286. doi: 10.1007/s00894-016-3150-6
- Spann KM, Tran KC, Collins PL. Effects of nonstructural proteins NS1 and NS2 of human respiratory syncytial virus on interferon regulatory factor 3, NF-kappaB, and proinflammatory cytokines. *J Virol.* (2005) 79:5353–62. doi: 10.1128/JVI.79.9.5353-5362.2005
- Elliott J, Lynch OT, Suessmuth Y, Qian P, Boyd CR, Burrows JF, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus NS1 protein degrades STAT2 by using the elongin-Cullin E3 ligase. J Virol. (2007) 81:3428–36. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02303-06
- 43. Kipper S, Hamad S, Caly L, Avrahami D, Bacharach E, Jans DA, et al. New host factors important for respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) replication revealed by a novel microfluidics screen for interactors of matrix (M) protein. *Mol Cell Proteom.* (2015) 14:532–43. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M114.044107
- 44. Pokharel SM, Shil NK, Bose S. Autophagy, TGF-β, and SMAD-2/3 signaling regulates interferon-β response in respiratory syncytial virus infected macrophages. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol.* (2016) 6:174. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2016.00174
- Mehedi M, Collins PL, Buchholz UJ. A novel host factor for human respiratory syncytial virus. *Commun Integr Biol.* (2017) 10:e1319025. doi: 10.1080/19420889.2017.1319025
- 46. Merad M, Sathe P, Helft J, Miller J, Mortha A. The dendritic cell lineage: ontogeny and function of dendritic cells and their subsets in the steady state and the inflamed setting. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2013) 31:563–604. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-074950
- Said A, Weindl G. Regulation of dendritic cell function in inflammation. J Immunol Res. (2015) 2015:743169. doi: 10.1155/2015/743169
- Audiger C, Rahman MJ, Yun TJ, Tarbell KV, Lesage S. The importance of dendritic cells in maintaining immune tolerance. J Immunol. (2017) 198:2223–31. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1601629
- Gonzalez PA, Carreno LJ, Figueroa CA, Kalergis AM. Modulation of immunological synapse by membrane-bound and soluble ligands. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* (2007) 18:19–31. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2007.01.003
- Carreno LJ, Gonzalez PA, Bueno SM, Riedel CA, Kalergis AM. Modulation of the dendritic cell-T-cell synapse to promote pathogen immunity and prevent autoimmunity. *Immunotherapy*. (2011) 3:6–11. doi: 10.2217/imt.11.38
- Alloatti A, Kotsias F, Magalhaes JG, Amigorena S. Dendritic cell maturation and cross-presentation: timing matters! *Immunol Rev.* (2016) 272:97–108. doi: 10.1111/imr.12432
- 52. Worbs T, Hammerschmidt SI, Forster R. Dendritic cell migration in health and disease. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2017) 17:30–48. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.116
- Arnold-Schrauf C, Berod L, Sparwasser T. Dendritic cell specific targeting of MyD88 signalling pathways *in vivo*. *Eur J Immunol.* (2015) 45:32–9. doi: 10.1002/eji.201444747
- Macri C, Pang ES, Patton T, O'keeffe M. Dendritic cell subsets. Semin Cell Dev Biol. (2018) 84:11–21. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2017.12.009
- Banchereau J, Briere F, Caux C, Davoust J, Lebecque S, Liu YJ, et al. Immunobiology of dendritic cells. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2000) 18:767–811. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.18.1.767
- Peron G, De Lima Thomaz L, Camargo Da Rosa L, Thome R, Cardoso Verinaud LM. Modulation of dendritic cell by pathogen antigens: where do we stand? *Immunol Lett.* (2018) 196:91–102. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2018.02.001
- Banchereau J, Steinman RM. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. Nature. (1998) 392:245–52. doi: 10.1038/32588
- Steinman RM, Hemmi H. Dendritic cells: translating innate to adaptive immunity. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol.* (2006) 311:17–58. doi: 10.1007/3-540-32636-7_2

- Kawai T, Akira S. Antiviral signaling through pattern recognition receptors. J Biochem. (2007) 141:137–45. doi: 10.1093/jb/mvm032
- Morrow G, Slobedman B, Cunningham AL, Abendroth A. Varicellazoster virus productively infects mature dendritic cells and alters their immune function. J Virol. (2003) 77:4950–9. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.8.495 0-4959.2003
- Tobar JA, Gonzalez PA, Kalergis AM. Salmonella escape from antigen presentation can be overcome by targeting bacteria to Fc gamma receptors on dendritic cells. *J Immunol.* (2004) 173:4058–65. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.173.6.4058
- Majumder B, Janket ML, Schafer EA, Schaubert K, Huang XL, Kan-Mitchell J, et al. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr impairs dendritic cell maturation and T-cell activation: implications for viral immune escape. J Virol. (2005) 79:7990–8003. doi: 10.1128/JVI.79.13.7990-8003.2005
- Raftery MJ, Winau F, Kaufmann SH, Schaible UE, Schonrich G. CD1 antigen presentation by human dendritic cells as a target for herpes simplex virus immune evasion. *J Immunol.* (2006) 177:6207–14. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.9.6207
- 64. Tobar JA, Carreno LJ, Bueno SM, Gonzalez PA, Mora JE, Quezada SA, et al. Virulent Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium evades adaptive immunity by preventing dendritic cells from activating T cells. *Infect Immun.* (2006) 74:6438–48. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00063-06
- Bueno SM, Gonzalez PA, Carreno LJ, Tobar JA, Mora GC, Pereda CJ, et al. The capacity of Salmonella to survive inside dendritic cells and prevent antigen presentation to T cells is host specific. *Immunology*. (2008) 124:522– 33. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2008.02805.x
- 66. Gonzalez PA, Prado CE, Leiva ED, Carreno LJ, Bueno SM, Riedel CA, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus impairs T cell activation by preventing synapse assembly with dendritic cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2008) 105:14999– 5004. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0802555105
- Retamal-Diaz A, Weiss KA, Tognarelli EI, Freire M, Bueno SM, Herold BC, et al. US6 gene deletion in herpes simplex virus Type 2 enhances dendritic cell function and T cell activation. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1523. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01523
- De Graaff PM, De Jong EC, Van Capel TM, Van Dijk ME, Roholl PJ, Boes J, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus infection of monocyte-derived dendritic cells decreases their capacity to activate CD4 T cells. J Immunol. (2005) 175:5904–11. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.9.5904
- 69. Guerrero-Plata A, Casola A, Suarez G, Yu X, Spetch L, Peeples ME, et al. Differential response of dendritic cells to human metapneumovirus and respiratory syncytial virus. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2006) 34:320–9. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2005-0287OC
- Jones A, Morton I, Hobson L, Evans GS, Everard ML. Differentiation and immune function of human dendritic cells following infection by respiratory syncytial virus. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2006) 143:513–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2005.03004.x
- Johnson TR, Johnson CN, Corbett KS, Edwards GC, Graham BS. Primary human mDC1, mDC2, and pDC dendritic cells are differentially infected and activated by respiratory syncytial virus. *PLoS ONE.* (2011) 6:e16458. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016458
- 72. Le Nouen C, Munir S, Losq S, Winter CC, Mccarty T, Stephany DA, et al. Infection and maturation of monocyte-derived human dendritic cells by human respiratory syncytial virus, human metapneumovirus, and human parainfluenza virus type 3. *Virology*. (2009) 385:169–82. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2008.11.043
- Espinoza JA, Bohmwald K, Cespedes PF, Gomez RS, Riquelme SA, Cortes CM, et al. Impaired learning resulting from respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2013) 110:9112–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1217508110
- Bohmwald K, Espinoza JA, Gonzalez PA, Bueno SM, Riedel CA, Kalergis AM. Central nervous system alterations caused by infection with the human respiratory syncytial virus. *Rev Med Virol.* (2014) 24:407–19. doi: 10.1002/rmv.1813
- 75. Feldman SA, Hendry RM, Beeler JA. Identification of a linear heparin binding domain for human respiratory syncytial virus attachment glycoprotein G. *J Virol.* (1999) 73:6610–7.
- 76. Hallak LK, Collins PL, Knudson W, Peeples ME. Iduronic acidcontaining glycosaminoglycans on target cells are required for efficient

respiratory syncytial virus infection. Virology. (2000) 271:264–75. doi: 10.1006/viro.2000.0293

- Behera AK, Matsuse H, Kumar M, Kong X, Lockey RF, Mohapatra SS. Blocking intercellular adhesion molecule-1 on human epithelial cells decreases respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2001) 280:188–95. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.2000.4093
- Mclellan JS, Ray WC, Peeples ME. Structure and function of respiratory syncytial virus surface glycoproteins. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol.* (2013) 372:83–104. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-38919-1_4
- Gomez RS, Ramirez BA, Cespedes PF, Cautivo KM, Riquelme SA, Prado CE, et al. Contribution of Fcγ receptors to human respiratory syncytial virus pathogenesis and the impairment of T-cell activation by dendritic cells. *Immunology*. (2016) 147:55–72. doi: 10.1111/imm.12541
- Jie Z, Dinwiddie DL, Senft AP, Harrod KS. Regulation of STAT signaling in mouse bone marrow derived dendritic cells by respiratory syncytial virus. *Virus Res.* (2011) 156:127–33. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2011.01.007
- Boogaard I, Van Oosten M, Van Rijt LS, Muskens F, Kimman TG, Lambrecht BN, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus differentially activates murine myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Immunology*. (2007) 122:65–72. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2007.02613.x
- Munir S, Le Nouen C, Luongo C, Buchholz UJ, Collins PL, Bukreyev A. Nonstructural proteins 1 and 2 of respiratory syncytial virus suppress maturation of human dendritic cells. J Virol. (2008) 82:8780–96. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00630-08
- Johnson TR, Mclellan JS, Graham BS. Respiratory syncytial virus glycoprotein G interacts with DC-SIGN and L-SIGN to activate ERK1 and ERK2. J Virol. (2012) 86:1339–47. doi: 10.1128/JVI.06096-11
- Wythe SE, Dodd JS, Openshaw PJ, Schwarze J. OX40 ligand and programmed cell death 1 ligand 2 expression on inflammatory dendritic cells regulates CD4 T cell cytokine production in the lung during viral disease. J Immunol. (2012) 188:1647–55. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1103001
- Gupta MR, Kolli D, Garofalo RP. Differential response of BDCA-1+ and BDCA-3+ myeloid dendritic cells to respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Respir Res.* (2013) 14:71. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-14-71
- Hillyer P, Mane VP, Chen A, Dos Santos MB, Schramm LM, Shepard RE, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus infection induces a subset of types I and III interferons in human dendritic cells. *Virology*. (2017) 504:63–72. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2017.01.017
- Moore EC, Barber J, Tripp RA. Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) attachment and nonstructural proteins modify the type I interferon response associated with suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) proteins and IFN-stimulated gene-15 (ISG15). *Virol J.* (2008) 5:116. doi: 10.1186/1743-422X-5-116
- Tian B, Zhao Y, Kalita M, Edeh CB, Paessler S, Casola A, et al. CDK9dependent transcriptional elongation in the innate interferon-stimulated gene response to respiratory syncytial virus infection in airway epithelial cells. J Virol. (2013) 87:7075–92. doi: 10.1128/JVI.03399-12
- Tian B, Yang J, Zhao Y, Ivanciuc T, Sun H, Garofalo RP, et al. BRD4 Couples NF-kappaB/RelA with airway inflammation and the IRF-RIG-I amplification loop in respiratory syncytial virus infection. J Virol. (2017) 91:e00007–17. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00007-17
- Byers DE, Alexander-Brett J, Patel AC, Agapov E, Dang-Vu G, Jin X, et al. Long-term IL-33-producing epithelial progenitor cells in chronic obstructive lung disease. J Clin Invest. (2013) 123:3967–82. doi: 10.1172/JCI65570
- Hardman CS, Panova V, Mckenzie AN. IL-33 citrine reporter mice reveal the temporal and spatial expression of IL-33 during allergic lung inflammation. *Eur J Immunol.* (2013) 43:488–98. doi: 10.1002/eji.201242863
- Qi F, Wang D, Liu J, Zeng S, Xu L, Hu H, et al. Respiratory macrophages and dendritic cells mediate respiratory syncytial virus-induced IL-33 production in TLR3- or TLR7-dependent manner. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2015) 29:408–15. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2015.10.022
- Ptaschinski C, Mukherjee S, Moore ML, Albert M, Helin K, Kunkel SL, et al. RSV-induced H3K4 demethylase KDM5B leads to regulation of dendritic cell-derived innate cytokines and exacerbates pathogenesis *in vivo*. *PLoS Pathog.* (2015) 11:e1004978. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004978
- Morris S, Swanson MS, Lieberman A, Reed M, Yue Z, Lindell DM, et al. Autophagy-mediated dendritic cell activation is essential for innate cytokine production and APC function with respiratory syncytial virus responses. J Immunol. (2011) 187:3953–61. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1100524

- Reed M, Morris SH, Jang S, Mukherjee S, Yue Z, Lukacs NW. Autophagyinducing protein beclin-1 in dendritic cells regulates CD4 T cell responses and disease severity during respiratory syncytial virus infection. *J Immunol.* (2013) 191:2526–37. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300477
- Owczarczyk AB, Schaller MA, Reed M, Rasky AJ, Lombard DB, Lukacs NW. Sirtuin 1 regulates dendritic cell activation and autophagy during respiratory syncytial virus-induced immune responses. *J Immunol.* (2015) 195:1637–46. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1500326
- Schiavoni I, Scagnolari C, Horenstein AL, Leone P, Pierangeli A, Malavasi F, et al. CD38 modulates respiratory syncytial virus-driven proinflammatory processes in human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Immunology*. (2018) 154:122–31. doi: 10.1111/imm.12873
- Bartz H, Turkel O, Hoffjan S, Rothoeft T, Gonschorek A, Schauer U. Respiratory syncytial virus decreases the capacity of myeloid dendritic cells to induce interferon-gamma in naive T cells. *Immunology*. (2003) 109:49–57. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2567.2003.01629.x
- 99. Chi B, Dickensheets HL, Spann KM, Alston MA, Luongo C, Dumoutier L, et al. Alpha and lambda interferon together mediate suppression of CD4 T cells induced by respiratory syncytial virus. J Virol. (2006) 80:5032–40. doi: 10.1128/JVI.80.10.5032-5040.2006
- Vallbracht S, Unsold H, Ehl S. Functional impairment of cytotoxic T cells in the lung airways following respiratory virus infections. *Eur J Immunol.* (2006) 36:1434–42. doi: 10.1002/eji.200535642
- Bueno SM, Gonzalez PA, Pacheco R, Leiva ED, Cautivo KM, Tobar HE, et al. Host immunity during RSV pathogenesis. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2008) 8:1320–9. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2008.03.012
- 102. Thornburg NJ, Shepherd B, Crowe JEJr. Transforming growth factor beta is a major regulator of human neonatal immune responses following respiratory syncytial virus infection. J Virol. (2010) 84:12895–902. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01273-10
- Thornburg NJ, Hayward SL, Crowe JEJr. Respiratory syncytial virus regulates human microRNAs by using mechanisms involving beta interferon and NF-kappaB. *MBio*. (2012) 3:e00220-12. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00220-12
- 104. Banos-Lara MDR, Zabaleta J, Garai J, Baddoo M, Guerrero-Plata A. Comparative analysis of miRNA profile in human dendritic cells infected with respiratory syncytial virus and human metapneumovirus. *BMC Res Notes.* (2018) 11:432. doi: 10.1186/s13104-018-3541-0
- Jang S, Smit J, Kallal LE, Lukacs NW. Respiratory syncytial virus infection modifies and accelerates pulmonary disease via DC activation and migration. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2013) 94:5–15. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0412195
- 106. Ugonna K, Bingle CD, Plant K, Wilson K, Everard ML. Macrophages are required for dendritic cell uptake of respiratory syncytial virus from an infected epithelium. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e91855. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0091855
- 107. Soumelis V, Reche PA, Kanzler H, Yuan W, Edward G, Homey B, et al. Human epithelial cells trigger dendritic cell mediated allergic inflammation by producing TSLP. *Nat Immunol.* (2002) 3:673–80. doi: 10.1038/ni805
- Qiao J, Li A, Jin X. TSLP from RSV-stimulated rat airway epithelial cells activates myeloid dendritic cells. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2011) 89:231–8. doi: 10.1038/icb.2010.85
- 109. Sluijs KF, Obregon C, Geiser TK, Muhlemann K, Nicod LP. Monocyte differentiation toward regulatory dendritic cells is not affected by respiratory syncytial virus-induced inflammatory mediators. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2011) 44:655–64. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2010-0136OC
- 110. Kim TH, Lee HK. Differential roles of lung dendritic cell subsets against respiratory virus infection. *Immune Netw.* (2014) 14:128–37. doi: 10.4110/in.2014.14.3.128
- 111. Smit JJ, Rudd BD, Lukacs NW. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells inhibit pulmonary immunopathology and promote clearance of respiratory syncytial virus. J Exp Med. (2006) 203:1153–9. doi: 10.1084/jem.20052359
- 112. Wang H, Peters N, Schwarze J. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells limit viral replication, pulmonary inflammation, and airway hyperresponsiveness in respiratory syncytial virus infection. *J Immunol.* (2006) 177:6263–70. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.9.6263
- Beyer M, Bartz H, Horner K, Doths S, Koerner-Rettberg C, Schwarze J. Sustained increases in numbers of pulmonary dendritic cells after respiratory syncytial virus infection. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2004) 113:127–33. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2003.10.057

- 114. Smit JJ, Lindell DM, Boon L, Kool M, Lambrecht BN, Lukacs NW. The balance between plasmacytoid DC versus conventional DC determines pulmonary immunity to virus infections. *PLoS ONE.* (2008) 3:e1720. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001720
- 115. Gill MA, Palucka AK, Barton T, Ghaffar F, Jafri H, Banchereau J, et al. Mobilization of plasmacytoid and myeloid dendritic cells to mucosal sites in children with respiratory syncytial virus and other viral respiratory infections. J Infect Dis. (2005) 1991:1105–15 doi: 10.1086/ 428589
- 116. Wang H, Peters N, Laza-Stanca V, Nawroly N, Johnston SL, Schwarze J. Local CD11c+ MHC class II- precursors generate lung dendritic cells during respiratory viral infection, but are depleted in the process. *J Immunol.* (2006) 177:2536–42. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.4.2536
- Guerrero-Plata A, Kolli D, Hong C, Casola A, Garofalo RP. Subversion of pulmonary dendritic cell function by paramyxovirus infections. *J Immunol.* (2009) 182:3072–83. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0802262
- Lukens MV, Kruijsen D, Coenjaerts FE, Kimpen JL, Van Bleek GM. Respiratory syncytial virus-induced activation and migration of respiratory dendritic cells and subsequent antigen presentation in the lung-draining lymph node. J Virol. (2009) 83:7235–43. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00452-09
- 119. Ruckwardt TJ, Malloy AM, Morabito KM, Graham BS. Quantitative and qualitative deficits in neonatal lung-migratory dendritic cells impact the generation of the CD8+ T cell response. *PLoS Pathog.* (2014) 10:e1003934. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003934
- 120. Cormier SA, Shrestha B, Saravia J, Lee GI, Shen L, Devincenzo JP, et al. Limited type I interferons and plasmacytoid dendritic cells during neonatal respiratory syncytial virus infection permit immunopathogenesis upon reinfection. J Virol. (2014) 88:9350–60. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00818-14
- 121. Shrestha B, You D, Saravia J, Siefker DT, Jaligama S, Lee GI, et al. IL-4R α on dendritic cells in neonates and Th2 immunopathology in respiratory syncytial virus infection. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2017) 102:153–61. doi: 10.1189/jlb.4A1216-536R
- 122. Malloy AM, Ruckwardt TJ, Morabito KM, Lau-Kilby AW, Graham BS. Pulmonary dendritic cell subsets shape the respiratory syncytial virusspecific CD8+ T cell immunodominance hierarchy in neonates. *J Immunol.* (2017) 198:394–403. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1600486
- 123. Le Nouen C, Hillyer P, Winter CC, Mccarty T, Rabin RL, Collins PL, et al. Low CCR7-mediated migration of human monocyte derived dendritic cells in response to human respiratory syncytial virus and human metapneumovirus. *PLoS Pathog.* (2011) 7:e1002105. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.10 02105
- Kallal LE, Schaller MA, Lindell DM, Lira SA, Lukacs NW. CCL20/CCR6 blockade enhances immunity to RSV by impairing recruitment of DC. *Eur J Immunol.* (2010) 40:1042–52. doi: 10.1002/eji.200939778
- 125. Weng K, Zhang J, Mei X, Wu A, Zhang B, Cai M, et al. Lower number of plasmacytoid dendritic cells in peripheral blood of children with bronchiolitis following respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Influen Other Respir Virus*. (2014) 8:469–73. doi: 10.1111/irv.12242
- 126. Rothoeft T, Fischer K, Zawatzki S, Schulz V, Schauer U, Korner Rettberg C. Differential response of human naive and memory/effector T cells to dendritic cells infected by respiratory syncytial virus. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2007) 150:263–73. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2007.03497.x
- 127. Schlender J, Walliser G, Fricke J, Conzelmann K-K. Respiratory syncytial virus fusion protein mediates inhibition of mitogeninduced T-cell proliferation by contact. J Virol. (2002) 76:1163–70. doi: 10.1128/JVI.76.3.1163-1170.2002
- 128. Cespedes PF, Bueno SM, Ramirez BA, Gomez RS, Riquelme SA, Palavecino CE, et al. Surface expression of the hRSV nucleoprotein impairs immunological synapse formation with T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2014) 111:E3214–3223. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1400760111
- 129. Munir S, Hillyer P, Le Nouen C, Buchholz UJ, Rabin RL, Collins PL, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus interferon antagonist NS1 protein suppresses and skews the human T lymphocyte response. *PLoS Pathog.* (2011) 7:e1001336. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1001336
- Ruckwardt TJ, Morabito KM, Bar-Haim E, Nair D, Graham BS. Neonatal mice possess two phenotypically and functionally distinct lung-migratory CD103(+) dendritic cell populations following respiratory infection. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2018) 11:186–98. doi: 10.1038/mi.2017.28

- Christiaansen AF, Knudson CJ, Weiss KA, Varga SM. The CD4T cell response to respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Immunol Res.* (2014) 59:109–17. doi: 10.1007/s12026-014-8540-1
- 132. Wang J, Kong L, Luo Q, Li B, Wu J, Liu B, et al. Dual effects of respiratory syncytial virus infections on airway inflammation by regulation of Th17/Treg responses in ovalbumin-challenged mice. *Inflammation*. (2014) 37:1984– 2005. doi: 10.1007/s10753-014-9931-0
- Miyauchi K. Helper T cell responses to respiratory viruses in the lung: development, virus suppression, and pathogenesis. *Viral Immunol.* (2017) 30:421–30. doi: 10.1089/vim.2017.0018
- 134. Yao S, Jiang L, Moser EK, Jewett LB, Wright J, Du J, et al. Control of pathogenic effector T-cell activities *in situ* by PD-L1 expression on respiratory inflammatory dendritic cells during respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2015) 8:746–59. doi: 10.1038/mi.2014.106
- 135. Tsuchida T, Matsuse H, Fukahori S, Kawano T, Tomari S, Fukushima C, et al. Effect of respiratory syncytial virus infection on plasmacytoid dendritic cell regulation of allergic airway inflammation. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol.* (2012) 157:21–30. doi: 10.1159/000324676
- 136. Hua Y, Jiao YY, Ma Y, Peng XL, Fu YH, Zhang XJ, et al. Enhanced humoral and CD8+ T cell immunity in mice vaccinated by DNA vaccine against human respiratory syncytial virus through targeting the encoded F protein to dendritic cells. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2017) 46:62–9. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2017. 02.023

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Tognarelli, Bueno and González. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





LAIR-1 Limits Neutrophilic Airway Inflammation

Kuldeep Kumawat^{1,2†}, Ruben J. Geerdink^{1,2†}, Marije P. Hennus³, Mojtaba Abdul Roda⁴, Ingrid van Ark⁴, Thea Leusink-Muis⁴, Gert Folkerts⁴, Anita van Oort-Jansen¹, Alexandra Mazharian⁵, Steve P. Watson^{5,6}, Frank E. Coenjaerts⁷, Louis Bont^{1,8*} and Linde Meyaard^{1,2*}

¹ Laboratory for Translational Immunology, Department of Immunology, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, Netherlands, ² Oncode Institute, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, Netherlands, ³ Department of Pediatric Intensive Care, Wilhelmina Children's Hospital, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, Netherlands, ⁴ Division of Pharmacology, Faculty of Science, Utrecht Institute for Pharmaceutical Sciences, Utrecht University, Utrecht, Netherlands, ⁵ Centre for Cardiovascular Sciences, Institute for Biomedical Research, College of Medical and Dental Sciences, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, United Kingdom, ⁶ Centre of Membrane Proteins and Receptors, Universities of Birmingham and Nottingham, Birmingham, United Kingdom, ⁷ Department of Medical Microbiology, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, Netherlands, ⁸ Department of Pediatrics, Wilhelmina Children's Hospital, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, Netherlands

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Steven Varga, The University of Iowa, United States

Reviewed by:

Kartika Padhan, National Institutes of Health (NIH), United States Giulia Fabozzi, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID), United States

*Correspondence:

Louis Bont I.bont@umcutrecht.nl Linde Meyaard I.meyaard@umcutrecht.nl

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Viral Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 02 January 2019 Accepted: 01 April 2019 Published: 26 April 2019

Citation:

Kumawat K, Geerdink RJ, Hennus MP, Roda MA, van Ark I, Leusink-Muis T, Folkerts G, van Oort-Jansen A, Mazharian A, Watson SP, Coenjaerts FE, Bont L and Meyaard L (2019) LAIR-1 Limits Neutrophilic Airway Inflammation. Front. Immunol. 10:842. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00842

Neutrophils are crucial to antimicrobial defense, but excessive neutrophilic inflammation induces immune pathology. The mechanisms by which neutrophils are regulated to prevent injury and preserve tissue homeostasis are not completely understood. We recently identified the collagen receptor leukocyte-associated immunoglobulin-like receptor (LAIR)-1 as a functional inhibitory receptor on airway-infiltrated neutrophils in viral bronchiolitis patients. In the current study, we sought to examine the role of LAIR-1 in regulating airway neutrophil responses in vivo. LAIR-1-deficient (Lair $1^{-/-}$) and wild-type mice were infected with respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) or exposed to cigarette smoke as commonly accepted models of neutrophil-driven lung inflammation. Mice were monitored for cellular airway influx, weight loss, cytokine production, and viral loads. After RSV infection, Lair1-/- mice show enhanced airway inflammation accompanied by increased neutrophil and lymphocyte recruitment to the airways, without effects on viral loads or cytokine production. LAIR-1-Fc administration in wild type mice, which blocks ligand induced LAIR-1 activation, augmented airway inflammation recapitulating the observations in Lair $1^{-/-}$ mice. Likewise, in the smoke-exposure model, LAIR-1 deficiency enhanced neutrophil recruitment to the airways and worsened disease severity. Intranasal CXCL1-mediated neutrophil recruitment to the airways was enhanced in mice lacking LAIR-1, supporting an intrinsic function of LAIR-1 on neutrophils. In conclusion, the immune inhibitory receptor LAIR-1 suppresses neutrophil tissue migration and acts as a negative regulator of neutrophil-driven airway inflammation during lung diseases. Following our recent observations in humans, this study provides crucial in-vivo evidence that LAIR-1 is a promising target for pharmacological intervention in such pathologies.

Keywords: LAIR-1, neutrophils, RSV, airway, inflammation, bronchiolitis, cigarette smoke

INTRODUCTION

The lungs are constantly exposed to potential pathogens and other harmful agents. To protect against sudden incursions, neutrophils patrol the lung capillaries. A rapid and robust neutrophil response is crucial to antimicrobial defense (1, 2). Neutrophilic inflammation is a common trait of some respiratory diseases. We have recently reviewed literature showing that due to the promiscuous cytotoxicity of neutrophils, excessive neutrophilic inflammation induces immune injury in viral infection (3). Therefore, balancing pathogen eradication with neutrophil-induced tissue injury is of the utmost importance to preserve tissue homeostasis. However, the mechanisms that regulate neutrophilic inflammation in the airways are still unclear.

Leukocyte-associated Ig-like receptor (LAIR)-1, also known as CD305, is an ITIM-bearing inhibitory receptor expressed on majority of immune cells (4). Mouse and human LAIR-1 share \sim 40% homology, potent inhibitory capacity and bind to collagen and collagen-like molecules (5-8). Circulating neutrophils do not express LAIR-1 on the cell surface, but surface expression can be induced by in vitro stimulation, suggesting that LAIR-1 is involved in the regulation of activated, tissueinfiltrated neutrophils (9). We recently identified the collagen receptor LAIR-1 as functional inhibitory receptor on airway neutrophils obtained from RSV bronchiolitis patients (10). Activated airway-infiltrated neutrophils, but not their resting circulating counterparts, express LAIR-1 at the cell surface. Resting neutrophils store LAIR-1 intracellularly in granules, which allows for rapid surface upregulation upon activation. Agonistic antibody-mediated ligation of LAIR-1 on patient airway neutrophils suppresses neutrophil extracellular traps (NET) formation ex-vivo. Ligands for LAIR-1 are abundant in the lungs, including collagen in the extracellular matrix and surfactant protein-D (SP-D, which contains a collagenlike domains, in the airway lumen (11, 12). We, therefore, hypothesized that LAIR-1 regulates neutrophilic inflammation in lung diseases to minimize tissue injury. However, patient studies do not allow for experimental settings required to investigate the in-vivo role of LAIR-1. To test this hypothesis, we used mouse models and examined two distinct lung diseases in which neutrophilic inflammation plays a key role, namely, acute viral bronchiolitis caused by RSV infection, and lung inflammation induced by short-term smoke-exposure.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

 $Lair1^{-/-}$ mice were generated on the C57BL/6 background by Taconic Artemis as described (13). BALB/c mice were procured from Harlan (Horst, the Netherlands). All animal studies were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee and carried out in accordance with the national and institutional guidelines.

Mouse RSV Infection

Eight to Twelve-week-old female C57BL/6 *Lair1^{-/-}* mice or their wild-type littermates were intranasally infected with 1×10^7 PFU

of RSV-A2 in 50 μ l PBS. RSV-A2 preparation, quantitative assay for RSV-A2 titration and RSV-A2 infection of mice, including, intranasal inoculation, termination, and sample collection, was performed as described previously (14, 15). Mice were sacrificed on day 2 or 5 post-infection.

LAIR-Fc Administration

For LAIR-1 blocking experiments, recombinant mouse LAIR-1 fused with the Fc portion of mouse IgG2a was produced in-house. The Fc tail was mutated to prevent binding to Fc receptors and complement as described previously (16).

Eight to twelve-week-old female BALB/c wild-type mice were injected intraperitoneally with 200 or 400 μ g of mouse LAIR-1-Fc chimeric protein in 100 μ l PBS or PBS alone as control, 1 day before and 2 days after RSV infection. Intranasal RSV infection was performed as described above.

Bronchoalveolar Lavage Collection and Processing

Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid collection was performed by flushing the lungs 2 times with 1.0 ml of ice-cold PBS. BAL fluid was centrifuged; supernatants were stored at -80° C for further analyses. Total cell counts in BAL were determined using a Bürker-Türk hemocytometer. BAL cells were analyzed by flow cytometry or examined by light microscopy.

For differential cell analysis by light microscopy, at least 200 cells were counted to assign relative quantities of macrophages, lymphocytes, and neutrophils based on morphology after May– Grünwald–Giemsa stain.

RSV-A2 concentrations in BAL fluid supernatants were analyzed by real-time PCR as described previously (15). Mouse CXCL1 (KC) and IL-6 levels in BAL fluid supernatants were measured by ELISA (Peprotech, London, UK) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Cigarette-Smoke Exposure

Male, 8–12 weeks old, wild-type and $Lair1^{-/-}$ C57BL/6 mice were randomly assigned to undergo cigarette smoke (CS) or control air exposure. Mice were exposed to whole body mainstream CS generated from standard research cigarettes (3R4F; 9.4 mg tar/0.726 mg nicotine, University of Kentucky) using a Watson-Marlow roller pump (323 E series, speed 35 RPM; Watson Marlow, Rotterdam, The Netherlands) that directed the CS into the exposure chamber (25 L of air volume). Carbon monoxide and oxygen levels in the exposure chamber were measured using a gas analyzer from Bacharach (PCA-3 series; Bacharach, New Kensington, PA, USA) carbon monoxide concentrations were held at 150-300 ppm and oxygen levels were kept at 20%. Mice were exposed to CS twice daily for a maximum of 30 min with a 5-h smoke-free interval, for 10 consecutive days. On the first day of CS exposure, mice were exposed to CS from 2 pairs of cigarettes, followed by CS of two times 3 cigarettes on the second day, CS of 4 and 5 cigarettes on the third day, CS of 5 and 6 cigarettes on the fourth day, and CS of two times 6 cigarettes on fifth and remaining days. Mice were weighed daily. On the final day, mice were sacrificed and BAL fluid was collected.

Intranasal Instillation of CXCL1

Eight to Sixteen week-old male and female $Lair1^{-/-}$ mice (on a C57BL/6 background) or their wild-type littermates were randomly assigned to be instilled with 0.1 µg or 0.5 µg CXCL1 (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) in 50 µl PBS or PBS alone. After 4 h, mice were sacrificed and BAL fluid was collected. Cells were counted and analyzed by flow cytometry as described below.

Single-Cell Suspension Preparation

Spleen and lymph nodes were mechanically dissociated and filtered sequentially through 100 and 70 μ m cell strainers (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA). Bone marrow was flushed from femurs and tibiae and filtered through 70 μ m cell strainers. Lungs were mechanically dissociated using the gentleMACS Dissociator (Miltenyi Biotec, Leiden, the Netherlands) as recommended by the manufacturer, and were enzymatically digested for 30 min at 37°C with 0.13 Wünch U/ml of LiberaseTM (Roche, Basel, Switzerland) and 200 μ g/ml DNAse I (Roche, Basel, Switzerland) in RPMI-1640. Subsequently, the digested lung cell suspension was passed through 70 μ m cell strainers. Red blood cells were lysed by 10 min incubation at 4°C in ammonium chloride carbonate buffer containing 155 mM NH₄Cl, 10 mM KHCO₃, and 0.1 mM EDTA. Single-cell suspensions were analyzed by flow cytometry.

Flow Cytometry

Single-cell suspensions from tissues and cells from BAL fluid were stained for surface markers for 30 min at 4°C in PBS containing 0.01% (m/v) sodium azide and 1% (m/v) BSA. Propidium iodide (0.3μ g/mL, Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA) in PBS was used to distinguish vital cells. Samples were treated with rat anti-mouse CD16/CD32 antibody (clone 2.4G2, BD Biosciences, Basel, Switzerland) to block FcR-mediated non-specific antibody binding prior to incubation with fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies. Acquisitions were made with a BD Canto II or LSR Fortessa and analyzed using FlowJo software (version 10.0.7, Treestar).

Statistics

The statistical significance of differences between two groups was calculated with the unpaired Mann-Whitney or Student's *t* test where appropriate and more than two groups were compared with the 2-way ANOVA or Kruskal-Wallis test as mentioned in the legends. Statistical analyses were performed using Prism 6 (GraphPad) software. *P*-values < 0.05 were considered significant and are marked in the graphs where applicable. All unmarked differences are non-significant.

RESULTS

LAIR-1 Negatively Regulates Neutrophil Recruitment During RSV Infection

We recently demonstrated that LAIR-1 is a functional inhibitory receptor on airway-infiltrated neutrophils of RSV infectioninduced bronchiolitis patients in an *ex-vivo* setting (10). We therefore hypothesized that LAIR-1 regulates the neutrophil response *in vivo* during viral bronchiolitis. To test this hypothesis, wild-type and $Lair1^{-/-}$ C57BL/6 mice were intranasally inoculated with the RSV-A2 strain. Mice were sacrificed on day 2 or 5 post-infection and BAL was performed to assess the cellular airway infiltrate, cytokine levels, and viral load.

Total leukocyte influx into the airways was notably increased in LAIR-1-deficient compared with wild-type mice at both the time points (**Figure 1A**). Early in infection, the increase in cell numbers was mostly contributed by enhanced neutrophil recruitment in LAIR-1-deficient mice, while at day 5 postinfection lymphocytes mainly constituted the infiltrating population (**Figures 1B,C**). There were no differences in macrophage recruitment between genotypes (**Figure 1D**). Thus, LAIR-1 limits neutrophil and lymphocyte recruitment during RSV infection *in vivo*.

Despite the enhanced leukocyte recruitment, concentrations of the major neutrophil chemoattractant CXCL1 and the inflammatory cytokine IL-6 were not increased in the BAL fluid of RSV-infected *Lair1^{-/-}* mice compared with wild-type mice (**Figures 1E,F**), nor were there differences in the viral load (**Figure 1G**). Thus, the data suggest that LAIR-1 negatively regulates neutrophil and lymphocyte recruitment during RSV infection without directly affecting the local inflammatory milieu or viral replication.

Tissue-Infiltrated Neutrophils Express LAIR-1

To rule out basal differences, we performed immunophenotyping of unchallenged Lair1-/- C57BL/6 mice and confirmed that there were little to no differences in the composition of immune cell populations (Supplemental Figures S1, S2) as described before (13, 17). Moreover, we demonstrate that unchallenged wild-type and $Lair1^{-/-}$ mice did not differ in neutrophil numbers and activation state-indicated by the CD11b, CD62L, and CD182 markers-in either blood or bone marrow (Figure 2A). In unchallenged wild-type mice, circulating neutrophils did not express LAIR-1, whereas tissueinfiltrated neutrophils did (Figure 2B). However, upon infection with RSV, circulating neutrophils started to express LAIR-1 (Figure 2C). In line with the observation regarding tissue infiltrated neutrophils in unchallenged mice, airway-infiltrated neutrophils also expressed LAIR-1 and were highly activatedindicated by upregulation of CD11b and shedding of CD62L (Figure 2C). Thus, RSV infection induced LAIR-1 expression on circulating and airway-infiltrated neutrophils which may directly regulate the function/adhesion of neutrophils.

Blocking LAIR-1-Ligand Interaction Enhanced Neutrophil Recruitment During RSV Infection

To further rule out developmental differences in $Lair1^{-/-}$ mice as cause of the observed phenotype, the interaction between endogenous LAIR-1 and its ligands was blocked during RSV infection by injecting wild-type mice with LAIR-1-Fc chimeric protein. Here, BALB/c mice rather than C57BL/6 mice were used as the former are more sensitive to RSV



WT, wild-type and KO, Lair $1^{-/-}$ on C57BL/6 background.

infection (18, 19). The results obtained with RSV-infected BALB/c mice in which endogenous LAIR-1-collagen interactions were blocked, mimic those of the RSV-infected $Lair1^{-/-}$ C57BL/6 mice, when compared to their respective vehicle-treated or wild-type mice. The total cell count in the BAL of RSV-infected LAIR-1-Fc chimeric protein-treated mice was increased (**Figure 3A**). This was due to enhanced neutrophil and lymphocyte recruitment, whereas macrophage numbers remained unaffected (**Figures 3B-D**). Concentrations of CXCL1 and IL-6 as well as viral load were comparable between vehicle- and LAIR-1-Fc-treated mice (**Figures 3E-G**). The data further confirm that LAIR-1 negatively controls neutrophil and lymphocyte recruitment during RSV infection with no direct effect on the local inflammatory milieu or viral replication.

LAIR-1 Limits Disease Severity and Neutrophil Airway Recruitment in Response to Cigarette-Smoke Exposure

Despite the enhanced neutrophil recruitment during RSV infection in mice that lack LAIR-1 signaling, there was no effect on disease severity as measured by weight loss (data not shown). However, RSV pathophysiology in humans and mice is notably different. While neutrophils dominate the cellular inflammatory response in RSV bronchiolitis patients, with neutrophils comprising \geq 80% of infiltrating leukocytes (20–22), lymphocytes are more prominent in the airways of mice during experimental RSV infection (**Figures 1A–D**, **3A–D**). We hypothesized that in a genuine neutrophil-driven disease model the loss of LAIR-1-mediated immune regulation and the corresponding increase in neutrophil infiltration would exacerbate disease severity. Therefore, we employed another model of neutrophilic airway inflammation and exposed wild-type and *Lair1^{-/-}*

C57BL/6 mice to cigarette smoke. Smoke-exposed $Lair1^{-/-}$ mice lost more body weight and showed delayed and significantly attenuated recovery as compared to their wild-type counterparts (Figure 4A). In line with this, BAL fluid analysis revealed that *Lair1^{-/-}* mice had significantly higher lung immune infiltration in response to smoke-exposure as compared to the wild-type (Figure 4B). This increase in total cell influx was contributed by increased recruitment of neutrophils, macrophages and lymphocytes to $Lair1^{-/-}$ lungs (Figures 4C–E). The increase in BAL cell counts in Lair $1^{-/-}$ mice was highest for neutrophils (\sim 3 fold) followed by macrophages (\sim 2 fold), while the increase in lymphocytes was modest and failed to reach statistical significance. We confirmed that airway-infiltrated neutrophils of smoke-exposed mice expressed LAIR-1 and were highly activated (Supplemental Figure S2). Thus, LAIR-1 limits neutrophil recruitment to the airways during cigarette smokeinduced lung inflammation and regulates disease severity.

LAIR-1 Directly Suppresses Neutrophil Migration

The local inflammatory milieu in the lung, as reflected by CXCL1 and IL-6 production, was not directly regulated by LAIR-1 (**Figures 1E,F, 3E,F**). Since the lung is enriched in LAIR-1 ligands such as collagen, SP-D and airway-infiltrated neutrophils in both the RSV infection and the smoke exposure model express LAIR-1 (**Figure 2C**; **Supplemental Figure S3**), we hypothesized that LAIR-1 can directly limit the migratory capacity of neutrophils. To examine this hypothesis, the lungs of wild-type and *Lair1^{-/-}* C57BL/6 mice were instilled with the neutrophil chemoattractant CXCL1 by intranasal administration and analyzed for the BAL fluid cellular infiltrates. We observed significantly higher total BAL cell influx in *Lair1^{-/-}* mice as compared to wild-type mice



cytometry. Neutrophils were identified based on characteristic forward- and side-light scatter properties and the expression of Ly-6G. (A) The percentage neutrophils (Ly-6G+) among total live leukocytes in blood and bone marrow as well as the expression of activation markers (CD11b, CD62L, and CD182) were compared by flow cytometry. (B) Flow cytometric analysis of LAIR-1 expression on blood and tissue (bone marrow, spleen, and lung) neutrophils. (C) Wild-type mice were inoculated with RSV and sacrificed 2 days post-infection. Expression of LAIR-1 and activation markers (CD11b and CD62L) was measured on BAL and blood neutrophils. ****p < 0.0001; 2-way ANOVA with Holm-Šidák multiple comparison correction. Data are representative of eight mice (A, B) or three independent experiments with at least three mice (C). Error bars in (A) and (C) represent mean \pm SD. WT, *wild-type* and KO, *Lair1^{-/-}* on C57BL/6 background; clg, *isotype-matched control antibody*; MFI, *mean fluorescence intensity*.



FIGURE 3 LAIR-1-Fc chimeric protein administration effects pulmonary neutrophil recruitment during RSV infection. (A–G) Wild-type BALB/c mice were inoculated intranasally with RSV and sacrificed on day 5. One day before RSV inoculation and 2 days after inoculation mice were treated intraperitoneally LAIR-1-Fc fusion protein or PBS (vehicle). Total (A) and differential (B–D) BAL cell counts, BAL CXCL1 (F) and IL-6 concentrations (G), and viral load (G) were determined. Data are presented as means \pm SD and represent 6 mice per group for panels (A–G) in 2 independent experiments. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.001. 2-way ANOVA with Holm-Šídák multiple comparison correction.



and KO mice (A) and a 2-way ANOVA with C57BL/6 background.

in response to 0.5 μ g of CXCL1 (**Figure 5A**). Flow cytometry confirmed that CXCL1 specifically attracted neutrophils, as they constitute ~88% of total cell population in BAL fluid (**Figure 5B**), which were highly activated and expressed LAIR-1 (in wild-type mice) (**Figure 5C**). These data demonstrate that LAIR-1 intrinsically limits neutrophil infiltration of the airways, thereby controlling neutrophilic airway inflammation.

DISCUSSION

The pulmonary immune response must protect against the everpresent threat of pathogens, while limiting immune-induced tissue damage to allow for gas exchange. Neutrophils are crucial for antimicrobial defense but such responses must be tightly regulated to prevent bystander damage. The mechanisms underlying the regulation of neutrophil activation and responses are incompletely understood. We have recently identified LAIR-1 as an inhibitory receptor on activated airway neutrophils which limits NET formation during RSV bronchiolitis (10). In the current study, we investigated the role of LAIR-1 in regulating airway inflammation using two different models of neutrophil pre-dominant lung diseases. Using a mouse model of RSV bronchiolitis, we demonstrate that LAIR-1 functions as a negative regulator of airway inflammation as LAIR-1 deficiency or administration of Lair1-Fc chimeric protein led to enhanced recruitment of neutrophils and lymphocytes. Similar results were



obtained in the cigarette smoke exposure model where LAIR-1 deficient mice show marked increased neutrophilia. Our study, thus, underlines a key regulatory role of LAIR-1 in limiting neutrophilic inflammation in lung diseases.

Ligands for LAIR-1 are abundant in the lungs. En route to the airways, for instance in response to RSV infection or irritants in smoke, neutrophils will traverse the extracellular matrix, which contains collagen. In the airway lumen, neutrophils will encounter pulmonary surfactant-associated protein-D (SP-D) and C1q, which possess a collagen-like domain (11, 12). The interaction of LAIR-1 with the ligands present in the extracellular matrix may limit the recruitment of neutrophils to the airways. In support hereof, we observed an increased neutrophil recruitment to airways of RSVinfected and smoke-exposed mice that lack functional LAIR-1. Interestingly, this enhanced neutrophilia in $Lair1^{-/-}$ mice was not associated with augmented chemokine productionfor example, by LAIR-1-expressing alveolar macrophagesthat attracts more neutrophils. There were no changes in the abundance of CXCL1, a potent neutrophil chemoattractant (23) and IL-6, a major pro-inflammatory cytokine, among wildtype and $Lair1^{-/-}$ mice. This is suggestive for an enhanced intrinsic cellular migratory capacity in the absence of an inhibitory interaction of LAIR-1 with extracellular matrix. Indeed, in response to an intrapulmonary challenge with the neutrophil chemoattractant CXCL1 (23), neutrophil recruitment was strongly enhanced in $Lair1^{-/-}$ mice compared with wild-type mice, thereby demonstrating a neutrophil-intrinsic role for LAIR-1 in migration to the airways. Thus, during an active inflammation and in response to chemoattractant stimuli, LAIR-1 interaction with its ligands impedes neutrophil migration in wild-type mice but not in $Lair1^{-/-}$ mice.

A prior study of $Lair1^{-/-}$ mice did not reveal an overt clinical phenotype in multiple lymphocyte-driven disease models (13, 17). Similar to our study (Supplemental Figure S3), LAIR-1 deficiency had little effect on the composition of immune cell populations or neutrophil activation state in unchallenged mice. However, in the previous studies neutrophils were not extensively studied. In contrast, we examined two different models of lung diseases where neutrophils are a dominant contributor, namely RSV bronchiolitis and smoke-induced inflammation. In both cases, LAIR-1 regulated neutrophilic lung inflammation. We observed no differences in disease severity between RSVinfected $Lair1^{-/-}$ and wild-type mice. A possible explanation for this is that while in RSV bronchiolitis patients, the immune response to RSV is characterized by massive infiltration of neutrophils into the airways—≥80% of infiltrating leukocytes are neutrophils (20-22)-the contribution of airway infiltrating neutrophils on disease severity is notably less pronounced in mice (24). However, in response to cigarette smoke exposure, a bona fide neutrophil-driven lung inflammation model in mice, the enhanced neutrophilic inflammation in LAIR-1-deficient mice was accompanied by worsened weight loss and retarded recovery underlining the critical role of LAIR-1.

Neutrophils are crucial to antimicrobial defense, but cytotoxic effector mechanisms such as protease secretion, reactive oxygen species production, and NET formation cause bystander tissue damage (1–3, 25). Therefore, excessive neutrophilic inflammation is harmful. Major lung diseases, including RSV bronchiolitis and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), are characterized by a massive neutrophilic inflammation (26). However, the regulatory mechanisms hereof are not yet fully elucidated. A better understanding of how neutrophilic inflammation is regulated could reveal potential targets for pharmaceutical intervention.

In human neutrophils, LAIR-1 is stored in intracellular granules and is rapidly recruited to the surface upon activation (10), presenting a plausible mechanism that would ensure a proper balance between neutrophil function and tissue injury. Under steady state, a low or lack of expression of LAIR-1 would ensure neutrophil activation against invading pathogens whereas rapid recruitment of LAIR-1 from intracellular stores would promptly impede the neutrophil influx and limit the tissue injury during neutrophilic inflammation. Whereas, our study shows that LAIR-1, indeed, impedes neutrophil influx during active inflammation in mouse models, the mechanisms of LAIR-1 surface expression on mouse neutrophils remains to be investigated.

Our study sheds light on a novel regulatory mechanism involved in neutrophilic inflammation but has several limitations. First, we cannot rule out the contribution of other LAIR-1-expressing immune cell populations, such as lymphocytes and macrophages, to the observed phenotypes. In addition to increased neutrophil infiltration, we also see increased recruitment of lymphocytes after RSV infection and increased number of macrophages after smoke-exposure in the airways of LAIR-1-deficient mice. Possibly, the augmented neutrophil response directly contributes to the subsequent increase in lymphocyte and macrophage influx. Indeed, neutrophils, by depositing CXCL12-containing vesicular trails during migration, are critical to the recruitment of T cells to the airways of influenza virus-infected mice (27). Whereas, both lymphocytes and macrophages could possibly contribute to increased disease severity, increased airway infiltration of

REFERENCES

- Drescher B, Bai F. Neutrophil in viral infections, friend or foe? Virus Res. (2013) 171:1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2012.11.002
- Jenne CN, Kubes P. Virus-induced NETs-critical component of host defense or pathogenic mediator? *PLoS Pathog.* (2015) 11:e1004546. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004546
- Geerdink RJ, Pillay J, Meyaard L, Bont L. Neutrophils in respiratory syncytial virus infection: a target for asthma prevention. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2015) 136:838–47. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.06.034
- Meyaard L. The inhibitory collagen receptor LAIR-1 (CD305). J Leukoc Biol. (2008) 83:799–803. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0907609

neutrophils remains a consistent observation in LAIR-1-deficient mice in both RSV and smoke-exposure models.

Second, we measured a limited number of cytokines. Also, we did not investigate a direct effect of LAIR-1 on mouse neutrophil functions such as NET formation and migration *invitro*. Which aspect of the observed increased airway infiltration of neutrophils aggravates disease severity, remains unresolved. These questions require further investigation. The strength of our study lies in being the first to discern the role of LAIR-1 in neutrophil-predominant airway diseases *in vivo*. We show that LAIR-1 acts as a crucial regulator of neutrophils and is therefore a potential target for pharmacological intervention in neutrophil-driven lung diseases.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study was carried out in accordance with the national and international guidelines. The protocols were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Utrecht University/University Medical Center Utrecht, the Netherlands.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KK and RG acquired, analyzed and interpreted data and wrote the manuscript. MH, MR, AvO-J, IvA, and TL-M performed mouse experiments. GF, AM, SW, and FC provided essential tools and technical insights. LB and LM designed the study, interpreted the data, and edited the manuscript. All authors reviewed and approved the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research Graduate Program grant (grant no. 022.004.018 to RG) and a Longfonds grant (grant no. 5.1.14.020). LM is supported by a Vici grant from the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research (grant no. 91815608).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2019.00842/full#supplementary-material

- Lebbink RJ, de Ruiter T, Adelmeijer J, Brenkman AB, van Helvoort JM, Koch M, et al. Collagens are functional, high affinity ligands for the inhibitory immune receptor LAIR-1. J Exp Med. (2006) 203:1419–25. doi: 10.1084/jem. 20052554
- Lebbink RJ, de Ruiter T, Kaptijn GJ, Bihan DG, Jansen CA, Lenting PJ, et al. Mouse leukocyte-associated Ig-like receptor-1 (mLAIR-1) functions as an inhibitory collagen-binding receptor on immune cells. *Int Immunol.* (2007) 19:1011–9. doi: 10.1093/intimm/ dxm071
- Lebbink RJ, de Ruiter T, Verbrugge A, Bril WS, Meyaard L. The mouse homologue of the leukocyte-associated Ig-like receptor-1 is an inhibitory receptor that recruits Src homology region 2-containing protein tyrosine

phosphatase (SHP)-2, but not SHP-1. J Immunol. (2004) 172:5535-43. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.9.5535

- Olde Nordkamp MJ, van Eijk M, Urbanus RT, Bont L, Haagsman HP, Meyaard L. Leukocyte-associated Ig-like receptor-1 is a novel inhibitory receptor for surfactant protein D. J Leukoc Biol. (2014) 96:105–11. doi: 10.1189/jlb.3AB0213-092RR
- Verbrugge A, de Ruiter T, Geest C, Coffer PJ, Meyaard L. Differential expression of leukocyte-associated Ig-like receptor-1 during neutrophil differentiation and activation. J Leukoc Biol. (2006) 79:828–36. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0705370
- Geerdink RJ, Hennus MP, Westerlaken GHA, Abrahams AC, Albers KI, Walk J, et al. LAIR-1 limits neutrophil extracellular trap formation in viral bronchiolitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2018) 141:811–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.08.031
- Burgstaller G, Oehrle B, Gerckens M, White ES, Schiller HB, Eickelberg O. The instructive extracellular matrix of the lung: basic composition and alterations in chronic lung disease. *Eur Respir J.* (2017) 50:1601805. doi: 10.1183/13993003.01805-2016
- 12. Sorensen GL. Surfactant protein D in respiratory and non-respiratory diseases. *Front Med.* (2018) 5:18. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00018
- Smith CW, Thomas SG, Raslan Z, Patel P, Byrne M, Lordkipanidzé M, et al. Mice lacking the inhibitory collagen receptor LAIR-1 exhibit a mild thrombocytosis and hyperactive platelets. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2017) 37:823–35. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.117.309253
- Hennus MP, Janssen R, Pennings JL, Hodemaekers HM, Kruijsen D, Jansen NJ, et al. Host response to mechanical ventilation for viral respiratory tract infection. *Eur Respir J.* (2012) 40:1508–15. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00177111
- van de Pol AC, Wolfs TF, van Loon AM, Tacke CE, Viveen MC, Jansen NJ, et al. Molecular quantification of respiratory syncytial virus in respiratory samples: reliable detection during the initial phase of infection. *J Clin Microbiol.* (2010) 48:3569–74. doi: 10.1128/JCM.00097-10
- Zheng XX, Steele AW, Hancock WW, Kawamoto K, Li XC, Nickerson PW, et al. IL-2 receptor-targeted cytolytic IL-2/Fc fusion protein treatment blocks diabetogenic autoimmunity in nonobese diabetic mice. *J Immunol.* (1999) 163:4041–8.
- Tang X, Tian L, Esteso G, Choi SC, Barrow AD, Colonna M, et al. Leukocyteassociated Ig-like receptor-1-deficient mice have an altered immune cell phenotype. *J Immunol.* (2012) 188:548–58. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102044
- Jessen B, Faller S, Krempl CD, Ehl S. Major histocompatibility complex-dependent cytotoxic T lymphocyte repertoire and functional avidity contribute to strain-specific disease susceptibility after murine respiratory syncytial virus infection. J Virol. (2011) 85:10135–43. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00816-11
- Rutigliano JA, Ruckwardt TJ, Martin JE, Graham BS. Relative dominance of epitope-specific CD8+ T cell responses in an F1 hybrid mouse model of respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Virology.* (2007) 362:314–9. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2006.12.023
- Everard ML, Swarbrick A, Wrightham M, McIntyre J, Dunkley C, James PD, et al. Analysis of cells obtained by bronchial lavage of infants with respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Arch Dis Child.* (1994) 71:428–32. doi: 10.1136/adc.71.5.428

- McNamara PS, Ritson P, Selby A, Hart CA, Smyth RL. Bronchoalveolar lavage cellularity in infants with severe respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. *Arch Dis Child.* (2003) 88:922–6. doi: 10.1136/adc.88.10.922
- 22. Smith PK, Wang SZ, Dowling KD, Forsyth KD. Leucocyte populations in respiratory syncytial virus-induced bronchiolitis. *J Paediatr Child Health.* (2001) 37:146–51. doi: 10.1046/j.1440-1754.2001.00618.x
- De Filippo K, Dudeck A, Hasenberg M, Nye E, van Rooijen N, Hartmann K, et al. Mast cell and macrophage chemokines CXCL1/CXCL2 control the early stage of neutrophil recruitment during tissue inflammation. *Blood.* (2013) 121:4930–7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-02-486217
- 24. Stoppelenburg AJ, Salimi V, Hennus M, Plantinga M, Huis in 't Veld R, Walk J, et al. Local IL-17A potentiates early neutrophil recruitment to the respiratory tract during severe RSV infection. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e78461. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0078461
- van der Linden M, Meyaard L. Fine-tuning neutrophil activation: Strategies and consequences. *Immunol Lett.* (2016) 178:3–9. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2016. 05.015
- Liu J, Pang Z, Wang G, Guan X, Fang K, Wang Z, et al. Advanced role of neutrophils in common respiratory diseases. J Immunol Res. (2017) 2017:6710278. doi: 10.1155/2017/6710278
- Lim K, Hyun YM, Lambert-Emo K, Capece T, Bae S, Miller R, et al. Neutrophil trails guide influenza-specific CD8(+) T cells in the airways. *Science*. (2015) 349:aaa4352. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa4352

Conflict of Interest Statement: LB and LM have regular interaction with pharmaceutical and other industrial partners. They have not received personal fees or other personal benefits. LB's institute has received major funding (>€100,000 per industrial partner) for investigator-initiated studies from AbbVie, MedImmune, Janssen, the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation and MeMed Diagnostics. LB's institute has received minor funding participation in trials by Regeneron and Janssen since 2015 (total annual estimate <€20,000). LB received minor funding for consultation and invited lectures by AbbVie, MedImmune, Ablynx, Bavaria Nordic, MabXience, Novavax, Janssen (total annual estimate <€20,000). LM's institute has received funding for investigator-initiated studies from Nextcure, Boehringer Ingelheim, Ono Pharmaceuticals, Ablynx and Janssen. LM received minor funding for consultation from Novo Nordisk, Biogen and Boehringer Ingelheim.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Kumawat, Geerdink, Hennus, Roda, van Ark, Leusink-Muis, Folkerts, van Oort-Jansen, Mazharian, Watson, Coenjaerts, Bont and Meyaard. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Prevention of Pediatric Respiratory Syncytial Virus Lower Respiratory Tract Illness: Perspectives for the Next Decade

Sofia S. Aranda and Fernando P. Polack*

Fundacion Infant, Buenos Aires, Argentina

The landscape of infant bronchiolitis and viral pneumonia may be altered by preventive interventions against respiratory syncytial virus under evaluation today. Pediatric wards in 2018 in developing countries may differ from those attended by future generation pediatricians who may not witness the packed emergency rooms, lack of available beds, or emergency situations that all physicians caring for children with RSV experience every year. In this review, we describe and discuss different prevention strategies under evaluation to protect pediatric patients. Then, we outline a number of potential challenges, benefits, and concerns that may result from successful interventions after licensure.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Alexis M. Kalergis, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Chile

Reviewed by:

Juan Pablo Jaworski, National Council for Scientific and Technical Research (CONICET), Argentina Bernhard Resch, Medical University of Graz, Austria

> *Correspondence: Fernando P. Polack fpolack@infant.org.ar

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Viral Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 17 December 2018 Accepted: 18 April 2019 Published: 07 May 2019

Citation:

Aranda SS and Polack FP (2019) Prevention of Pediatric Respiratory Syncytial Virus Lower Respiratory Tract Illness: Perspectives for the Next Decade. Front. Immunol. 10:1006. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01006 Keywords: RSV, RSV vaccines, monoclonal antibodies, maternal immunization, live attenuated vaccines

In the next decade, we may witness a change in the burden of office and emergency room visits, and hospitalizations in infant wards during the winter. Swamped emergency rooms and pediatricians and nurses overwhelmed with work, caring for an endless number of young infants in respiratory distress may start to become a scene of the past. Vaccines, monoclonal antibodies of extended half-life and antivirals against respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) are being evaluated in clinical trials (1). It is reasonable to expect that several of these candidates will be partly or completely successful in the next 10 years and become part of the preventive and therapeutic tools for pediatric public health.

RSV is the main cause of hospitalization in infants and young children worldwide. Millions of children are hospitalized every year and the vast majority of them live in the developing world. While infants born prematurely, those with congenital heart disease and other specific subgroups are at increased risk for hospitalization, the majority of severe cases affect previously healthy infants and children. The only available intervention licensed to prevent severe disease today is the administration of a neutralizing anti-RSV humanized monoclonal antibody, palivizumab[®]. Palivizumab[®] is recommended for high risk populations in high and middle-income countries (2). But its cost is prohibitive for low income nations, where most of the fatal cases of RSV disease occur.

Evidently, a safe and effective, affordable preventive strategy against RSV is necessary. One of these strategies under evaluation is to immunize pregnant women against the virus to transfer high titers of protective antibody to infants before birth (1). Alternatively, long-lived monoclonal antibodies against neutralizing epitopes in the RSV F protein could be administered to newborns and young infants to prevent disease in the first months of life (1). Other attractive approaches under study include immunization of infants with recombinant live attenuated RSV vaccines or using a variety of live vectors carrying genes encoding RSV proteins (1). Even though natural infection with RSV does not induce lifelong protective immunity, antibodies against the RSV F glycoprotein can prevent severe disease in humans. RSV F is a target for neutralizing antibodies, as

evidenced by the effectiveness of palivizumab for nearly two decades. Hence, F alone or in combination with other viral proteins is the preferred antigen in RSV candidate vaccines (3).

ELICITING PROTECTIVE IMMUNITY AGAINST RSV LRTI

Humans are the only natural host for RSV. The virus is spread from person to person via respiratory droplets, and spreads into the respiratory tract, where it preferentially targets apical ciliated epithelial cells (4). The incubation period for RSV from time of infection to onset of illness is between 3 and 5 days (5). Natural immunity includes innate responses by polymorphonuclear (PMN) and mononuclear cells, activation of numerous pattern recognition receptors (e.g., TLR3, TLR2/6, TLR7/8, NOD-like, and RIG-I-like receptors), and type I and III interferon responses (6-9). These responses are important, as PMNs and macrophages have been postulated to enhance and prevent severe disease, and PRRs have been reported to modulate numerous responses during RSV infection (5, 10). Moreover, although often underappreciated because their levels peak before RSV symptoms become evident to pediatricians, IFNs are increasingly recognized as relevant actors in RSV immunity (9, 11). In phase I trials with intranasal live attenuated RSV vaccines in seronegative infants, a small but significant number of subjects is not infected despite direct inoculation, suggesting that innate immune responses may be an important barrier against infection.

Adaptive immunity is critical for protection against RSV disease. The humanized monoclonal antibody palivizumab[®] and polyclonal sera enriched for antibodies against the RSV fusion (F) protein, Respigam[®], demonstrate that antibodies against RSV F can prevent severe RSV LRTI. RSV infection elicits polyclonal, high avidity, neutralizing antibody responses against RSV F (12), that cross-react between RSV subgroups A and B. The F protein is highly conserved between RSV subgroups, with amino acid sequence identities of >90% (5, 13). This protein mediates entry into host cells by converting from a metastable trimeric pre-fusion conformation (pre-F) to a highly stable postfusion conformation (post-F) (14). There are two pre-F-specific antigenic sites Ø and V, target of the most potent neutralizing antibodies, and two sites that are present on both conformations II and IV (12, 14). Although present on both pre-F and post-F, antibodies against site III bind tighter to pre-F (14). Instead, site I antibodies bind tighter to post-F (14). A newly recognized antigenic site in F, designated antigenic site VIII, occupies an intermediate position between the previously defined sites II and Ø (15).

The RSV attachment (G) protein also elicits polyclonal neutralizing responses. RSV G is more variable than RSV F, with \sim 50% sequence homology between subgroups A and B (5). Both RSV subgroups co-circulate during yearly epidemics, although one typically predominates every season (16–18). While IgA responses are probably important in protecting the respiratory tract, their exact role in RSV immunity is only now becoming clearer and requires further study (11).

T cell responses are also important for protection against RSV. $CD4^+$ T lymphocytes contribute to T-cell dependent antibody responses and indirectly to viral clearance (as evidenced by persistent infections in HIV-infected individuals) and $CD8^+$ T lymphocytes clear the virus from infected cells (5, 19).

The aforementioned innate and adaptive immune responses are mimicked to different degrees by live attenuated vaccines against RSV, discussed below. But in specific situations, immune responses against RSV -particularly those elicited by nonreplicating vaccines in naive individuals- can also potentiate disease severity.

The first time an enhanced form of RSV disease (ERD) was observed in children during a vaccine trial, its manifestations were not recognized by investigators. Between 1962 and 1963, a formalin-inactivated vaccine against RSV (FIRSV) was evaluated in 54 children in the United States. Unfortunately, none of them received placebo. Twenty-one of fifty-four (39%) vaccine recipients were infected with RSV, and 10 (18%) experienced severe disease. But only 5 years had passed since the isolation and initial characterization of the chimpanzee coryza agent (now RSV), and its burden of illness was still unclear (20). As a consequence, researchers attributed the observed severity to an unusually bad season (20).

In 1966, a similar formalin-inactivated vaccine against RSV was administered to infants and toddlers in four trials in the United States. Immunized subjects had measurable non-neutralizing, low avidity anti-F IgG responses, no RSVspecific cytotoxic T lymphocytes and a CD4+T lymphocyte response primed to respond to wild type infection with an exuberant production of Th2 cytokines (10, 21-23). Indeed, upon infection with wild type RSV during the winter of 1966-1967, non-protective, low avidity IgG coupled with the virus to activate the complement cascade and in synergy with a strong Th2 polarization of the immune response led to increased hospitalization rates and two deaths in toddlers due to this enhanced form of RSV disease presenting with wheezing and bronchopneumonia (20, 24-26). Consequently, generation of an IgG response dominated by low avidity, non-neutralizing antibodies against RSV F (Figure 1), and priming for a Th2 bias upon RSV infection are considered undesirable features for RSV vaccine candidates.

IMMUNIZING MOTHERS TO PROTECT YOUNG INFANTS

Maternal immunization, a strategy well-accepted to prevent infant influenza and pertussis, aims to provide passive immunity to infants by transfer of maternal antibodies across the placenta. During the third trimester of pregnancy, IgG antibodies are actively transferred via the FcRn receptor in the placenta from the maternal to the fetal circulation. The first candidate in clinical trials to complete phase III evaluation in eleven countries enrolling approximately 4,600 women of childbearing age was the Novavax prefusogenic RSV F nanoparticle adjuvanted with alum (NCT02624947) (27). The Novavax vaccine elicited responses against epitopes displayed by both pre-fusion and post-fusion



conformations of the F protein (28). The trial aimed to reduce the rate of medically significant RSV LRTI in infants through 90 days of life (27), but failed its primary endpoint despite an overall efficacy of 39.4% (95% CI, 5.3, 61.2) (29). Interestingly, the vaccine protected against RSV hospitalizations (40%) and severe disease (44%) worldwide (29), but its efficacy was radically different in the U.S. compared to developing countries: results in South Africa were considerably better than in the American population at 57% (95% CI, 32.7, 72.5) vs.-32.7%

(95% CI,-238.9, 48.1). Unfortunately, the study lacked sufficient power to confidently ascertain whether these differences simply represented variations within the confidence interval.

Another vaccine designed for maternal immunization is a recombinant RSV protein F vaccine, engineered to preferentially maintain prefusion conformation by GSK. The vaccine progressed through early phase clinical trials in healthy adults and non-pregnant women (NCT02753413) (30–32). In addition, a subunit vaccine encoding a stabilized prefusion
molecule developed by Pfizer also targets pregnant women (and the elderly) and is entering phase 2 trials (NCT03529773) (33–35). A fourth attractive investigational candidate developed by NIAID and entering clinical evaluation is RSV F DS-Cav1 (NCT03049488) (36), a formulation of engineered soluble site Ø–stabilized RSV F trimers (site Ø is only present on pre-fusion F) adjuvanted with alum (37, 38).

LONG-LIVED MONOCLONAL ANTIBODIES

The concept of administering an optimized mAb with extended half-life and strong neutralizing activity to protect infants after birth is appealing. MEDI8897 from Medimmune is a highly potent, extended half-life antibody that completed phase 2 trials and is expected to enter phase 3 in 2019 (NCT02878330) (39). Recently, MEDI8897 was granted breakthrough therapy designation by the FDA. MEDI8897 is a recombinant human RSV monoclonal antibody with a modified Fc region. The antibody has been optimized from antibody D25, which targets site Ø in the pre-F conformation of the RSV F protein. MEDI8897, with a mean half-life 85 to 117 days, is intended to prevent RSV disease in all infants for the duration of the RSV season with a single dose (40). A triple-aminoacid (M252Y/S254T/T256E [YTE]) substitution within its Fc region extends its half-life by increasing binding to the major histocompatibility complex class I-related neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn) at acidic conditions and preventing degradation (40-42). A second long-lived monoclonal antibody candidate in clinical development is MK-1654 from Merck (NCT03524118) (43), undergoing early phase evaluations and targeting site IV in RSV F.

Despite the intuitive attraction of using a targeted mAb to neutralize RSV and prevent severe illness, this virus has proven once and again to be an annoying creature. A recent phase 3 study evaluating suptavumab (REGN2222), an antibody developed by Regeneron against site V in RSV F, did not meet its primary efficacy endpoint in healthy preterm infants (NCT02325791) (44). REGN2222 had a non-significant protective trend against medically attended infections in preterm infants up to day 150 of life caused by RSV subgroup A. But due to an unexpected mutation in site V of RSV F in circulating RSV B viruses, failed to prevent disease against this subgroup (44).

LIVE-ATTENUATED VACCINES AGAINST RSV

Several live-attenuated RSV vaccines candidates to protect infants and young children are in clinical development (1). One of their strengths as infant vaccines is that decades of studies in infants have shown that these vaccines do not appear to prime for enhanced RSV disease in RSV-naïve infants (45). In addition, these vaccines are administrated intranasally, needlefree and, given that they replicate in the upper respiratory tract, can generate an immune response even in the presence of passively acquired maternal antibodies (46). Their greatest challenge is to attain the adequate balance between attenuation and immunogenicity. A clever deletion of the coding sequence for the RSV M2-2 protein in one of these candidates attenuates viral replication while upregulating gene transcription and antigen expression (NCT02237209, NCT02040831) (47, 48). The NS2 non-structural protein was deleted in a second candidate(NCT03422237, NCT03099291) (49, 50) reducing viral suppression of type interferon responses in the host (51). Both candidates were developed by the Laboratory of Infectious Diseases at NIAID and were safe in early studies in infants and young children and may soon progress to larger trials for evaluation. While no head-to-head comparison was described, the similarities in trial design suggest that the M2-2 vaccine has more restricted virus shedding but was more immunogenic than the live vaccine with the NS2 deletion (52).

VECTORS ENCODING RSV GENES

Vectored-based vaccines for children are now in clinical trials, using adenoviruses. Adenoviruses are highly immunogenic and induce both innate and adaptive immune responses (53). Moreover, adenovirus-based vaccines have been and are currently being investigated as vectors targeting viral, bacterial, and protozoan pathogens (53). The candidate Ad26.RSV.preF uses a human adenovirus 26 expressing pre-F RSV protein. Ad26.RSV.preF is now in phase 2 trials in adults and 12-24-month-old RSV seropositive toddlers (NCT03303625) (54). A second adenovirus-based candidate in phase 2 trials in seropositive children is ChAd155-RSV (NCT02927873) (55), using a replication-incompetent chimpanzee adenovirus 155. This vector encodes the F, N, and M2-1 RSV proteins (51, 55).

Finally, a chimeric candidate in clinical development is the rBCG-N-hRSV vaccine (NCT03213405) (56). A recombinant BCG expressing RSV N protein is targeted for use in newborns. BCG induces Th1 immunity, skewing responses away from undesirable Th2 priming (57). Vaccination with rBCG-N-hRSV is expected to elicit cellular immunity in addition to a humoral response against the virus (58).

THE FUTURE

Whether one or many of these vaccines and/or mAbs prove effective, several questions, concerns, and speculations remain to be answered through the trials and subsequent studies postlicensure. Some of these issues are discussed below.

CONCERNS OF ENHANCED RSV DISEASE

The mechanism of illness of ERD has not been completely elucidated, in part because every significant scientific advancement in structural virology and immunology continues to uncover new angles of a complex problem. For several years, two immune correlates described above have been accepted as indicators of candidate RSV vaccines that may prime for enhancement: the presence of low avidity, non-protective antibodies after immunization (**Figure 1**) (10, 21, 59), and a Th2 polarization of the immune response in the respiratory tract after RSV infection (23, 60). Now, novel observations in the field suggest a potential relationship between RSV F conformations in the vaccine and disease enhancement (14, 61); experience with other immunogens question whether route of vaccination may be an important determinant of RSV vaccine responses (62); improved understanding of B cell memory, class switching and affinity maturation may allow a clearer identification of primed B cell memory populations associated with undesirable outcomes (63–65); and detection of subpopulations with genetic mutations in molecules essential to B and T cell maturation interrogate whether enhancement could ever be possible in seropositive adults (66–68).

Importantly, given that memory B and T helper cells play a critical role in ERD pathogenesis, concerns for this problem are lower in several leading approaches to RSV prophylaxis that rely on passive acquisition of antibody: immunization of pregnant women to protect infants through transplacental transfer of antibody and administration of virus-specific monoclonal antibodies (mAb) of extended half-life (69, 70). Moreover, a series of maternal immunization studies and years of clinical experience with mAb in vulnerable infants never identified a case of ERD (2, 71, 72). Finally, infant intranasal immunization with live attenuated RSV vaccines (LAV) mimics natural infection, and after extensive testing in early phase trials were never found to associate with ERD in seronegative subjects (45).

Perhaps the greatest challenge will come from novel platforms that defy our traditional vaccine testing paradigms and may also alter our criteria for discriminating ERD in the future. For example, vaccine replication may not be necessary to prevent ERD priming in PAMP-adjuvanted vaccines (10, 73, 74), or a stabilized pre-fusion RSV F may elicit protective antibodies of high affinity.

ENDOTYPES IN RSV LRTI

The diversity in clinical presentations, combination of signs and symptoms, and variety in long-term consequences strongly suggest that RSV LRTI is not a single disease. In fact, it is probably a collective noun used to describe a set of clinical signs, which may obey different pathophysiological mechanisms. While subtypes of LRTI sharing similar observable characteristics are often designed as phenotypes, endotypes identify discrete subtypes based on specific mechanisms of illness. For example, middle-class urban and suburban infants with loss-of-function single nucleotide polymorphisms in Asp299Gly and/or Thr399Ile $(TLR4^{+/-})$ are severely ill when infected with RSV due to an exaggerated Th2 responses in the respiratory tract. Moreover, these infants are not protected by the administration of RSVspecific mAb when premature (75). Children in Navajo and Apache reservations are also particularly susceptible to RSV (76). And a high-affinity mAb against RSV failed to prevent longterm recurrent wheezing in them, despite reducing the rate of severe acute RSV disease (77). Alaskan native children are equally susceptible to acute infection with the virus. Therefore, efficacy and subsequent effectiveness of preventive strategies against RSV may differ in certain RSV LRTI endotypes, and be affected by environmental exposures, population genotype, and/or circulating viruses.

VIRAL REPLACEMENT OR EXTENDED PROTECTION

An interesting dilemma is whether a successful vaccine or mAb against RSV will lead to replacement of the virus by a different pathogen as a cause of pediatric illness or vaccination will impact other pulmonary ailments currently not known to be triggered by RSV.

In principle, vaccines and mAbs are not expected to prevent RSV infection in the upper respiratory tract, and therefore other agents would still compete for the niche with RSV in vaccinated subjects (78). However, recent data suggest that, upon prevention of RSV LRTI with palivizumab, other respiratory viruses may indeed replace a portion of the LRTI burden (78). A recent study in 429 premature infants, described a reduction in RSV LRTI, but reported no differences in the absolute number of respiratory episodes (78). These observations paralleled an increased rate of rhinovirus infections in recipients of palivizumab (79). A possible explanation may be that infants intermittently experience "windows of susceptibility" that allow pathogens to cause disease. RSV may outcompete other viruses for the nasopharyngeal niche in early life, but following immunization (or administration of mAb), infectivity of RSV may be "weakened". Then, other viruses may outcompete this "weakened" version, becoming more frequent agents of LRTI. Therefore, it is conceivable that some of the burden caused today by RSV will be elicited in the future by other viral pathogens.

Interestingly, the maternal Novavax RSV prefusogenic vaccine evaluated worldwide conferred significant protection against all-cause LRTI (25.3%) and all-cause LRTI with significant hypoxemia (<92% O₂ sat; 39.1%). Therefore, while it is conceivable that RSV may be replaced in certain situations, recent data suggest that significant, partly unexpected benefits may follow transplacental acquisition of maternal antibody in infants in developing nations.

REDUCING BURDEN OF RECURRENT WHEEZING AND ASTHMA

RSV LRTI in infants and young children associates with 25– 80% greater subsequent rates of recurrent wheezing and asthma when compared to children not experiencing severe RSV LRTI (80, 81). And while some of these RSV lung ailments affect infants genetically predisposed to develop asthma at an older age (82), severe RSV LRTI may also contribute to the inception of recurrent wheezing and asthma in children (80, 82). In fact, enough evidence exists today to prompt long term follow up of vaccinated subjects in clinical trials to ascertain a potential role for RSV vaccines in decreasing the burden of recurrent wheezing (77, 78, 83, 84).

A variety of studies in premature infants examined the efficacy or effectiveness of palivizumab[®] in preventing long term wheezing and asthma at ages 1 and 6 years (78, 83–86). Most

of them described a protective role for RSV prevention against subsequent episodes of wheezing in infancy (78, 83, 84). The long-term effect elicited by RSV appears to be specific, and not triggered by infections with other viruses (78). However, a similar study with a virus-specific mAb in term, healthy Native Americans in Arizona prevented severe acute RSV LRTI but had no effect on rates of medically attended wheezing in children aged 1-3 years highlighting the potential importance of "endotypes" in future results (77).

At age 6 years in the randomized clinical trial in premature infants in The Netherlands, treatment significantly reduced parent-reported current asthma. The observation was based on different rates in infrequent wheezing (1-3 episodes/ year) (85), while physician diagnosed asthma and lung function were not different in drug and placebo recipients (85). In Japan, a second study revealed that palivizumab[®] prophylaxis administered to preterm infants did not suppress atopic asthma but lowered the incidence of recurrent wheezing (86).

Ongoing RCTs constitute a unique opportunity—perhaps the only ever- to settle these questions and determine the role of RSV in asthma inception. In recent years, a group of investigators reported guidelines for the evaluation of recurrent wheezing and asthma in upcoming studies (87). Yet, we must remain mindful of the fact that asthma is also a set of heterogeneous diseases sharing common symptoms. Therefore, it is highly likely that preventing severe RSV LRTI may affect one or few of these asthma endotypes but not others. And only a more sophisticated discrimination of the diseases under the "RSV LRTI and asthma umbrellas" will allow a definitive understanding of the mechanistic associations between both syndromes.

DECREASING INFANT MORTALITY

In 2015, more than three million children were hospitalized with RSV LRTI and up to 118,000 died at hospitals and in the community. Ninety-nine percent of deaths occurred in developing countries (88). Deaths attributable to RSV in industrialized countries are not frequent, affecting children with congenital heart disease, chronic lung illness, neuromuscular disorders or genetic syndromes (89). In contrast, healthy term infants from socially vulnerable environments in the developing world die at the hospital with bacterial sepsis and/or affected by clinically significant pneumothoraxes (90). Importantly, approximately 50% of deaths due to RSV in the developing world are known to occur at home. These deaths affect infants and young children from families affected by serious socioeconomic challenges (91).

The overall impact of an effective RSV vaccine in the developing world remains to be determined. Shi et al. estimated that a vaccine against RSV with 80% efficacy would prevent 22,000 in-hospital deaths every year (88). But studies of RSV mortality show sequential seasonal peaks of RSV and pneumococcal disease suggesting a potential synergic association between both pathogens (92), and a third of community deaths during the winter associated with RSV in the only study with information about viral etiologies so far (91). In fact, the recently

observed protection conferred by ResVax[®] against all-cause LRTI and against all-cause LRTI with significant hypoxemia suggest our estimations may require revision in the near future. In fact, detecting RSV using RT-PCR is challenging in underserved settings where deaths typically occur, and testing for it in critically ill patients is infrequent given the absence of specific therapies (93). Moreover, randomized clinical trials and formal studies enhance surveillance and standardize care, perhaps providing an overly optimistic perspective on this problem.

BREAST MILK AND RSV VACCINES

Breastfeeding is a critical asset to protect infants against respiratory viruses in developing countries (94). But the potential benefit conferred by antibodies in human milk elicited by maternal immunization is uncertain.

Numerous molecules in breast milk, passively transferred to the baby during lactation, have been postulated to confer protection. Among them, sIgA has been the most widely accepted example of this passive mechanism (95). However, this hypothesis has potential inconsistencies that require further consideration. First, protecting the lung with passively acquired defenses would require frequent "mini" gastric aspirations to coat the nasopharynx, as the predicted persistence of molecules in the upper respiratory tract is short lived (96). Such a mechanism would be highly inefficient, notwithstanding the repetitive risk for a more severe aspiration. Second, babies are often exposed to RSV simultaneously with their mothers (97). This timing is problematic, as Ig protection of the respiratory tract requires high levels of local antibody. Therefore, the situation would demand instantaneous boosting of maternal immunity to timely prevent infection in infants. Because it is not entirely logical to postulate that mothers carry protection in adequate concentrations against all pathogens at all times. Third, studies on RSV and nasal IgA neither exhibited a strong correlation between baseline IgA levels and ARI (98), nor were able to correlate neutralizing activity and anti-RSV IgA levels (99).

But there is another argument that supports the hypothesis that the main mechanism of protection against RSV in human milk is not through passive transfer of sIgA. At least five studies in different populations from different regions and risk condition, described sex differences in breast milk-mediated prevention of severe viral LRTI in children. In all these studies, milk protects female infants better than males (100–104). Therefore, human milk appears to activate a process in the baby. And this process, in line with evolution and preservation of the species, is better suited for females (100–104). It will be interesting to learn whether such benefits can be boosted through RSV immunization.

BENEFITS FOR PREGNANT WOMEN FROM MATERNAL IMMUNIZATION

Influenza virus and *B. pertussis* maternal vaccines prevent severe disease in infants, but differ on their ability to affect maternal illness. Influenza virus is known to cause severe disease in pregnant women and its effects extend to influence both timing

of delivery and fetal growth (105). Conversely, pertussis in adults is relatively mild (106). Post-vaccine licensure studies will define whether RSV vaccines belong to the first or the second group.

Defining RSV disease burden during pregnancy is challenging. Proper ascertainment of the problem would require very large prospective studies, intense outpatient follow-up, and consequently considerable funding. Therefore, most information today about RSV in pregnant women derives from post-hoc analyses of trials evaluating maternal immunogens against flu (107). This strategy is not perfect, particularly due to two important limitations: unlike in flu, fever is not a frequent clinical sign associated with RSV infection in pregnant women (108); and often RSV and influenza seasons do not overlap exactly (109). Then, studies using criteria tailored for influenza-like illness in flu studies to prompt sick visits or collect samples from mothers to study RSV probably underestimates the burden of illness (110). In absence of RSV-targeted studies, we cannot convincingly state today that RSV elicits milder disease than influenza during pregnancy. While RSV in pregnancy elicits mild illness, it can occasionally cause acute respiratory failure (111).

STRATEGY-SPECIFIC CHALLENGES

Very specific logistical challenges may impact each immunization strategy. Maternal immunization may be most effective with different windows for immunization in pregnant women, should preparations differ. These decisions should be influenced by the levels of pre-existent antibodies in women and will also depend on the quality of prenatal care to maximize immunization rates. In the ResVax[®] RCT, immunization >30 days before delivery enhanced infant protection. In addition, acceptance of maternal immunization may differ in different populations due to cultural idiosyncrasies. Passive prophylaxis using mAb of extended half-life will require precise characterization of the local RSV season in different regions. This may prove challenging in tropical climates, where seasonality can oscillate

REFERENCES

- RSV Vaccine and mAb Snapshot-PATH Vaccine Resource Library. (2018). Available online at: http://vaccineresources.org/details.php?i=1562 (accessed December 12, 2018).
- The IMpact-RSV Study Group. Palivizumab, a humanized respiratory syncytial virus monoclonal antibody, reduces hospitalization from respiratory syncytial virus infection in high-risk infants. The IMpact-RSV Study Group. *Pediatrics*. (1998) 102:531–7. doi: 10.1542/peds.102.3.531
- Gilman MS, Castellanos CA, Chen M, Ngwuta JO, Goodwin E, Moin SM, et al. Rapid profiling of RSV antibody repertoires from the memory B cells of naturally infected adult donors. *Sci Immunol.* (2016) 1:eaaj1879. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aaj1879
- Schweitzer JW, Justice NA. Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection (RSV). Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing StatPearls Publishing LLC (2019).
- David M. Knipe PMH. Fields Virology, 6th ed. Respiratory Syncytial Virus. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins (2013). p.1086–123
- Lambert L, Sagfors AM, Openshaw PJ, Culley FJ. Immunity to RSV in early-life. Front. Immunol. (2014) 5:466. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00466

by weeks in different years (112). And, importantly, cost of the drug in developing countries may become a critical factor for universal administration. These interventions are most needed in LMIC, where most morbidity and mortality occur. Finally, strategies like intranasal live attenuated RSV vaccine administration may demand a fine balance between optimal immunogenicity and no pathogenicity, require temperature stability for tropical climates, and inaugurate inoculation of RSV vaccines in older infants through a novel route of immunization, that for flu intranasal vaccines is not entirely comfortable.

In summary, the landscape of bronchiolitis and viral pneumonia may be altered directly and indirectly by the interventions under evaluation today. A long list of candidate vaccines (i.e., FIRSV, PFP-2) and mAb (i.e.: motavizumab[®], suptavumab[®]) have failed over the years for different reason to control this feisty virus in young children. But both palivizumab[®] and the results from ResVax[®] in LMIC demonstrate that protection against RSV is possible. Just like many physicians in the industrialized world have rarely ever seen a case of measles, pediatricians in 2030 may be entirely unfamiliar with the packed emergency rooms, lack of available beds, or emergency situations that we experience every year due to RSV. Human metapneumovirus, rhinoviruses and human parainfluenza viruses may concentrate a lot more attention. A brighter future may be near.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SSA and FPP reviewed the literature, conceived and wrote the manuscript.

FUNDING

This manuscript was funded under a grant from the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation to FPP.

- Sun Y, Lopez CB. The innate immune response to RSV: Advances in our understanding of critical viral and host factors. *Vaccine*. (2017) 35:481– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.09.030
- Marr N, Turvey SE, Grandvaux N. Pathogen recognition receptor crosstalk in respiratory syncytial virus sensing: a host and cell type perspective. *Trends Microbiol.* (2013) 21:568–74. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2013.08.006
- Hillyer P, Shepard R, Uehling M, Krenz M, Sheikh F, Thayer KR, et al. Differential responses by human respiratory epithelial cell lines to respiratory syncytial virus reflect distinct patterns of infection control. *J Virol.* (2018) 92:e02202–17. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02202-17
- Delgado MF, Coviello S, Monsalvo AC, Melendi GA, Hernandez JZ, Batalle JP, et al. Lack of antibody affinity maturation due to poor Toll-like receptor stimulation leads to enhanced respiratory syncytial virus disease. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:34–41. doi: 10.1038/nm.1894
- Hijano DR, Siefker DT, Shrestha B, Jaligama S, Vu LD, Tillman H, et al. Type I interferon potentiates IgA immunity to respiratory syncytial virus infection during infancy. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:11034. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-29456-w
- Graham BS. Vaccine development for respiratory syncytial virus. *Curr Opin Virol.* (2017) 23:107–12. doi: 10.1016/j.coviro.2017.03.012

- McLellan JS, Ray WC, Peeples ME. Structure and function of respiratory syncytial virus surface glycoproteins. *Curr Topics Microbiol Immunol.* (2013) 372:83–104. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-38919-1_4
- Goodwin E, Gilman MSA, Wrapp D, Chen M, Ngwuta JO, Moin SM, et al. Infants infected with respiratory syncytial virus generate potent neutralizing antibodies that lack somatic hypermutation. *Immunity*. (2018) 48:339–49.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.01.005
- Mousa JJ, Kose N, Matta P, Gilchuk P, Crowe JE Jr. A novel pre-fusion conformation-specific neutralizing epitope on the respiratory syncytial virus fusion protein. *Nat Microbiol.* (2017) 2:16271. doi: 10.1038/nmicrobiol.2016.271
- 16. Liu W, Chen D, Tan W, Xu D, Qiu S, Zeng Z, et al. Epidemiology and clinical presentations of respiratory syncytial virus subgroups A and B detected with multiplex real-time PCR. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0165108. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0165108
- Hendry RM, Pierik LT, McIntosh K. Prevalence of respiratory syncytial virus subgroups over six consecutive outbreaks: 1981-1987. J Infect Dis. (1989) 160:185–90. doi: 10.1093/infdis/160.2.185
- Dudas RA, Karron RA. Respiratory syncytial virus vaccines. Clin Microbiol Rev. (1998) 11:430–9. doi: 10.1128/CMR.11.3.430
- Schmidt ME, Varga SM. Cytokines and CD8 T cell immunity during respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Cytokine*. (2018). doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2018.07.012. [Epub ahead of print].
- Kim HW, Canchola JG, Brandt CD, Pyles G, Chanock RM, Jensen K, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus disease in infants despite prior administration of antigenic inactivated vaccine. Am J Epidemiol. (1969) 89:422–34. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a120955
- Polack FP, Teng MN, Collins PL, Prince GA, Exner M, Regele H, et al. A role for immune complexes in enhanced respiratory syncytial virus disease. *J Exp Med.* (2002) 196:859–65. doi: 10.1084/jem.20020781
- Acosta PL, Caballero MT, Polack FP. Brief history and characterization of enhanced respiratory syncytial virus disease. *Clin Vac Immunol.* (2015) 23:189–95. doi: 10.1128/CVI.00609-15
- 23. Knudson CJ, Hartwig SM, Meyerholz DK, Varga SM. RSV vaccine-enhanced disease is orchestrated by the combined actions of distinct CD4 T cell subsets. *PLoS Pathog.* (2015) 11:e1004757. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004757
- 24. Chin J, Magoffin RL, Shearer LA, Schieble JH, Lennette EH. Field evaluation of a respiratory syncytial virus vaccine and a trivalent parainfluenza virus vaccine in a pediatric population. *Am J Epidemiol*. (1969) 89:449–63. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a120957
- 25. Kapikian AZ, Mitchell RH, Chanock RM, Shvedoff RA, Stewart CE. An epidemiologic study of altered clinical reactivity to respiratory syncytial (RS) virus infection in children previously vaccinated with an inactivated RS virus vaccine. Am J Epidemiol. (1969) 89:405–21. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a120954
- Fulginiti VA, Eller JJ, Sieber OF, Joyner JW, Minamitani M, Meiklejohn G. Respiratory virus immunization. I. A field trial of two inactivated respiratory virus vaccines; an aqueous trivalent parainfluenza virus vaccine and an alum-precipitated respiratory syncytial virus vaccine. *Am J Epidemiol.* (1969) 89:435–48. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a120956
- 27. A Study to Determine the Safety and Efficacy of the RSV F Vaccine to Protect Infants via Maternal Immunization. (2018). Available online at https:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02624947 (accessed December 08, 2018).
- Positive Topline Data From Phase 2 Older Adult Trial and Path Forward for RSV F Vaccine Programs. (2018). Available online at: http://novavax.com/ download/files/presentation/Novavax_RSV_Analyst_Day_7-24-17_PDF2. pdf (accessed December 08, 2018).
- Novavax Announces Topline Results from Phase 3 PrepareTM Trial of ResVaxTM for Prevention of RSV Disease in Infants via Maternal Immunization. (2019). Available online at: http://ir.novavax.com/newsreleases/news-release-details/novavax-announces-topline-results-phase-3preparetm-trial (accessed March 11, 2019).
- Study Register. (2017). Avaiable online at: https://www.gsk-studyregister. com/study/5392 (accessed December 08, 2018).
- Safety and Reactogenicity Study of GlaxoSmithKline (GSK) Biologicals' Investigational Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) Vaccine (GSK3003891A) in Healthy Women. (2018). Available online at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/NCT02753413 (accessed December 08, 2018).

- 32. Beran J, Lickliter JD, Schwarz TF, Johnson C, Chu L, Domachowske JB, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of 3 formulations of an investigational respiratory syncytial virus vaccine in nonpregnant women: results from 2 phase 2 trials. J Infect Dis. (2018) 217:1616–25. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiy065
- 33. Pfizer Begins a Phase 1/2 Study to Evaluate Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) Vaccine. (2018). Available online at: https://www.pfizer.com/news/pressrelease/press-release-detail/pfizer_begins_a_phase_1_2_study_ to_evaluate_respiratory_syncytial_virus_rsv_vaccine-0 (accessed December 10, 2018).
- Describe the Safety and Immunogenicity of a RSV Vaccine in Healthy Adults. (2018). Available online at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03529773 (accessed December 10, 2018).
- The Action-Packed Search for Stability: A Breakthrough in the Fight Against RSV. (2019). Available online at: https://www.getscience.com/disruptivescience/action-packed-search-stability-breakthrough-fight-against-rsv (accessed March 10, 2019).
- Respiratory Syncytial Virus Vaccine Enters Clinical Testing. (2018) at https:// www.nih.gov/news-events/news-releases/respiratory-syncytial-virusvaccine-enters-clinical-testing. (accessed December 11, 2018).
- Sastry M, Zhang B, Chen M, Joyce MG, Kong WP, Chuang GY, et al. Adjuvants and the vaccine response to the DS-Cav1-stabilized fusion glycoprotein of respiratory syncytial virus. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0186854. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0186854
- McLellan JS, Chen M, Joyce MG, Sastry M, Stewart-Jones GB, Yang Y, et al. Structure-based design of a fusion glycoprotein vaccine for respiratory syncytial virus. *Science (New York, NY)*. (2013) 342:592– 8. doi: 10.1126/science.1243283
- 39. A Study to Evaluate the Safety and Efficacy of MEDI8897 for the Prevention of Medically Attended RSV LRTI in Healthy Preterm Infants. (2018). Available online at https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02878330 (accessed December 08, 2018).
- 40. Griffin MP, Khan AA, Esser MT, Jensen K, Takas T, Kankam MK, et al. Safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetics of MEDI8897, the respiratory syncytial virus prefusion F-targeting monoclonal antibody with an extended half-life, in healthy adults. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. (2017) 61:e01714-16. doi: 10.1128/AAC.01714-16
- Robbie GJ, Criste R, Dall'acqua WF, Jensen K, Patel NK, Losonsky GA, et al. A novel investigational Fc-modified humanized monoclonal antibody, motavizumab-YTE, has an extended half-life in healthy adults. *Antimicrob Agents Chemotherap.* (2013) 57:6147–53. doi: 10.1128/AAC.01285-13
- Dall'Acqua WF, Kiener PA, Wu H. Properties of human IgG1s engineered for enhanced binding to the neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn). *J Biol Chem.* (2006) 281:23514-24. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M604292200
- Safety, Tolerability, and Pharmacokinetics of MK-1654 in Infants. (2018) Available online at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03524118 (accessed December 13, 2018).
- 44. Study to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of Suptavumab (REGN2222) for the Prevention of Medically Attended RSV (Respiratory Syncytial Virus) Infection in Preterm Infants. (2018). Available online at https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/NCT02325791 (accessed December 13, 2018).
- 45. Wright PF, Karron RA, Belshe RB, Shi JR, Randolph VB, Collins PL, et al. The absence of enhanced disease with wild type respiratory syncytial virus infection occurring after receipt of live, attenuated, respiratory syncytial virus vaccines. *Vaccine*. (2007) 25:7372–8. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.08.014
- Karron RA, Buchholz UJ, Collins PL. Live-attenuated respiratory syncytial virus vaccines. *Curr Topics Microbiol Immunol.* (2013) 372:259–84. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-38919-1_13
- Safety and Immune Response to a Live-Attenuated Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) Vaccine in RSV-Seronegative Infants and Children. (2019). Available online at https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02040831 (accessed March 10, 2019).
- Safety and Immune Response to a Live-Attenuated Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) Vaccine in RSV-Seronegative Infants and Children. (2018). Available online at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02237209 (accessed December 14, 2018).
- Evaluating the Infectivity, Safety, and Immunogenicity of the Recombinant Live-Attenuated Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) Vaccines RSV ΔNS2/Δ1313/I1314L or RSV 276 in RSV-Seronegative Infants and Children

6 to 24 Months of Age. (2019). Available online at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ ct2/show/NCT03422237 (accessed March 11, 2019).

- Infectivity, Safety and Immunogenicity of a Recombinant Live-Attenuated Respiratory Syncytial Virus Vaccine (D46/NS2/N/△M2-2-HindIII) in RSV-Seronegative Infants and Children 6 to 24 Months of Age. (2019). Available online at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03099291 (accessed March 11, 2019).
- Mazur NI, Higgins D, Nunes MC, Melero JA, Langedijk AC, Horsley N, et al. The respiratory syncytial virus vaccine landscape: lessons from the graveyard and promising candidates. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2018) 18:e295-e311. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(18)30292-5
- 52. Karron RA, Luongo C, Thumar B, Loehr KM, Englund JA, Collins PL, et al. A gene deletion that up-regulates viral gene expression yields an attenuated RSV vaccine with improved antibody responses in children. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7:312ra175. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aac8463
- Majhen D, Calderon H, Chandra N, Fajardo CA, Rajan A, Alemany R, et al. Adenovirus-based vaccines for fighting infectious diseases and cancer: progress in the field. *Human Gene Therapy*. (2014) 25:301–17. doi: 10.1089/hum.2013.235
- 54. A Study to Evaluate The Safety, Tolerability and Immunogenicity of an Investigational RSV Vaccine Candidate (Ad26.RSV.preF) in Adults 18 to 50 Years of Age, and RSV-Seropositive Toddlers 12 to 24 Months of Age. (2018). Avaialble online at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03303625 (accessed December 11, 2018).
- RSV Investigational Vaccine in RSV-Seropositive Infants Aged 12 to 23 Months. (2018). Available Online at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT02927873 (accessed December 12, 2018).
- A Study to Assess Safety, Tolerability and Immunogenicity of the Live Attenuated hRSV Vaccine rBCG-N-hRSV (EVA-VRS01). (2018). Available online at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03213405 (accessed December 08, 2018).
- Rey-Jurado E, Soto J, Gálvez N, Kalergis AM. A safe and efficient BCG vectored vaccine to prevent the disease caused by the human respiratory syncytial virus. *Hum Vaccines Immunotherapeut.* (2017) 13:2092–7. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2017.1334026
- Bueno SM, González PA, Cautivo KM, Mora JE, Leiva ED, Tobar HE, et al. Protective T cell immunity against respiratory syncytial virus is efficiently induced by recombinant BCG. *Proc Nat Acad Sci.* (2008) 105:20822. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0806244105
- Connors M, Kulkarni AB, Firestone CY, Holmes KL, Morse HC, Sotnikov AV, et al. Pulmonary histopathology induced by respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) challenge of formalin-inactivated RSV-immunized BALB/c mice is abrogated by depletion of CD4+ T cells. *J Virol*. (1992) 66:7444–51.
- Graham BS, Henderson GS, Tang YW, Lu X, Neuzil KM, Colley DG. Priming immunization determines T helper cytokine mRNA expression patterns in lungs of mice challenged with respiratory syncytial virus. *J Immunol.* (1993) 151:2032-40.
- Killikelly AM, Kanekiyo M, Graham BS. Pre-fusion F is absent on the surface of formalin-inactivated respiratory syncytial virus. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:34108. doi: 10.1038/srep34108
- 62. Polack FP, Lee SH, Permar S, Manyara E, Nousari HG, Jeng Y, et al. Successful DNA immunization against measles: neutralizing antibody against either the hemagglutinin or fusion glycoprotein protects rhesus macaques without evidence of atypical measles. *Nat Med.* (2000) 6:776–81. doi: 10.1038/77506
- De Silva NS, Klein U. Dynamics of B cells in germinal centres. Nat Rev Immunol. (2015) 15:137–48. doi: 10.1038/nri3804
- Kim ST, Choi JY, Lainez B, Schulz VP, Karas DE, Baum ED, et al. Human Extrafollicular CD4(+) Th Cells Help Memory B Cells Produce Igs. J Immunol. (2018) 201:1359–72. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1701217
- Weisel FJ, Zuccarino-Catania GV, Chikina M, Shlomchik MJ. A Temporal switch in the germinal center determines differential output of memory b and plasma cells. *Immunity*. (2016) 44:116–30. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.12.004
- 66. Duan Z, Chen X, Liang Z, Zeng Y, Zhu F, Long L, et al. Genetic polymorphisms of CXCR5 and CXCL13 are associated with non-responsiveness to the hepatitis B vaccine. Vaccine. (2014) 32:5316–22. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.07.064

- Choi YS, Yang JA, Crotty S. Dynamic regulation of Bcl6 in follicular helper CD4 T (Tfh) cells. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2013) 25:366–72. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2013.04.003
- Morita R, Schmitt N, Bentebibel SE, Ranganathan R, Bourdery L, Zurawski G, et al. Human blood CXCR5(+)CD4(+) T cells are counterparts of T follicular cells and contain specific subsets that differentially support antibody secretion. *Immunity.* (2011) 34:108–21. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2010.12.012
- 69. American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Infectious Diseases and Committee on Fetus and Newborn. Revised indications for the use of palivizumab and respiratory syncytial virus immune globulin intravenous for the prevention of respiratory syncytial virus infections. *Pediatrics*. (2003) 112:1442–6. doi: 10.1542/peds.112.6.1442
- August A, Glenn GM, Kpamegan E, Hickman SP, Jani D, Lu H, et al. A Phase 2 randomized, observer-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-ranging trial of aluminum-adjuvanted respiratory syncytial virus F particle vaccine formulations in healthy women of childbearing age. *Vaccine*. (2017) 35:3749–59. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.05.045
- Groothuis JR, Simoes EA, Levin MJ, Hall CB, Long CE, Rodriguez WJ, et al. Prophylactic administration of respiratory syncytial virus immune globulin to high-risk infants and young children. The Respiratory Syncytial Virus Immune Globulin Study Group. N Engl J Med. (1993) 329:1524–30. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199311183292102
- Malley R, DeVincenzo J, Ramilo O, Dennehy PH, Meissner HC, Gruber WC, et al. Reduction of respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) in tracheal aspirates in intubated infants by use of humanized monoclonal antibody to RSV F protein. J Infect Dis. (1998) 178:1555-61. doi: 10.1086/314523
- Lambert SL, Aslam S, Stillman E, MacPhail M, Nelson C, Ro B, et al. A novel respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) F subunit vaccine adjuvanted with GLA-SE elicits robust protective TH1-type humoral and cellular immunity in rodent models. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0119509. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0119509
- 74. Blanco JC, Boukhvalova MS, Pletneva LM, Shirey KA, Vogel SN. A recombinant anchorless respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) fusion (F) protein/monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL) vaccine protects against RSV-induced replication and lung pathology. *Vaccine*. (2014) 32:1495–500. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.11.032
- Caballero MT, Serra ME, Acosta PL, Marzec J, Gibbons L, Salim M, et al. TLR4 genotype and environmental LPS mediate RSV bronchiolitis through Th2 polarization. *J Clin Invest.* (2015) 125:571–82. doi: 10.1172/JCI 75183
- Bockova J, O'Brien KL, Oski J, Croll J, Reid R, Weatherholtz RC, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus infection in Navajo and White Mountain Apache children. *Pediatrics*. (2002) 110:e20. doi: 10.1542/peds.110.2.e20
- 77. O'Brien KL, Chandran A, Weatherholtz R, Jafri HS, Griffin MP, Bellamy T, et al. Efficacy of motavizumab for the prevention of respiratory syncytial virus disease in healthy Native American infants: a phase 3 randomised double-blind placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2015) 15:1398–408. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(15)00247-9
- Blanken MO, Rovers MM, Molenaar JM, Winkler-Seinstra PL, Meijer A, Kimpen JL, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus and recurrent wheeze in healthy preterm infants. N Engl J Med. (2013) 368:1791–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1211917
- Achten NB, Wu P, Bont L, Blanken MO, Gebretsadik T, Chappell JD, et al. Interference between respiratory syncytial virus and human rhinovirus infection in infancy. J Infect Dis. (2017) 215:1102–6. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jix031
- Stein RT, Sherrill D, Morgan WJ, Holberg CJ, Halonen M, Taussig LM, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus in early life and risk of wheeze and allergy by age 13 years. *Lancet*. (1999) 354:541–5. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(98)10321-5
- Wu P, Dupont WD, Griffin MR, Carroll KN, Mitchel EF, Gebretsadik T, et al. Evidence of a causal role of winter virus infection during infancy in early childhood asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2008) 178:1123–9. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200804-579OC
- Krishnamoorthy N, Khare A, Oriss TB, Raundhal M, Morse C, Yarlagadda M, et al. Early infection with respiratory syncytial virus impairs regulatory T cell function and increases susceptibility to allergic asthma. *Nat Med.* (2012) 18:1525–30. doi: 10.1038/nm.2896

- Yoshihara S, Kusuda S, Mochizuki H, Okada K, Nishima S, Simões EA, et al. Effect of palivizumab prophylaxis on subsequent recurrent wheezing in preterm infants. *Pediatrics*. (2013) 132:811–8. doi: 10.1542/peds.2013-0982
- Simões EA, Carbonell-Estrany X, Rieger CH, Mitchell I, Fredrick L, Groothuis JR, et al. The effect of respiratory syncytial virus on subsequent recurrent wheezing in atopic and nonatopic children. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2010) 126:256-62. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.05.026
- Scheltema NM, Nibbelke EE, Pouw J, Blanken MO, Rovers MM, Naaktgeboren CA, et al. RSV prevention in infancy and asthma in later life - Authors' reply. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2018) 6:e33. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(18)30232-7
- Mochizuki H, Kusuda S, Okada K, Yoshihara S, Furuya H, Simões EAF, et al. Palivizumab prophylaxis in preterm infants and subsequent recurrent wheezing. six-year follow-up study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2017) 196:29–38. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201609-1812OC
- Caballero MT, Jones MH, Karron RA, Hartert TV, Simões EA, Stein RT, et al. The impact of respiratory syncytial virus disease prevention on pediatric asthma. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (2016) 35:820–2. doi: 10.1097/INF.000000000001167
- Shi T, McAllister DA, O'Brien KL, Simoes EAF, Madhi SA, Gessner BD, et al. Global, regional, and national disease burden estimates of acute lower respiratory infections due to respiratory syncytial virus in young children in 2015: a systematic review and modelling study. *Lancet.* (2017) 390:946–58. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30938-8
- Byington CL, Wilkes J, Korgenski K, Sheng X. Respiratory syncytial virusassociated mortality in hospitalized infants and young children. *Pediatrics*. (2015) 135:e24–31. doi: 10.1542/peds.2014-2151
- Geoghegan S, Erviti A, Caballero MT, Vallone F, Zanone SM, Losada JV, et al. Mortality due to respiratory syncytial virus. burden and risk factors. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2017) 195:96–103. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201603-0658OC
- Caballero MT, Bianchi AM, Nuno A, Ferretti AJP, Polack LM, Remondino I, et al. Mortality in children in the community associated with acute respiratory infections. J Infect Dis. (2018) 219:358–364. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiy517
- Lozano R, Naghavi M, Foreman K, Lim S, Shibuya K, Aboyans V, et al. Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet*. (2012) 380:2095–128. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12) 61728-0
- Djelantik IG, Gessner BD, Sutanto A, Steinhoff M, Linehan M, Moulton LH, et al. Case fatality proportions and predictive factors for mortality among children hospitalized with severe pneumonia in a rural developing country setting. *J Trop Pediatr.* (2003) 49:327-32. doi: 10.1093/tropej/49.6.327
- 94. Effect of breastfeeding on infant and child mortality due to infectious diseases in less developed countries: a pooled analysis. WHO Collaborative Study team on the role of breastfeeding on the prevention of infant mortality. *Lancet.* (2000) 355:451-5. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)82011-5
- 95. Goldman AS, Smith CW. Host resistance factors in human milk. *J Pediatr*. (1973) 82:1082–90. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(73)80453-6
- 96. Schipper NG, Verhoef JC, Merkus FW. The nasal mucociliary clearance: relevance to nasal drug delivery. *Pharm Res.* (1991) 8:807–14.
- Munywoki PK, Koech DC, Agoti CN, Lewa C, Cane PA, Medley GF, et al. The source of respiratory syncytial virus infection in infants: a household cohort study in rural Kenya. J Infect Dis. (2014) 209:1685–92. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jit828
- Hall CB, Walsh EE, Long CE, Schnabel KC. Immunity to and frequency of reinfection with respiratory syncytial virus. J Infect Dis. (1991) 163:693–8.
- 99. McIntosh K, Masters HB, Orr I, Chao RK, Barkin RM. The immunologic response to infection with respiratory syncytial virus in infants. *J Infect Dis.* (1978) 138:24–32.
- 100. Klein MI, Bergel E, Gibbons L, Coviello S, Bauer G, Benitez A, et al. Differential gender response to respiratory infectionsand to the protective

effect of breast milk in preterm infants. *Pediatrics*. (2008) 121:e1510-6. doi: 10.1542/peds.2007-1757

- 101. Libster R, Bugna Hortoneda J, Laham FR, Casellas JM, Israele V, Polack NR, et al. Breastfeeding prevents severe disease in full term female infants with acute respiratory infection. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (2009) 28:131–4. doi: 10.1097/INF.0b013e31818a8a82
- 102. Sinha A, Madden J, Ross-Degnan D, Soumerai S, Platt R. Reduced risk of neonatal respiratory infections among breastfed girls but not boys. *Pediatrics*. (2003) 112:e303. doi: 10.1542/peds.112.4.e303
- 103. Wright AL, Holberg CJ, Martinez FD, Morgan WJ, Taussig LM. Breast feeding and lower respiratory tract illness in the first year of life. Group Health Medical Associates. *BMJ*. (1989) 299:946–9.
- 104. Acuña-Cordero R, Sossa-Briceño MP, Rodríguez-Martínez CE. Predictors of hospitalization for acute lower respiratory infections during the first two years of life in a population of preterm infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Early Hum Dev.* (2018) 127:53–7. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2018.10.003
- 105. Steinhoff MC, Omer SB, Roy E, El Arifeen S, Raqib R, Dodd C, et al. Neonatal outcomes after influenza immunization during pregnancy: a randomized controlled trial. CMAJ. (2012) 184:645–53. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.1 10754
- 106. Domínguez A, Soldevila N, Caylà JA, García-Cenoz M, Ferrús G, Sala-Farré MR, et al. Assessment of clinical symptoms in household contacts of confirmed pertussis cases. J Infect. (2017) 75:426-32. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2017.08.008
- 107. Nunes MC, Cutland CL, Jones S, Downs S, Weinberg A, Ortiz JR, et al. Efficacy of maternal influenza vaccination against all-cause lower respiratory tract infection hospitalizations in young infants: results from a randomized controlled trial. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2017) 65:1066–71. doi: 10.1093/cid/ cix497
- 108. Chu HY, Katz J, Tielsch J, Khatry SK, Shrestha L, LeClerq SC, et al. Clinical presentation and birth outcomes associated with respiratory syncytial virus infection in pregnancy. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0152015. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0152015
- 109. Chaw L, Kamigaki T, Burmaa A, Urtnasan C, Od I, Nyamaa G, et al. Burden of influenza and respiratory syncytial virus infection in pregnant women and infants under 6 months in mongolia: a prospective cohort study. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0148421. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0148421
- Polack FP. Respiratory syncytial virus during pregnancy. Clin Infect Dis. (2018) 66:1666–7. doi: 10.1093/cid/cix1091
- 111. Wheeler SM, Dotters-Katz S, Heine RP, Grotegut CA, Swamy GK. Maternal effects of respiratory syncytial virus infection during pregnancy. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2015) 21:1951–5. doi: 10.3201/eid2111.150497
- 112. Rodriguez-Martinez CE, Sossa-Briceño MP, Acuña-Cordero R. Relationship between meteorological conditions and respiratory syncytial virus in a tropical country. *Epidemiol Infect.* (2015) 143:2679–86. doi: 10.1017/S0950268814003793

Conflict of Interest Statement: FPP received consulting funds from Novavax, GSK, Pfizer, Sanofi, MedImmune, Janssen, Merck, VirBio, Daiichi Sankyo, and Bavarian Nordic.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Aranda and Polack. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Cytokines in the Respiratory Airway as Biomarkers of Severity and Prognosis for Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection: An Update

Yaneisi Vázquez¹, Liliana González¹, Loreani Noguera¹, Pablo A. González¹, Claudia A. Riedel², Pablo Bertrand³ and Susan M. Bueno^{1*}

¹ Millennium Institute on Immunology and Immunotherapy, Departamento de Genética Molecular y Microbiología, Facultad de Ciencias Biológicas, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile, ² Millennium Institute on Immunology and Immunotherapy, Departamento de Ciencias Biológicas, Facultad de Ciencias de la Vida, Universidad Andrés Bello, Santiago, Chile, ³ División de Pediatría, Unidad de Enfermedades Respiratorias Pediátricas, Facultad de Medicina, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

The human respiratory syncytial virus (hRSV) is one of the most important causes of upper and lower respiratory tract infections in children and the main cause of bronchiolitis worldwide. Disease manifestations caused by hRSV may vary from mild to severe, occasionally requiring admission and hospitalization in intensive care units. Despite the high morbidity rates associated to bronchiolitis, treatment options against hRSV are limited and there are no current vaccination strategies to prevent infection. Importantly, the early identification of high-risk patients can help improve disease management and prevent complications associated with hRSV infection. Recently, the characterization of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokine patterns produced during hRSV-related inflammatory processes has allowed the identification of potential prognosis biomarkers. A suitable biomarker should allow predicting the severity of the infection in a simple and opportune manner and should ideally be obtained from non-invasive samples. Among the cytokines associated with hRSV disease severity, IL-8, interferon-alpha (IFN-alpha), and IL-6, as well as the Th2-type cytokines thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP), IL-3, and IL-33 have been highlighted as molecules with prognostic value in hRSV infections. In this review, we discuss current studies that describe molecules produced by patients during hRSV infection and their potential as biomarkers to anticipate the severity of the disease caused by this virus.

Keywords: biomarker, cytokines, LRTI, hRSV, severity, prognosis

INTRODUCTION

The human respiratory syncytial virus (hRSV) is a viral agent predominantly involved in acute lower respiratory tract infections (LRTIs), frequently associated to bronchiolitis and pneumonia in children and infants (1, 2). HRSV is responsible for approimately 60% of all LRTIs in children under 5 years old and causes more than 80% of the reported cases in infants (3, 4). At the age of 2 years, almost all children have been infected with hRSV at least once, and disease severity among these children may vary from mild to severe manifestations, sometimes requiring hospitalization with oxygen administration or admission into intensive care units (5, 6). Moreover, hRSV infection may cause exacerbated airway

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Steven Varga, The University of Iowa, United States

Reviewed by:

Suresh Pallikkuth, University of Miami, United States Jun Chang, Ewha Womans University, South Korea

> *Correspondence: Susan M. Bueno sbueno@bio.puc.cl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Viral Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 15 December 2018 Accepted: 07 May 2019 Published: 04 June 2019

Citation:

Vázquez Y, González L, Noguera L, González PA, Riedel CA, Bertrand P and Bueno SM (2019) Cytokines in the Respiratory Airway as Biomarkers of Severity and Prognosis for Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection: An Update. Front. Immunol. 10:1154. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01154

79

diseases and has been associated with recurrent wheezing and asthma development (7, 8).

Several attempts to reduce the impact of hRSV-LRTI in health-care have been made. The first vaccine trial for hRSV was based on a formalin-inactivated hRSV formulation (FIhRSV) in the 1960's, but this formulation was unable to generate an effective immune response and conversely produced an exacerbated disease in children after hRSV infection (9). Since this first failed attempt, several other vaccination strategies have been addressed, ranging from live-attenuated viral approaches to recombinant proteins, as well as recombinant organisms using both, viral and bacterial vectors as immunoadjuvants (10). It is important to highlight a growing number of clinical vaccine trials in the last decades aiming to identify a protective approach (phase I and II, ClinicalTrials.gov 2017: Identifier: NCT03213405 and 2018 Identifier: NCT03636906) (2, 11). However, despite the significant progress achieved in this field, until now there are no commercially available vaccines against hRSV (12).

Regarding hRSV disease management in high-risk groups, prophylaxis based on neutralizing monoclonal antibodies has been implemented to prevent severe manifestations associated to hRSV-LRTI (13-15). Palivizumab and Motavizumab are two humanized monoclonal antibodies generated against the hRSV fusion protein F that have shown efficacy in preventing hRSV infection and the capacity to decrease the rate of hospitalization of hRSV-infected infants (16). However, only Palivizumab has been licensed to be used as a therapy against hRSV severe infections associated with bronchiolitis and pneumonia. Yet, it is unable to induce long-lasting protection in those treated and the costs associated to its use make difficult the implementation of this strategy as a first treatment option (14). Despite the existence of the neutralizing antibodies described above as prophylactic and therapeutic strategies, these approaches do not work as vaccines. Hence, to date there is no successful and affordable strategy available to control hRSV outbreaks, which represent an important public health problem worldwide (17, 18).

Therefore, strategies to prevent complications derived from hRSV infection and improve disease management are needed. Based on this premise, early diagnosis, and prediction of disease severity has raised considerable interest in researchers and the search for biological biomarkers to predict disease severity during hRSV infection. In this review we discuss the latest studies available in PubMed on potential prognosis biomarkers and revise the feasibility of including them during routine hRSV diagnosis.

CHARACTERISTICS AND PATHOGENESIS OF HRSV

HRSV is an enveloped, negative, single-stranded RNA virus belonging to the *Pneumoviridae* family (19, 20). The genome of hRSV has 10 genes encoding 11 proteins required for the replicative cycle of hRSV in infected cells (21, 22), as well as

for the modulation of the host immune response (23). Two hRSV subtypes have been identified, A and B, with the subtype A mostly associated to outbreaks during winter in countries with temperate climates (24, 25). hRSV is transmitted by direct contact or aerosol particles and once in the airways it replicates in mucosal epithelial cells, starting in the upper respiratory tract and then continuing to the lower respiratory tract (26). When hRSV arrives to the lower respiratory tract, viral antigen recognition by innate immune cells induce an inflammatory response, a process that is the result of complex interactions between the pathogen and host factors (27, 28). Lung inflammation is likely the result of a non-effective activation of the innate immunity by hRSV infection, mainly leading to Th2 and/or Th17 immune responses that generate mucus overproduction in the airways and enhance the inflammatory immune response in this tissue, leading to lung immunopathology (29, 30). After airway epithelial cells (AECs) recognize hRSV components (e.g. F protein and virus-related nucleic acids) through Tolllike receptors (i.e., TLR3 or 4) (Figure 1A) and retinoic-acid inducible gene I (RIG-I) receptors, signaling pathways activate transcription factors, such as interferon-regulatory factor 3 (IRF-3), and nuclear factor κB (NF-κB) (Figure 1A). In turn, these proteins promote the transcription of several anti-viral genes and soluble molecules (30, 31). In response to hRSV infection, AECs produce proinflammatory molecules such as type-I and type-III interferons (IFN) (31, 32). IFNs bind to IFN receptors (e.g., IFNAR) located on the surface of target cells and activate signaling pathways via Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 1 (STAT-1) and STAT-2 transcription factors. Ideally, STAT will bind to IFN-regulatory factors for a complete promotion in the transcription of interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs). Concomitantly, pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) and chemokines (e.g., CXCL8, CCL3, CCL2, and CCL5) are induced and secreted to the extracellular medium. Importantly, some of these molecules (i.e., CCL2 and CCL5) will promote the recruitment of leukocytes (i.e., monocytes and neutrophils), dendritic cells, macrophages, natural killer cells, and CD4⁺ T cells to the site of infection (31, 32).

Effective clearance of the hRSV requires a balanced Th1 and Th2 adaptive immune response, which promotes IFN- γ production by cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells (27, 33). However, during hRSV infection a weak type-I IFN response is elicited in the host, whereby viral replication is effective in infected cells and a pro-inflammatory Th2-response is generated (34) (**Figures 1A,B**). Because hRSV infection does not produce an effective memory response that confers protective immunity to subsequent viral exposure, re-infections are very frequent which lead to hyperreactivity, recurrent wheezing and an increased susceptibility of developing asthma (35).

CLINICAL MANIFESTATIONS OF HRSV INFECTION

Clinical manifestations of LRTI caused by hRSV might vary depending on the individual's co-morbidity, age or sex, air pollution exposure, parental asthma history or previous

Abbreviations: hRSV, Human respiratory syncytial virus; LRTI, Lower Respiratory Tract Infection; TSLP, Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin; IL, Interleukin; IFN, Interferon; BALF, Bronchoalveolar lavage fluid; NPA, Nasopharyngeal aspirate; TLR, Toll-like receptors; AECs, Airway epithelial cells; NF-κB, Nuclear factor κB.



(Continued)

FIGURE 1 | involved in the entry process of hRSV, which generates a fusion between host cell membrane and the virus. This fusion allows the entry of the viral genetic material to the cell, and the binding of dsRNA to TLR3. TLR3 triggers a cascade of signaling by the TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon-β (TRIF), MAPKs and NF-kB transcription factor. This signaling pathway promotes the IL-33 and TSLP production. HRSV also can infect Dendritic Cells (DCs) and the virus mediates its entry by TLR4 receptor, present on the surface of the DC. DCs are then infected and the genetic material of the virus enters the cell. dsRNA binds TLR7 receptor, present in the endosome produced by the fusion, which one TLR3 triggers a cascade of signaling by the MyD88 protein, MAPKs and NF-kB transcription factor or interferon-regulatory factor (IRF). Those signaling pathways promote the IL-12 and IFN-a production, respectively. (B) Infected AECs secrete several cytokines and chemokines that have been described as potential biomarkers. High IL-33 levels are produced by AECs and cells expressing ST2 receptor, such as ILC2s, respond to IL-33 through the production of IL-5 and IL-13, which promote the recruitment of eosinophils that generate disease exacerbation and is associated to ventilation requirement. The mast cells also express the ST2 receptor and when IL-33 binds to these receptors the production of IL-3 is promoted. AECs produce high levels of IL-8, promoting the recruitment neutrophils to the infection site, that could generate a degree of hypoxia, ventilation requirement and asthma development. TSLP production is mediate by AECs. This cytokine is recognized by the receptor TSLPR, which is expressed by macrophages, generating an exacerbation of the disease and asthma. Periostin is produced by AECs or eosinophils. This protein increases the expression of inflammatory mediators. Deposits of periostin in the lung is associated with increased severity of asthma. IL-6 is produced by AECs and promotes a Th2 response. This cytokine is involved in the promotion of naïve differentiation to CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. CD4⁺ T cells trigger the IL-13 production and Th2 overreaction response. CD8⁺ T cells increase the disease severity. IFN-α is produced by pDCs and AECs. At late times of infection, high levels of this cytokine produce high IL-10 levels by T cells. IL-12 is produced by pDCs and promotes the differentiation of naive T cells into Th1 cells and induces weak IFN-y-production by T cells. This low IFN-y-production generate a Th2 overreaction response. IL-3 promotes basophil and eosinophil production, triggering inflammatory and allergic diseases as asthma. IL-13 is produced by ILC2 cells and CD4⁺ T cells, among other. High IL-13 levels result in a Th2 overreaction response and the recruitment of eosinophils that generate exacerbated mucus production, airway hyperreactivity and inflammation. Different lines (dotted and solid) were used to facilitate understanding of the figure and the different signaling pathways involved.

infections, among others (2, 36). HRSV-LRTI might be accompanied by nasal congestion, rhinorrhea, cough, wheezing and shortness of breath (36, 37), with an increased risk of subsequent wheezing episodes that can last for several years after acute infection. Indeed, pathology induced in the airways by respiratory viruses is characterized by alterations in the respiratory epithelium, which stimulates the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines that promote the infiltration of immune cells into the lungs (38, 39). In some cases, this response might become exacerbated and bring temporary or lifetime changes in the lungs, leading to the recurrent wheezing episodes and asthma (3, 40). Although most viral infections induce a transient airway hyperresponsiveness (41, 42), those with a history of atopy or asthma might display enhanced virus-related inflammation with significant airway obstruction leading to a more severe disease (43, 44). Therefore, the identification of hRSV-infected patients susceptible to develop more severe diseases would be important for performing better clinical decisions.

DIAGNOSIS OF HRSV INFECTION

Early clinical diagnosis of hRSV infection could help to improve the care management of patients with respiratory infections and anticipate severe outcomes, according to the clinical predisposing factors, such as age. Currently, the available methods for hRSV diagnosis include tests that are based on molecular, virologic, or immunologic diagnostic.

Nowadays, the most used methods for hRSV diagnosis are based on direct immunofluorescence (DIF), reverse transcriptase-PCR (RT-PCR), immunochromatographic assay (CIA) and enzyme immune-assay (EIA). Other more complex methodologies that have been used more frequently in the last years are based in the detection of multiple analytes in highcomplexity multiplex assays (such as Luminex or Affimetrix), as these approaches are faster than viral culture (11, 45, 46). Some molecular assays, such as RT-PCR and Luminex have high diagnostic sensitivity as compared to cell culture technique, but only RT-PCR is used as reference technique (47). Although RT-PCR is the fastest, its implementation is expensive as compared to DIF, EIA, or CIA assays. However, while the latter are low cost and fast, their sensitivity is lower than that of RT-PCR or Luminex and, in some cases (i.e., DIF), the interpretation of the results is somewhat subjective and requires technical skills, time, and expertise (47).

Immunologic diagnosis of hRSV is based on the characterization of cellular and cytokine/chemokine profiles (48, 49). In this case, flow cytometry is the main technique used to identify the cell types present in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) and peripheric blood samples of patients with hRSV infection. Cells recruited to the lungs include neutrophils, dendritic cells, T and B cells, alveolar macrophages and monocytes (10, 35). Clinical studies with hRSV infected children have shown an increased amount of neutrophils (CD11b⁺, CD18⁺, and CD54⁺) (50), alveolar macrophages (expressing TNF- α) (51), monocytes (CD69⁺) (52) and B cells (53) infiltrating the infected airways. Contrarily, the presence of T cells (CD4⁺ and CD8⁺) and plasmacytoid dendritic cells (DCs, HLA-DR⁺, CD123⁺/CD11c⁻) significantly decrease in peripheral blood of infected children, as compared to healthy children control groups (54, 55). Besides the characterization of the cells infiltrating the airways, the cytokines/chemokine profile observed in the infected tissue is also informative. The main cytokines evaluated in the BALFs of hRSV infected individuals are mainly IL-2, IL-12, IFN-y, IL-8, IL-6, and TNF- α (35). Importantly, all these cytokines can be evaluated by flow cytometry, ELISA, RT-PCR, or Luminex (56-58).

The types of samples used to detect hRSV or immune-related markers can be nasal washes, nasopharyngeal aspirates (NPA), nasopharyngeal swabs, BALFs, serum and peripheral blood (11, 45, 46). However, cytokines as biomarkers should be assessed at the site of infection (upper and lower respiratory tract) and to a lower extent in peripheric blood. The role of the above-mentioned cytokines during infection is discussed below in the following sections.

SEVERITY PROGNOSIS IN HRSV INFECTION

Among the patients diagnosed with LRTI, a significant number of hRSV-infected children treated as outpatients will require additional medical attention due to respiratory complications. Furthermore, a significant percentage of diagnosed patients will display recurring wheezing episodes and other complications in the following months after the first LRTI episode (59, 60). It is worth mentioning that these patients can not be identified early after infection due to a lack of accurate tools for predicting disease severity. Furthermore, at present there is no consensus on predicting the outcome of patients with LRTI caused by hRSV, which represents a problem for disease management due to the rapid evolution of the disease in which mechanical ventilation might be unexpectedly required in the course of 24 hours or less (61). Currently, methods that are based on clinical parameters used by physicians are widely accepted to support clinical decisions (62). However, these parameters may be somewhat subjective and are not accurate enough to perform a precise categorization or prognosis of disease severity (63, 64). To address this problem, biomarkers within samples of patients might contribute to a better diagnosis and could help physicians take more accurate decisions, increasing the possibility of obtaining better outcomes (4, 65). In line with this notion, in the last years several research groups have focused on identifying an accurate method for determining the severity and progression of LRTI by hRSV (62, 66-68). Below, we describe diverse parameters and soluble molecules currently used to assess disease severity in hRSV-infected patients (Table 1).

Clinical Score as a Biomarker Related to Disease Severity

The use of prediction models to calculate the risk of severe outcome in LRTI in children has been previously implemented based on the clinical characteristics of patients, radiological findings, and laboratory results (77). In the last 10 years, remarkable progress in diagnostics has been achieved thanks to the availability of transcriptional profiles that have allowed establishing fingerprints related to disease progression and severity caused by hRSV infection (78). Among the available methods based on transcriptomic approaches, the "molecular distance to health" (MDTH) has shown to be a promising diagnostic tool for respiratory tract infections (68, 79). The MDTH is a tool designed to measure alterations in the transcriptional profile of immune cells (i.e., neutrophils, cytotoxic cells, and T-cells) obtained from patients (80). Data is obtained from the test as a single score that is compared with a basal score from healthy controls. Importantly, MDTH scores performed during the first days of hRSV infection have been able to predict disease severity in terms of hospitalization days and intensive care requirements (78).

Microbial Factors as Severity Biomarkers

It is well known that the higher microbial load at the site of infection, the greater the possibility to cause tissue damage, which is related to worse prognosis. Based on this premise, several

research groups have tried to demonstrate a direct relationship between viral loads and the severity of the disease (81), but the conclusions are somewhat controversial. Different studies have shown a direct correlation between the increase of viral loads with more severe clinical manifestations (81-83). In fact, these studies showed that high hRSV viral loads at day 3 are significantly associated with requirement for intensive care and respiratory failure (84). In contrast, studies, such as (69, 85) and Piedra et al. have reported the opposite, where high hRSV loads at the beginning of the infection correlate with protective immune response and less severe disease progression (86). These findings raise the discussion about the role of viral loads in disease progression and the possibility of considering this factor as a potential biomarker to determine disease severity in hRSV-LRTI, as viral loads could be leading the host immune response to the virus

Soluble Proteins as Biomarkers for Disease Severity

In the last few years, the analysis of protein expression patterns has become one of the most explored fields in diagnosis. The samples used to obtain the protein expression patterns range from blood to nasopharyngeal samples, with both suggesting helpful insights into the identification of molecules related to the severity of the infection. For example, increased levels of serum transaminases, aminotransferases and antidiuretic hormones have been related to severe cases of hRSV bronchiolitis (70, 71). Furthermore, increased levels of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) in nasopharyngeal samples has also shown to have a predictive value of 88% in determining the severity of the disease in young children with bronchiolitis (72, 73). Another molecule proposed as a disease severity biomarker is mucin 5AC (MUC5AC), a highly glycosylated protein present in the airway mucus (74). This protein has been reported to be detected in nasal aspirates obtained from hRSV-infected children and its presence and concentration is correlated to disease severity caused by hRSV (75). Taken together, several soluble molecules show a correlation with the severity of hRSV-related disease and can be easily detected in samples that are simple to obtain, and thus may be used as biomarkers of disease severity related to infections caused by hRSV.

Pro-inflammatory Cytokines as Biomarkers for Disease Severity in hRSV Infections

During hRSV infection, the host innate immune response generated against the virus can be unbalanced and ultimately detrimental to the host. Non-optimal responses against the virus are Th2-like responses with the generation of cytokines, which in turn can recruit numerous pro-inflammatory immune cells (35, 56). Furthermore, several studies have reported an increase in the levels of Th2-like cytokines in different types of samples (BALF, serum, blood, plasma, nasopharyngeal, or aspirate washes), which can be correlated with disease severity in children. Such cytokines, which could be used as prognosis biomarkers are IL-33, IL-8, TSLP, IL-6, periostin, and IFN- α . Those biomarkers could predict hRSV disease severity in children

Marker	Sample type	Market for	References
	Nasal washes	Disease progression in hRSV-LRTI.	(69)
Transaminases, aminotransferases and antidiuretic hormones	Serum and nasopharyngeal	Bronchiolitis caused by hRSV	(70, 71)
Lactate dehydrogenase	Nasopharyngeal	Bronchiolitis caused by hRSV in children.	(72, 73)
MUC5AC	Mucus	Severity disease caused by hRSV infection	(74, 75)
Neutotrophins (BDNF and NGF)	BALF	Severity disease caused by hRSV infection	(76)
		Developed asthma later hRSV infection	

BDNF, Brain-derived neurotrophic factor; NGF, nerve growth factor.

(**Table 2**). Other cytokines, such as IL-12, IL-3, and IL-13 could also be potential biomarkers, although more clinical studies are required (**Table 3**). Next, we will explain further how some of these cytokines could be useful to predict the severity of hRSV infection.

Interleukin-33 (IL-33)

IL-33 is constitutively expressed by endothelial and epithelial cells. The main function of this cytokine is the initiation and development of the innate and adaptive Th2 type immune response (103). Cells expressing the ST2 receptor respond to IL-33, including mast cells, eosinophils, and basophils, among others (104). Type-2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2s) are also targeted by IL-33 to produce Th2-type cytokines (IL-6, IL-8, IL-5, IL-13), which in turn promote a Th2 response with eosinophil recruitment, generating an exacerbated disease (105) (Figure 1B). Recent studies with mice in which IL-33 was neutralized during hRSV infection, showed that severe pathology was not induced and that mice treated with IL-33 during hRSV infection quickly developed the disease, resulting in more severe clinical outcome (35, 88). Interestingly, Saravia et al. measured IL-33 levels in NPA and showed a link with ventilation requirement in infants hospitalized by bronchiolitis caused by hRSV (87). In 2015, Bertrand et al. performed a study in children with bronchiolitis caused by hRSV and detected high levels of IL-33 expression levels in NPA in patients with a family history of atopy (66). García-García et al. measured IL-33 levels from NPA in children infected with hRSV, associating bronchiolitis with high levels of this cytokine. Furthermore, both studies describe that IL-33 cytokine is elevated when coinfection occurred (88). Taken together, these results indicate that IL-33 could be a good biomarker to determine the severity and prognosis during bronchiolitis caused by hRSV.

Interleukin-8 (IL-8)

IL-8 has a mayor chemotactic role, and is mainly produced by monocytes, endothelial cells, macrophages, and T cells (106, 107). IL-8 binds to G protein-coupled receptors CXCR1 and CXCR2 expressed by cells that include monocytes, neutrophils, endothelial cells, macrophages, and T cells, among others (108, 109) (**Figure 1B**). During an infection with hRSV, McNamara et al. found that the concentration of IL-8 remains elevated during the disease, even when the number and recruitment of neutrophils ultimately decreased (110). Elevated IL-8 levels (in nasopharyngeal samples) have been widely correlated with disease severity caused by hRSV infection, including the risk of mechanical ventilation (4, 90). In 2013, Díaz et al. found high IL-8 levels in NPA in children with severe hRSV bronchiolitis as compared to controls and patients with mild disease manifestations. More specifically, they observed an increase in IL-8 in a group of patients with severe disease (111), which may suggest that higher levels of this cytokine relate to higher severity of hRSV infection. Tabarani et al. identified in nasopharyngeal washes increased levels of IL-6, IL-8, and TNF- α associated to hRSV disease severity in young children (89). In this study, the authors associated the severity of disease with the age of the individuals, chronic diseases and elevated concentrations of IL-8, as well as other molecules (89). In another study, which was performed in children with severe hRSV infection, Brand et al. assessed the levels of IL-8 in plasma and NPA and found an increase in IL-8 in the plasma of children with severe disease, as compared to children with mild or moderate disease (48). In 2015, Díaz et al. performed another study in children with bronchiolitis caused by hRSV and Rhinovirus (RV). This study showed higher IL-8 levels in NPA of children infected with both, hRSV and RV than children infected with RV alone, which was associated with more days requiring O₂ treatment (92). Based on this study, it can be suggested that high IL-8 levels in children infected hRSV will act as a good predictor for determining the days that requiring O2 treatment. In 2016, Huang et al. performed a clinical study that included 96 patients with asthma-chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and 35 healthy controls. Their results showed an increment of IL-8 and other cytokine levels that were related to the severity of airway diseases. The researchers suggest that IL-8 could be a potential marker for the evaluation of asthma and COPD (91). There are not new clinical studies that correlate high levels of this cytokine with the disease severity.

Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin (TSLP)

TSLP is expressed by several cell types, but mainly by epithelial cells and keratinocytes (112, 113). Two isoforms have been described for this cytokine: a long and a short form of TSLP (114). The short isoform is constitutively expressed in several tissues, particularly in those that are highly sensitive to inflammation. Importantly, the long isoform of TSLP has been widely correlated with exacerbated immune responses and the establishment of allergic and asthma in patients with atopic

TABLE 2 | Pro-inflammatory cytokines as prognosis biomarkers in respiratory diseases.

Cytokine	Sample type	Biomarker for	References
L-33	Nasal aspirates	Risk for asthma or severe hRSV disease in children after reinfection.	(87)
		Ventilation requirement in infants hospitalized by bronchiolitis caused by hRSV	
	NPA	Bronchiolitis, asthma, and allergic diseases.	(88)
		Allergic inflammation.	(66)
8	Plasma	Predictors of mechanical ventilator requirement during hRSV infection and bronchiolitis.	(4, 48)
	Nasopharyngeal wash	Severity during hRSV infection.	(89)
	Plasma and nasal secretion	Prognosis for children evolving to bronchiolitis by hRSV.	(90)
	Plasma	Severity of airway diseases, asthma and COPD.	(91)
	NPA	Predictive value for the number of days with need of supplemental oxygen.	(92)
SLP	NPA	Severe bronchiolitis by hRSV.	(93)
	NPA	Increased infant hospitalization and disease severity.	(88)
	BALF	Asthma development by hRSV.	(94, 95)
Periostin	NPA	Severe bronchiolitis by hRSV.	(93)
	NPA	Increased infant hospitalization	(88)
	Bronchial and nasal cells	Persistent or uncontrolled asthma in children.	(96)
	Serum	Persistent or uncontrolled asthma in children.	(97, 98)
	Tracheal aspirates and nasal wash	Pulmonary hypertension and prognosis during hRSV bronchiolitis.	(99)
6	Blood, plasma and serum	Increased infant hospitalization and severe hRSV bronchiolitis.	(4)
	Nasopharyngeal wash	Severity during hRSV infection.	(89)
	NPA	High hRSV disease severity.	(100)
	NPA	Predictive value for the number of days with need of supplemental oxygen.	(35, 92)
-N-α	Blood	Severity of the disease in children under 2 years infected by hRSV.	(101)
	Blood and nasopharyngeal swabs	More severe illness and recurrent wheezing in in hRSV bronchiolitis.	(89, 102)

BALF, Bronchoalveolar lavage fluid; NPA, Nasopharyngeal aspirate.

dermatitis (95) (Figure 1B). Asthma may result as a consequence of different factors in children. However, a possible association with viral infections has gained increased attention of researchers in the last decade (88). At present, there is increasing evidence suggesting an association between TSLP elicited upon infection with hRSV or RV and the development of asthma (88, 94). However, it still remains to be elucidated whether asthma favors severe viral disease or if asthma is the result of severe disease elicited during respiratory infection. Lee et al. reported that viral antigen recognition triggers a signaling cascade involving the NF-kB nuclear factor and retinoic acid induced gene 1 (RIG-1) (115). The activation of this cascade resulted in TSLP production and a strong Th2 response, contributing to the pathophysiology observed in severe bronchiolitis, which eventually in some cases progressed to asthma (115). Later, García-García et al. showed an association between TSLP, together with periostin and IL-33, with disease severity in the infection of the respiratory tract of children. This study showed a correlation between increased levels of TSLP with hRSV bronchiolitis and coinfections with rhinovirus, as well as with severe disease and intensive care unit (ICU) admission (88).

Interleukin-6 (IL-6)

IL-6 is a soluble mediator that can be produced by macrophages and epithelial cells (116). After its synthesis, IL-6 moves to the liver through the bloodstream and generates a pleiotropic effect over immunity and inflammation (117). This cytokine is

involved in the promotion of the differentiation of naïve CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells and is an important link between innate and acquired immunity (117) (Figure 1B). In 2013, Tabarani et al. evaluated the levels of IL-6 in nasopharyngeal wash samples from children with LRTI and hRSV. Interestingly, they found a correlation between the magnitude of the clinical manifestations elicited by hRSV infection and high levels of IL-6 amongst other inflammatory mediators (CCL2, TNF-α, CXCL8, IL-10) (89). On the other hand, Brown et al. have suggested that high levels of IL-6 in the plasma could indicate a higher probability of infant hospitalization and severe bronchiolitis caused by hRSV (4). In 2016, Lu et al. also detected high levels of IL-6 in NPA of patients with hRSV and this was correlated with higher hRSV disease severity (100). Increased levels of IL-6 and other cytokines have also been found in nasal lavage fluids of children with LRTI, particularly those which needed O₂ treatment (35, 118). Other studies performed in children with bronchiolitis caused by hRSV infection showed that high IL-6 levels in nasal samples and BALF correlated with the need for ventilation and with a higher degree of hypoxia (35, 92). In this study, the authors suggested that IL-6 and other cytokines assessed could be reliable biomarkers to determine the severity of hRSV infection.

Periostin

Periostin is a protein that is expressed at basal levels in almost all human tissues (119). Its expression is also found in the respiratory epithelium and is elevated levels in asthmatic children

TABLE 3 Pro-inflammatory cytokines as potential prognosis biomarkers in
respiratory diseases.

Cytokine	Sample type	Potential Biomarker for	References
IL-12	BALF	Recurrent wheezing due to hRSV infection.	(66)
		Developed asthma later hRSV infection.	
		Developed asthma in infants with bronchiolitis caused hRSV infection.	(35)
IL-3	BALF	Recurrent wheezing due to hRSV infection.	(66)
		Developed asthma later hRSV infection.	
	NPA	Severe bronchiolitis by hRSV.	(100)
IL-13	Nasal aspirates	Ventilation requirement in infants hospitalized by bronchiolitis caused by hRSV.	(87)
	Blood	Asthma diagnosis.	(100)
	Nasal washes	High IL-13 levels are elevated in children with hRSV LRTI.	(35)

BALF, Bronchoalveolar lavage fluid; NPA, Nasopharyngeal aspirate.

(120). This protein is produced by eosinophils in response to IL-4 an IL-13 signaling (121) (Figure 1B). The role of periostin is related to the generation of allergic inflammation and the development of a Th2 phenotype, among others (120) (Figure 1B). Periostin has been associated with asthma severity and increased levels of periostin have been found in the serum of children with exacerbated manifestations of asthma (122). Lopez-Guisa and colleagues evaluated periostin levels in bronchial and nasal cells from asthmatic, non-asthmatic, atopic, and healthy children and found a significant increase in periostin levels in asthmatic children (3.7 times), as compared to the other groups (96). These results were confirmed in studies that showed a correlation between high levels of periostin in the serum with persistent or uncontrolled asthma in children (97, 98). In fact, clinical manifestations of asthma are considered to be very similar to bronchiolitis symptoms (123). These findings suggest that asthma could be a sequel of severe bronchiolitis in children (123). García-García et al. showed in NPAs that increased concentrations of periostin were associated with more severe hRSV infection, as compared to healthy children (88, 93). More recently, periostin levels were associated with the severity of viral bronchiolitis, as children with severe pulmonary hypertension had high levels of this protein as compared to children with mild pulmonary hypertension (8,887 \pm 1,582 pg/ml vs. 5,016 \pm 1,017 pg/ml) (99). These results indicate that periostin could be another good biomarker for the prognosis of hRSV infection and particularly bronchiolitis.

Interferon Alpha (IFN-α)

IFNs are a large family of pleiotropic cytokines. Particularly, IFN- α and IFN- β are type-I interferon family members produced by epithelial cells and most of immune cells (124). To exert its biological action, type-I IFNs binds to the type-I IFN

receptor (IFNAR1/2) (125), which triggers the expression of pro-inflammatory molecules and antiviral genes, such as those involved in the degradation of viral RNA (126). Importantly, the recognition of the hRSV non-structural protein 1 (NS1) has been correlated with impaired IFN- α function, particularly through the induction of the miRNA miR-29a, which inhibits the expression of the IFN- α receptor in infected cells (101). These studies suggest that low levels of IFN- α could be related to the severity of hRSV infection and hence could be used as a biomarker. However, other studies based on the transcriptional profile of blood samples and nasopharyngeal swabs, report contrasting results, indicating that type-I interferons, particularly IFN- α/β are increased in hRSV bronchiolitis and correlate with severe illness and recurrent wheezing (89, 102). These studies suggest that interferon signaling pathways may serve as important biomarkers associated to hRSV loads and severity (102). Resolving the discrepancies found among different studies analyzing the role of IFN-α in hRSV disease severity will require further investigations that ideally relate transcriptional findings with protein levels in blood and nasopharyngeal samples.

OTHER POTENCIAL PRO-INFLAMMATORY CYTOKINES AS BIOMARKERS FOR SEVERITY CAUSED BY HRSV

Besides the cytokines described above as potential biomarkers for hRSV severity (4), recent studies have preliminarily pointed out other pro-inflammatory cytokines that show positive correlations with hRSV severity and are potential prognosis biomarkers for respiratory diseases (**Table 3**). Some of these cytokines are described below.

Interleukin-12 (IL-12)

IL-12 is produced in response to viral or bacterial infections by DCs and other antigen-presenting cells and is involved in promoting naïve T cell differentiation into Th1 T cells (127) (**Figure 1B**). Bertrand et al. have shown that nasal and lung samples display increased levels of IL-12 in LRTI patients. Furthermore, they showed for first time that high levels of IL-12p40 (in BALF) and other cytokine could be correlated with recurrent wheezing and the development of asthma in infants with bronchiolitis caused by hRSV infection (35, 66).

Interleukin-3 (IL-3)

IL-3 is mainly expressed by mast cells and activated T cells located in the airways (128). This cytokine induces an increase in basophil and eosinophil production (129) (**Figure 1B**) and is involved in the pathogenesis of asthma (128). In 2015, Bertrand et al. described for the first-time the presence of high levels of IL-3 in BALF and NPA obtained from children <9 months with acute bronchiolitis caused by hRSV. Furthermore, the authors found a correlation between high levels of IL-3 with episodes of recurring wheezing and the development of asthma in the future (66). Lu et al. also found high levels of IL-3 in NPA in children with bronchiolitis caused by hRSV and an increased risk of asthma, which was associated with higher disease severity

(100). The results of this study suggest that IL-3 could be involved in the development of chronic airway inflammatory diseases and that it could be used to predict clinical outcomes in hRSV-LRTI. Consistently, the authors suggested that IL-3 could be eventually used to predict the clinical outcome of patients.

Interleukin-13 (IL-13)

In the lungs, IL-13 is the mediator of eosinophilic inflammation, mucosal secretion, and bronchial hyper reactivity (130). It has been observed that IL-13 is elevated in COPD, as well as in asthma and other lung diseases (131). Importantly, IL-13 is produced in response to IL-33 signaling and is released from various cells, including alveolar macrophages, basophils, mast cells, eosinophils, ILC2 and CD4⁺ T cells (132) (Figure 1B). In 2015, Saravia et al. linked high levels of IL-13 and IL-33 with the requirement for ventilation in infants hospitalized with bronchiolitis caused by hRSV (87). Consistently, in an animal model of hRSV (BALB/c mice), an up-regulation of IL-13 has been reported, which results in the recruitment of eosinophils to the airways that generates exacerbated mucus production, lung hyperreactivity and airway inflammation (132). A more recent study performed in 2016 evaluated IL-13 levels in the blood of children being treated for respiratory symptoms following severe hRSV bronchiolitis and found that IL-13 could be used as a clinical asthma diagnosis marker (100).

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Biomarkers for classifying the severity of respiratory tract infections have become a global need due to the lack of effective strategies to decrease the impact of such diseases and the need for improving the management of patients and their potential outcomes. Most efforts point to the development of highly sensitive, rapid, and low-cost techniques that allow predicting in an accurate way the prognosis of patients with respiratory

REFERENCES

- Simões EA. Treatment and prevention of respiratory syncytial virus lower respiratory tract infection: long-term effects on respiratory outcomes. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2001) 163:S14–7. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.163.supplement_1.2011112
- Mazur NI, Bont L, Cohen AL, Cohen C, Von Gottberg A, Groome MJ, et al. Severity of respiratory syncytial virus lower respiratory tract infection with viral coinfection in HIV-uninfected children. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2016) 64:443–50. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciw756
- Zhong Q, Feng H, Lu Q, Liu X, Zhao Q, Du Y, et al. Recurrent wheezing in neonatal pneumonia is associated with combined infection with Respiratory Syncytial Virus and *Staphylococcus aureus* or *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:995. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-19386-y
- Brown PM, Schneeberger DL, Piedimonte G. Biomarkers of respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infection: specific neutrophil and cytokine levels provide increased accuracy in predicting disease severity. *Paediat Respir Rev.* (2015) 16:232–40. doi: 10.1016/j.prrv.2015.05.005
- Glezen WP, Taber LH, Frank AL, Kasel JA. Risk of primary infection and reinfection with respiratory syncytial virus. *Am J Dis Children*. (1986) 140:543–6. doi: 10.1001/archpedi.1986.02140200053026
- Smyth RL, Peter JM, Openshaw. Bronchiolitis. Lancet. (2006) 368:312–322. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69077-6

infections. Nowadays, an important number of molecules have been identified which could help asses disease severity, however their specificity and sensitivity remain challenging and are not strong enough yet to accurately predict disease outcome and become a canonic biomarker for predicting LRTI severity associated to hRSV. Hence, more studies are needed to establish the pro-inflammatory cytokine and cytokine expression patterns that are related to disease development during the different stages of hRSV infection. Ideally, particular pro-inflammatory cytokine profiles will ultimately allow determining early on during infection the severity of disease caused by hRSV.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YV, LG, and LN are responsible for the writing of this review article. PG, CR, and PB are responsible for reviewing the article and SB is the leading investigator and assisted in the organization and revision of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This review was supported by grant numbers 1170964, 1190864 and 1161525 from the National Fund for Scientific and Technological Development (FONDECYT) program of the Ministry of Education of Chile; Grant 13CTI-21526 from the INNOVA-CORFO program of the Chilean Ministry of Economy and Millennium Institute on Immunology and Immunotherapy, grant P09/016-F.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the Pediatric Division and School of Medicine from Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile for the help and the clínical samples. We are grateful to Trinidad Celis (Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile) who generated the graphic art.

- Matsumoto K, Inoue H. Viral infections in asthma and COPD. Respir Investig. (2014) 52:92–100. doi: 10.1016/j.resinv.2013.08.005
- Kokturk N, Bozdayi G, Yilmaz S, Dogan B, Gulbahar O, Rota S, et al. Detection of adenovirus and respiratory syncytial virus in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: exacerbation versus stable condition. *Mol. Med. Rep.*(2015) 12:3039–46. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2015.3681
- Kim HW, Canchola JG, Brandt CD, Pyles G, Chanock RM, Jensen K, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus disease in infants despite prior administration of antigenic inactivated vaccine. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* (1969) 89:422–34. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a120955
- Rey-Jurado E, Soto J, Gálvez N, Kalergis AM. A safe and efficient BCG vectored vaccine to prevent the disease caused by the human respiratory syncytial virus. *Hum Vacc Immunotherapeutics*. (2017) 13:2092– 7. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2017.1334026
- Griffiths C, Drews SJ, Marchant DJ. Respiratory syncytial virus: infection, detection, and new options for prevention and treatment. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* (2017) 30:277–319. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00010-16
- Mazur NI, Higgins D, Nunes MC, Melero JA, Langedijk AC, Horsley N, et al. The respiratory syncytial virus vaccine landscape: lessons from the graveyard and promising candidates. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* (2018) 18:e295–311. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(18)30292-5
- 13. Touch SM, Spitzer AR. Palivizumab, a humanized respiratory syncytial virus monoclonal antibody, reduces hospitalization from respiratory

syncytial virus infection in high-risk infants. Clin. Pediatr. (Phila). (1999) 38:556.

- Resch B. Product review on the monoclonal antibody palivizumab for prevention of respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Hum Vacc Immunotherapeutics*. (2017) 13:2138–49. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2017.1337614
- Simões EA, Bont L, Manzoni P, Fauroux B, Paes B, Figueras-Aloy J, et al. Past, present and future approaches to the prevention and treatment of respiratory syncytial virus infection in children. *Infect Dis Ther.* (2018) 7:87–120. doi: 10.1007/s40121-018-0188-z
- O'Brien KL, Chandran A, Weatherholtz R, Jafri HS, Griffin MP, Bellamy T, et al. Efficacy of motavizumab for the prevention of respiratory syncytial virus disease in healthy Native American infants: a phase 3 randomised double-blind placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* (2015) 15:1398–408. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(15)00247-9
- World Health Organization. Meeting of the strategic advisory group of experts on immunization, april 2014—conclusions and recommendations. *Weekly Epidemiol Record.* (2014) 89:221–236.
- WHO. WHO Informal Consultation on Surveillance of Respiratory Syncytial Virus on the WHO Global Influenza Surveillance and Response System (GISRS) Platform. Geneva, Switzerland. (2016) p. 25–27.
- Chanock R, Roizman B, Myers R. Recovery from infants with respiratory illness of a virus related to chimpanzee coryza agent (CCA). *Am J Epidemiol*. (1957) 66:281–90. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a119901
- Muñoz-Durango N, Pizarro-Ortega MS, Rey-Jurado E, Díaz FE, Bueno SM, Kalergis AM. Patterns of antibody response during natural RSV infection: insights for the development of new antibody-based therapies. *Exp Opin Investig Drugs*. (2018) 27:721–31. doi: 10.1080/13543784.2018.1511699
- Grosfeld H, Hill MG, Collins PL. RNA replication by respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) is directed by the N, P, and L proteins; transcription also occurs under these conditions but requires RSV superinfection for efficient synthesis of full-length mRNA. J Virol. (1995) 69:5677–86.
- González PJ, Carreno LM, Bueno SA, Riedel CA, Kalergis AM. Understanding respiratory syncytial virus infection to improve treatment and immunity. *Curr Mol Med.* (2013) 13:1122–39. doi: 10.2174/1566524011313070007
- 23. Vandini S, Calamelli E, Faldella G, Lanari M. Immune and inflammatory response in bronchiolitis due to respiratory Syncytial Virus and Rhinovirus infections in infants. *Paediatr Respir Rev.* (2017) 24:60–4. doi: 10.1016/j.prrv.2016.11.006
- 24. Sullender WM. Respiratory syncytial virus genetic and antigenic diversity. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* (2000) 13:1–15. doi: 10.1128/CMR.13.1.1
- Nolan T, Borja-Tabora C, Lopez P, Weckx L, Ulloa-Gutierrez R, Lazcano-Ponce E, et al. Prevalence and incidence of respiratory syncytial virus and other respiratory viral infections in children aged 6 months to 10 years with influenza-like illness enrolled in a randomized trial. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2015) 60:e80–9. doi: 10.1093/cid/civ065
- Eiland LS. Respiratory syncytial virus: diagnosis, treatment and prevention. J Pediatric Pharmacol Therape. (2009) 14:75–85. doi: 10.5863/1551-6776-14.2.75
- Bueno SM, González PA, Cautivo KM, Mora JE, Leiva ED, Tobar HE, et al. Protective T cell immunity against respiratory syncytial virus is efficiently induced by recombinant BCG. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2008) 105:20822–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0806244105
- Taleb SA, Al Thani AA, Al Ansari K, Yassine HM. Human respiratory syncytial virus: pathogenesis, immune responses, and current vaccine approaches. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis.* (2018) 37:1817–27. doi: 10.1007/s10096-018-3289-4
- Kristjansson S, Bjarnarson SP, Wennergren G, Palsdottir AH, Arnadottir T, Haraldsson A, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus and other respiratory viruses during the first 3 months of life promote a local TH2-like response. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2005) 116:805–11. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2005.07.012
- Feng S, Zeng D, Zheng J, Zhao D. microRNAs: mediators and therapeutic targets to airway hyper reactivity after respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Front Microbiol.* (2018) 9:02177. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.02177
- 31. Lay MK, Bueno SM, Gálvez N, Riedel CA, Kalergis AM. New insights on the viral and host factors contributing to the airway pathogenesis caused by the respiratory syncytial virus. *Crit Rev Microbiol.* (2016) 42:800–12. doi: 10.3109/1040841X.2015.1055711

- Jartti T, Smits HH, Bonnelykke K, Cavkaytar O, Elenius V, Konradsen JR, et al. Bronchiolitis needs a revisit: distinguishing between virus entities and their treatments. *Allergy*. (2018) 74:40–52. doi: 10.1111/all.13624
- Schmidt ME, Varga SM. The CD8 T cell response to respiratory virus infections. Front Immunol. (2018) 9:678. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00678
- Aoyagi M, Shimojo N, Sekine K, Nishimuta T, Kohno Y. Respiratory syncytial virus infection suppresses IFN-γ production of γδ T cells. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2003) 131:312–7. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2249.2003.02062.x
- Russell CD, Unger SA, Walton M, Schwarze J. The human immune response to respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* (2017) 30:481– 502. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00090-16
- Wright M, Piedimonte G. Respiratory syncytial virus prevention and therapy: past, present, and future. *Pediatr Pulmonol.* (2011) 46:324–47. doi: 10.1002/ppul.21377
- Mohapatra SS, Boyapalle S. Epidemiologic, experimental, and clinical links between respiratory syncytial virus infection and asthma. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* (2008) 21:495–504. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00054-07
- Giuffrida MJ, Valero N, Mosquera J, Alvarez de Mon M, Chacín B, Espina LM, et al. Increased cytokine/chemokines in serum from asthmatic and nonasthmatic patients with viral respiratory infection. *Influenza Other Respi Viruses*. (2014) 8:116–22. doi: 10.1111/irv.12155
- Newton AH, Cardani A, Braciale TJ. The host immune response in respiratory virus infection: balancing virus clearance and immunopathology. In: Hussell T, Grabiec AM, editors. *Seminars in Immunopathology*. Berlin: Springer (2016) p. 471–82.
- Jartti T, Gern JE. Role of viral infections in the development and exacerbation of asthma in children. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2017) 140:895–906. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.08.003
- Bønnelykke K, Vissing NH, Sevelsted A, Johnston SL, Bisgaard H. Association between respiratory infections in early life and later asthma is independent of virus type. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2015) 136:81–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.02.024
- Tekkanat KK, Maassab HF, Cho DS, Lai JJ, John A, Berlin A, et al. IL-13-induced airway hyperreactivity during respiratory syncytial virus infection is STAT6 dependent. *J Immunol.* (2018) 166:3542–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.5.3542
- Wu P, Hartert TV. Evidence for a causal relationship between respiratory syncytial virus infection and asthma. *Exp Rev Anti Infect Ther.* (2011) 9:731–45. doi: 10.1586/eri.11.92
- Knudson CJ, Varga SM. The relationship between respiratory syncytial virus and asthma. Vet Pathol. (2015) 52:97–106. doi: 10.1177/0300985814520639
- Chartrand C, Tremblay N, Renaud C, Papenburg J. Diagnostic accuracy of rapid antigen detection tests for respiratory syncytial virus infection: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Microbiol. (2015) 53:3738–49. doi: 10.1128/JCM.01816-15
- 46. González LA, Vázquez Y, Mora JE, Palavecino CE, Bertrand P, Ferrés M, et al. Evaluation of monoclonal antibodies that detect conserved proteins from Respiratory Syncytial Virus, Metapneumovirus and Adenovirus in human samples. J Virol Methods. (2018) 254:51–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jviromet.2018.01.011
- Aslanzadeh J, Zheng X, Li H, Tetreault J, Ratkiewicz I, Meng S, et al. Prospective evaluation of rapid antigen tests for diagnosis of respiratory syncytial virus and human metapneumovirus infections. *J Clin Microbiol.* (2008) 46:1682–5. doi: 10.1128/JCM.00008-08
- Brand HK, Ferwerda G, Preijers F, de Groot R, Neeleman C, Staal FJ, et al. CD4+ T-cell counts and interleukin-8 and CCL-5 plasma concentrations discriminate disease severity in children with RSV infection. *Pediatr Res.* (2013) 73:187. doi: 10.1038/pr.2012.163
- Raiden S, Sananez I, Remes-Lenicov F, Pandolfi J, Romero C, De Lillo L, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infects CD4+ T cells: frequency of circulating CD4+ RSV+ T cells as a marker of disease severity in young children. J Infect Dis. (2017) 215:1049–58. doi: 10.1093/infdis/ jix070
- Everard ML, Swarbrick A, Wrightham M, McIntyre J, Dunkley C, James PD, et al. Analysis of cells obtained by bronchial lavage of infants with respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Arch Dis Child*. (1994) 71:428–32. doi: 10.1136/adc.71.5.428
- 51. Midulla F, Villani A, Panuska JR, Dab I, Kolls JK, Merolla R, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus lung infection in infants: immunoregulatory

role of infected alveolar macrophages. J Infect Dis. (1993) 168:1515–9. doi: 10.1093/infdis/168.6.1515

- Johnson JE, Gonzales RA, Olson SJ, Wright PF, Graham BS. The histopathology of fatal untreated human respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Modern Pathol.* (2007) 20:108. doi: 10.1038/modpathol.3800725
- Román M, Calhoun WJ, Hinton KL, Avendaño LF, Simon V, Escobar AM, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus infection in infants is associated with predominant Th-2-like response. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (1997) 156:190–5. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.156.1.9611050
- O'Donnell DR, Carrington D. Peripheral blood lymphopenia and neutrophilia in children with severe respiratory syncytial virus disease. *Pediatr Pulmonol.* (2002) 34:128–30. doi: 10.1002/ppul.10140
- 55. Weng K, Zhang J, Mei X, Wu A, Zhang B, Cai M, et al. Lower number of plasmacytoid dendritic cells in peripheral blood of children with bronchiolitis following respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Influenza Other Respi Viruses*. (2014) 8:469–73. doi: 10.1111/irv.12242
- Ugonna K, Douros K, Bingle CD, Everard ML. Cytokine responses in primary and secondary respiratory syncytial virus infections. *Pediatr Res.* (2016) 79:946. doi: 10.1038/pr.2016.29
- 57. Da Eun Roh SHP, Choi HJ, Kim YH. Comparison of cytokine expression profiles in infants with a rhinovirus induced lower respiratory tract infection with or without wheezing: a comparison with respiratory syncytial virus. *Korean J Pediatr.* (2017) 60:296. doi: 10.3345/kjp.2017.60.9.296
- Fan R, Wen B, Liu W, Zhang J, Liu C, Fan C, et al. Altered regulatory cytokine profiles in cases of pediatric respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Cytokine*. (2018) 103:57–62. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2017.12.028
- Valkonen H, Waris M, Ruohola A, Ruuskanen O, Heikkinen T. Recurrent wheezing after respiratory syncytial virus or non-respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis in infancy: a 3-year follow-up. *Allergy*. (2009) 64:1359–65. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2009.02022.x
- Blanken MO, Rovers MM, Molenaar JM, Winkler-Seinstra PL, Meijer A, Kimpen JL, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus and recurrent wheeze in healthy preterm infants. N Engl J Med. (2013) 368:1791–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1211917
- 61. Bradley JS, Byington CL, Shah SS, Alverson B, Carter ER, Harrison C, et al. The management of community-acquired pneumonia in infants and children older than 3 months of age: clinical practice guidelines by the pediatric infectious diseases society and the infectious diseases society of America. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2011) 53:e25–76. doi: 10.1093/cid/cir625
- Caserta MT, Qiu X, Tesini B, Wang L, Murphy A, Corbett A, et al. Development of a global respiratory severity score for respiratory syncytial virus infection in infants. J Infect Dis. (2016) 215:750–6. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiw624
- Marlais M, Evans J, Abrahamson E. Clinical predictors of admission in infants with acute bronchiolitis. *Arch Dis Child.* (2011) 96:648–52. doi: 10.1136/adc.2010.201079
- Houben ML, Bont L, Wilbrink B, Belderbos ME, Kimpen JL, Visser GH, et al. Clinical prediction rule for RSV bronchiolitis in healthy newborns: prognostic birth cohort study. *Pediatrics*. (2011) 127:35–41. doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-0581
- 65. Brand HK, Ahout IML, De Ridder D, van Diepen A, Li Y, Zaalberg M, et al. Olfactomedin 4 serves as a marker for disease severity in pediatric respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infection. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0131927. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0131927
- 66. Bertrand P, Lay MK, Piedimonte G, Brockmann PE, Palavecino CE, Hernández J, et al. Elevated IL-3 and IL-12p40 levels in the lower airway of infants with RSV-induced bronchiolitis correlate with recurrent wheezing. *Cytokine*. (2015) 76:417–23. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2015.07.017
- 67. Van den Kieboom CH, Ahout IM, Zomer A, Brand KH, de Groot R, Ferwerda G, et al. Nasopharyngeal gene expression, a novel approach to study the course of respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Eur Respir J.* (2015) 45:718–25. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00085614
- Jong VL, Ahout IM, van den Ham HJ, Jans J, Zaaraoui-Boutahar F, Zomer A, et al. Transcriptome assists prognosis of disease severity in respiratory syncytial virus infected infants. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:36603. doi: 10.1038/srep36603
- 69. Luchsinger V, Ampuero S, Palomino MA, Chnaiderman J, Levican J, Gaggero A, et al. Comparison of virological profiles of respiratory syncytial virus and

rhinovirus in acute lower tract respiratory infections in very young Chilean infants, according to their clinical outcome. *J Clin Virol.* (2014) 61:138–44. doi: 10.1016/j.jcv.2014.06.004

- Eisenhut M. Extrapulmonary manifestations of severe respiratory syncytial virus infection-a systematic review. *Crit Care.* (2006) 10:R107. doi: 10.1186/cc4984
- Thorburn K, Fulton C, King C, Ramaneswaran D, Alammar A, McNamara PS. Transaminase levels reflect disease severity in children ventilated for respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) bronchiolitis. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:1803. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-20292-6
- Laham FR, Trott AA, Bennett BL, Kozinetz CA, Jewell AM, Garofalo RP, et al. LDH concentration in nasal-wash fluid as a biochemical predictor of bronchiolitis severity. *Pediatrics*. (2010) 125:e225–33. doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-0411
- Mehta R, Scheffler M, Tapia L, Aideyan L, Patel KD, Jewell AM, et al. Lactate dehydrogenase and caspase activity in nasopharyngeal secretions are predictors of bronchiolitis severity. *Influenza Other Respi Viruses*. (2014) 8:617–25. doi: 10.1111/irv.12276
- Kesimer M, Ford AA, Ceppe A, Radicioni G, Cao R, Davis CW, et al. Airway mucin concentration as a marker of chronic bronchitis. *N Engl J Med.* (2017) 377:911–22. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1701632
- Rajan D, O'Keefe EL, Travers C, McCracken C, Geoghegan S, Caballero MT, et al. MUC5AC levels associated with respiratory syncytial virus disease severity. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2018) 67:1441–4. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciy340
- Barrios J, Ai X. Neurotrophins in asthma. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep. (2018) 18:10. doi: 10.1007/s11882-018-0765-y
- Williams DJ, Zhu Y, Grijalva CG, Self WH, Harrell FE, Reed C, et al. Predicting severe pneumonia outcomes in children. *Pediatrics*. (2016) 138:e20161019. doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-1019
- Mejias A, Dimo B, Suarez NM, Garcia C, Suarez-Arrabal MC, Jartti T, et al. Whole blood gene expression profiles to assess pathogenesis and disease severity in infants with respiratory syncytial virus infection. *PLoS Med.* (2013) 10:e1001549. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed. 1001549
- Wallihan RG, Suarez NM, Cohen DM, Marcon M, Moore-Clingenpeel M, Mejias A, et al. Molecular distance to health transcriptional score and disease severity in children hospitalized with community-acquired pneumonia. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol.* (2018) 8:00382. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2018. 00382
- Pankla R, Buddhisa S, Berry M, Blankenship DM, Bancroft GJ, Banchereau J, et al. Genomic transcriptional profiling identifies a candidate blood biomarker signature for the diagnosis of septicemic melioidosis. *Genome Biol.* (2009) 10:R127. doi: 10.1186/gb-2009-10-11-r127
- Garcia-Mauriño C, Moore-Clingenpeel M, Thomas J, Mertz S, Cohen DM, Ramilo O, et al. Viral load dynamics and clinical disease severity in infants with respiratory syncytial virus infection. J Infect Dis. (2018) 219:1207–15. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiy655
- DeVincenzo JP, Wilkinson T, Vaishnaw A, Cehelsky J, Meyers R, Nochur S, et al. Viral load drives disease in humans experimentally infected with respiratory syncytial virus. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2010) 182:1305–14. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201002-0221OC
- 83. Kadji FMN, Okamoto M, Furuse Y, Tamaki R, Suzuki A, Lirio I, et al. Differences in viral load among human respiratory syncytial virus genotypes in hospitalized children with severe acute respiratory infections in the Philippines. *Virol J.* (2016) 13:113. doi: 10.1186/s12985-016-0565-8
- El Saleeby CM, Bush AJ, Harrison LM, Aitken JA, DeVincenzo JP. Respiratory syncytial virus load, viral dynamics, and disease severity in previously healthy naturally infected children. J Infect Dis. (2011) 204:996– 1002. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jir494
- Houben ML, Coenjaerts FEJ, Rossen JWA, Belderbos ME, Hofland RW, Kimpen JLL, et al. Disease severity and viral load are correlated in infants with primary respiratory syncytial virus infection in the community. *J Med Virol.* (2010) 82:1266–71. doi: 10.1002/jmv.21771
- 86. Piedra FA, Mei M, Avadhanula V, Mehta R, Aideyan L, Garofalo RP, et al. The interdependencies of viral load, the innate immune response, and clinical outcome in children presenting to the emergency department with respiratory syncytial virus-associated bronchiolitis. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0172953. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0172953

- Saravia J, You D, Shrestha B, Jaligama S, Siefker D, Lee GI, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus disease is mediated by age-variable IL-33. *PLoS Pathog.* (2015) 11:e1005217. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005217
- García-García ML, Calvo C, Moreira A, Cañas JA, Pozo F, Sastre B, et al. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin, IL-33, and periostin in hospitalized infants with viral bronchiolitis. *Medicine*. (2017) 96:e6787. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000006787
- Tabarani CM, Bonville CA, Suryadevara M, Branigan P, Wang D, Huang D, et al. Novel inflammatory markers, clinical risk factors, and virus type associated with severe respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (2013) 32:e437. doi: 10.1097/INF.0b013e3182a14407
- Neto EA, Durigon TS, Oliveira-Junior MC, dos Santos Dias A, MacKenzie B, Constancio FS, et al. New serum and nasal immunological biomarkers in pediatric infection caused by respiratory syncytial virus. *Eur Respi J.* (2016) 48:PA1277. doi: 10.1183/13993003.congress-2016.PA1277
- Huang AX, Lu LW, Liu WJ, Huang M. Plasma inflammatory cytokine IL-4, IL-8, IL-10, and TNF-α levels correlate with pulmonary function in patients with asthma-chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) overlap syndrome. *Med Sci Monitor*. (2016) 22:2800. doi: 10.12659/MSM.896458
- 92. Díaz PV, Valdivia G, Gaggero AA, Bono MR, Zepeda G, Rivas M, et al. Pro-inflammatory cytokines in nasopharyngeal aspirate from hospitalized children with respiratory syncytial virus infection with or without rhinovirus bronchiolitis and use of the cytokines as predictors of illness severity. *Medicine*. (2015) 94:39. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000001512
- Moreira A, García ML, Calvo C, Quevedo S, Pozo F, Casas I, et al. TSLP and periostin in infants with viral bronchiolitis. *Eur Respi J.* (2016) 48:OA4987. doi: 10.1183/13993003.congress-2016.OA4987
- 94. Han M, Rajput C, Hong JY, Lei J, Hinde JL, Wu Q, et al. The innate cytokines IL-25, IL-33, and TSLP cooperate in the induction of type 2 innate lymphoid cell expansion and mucous metaplasia in rhinovirus-infected immature mice. *J Immunol.* (2017) 199:1308–18. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 1700216
- 95. Varricchi G, Pecoraro A, Marone G, Criscuolo G, Spadaro G, Genovese A, et al. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin isoforms, inflammatory disorders and cancer. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1595. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01595
- Lopez-Guisa JM, Powers C, File D, Cochrane E, Jimenez N, Debley JS. Airway epithelial cells from asthmatic children differentially express proremodeling factors. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2012) 129:990–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2011.11.035
- Inoue T, Akashi K, Watanabe M, Ikeda Y, Ashizuka S, Motoki T, et al. Periostin as a biomarker for the diagnosis of pediatric asthma. *Pediat Allergy Immunol.* (2016) 27:521–6. doi: 10.1111/pai.12575
- Habernau AM, Del VPA, Rodríguez FV, Bobadilla PG. Role of Periostin in Uncontrolled Asthma in Children (DADO study). J Invest Allergol Clin Immunol. (2017) 27:291–8. doi: 10.18176/jiaci.0144
- 99. Vu LD, Ward C, Devincenzo J, Philip R, Cormier SA, Kimura D. Elevated periostin and nt-probnp in tracheal aspirates were associated with pulmonary hypertension in mechanically ventilated children with rsv bronchiolitis. In: D25. Advances in Rare Lung and Pulmonary Vascular Disease in Children. American Thoracic Society (2018). p. A6313
- 100. Lu S, Hartert TV, Everard ML, Giezek H, Nelsen L, Mehta A, et al. Predictors of asthma following severe respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) bronchiolitis in early childhood. *Pediatr Pulmonol.* (2016) 51:1382–92. doi: 10.1002/ppul.23461
- 101. Zhang Y, Yang L, Wang H, Zhang G, Sun X. Respiratory syncytial virus nonstructural protein 1 facilitates virus replication through miR-29a-mediated inhibition of interferon-α receptor. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2016) 478:1436–41. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.08.142
- 102. Do LAH, Pellet J, van Doorn HR, Tran AT, Nguyen BH, Tran TTL, et al. Host transcription profile in nasal epithelium and whole blood of hospitalized children under 2 years of age with respiratory syncytial virus infection. J Infect Dis. (2017) 217:134–46. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jix519
- Drake LY, Kita H. IL-33: biological properties, functions, and roles in airway disease. *Immunol Rev.* (2017) 278:173–84. doi: 10.1111/imr.12552
- Peine M, Marek RM, Löhning M. IL-33 in T cell differentiation, function, and immune homeostasis. *Trends Immunol.* (2016) 37:321–33. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2016.03.007
- 105. Halim TY, Steer CA, Mathä L, Gold MJ, Martinez-Gonzalez I, McNagny KM, et al. Group 2 innate lymphoid cells are critical for the initiation of

adaptive T helper 2 cell-mediated allergic lung inflammation. *Immunity*. (2014) 40:425–35. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.01.011

- Baggiolini M, Clark-Lewis I. Interleukin-8, a chemotactic and inflammatory cytokine. FEBS Lett. (1992) 307:97–101. doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(92)80909-Z
- 107. Russo RC, Garcia CC, Teixeira MM, Amaral FA. The CXCL8/IL-8 chemokine family and its receptors in inflammatory diseases. *Exp Rev Clin Immunol.* (2014) 10:593–619. doi: 10.1586/1744666X.2014.894886
- Hess C, Means TK, Autissier P, Woodberry T, Altfeld M, Addo MM, et al. IL-8 responsiveness defines a subset of CD8 T cells poised to kill. *Blood.* (2004) 104:3463–71. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-03-1067
- 109. Katoh H, Wang D, Daikoku T, Sun H, Dey SK, DuBois RN. CXCR2expressing myeloid-derived suppressor cells are essential to promote colitis-associated tumorigenesis. *Cancer Cell.* (2013) 24:631–44. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2013.10.009
- 110. McNamara PS, Ritson P, Selby A, Hart CA, Smyth RL. Bronchoalveolar lavage cellularity in infants with severe respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. Arch Dis Child. (2003) 88:922–6. doi: 10.1136/adc.88.10.922
- 111. Díaz PV, Gaggero AA, Pinto RA, Mamani R, Uasapud PA, Bono MR. Levels of inflammatory cytokines and plasma cortisol in respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. *Rev Med Chil.* (2013) 141:574–81. doi: 10.4067/S0034-98872013000500004
- 112. Reche PA, Soumelis V, Gorman DM, Clifford T, Liu MR, Travis M, et al. Human thymic stromal lymphopoietin preferentially stimulates myeloid cells. J Immunol. (2001) 167:336–43. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.1.336
- 113. Soumelis V, Reche PA, Kanzler H, Yuan W, Edward G, Homey B, et al. Human epithelial cells trigger dendritic cell-mediated allergic inflammation by producing TSLP. *Nat Immunol.* (2002) 3:673. doi: 10.1038/ni805
- 114. Harada M, Hirota T, Jodo AI, Doi S, Kameda M, Fujita K, et al. Functional analysis of the thymic stromal lymphopoietin variants in human bronchial epithelial cells. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2009) 40:368–74. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2008-0041OC
- 115. Lee HC, Headley MB, Loo YM, Berlin A, Gale M, Jr. Debley JS, et al. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin is induced by respiratory syncytial virus–infected airway epithelial cells and promotes a type 2 response to infection. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2012) 130:1187–96. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.07.031
- Jones SA, Jenkins BJ. Recent insights into targeting the IL-6 cytokine family in inflammatory diseases and cancer. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2018) 18:773–89. doi: 10.1038/s41577-018-0066-7
- 117. Tanaka T, Narazaki M, Kishimoto T. IL-6 in inflammation, immunity, and disease. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* (2014) 6:a016295. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a016295
- 118. Vieira RA, Diniz EMDA, Ceccon MEJR. Correlation between inflammatory mediators in the nasopharyngeal secretion and in the serum of children with lower respiratory tract infection caused by respiratory syncytial virus and disease severity. J Brasileiro de Pneumol. (2010) 36:59–66. doi: 10.1590/S1806-37132010000100011
- 119. Nuzzo PV, Buzzatti G, Ricci F, Rubagotti A, Argellati F, Zinoli L, et al. Periostin: a novel prognostic and therapeutic target for genitourinary cancer? *Clin Genitourin Cancer.* (2014) 12:301–11. doi: 10.1016/j.clgc.2014.02.005
- 120. Federico MJ, Hoch HE, Anderson WC, Spahn JD, Szefler SJ. Asthma Management for Children: risk identification and Prevention. Adv Pediatr. (2016) 63:103–26. doi: 10.1016/j.yapd.2016.04.010
- 121. Gour N, Wills-Karp M. IL-4 and IL-13 signaling in allergic airway disease. *Cytokine*. (2015) 75:68–78. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2015.05.014
- Parulekar AD, Diamant Z, Hanania NA. Role of T2 inflammation biomarkers in severe asthma. *Curr Opin Pulm Med.* (2016) 22:59–68. doi: 10.1097/MCP.00000000000231
- 123. Sigurs N, Aljassim F, Kjellman B, Robinson PD, Sigurbergsson F, Bjarnason R, et al. Asthma and allergy patterns over 18 years after severe RSV bronchiolitis in the first year of life. *Thorax.* (2010) 65:1045–52. doi: 10.1136/thx.2009.121582
- Ivashkiv LB, Donlin LT. Regulation of type I interferon responses. Nat Rev Immunol. (2014) 14:36. doi: 10.1038/nri3581
- 125. Ng CT, Mendoza JL, Garcia KC, Oldstone MB. Alpha and beta type 1 interferon signaling: passage for diverse biologic outcomes. *Cell.* (2016) 164:349–52. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.12.027
- Chen K, Liu J, Cao X. Regulation of type I interferon signaling in immunity and inflammation: a comprehensive review. J Autoimmun. (2017) 83:1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2017.03.008

- 127. Gentile DA, Skoner DP. Effect of respiratory syncytial virus infection during early infancy on the ontogeny of cytokine immune responses. In *Allergy and Asthma Proceedings*. OceanSide Publications. (2002). p. 399.
- Murphy JM, Young IG. IL-3, IL-5, and GM-CSF signaling crystal structure of the human beta-common receptor. *Vitam Horm.* (2006) 74:1–30. doi: 10.1016/S0083-6729(06)74001-8
- 129. Broughton SE, Dhagat U, Hercus TR, Nero TL, Grimbaldeston MA, Bonder CS, et al. The GM-CSF/IL-3/IL-5 cytokine receptor family: from ligand recognition to initiation of signaling. *Immunol Rev.* (2012) 250:277–302. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2012.01164.x
- Wynn TA. IL-13 effector functions. Annu Rev Immunol. (2003) 21:425–56. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.21.120601.141142
- Ingram JL, Kraft M. IL-13 in asthma and allergic disease: asthma phenotypes and targeted therapies. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2012) 130:829– 42. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.06.034

 Donovan C, Bourke JE, Vlahos R. Targeting the IL-33/IL-13 axis for respiratory viral infections. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* (2016) 37:252–61. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2016.01.004

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Vázquez, González, Noguera, González, Riedel, Bertrand and Bueno. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Biology of Infection and Disease Pathogenesis to Guide RSV Vaccine Development

Seyhan Boyoglu-Barnum¹, Tatiana Chirkova² and Larry J. Anderson^{2*}

¹ Vaccine Research Center, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, United States, ² Department of Pediatrics, Emory University and Children's Healthcare of Atlanta, Atlanta, GA, United States

Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) is a leading cause of severe lower respiratory tract disease in young children and a substantial contributor to respiratory tract disease throughout life and as such a high priority for vaccine development. However, after nearly 60 years of research no vaccine is yet available. The challenges to developing an RSV vaccine include the young age, 2-4 months of age, for the peak of disease, the enhanced RSV disease associated with the first RSV vaccine, formalin-inactivated RSV with an alum adjuvant (FI-RSV), and difficulty achieving protection as illustrated by repeat infections with disease that occur throughout life. Understanding the biology of infection and disease pathogenesis has and will continue to guide vaccine development. In this paper, we review the roles that RSV proteins play in the biology of infection and disease pathogenesis and the corresponding contribution to live attenuated and subunit RSV vaccines. Each of RSV's 11 proteins are in the design of one or more vaccines. The G protein's contribution to disease pathogenesis through altering host immune responses as well as its role in the biology of infection suggest it can make a unique contribution to an RSV vaccine, both live attenuated and subunit vaccines. One of G's potential unique contributions to a vaccine is the potential for anti-G immunity to have an antiinflammatory effect independent of virus replication. Though an anti-viral effect is essential to an effective RSV vaccine, it is important to remember that the goal of a vaccine is to prevent disease. Thus, other effects of the infection, such as G's alteration of the host immune response may provide opportunities to induce responses that block this effect and improve an RSV vaccine. Keeping in mind the goal of a vaccine is to prevent disease and not virus replication may help identify new strategies for other vaccine challenges, such as improving influenza vaccines and developing HIV vaccines.

Keywords: pathogenesis, RSV (respiratory syncytial virus), vaccine development, biology of infection, protective immunity

BACKGROUND

Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) is estimated to cause 3.4 million hospitalizations and 95,000–150,000 deaths globally and up to 175,000 hospitalizations in the United States in children <5 years of age each year (1, 2). It is also estimated to cause 14,000 deaths each year in adults in the United States (3). Its disease burden has made RSV a priority for vaccine development for over 50 years but no vaccine is yet available for any of groups targeted for an RSV vaccine including young

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Shokrollah Elahi, University of Alberta, Canada

Reviewed by:

Sang-Moo Kang, Georgia State University, United States Cecilia Johansson, Imperial College London, United Kingdom

*Correspondence: Larry J. Anderson larry.anderson@emory.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Viral Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 08 April 2019 **Accepted:** 04 July 2019 **Published:** 25 July 2019

Citation:

Boyoglu-Barnum S, Chirkova T and Anderson LJ (2019) Biology of Infection and Disease Pathogenesis to Guide RSV Vaccine Development. Front. Immunol. 10:1675. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01675

92

children ($\sim < 6$ months of age), older children (~ 6 months to 24 months of age), pregnant women, and elderly adults ($\sim >65$ years of age) (4, 5). The challenges to developing an RSV vaccine include: concern that a non-live virus vaccine in young children may predispose to enhanced RSV disease (ERD) in RSV-infected young children who earlier received a formalin-inactivated RSV plus alum vaccine; difficulty in inducing and assessing protective immunity; cost of clinical vaccine trials; and the young age, 2-4 months of age, for peak of disease. The first RSV vaccine, formalin-inactivated RSV with alum adjuvant (FI-RSV), given to young, likely RSV naïve, but not older, RSV primed children, led to enhanced RSV disease (ERD) with later infection, i.e., a high rate of hospitalization and two deaths (6-9). This experience raised concern that any non-live virus vaccine may induce an aberrant immune response that predisposes to ERD in young children and a focus on live attenuated RSV or virus vector vaccines for this target population. Since ERD is not a concern for RSV-primed older children and adults and live attenuated RSV replicates poorly in primed persons, subunit vaccines are under development for older children and adults. The difficulty in inducing protective immunity is highlighted by repeat infections and disease throughout life (3, 10).

The fact that prior infection and high titers of neutralizing antibodies, e.g., maternally derived antibodies or from an earlier infection, are associated with some protection suggest that a vaccine should be achievable (11–17). In addition, immune globulin with a high RSV neutralizing antibody titer and a neutralizing monoclonal antibody are effective in preventing serious disease in high-risk young infants (18, 19).

The past failures, however, suggest that novel vaccines may be required for success. In considering novel vaccines, it is useful to remember that the goal of a vaccine is to prevent disease caused by the infection. Though obviously important to an effective vaccine, a singular focus on induction of neutralizing antibodies or preventing virus replication, may lead to missing other, important effects of a vaccine. For example, if a vaccine does not induce sterilizing immunity, as is likely for RSV, other effects such as virus-induced inflammation become relevant. The pathogenesis of RSV disease, reviewed elsewhere (20, 21), is the foundation for designing a vaccine that addresses disease pathogenesis. The prominence of wheezing as a manifestation of infection (10) with its similarity to asthma and the association between mucus production and disease severity (22) suggest a prominent role of host inflammatory responses in disease pathogenesis. Blocking such effects could be important to a successful vaccine.

The role of RSV's proteins in biology of infection and disease pathogenesis provides clues to their potential contribution to a vaccine. RSV has 10 genes that encode for 11 proteins (23). RSV has two major antigenic groups of strains, A and B, and multiple genotypes within the two groups (24–27). Though only two RSV proteins induce *in vitro* neutralizing antibodies, F and G (28), as illustrated in **Table 1**, all RSV proteins have played a role in design of one or more vaccines. The type of vaccine under development varies among the target populations. Live attenuated or virusvector subunit vaccines are under development for infants and young children and non-live or virus-vector subunit vaccines for older children and adults.

LIVE VIRUS VACCINES

A live attenuated RSV vaccine needs to both have mutations that attenuate virus replication for safety while maintaining sufficient replication to maintain immunogenicity. The first attenuated vaccines were generated by chemical mutagenesis and low temperature passage. Subsequently, reverse genetics has identified specific mutations associated with temperature sensitivity and attenuation (30, 31). A set of five mutations, one in the N, two in the F, and two in the L protein genes, are associated with attenuation in primates and designated "cp" for cold passage. Six additional mutations, 5 in L and 1 in the gene-start transcription signal for M2, contribute independently to temperature sensitivity and attenuation. Five RSV genes, i.e., NS1, NS2, SH, G, and M2-2, can be deleted and virus recovered. All viruses are attenuated in animals. Live attenuated RSV candidate vaccines with deletions of NS2, G, or M2-2 are in clinical trials (32). A live attenuated RSV candidate vaccine with the 5 cp mutations, two other attenuating mutations, and deletion of the SH gene was also in a clinical trial (33, 34).

A virus vector vaccine's safety is likely not dependent on the RSV antigen present but the vector. Since the virus vectors present antigen to the immune system similar to the way that live RSV does, they are likely safe from ERD risk. A parainfluenza virus that expressed the RSV F protein did not led to ERD in RSV naïve children (35).

Codon pair de-optimization is another way to attenuate RSV and different combinations of RSV proteins including NS1 and NS2; NS1, NS2, N, P, M, and SH; G and F; L; or all proteins except M2-1 and M2-2 have been codon de-optimized to attenuate the virus (36, 37). With codon pair de-optimization, the level of attenuation can be fine-tuned by varying levels of protein production and makes it possible to attenuate through changes to any protein without relying on specific attenuating mutations or gene deletion.

Several live attenuated RSV vaccines show promise in early clinical trials (38). It is yet uncertain if they will achieve the balance between safety and immunogenicity needed for the young child. Maternal vaccination, or longer lasting immune prophylaxis, followed by vaccination at 4–6 months of age should make safety easier to achieve. A safe virus vector is another possible way to protect young children.

SUBUNIT VACCINES

With the exception of virus-vector subunit vaccines, subunit vaccines are under development for RSV-primed older children and adults. Virus vector vaccines are under development for both. The goal for a subunit vaccine is to safely, induce a more effective immune response than natural infection. One or both of RSV proteins that induce neutralizing antibodies (F and G) are likely required for an effective subunit vaccine. Proteins

TABLE 1 | RSV proteins in live attenuated or subunit vaccines.

Protein	Size aa	Functions related to vaccine design	Role in a live virus vaccine	Role in a subunit vaccine
NS1	139 aa	Inhibits type 1 interferon production to block host response to control infection	Attenuation when deleted or codon de-optimized	None
NS2	124 aa	Inhibits type 1 interferon production to block host response to control infection	Attenuation when deleted or codon de-optimized	None
Nucleoprotein (N)	391 aa	Nucleocapsid formation and T cell epitopes	Attenuation or temperature sensitivity when mutated	Induce T cell immunity
Phosphoprotein (P)	241 aa	Nucleocapsid formation, replication	Attenuation when codon pair de-optimized	Platform for RSV VLPs
Matrix protein (M)	256 aa	Envelop, virion assembly	Attenuation and temperature sensitivity when the gene start signal mutated	Induce T cell immunity and platform for RSV VLPs
Small hydrophobic (SH)	64 aa	lon channel	Attenuation when deleted or codon pair de-optimized	Induce ADCC antibodies to decrease virus replication
G protein	292-319 aa	Attachment and immune modulation	Attenuation when deleted and improved safety and immunogenicity when mutated	Induce antibodies to inhibit virus replication by blocking binding to the cell surface receptors CX3CR1 and glycosaminoglycans and/or ADCC and to block virus-induced inflammation
F protein	574 aa	Attachment, entry, fusion	Attenuation when mutated or codon pair de-optimized and improved protective immunity and virus stability when mutated	Induce antibodies to inhibit virus replication by blocking fusion and possibly by ADCC
M2-1 protein	194 aa	Anti-termination factor during transcription	Attenuation when mutated	Induce T cell immunity, platform for RSV VLPs
M2-2 protein	90 aa	Switch from transcription to replication	Attenuation and enhanced immunity when deleted	None
L protein	2,165 aa	Viral polymerase	Attenuation when mutated or codon pair de-optimized	None

Adapted with permission from Anderson (29).

that induce T cell immunity (N, M2-1, and other proteins) or antibody dependent cellular cytotoxic antibodies (ADCC) including the F, G, and SH proteins are incorporated into subunit vaccines (**Table 1**). Co-expression of the M protein and P proteins produces RSV virus-like-particle (VLPs) vaccine platform. A number of subunit vaccines, some in a virus vectors, including F protein; G protein; SH protein; F plus G; or F, G, and other RSV proteins are under study in clinical trials (4, 32).

Several pre-fusion F subunit vaccines are in early clinical trials and expected to induce higher titers of neutralizing antibodies and be more effective than previous F protein vaccines. Recently, two non-prefusion stabilized F protein vaccines were ineffective in elderly adults in phase II or III clinical trials (4). In a phase III maternal vaccination trial, one of these F protein vaccines did not significantly decrease medically significant RSV lower respiratory tract illness in infants (its primary endpoint) but did significantly decrease hospitalization in the infant (38), a result that suggests an F protein can be an effective maternal vaccine. An extended half-life, anti-F neutralizing monoclonal antibody is in phase II or III clinical trials and a promising alternative to vaccination to protect infants (39).

FUNCTION AND ROLE OF RSV PROTEINS IN VACCINE DESIGN

As noted above and outlined in **Table 1**, all RSV proteins are included in design of one or more vaccines. Understanding the role of RSV proteins in the biology of infection and disease pathogenesis helps determine if, and how, individual proteins might contribute to a vaccine.

Below we discuss each proteins function relative to vaccine design with an emphasis on the F and G proteins. F and G are most effective at inducing protective immunity and one or both likely needs to be included in a RSV vaccine. Though G is often not included in candidate vaccines, its role in disease pathogenesis suggest it might make important contributions to a vaccine.

NS1 and NS2 Proteins

NS1 is a 139 aa and NS2 is a 124 aa non-structural proteins, i.e., not incorporated into the virus but produced during transcription and replication. They both participate in virus replication and antagonize host innate responses designed to control infection (40–49). Deleting or codon de-optimizing

he gene ability to alter host cell responses that control the infection that reduces virus replication and attenuates the virus (36, 37, 50–55).

N Protein

The 391-amino acid N protein binds to and encapsidates the viral RNA generating an RNAse resistant nucleocapsid that is the template for transcription and replication of RSV genome (56, 57). N also inhibits host cell down regulation of cellular and viral protein production (58) and may impair dendritic cell and T cell interactions (59). It does not induce neutralizing antibodies but does induce T cell responses that protect animals at 4 weeks post vaccination (28, 60, 61). Given its role in virus replication, deoptimizing N gene codons should attenuate a live virus vaccine and its induction of T cell responses might contribute to efficacy of subunit vaccines.

P Protein

The P protein is a 214 aa protein that is part of the ribonucleoprotein complex (RNP) (56, 57). The P protein interacts with both the N and L proteins and is an essential co-factor for L function. P also interacts with the M2-1 protein (62). Since co-transfection of P and M proteins produces RSV VLPs (63), it could be used in a subunit RSV VLP vaccine. P's role in virus replication suggest that de-optimizing P gene codons should attenuate the virus (36).

M Protein

The M protein is 256 aa and guides assembly, budding, and virion formation (64). It lines the inner surface of the viral envelop, helps determine the shape of virus particles, and, with P, forms VLPs (63, 65–69). Since M induces T cell responses in vaccinated animals and memory T cells in humans after natural infection (70, 71), it might improve a subunit vaccines efficacy.

SH Protein

The SH, small hydrophobic protein is a 64–65 amino acid type II protein located on the surface of the virus. It forms a pentameric cation-selective ion channel, or a viroporin, and can activate NLRP3 inflammasome leading to IL-1b expression (72, 73). Deletion of the SH gene is often used to attenuate live RSV candidate vacine strains (74). Codon pair de-optimization (CPD) (36, 75) might also attenuate the virus. Though SH does not induce neutralizing (76), an SH vaccine induces antibodydependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) antibodies and protection in animals (77, 78) and being studied in clinical trials (4, 32).

G Protein

The G protein is a class II protein of 292-319 amino acids (AA) long. The extracellular domain contains a variable, highly glycosylated domain and a central conserved domain (CCD-G) followed by a second variable, highly glycosylated domain. Within the CCD-G are 13 aa conserved among all strains (aa 164-176) and a CX3C chemokine motif (aa 182-186). Through the CX3C motif, G, like the one CX3C chemokine, fractalkine, binds to the chemokine receptor CX3CR1 (79). G, as does F, also binds to cell surface glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) through

its heparin binding domains and GAGs are one receptor for RSV infection. In primary human airway epithelial cells, RSV also uses CX3CR1, through the CX3C motif in G, as a receptor for infection (80-82). G binding to CX3CR1 can also induce fractalkine-like responses (79). CX3CR1 is expressed on the surface of many cell types, including neurons and microglia (83), smooth muscle (84), and various immune cells including monocytes, dendritic, NK, T, and B cells (85-87) and binding to it can induce a variety of downstream responses. In mice, the G protein/CX3CR1 interaction is associated with depressed respiratory rates (88), inhibition of migration of CX3CR1+ T cells to RSV-infected lungs (89), induction of aberrant pulmonary inflammation with RSV challenge after FI-RSV vaccination (90), increased pulmonary inflammation and mucous production and airway resistance during infection, and induction of Th2-type immune responses in the lung with infection (91). In In vitro studies, the G protein through its interaction with CX3CR1 dampens Type I IFN production by innate immune cells and Type 1 cytokine responses of memory T cells (92). Recently, the G-CX3CR1 interaction has been shown to induce IL-10 in neonatal regulatory B cells (nBreg) resulting in downregulation of Th1 cell responses (93).

The ability of the anti-G monoclonal antibody, 131-2G, to block these effects of G (91, 94-97) suggests a role for G in vaccine design. As illustrated in Figure 1, immunity designed to block infection, if successful, will prevent disease. However, if only partially successful, as occurs with naturally acquired immunity, RSV will replicate and produce G leading to G induced host immune/inflammatory responses that cause disease. Vaccine-induced anti-G antibodies can block G-induced disease and essentially have an anti-inflammatory effect that decreases disease. Interestingly, the anti-inflammatory effect of 131-2G is independent of its anti-viral effect, i.e., intact 131-2G has both an anti-viral effect and anti-inflammatory effect while 131-2G F(ab')2 has no anti-viral effect but a similar anti-inflammatory effect (95, 96). Since CX3CR1 is an important receptor in primary human airway epithelial cells, likely in natural human infection, antibodies that block G's interaction with CX3CR1 should neutralize virus in humans by a mechanism different from F. Finally, studies in mice suggest that anti-G immunity, through passively administered 131-2G before RSV challenge or actively induced by a CCD-G peptide vaccine given with FI-RSV, can block ERD in RSVchallenge of FI-RSV vaccinated mice (98, 99). These data suggest that including G, or a CCD-G containing peptide, in an RSV vaccine might decrease the risk of ERD in infants and young children.

Thus, G in a subunit vaccine can induce antibodies that block binding to CX3CR1 that should enhance the antiviral activity of an F protein subunit vaccine and uniquely add an anti-inflammatory effect not present in an F only vaccine (**Figure 1**). In a live attenuated vaccine, mutating G to block binding to CX3CR1, from studies in mice, should markedly decreased disease and maintain, or enhance, the vaccine-induced immunity (100).This mutation by blocking binding to CX3CR1 would also attenuate virus replication in humans.



FIGURE 1 | Enhanced disease prevention with the addition of G to an F protein vaccine. The three schematics represent disease pathogenesis associated with no vaccine (1st schematic), an F protein vaccine (2nd schematic), and an F + G protein vaccine (3rd schematic). For all three, two types of disease pathogenesis are represented, one associated with virus replication and cytopathology (above the line) and the other induced by the RSV G protein (below the line). In mice, G induced disease includes inframmatory cells and mucus in the lungs and increased signs of obstructive airway disease and is not dependent on level of virus replication (95–97). In the second schematic, an F protein vaccine prevents much but not all virus replication and much of the disease pathogenesis represented above the line. In the third schematic, addition of G to an F protein also prevents disease pathogenesis represented below the line. The width of the arrows indicate level of virus replication, cytopathology/inflammation, G-inflammation, or residual disease.

Thus, including G in RSV vaccine design could improve a vaccine through multiple mechanisms. A number of G, or G peptides that include CCD-G, vaccines have been effective in preventing disease in animal studies (101–109). A G construct based on CCD-G will likely need to account for antigenic differences between groups A and B and not within the two groups.

F Protein

The F protein is a class I fusion protein of 574 amino acids (AA) long. It has two furin cleavages sites, at aa position 109 and the other at aa 136. Cleavage at these sites gives the 50 kDa carboxy-terminal F1, the 20 kDa N-terminal F2, and a 27 aa fragment. F1 and F2 form dimers and the F1-F2 dimers form trimmers (110, 111). The F protein is highly conserved among RSV strains with 25 AA differences between RSV subtypes A and B and induces neutralizing antibodies and protection in animals across the two groups (110, 112). F binds to glycosoaminoglycans (113), nucleolin (114), and EGFR (115) on the cell surface with GAGs and nucleolin presumed to be receptors for infection of cells. F binding to EGFR is associated with induction of IL-13 and mucin production.

The F protein mediates fusion of RSV with cellular membranes which is essential to infection and requires F to go from the metastable pre-fusion (pre-F) structure to a stable post-fusion (post-F) structure (116, 117). Many neutralizing

epitopes on F are on the pre- and not post-fusion structure and most of the neutralizing antibodies in humans react against the pre- and not post-fusion form of F (118, 119). Pre-fusion stabilized F protein constructs have been developed and these F constructs, e.g., Ds-Cav1 and SC-TM, are highly effective at inducing neutralizing antibodies (120). Anti-F antibodies can also mediate antibody dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) (121, 122) though it is unknown what role ADCC antibodies play in controlling natural infection. The initial two neutralizing antigenic sites identified on F have been expanded to at least five and more will likely be identified in the future (24, 123). Anti-antigenic site Ø antibodies have high levels of neutralizing activity and are a high proportion of neutralizing antibodies in human serum specimens (118). Interesting, F proteins in some circulating strains have been shown to have increased stability of pre-fusion F, increased virus temperature stability, induce mucus and airway resistance in mice, and bind to EGFR (115, 124, 125).

Stabilization of pre-fusion F in subunit vaccines substantially increases the neutralizing antibody response in animals and is a promising development in design of RSV subunit vaccines. In a live virus vaccine, mutations in F that increase prefusion stability and temperature stability should be advantageous. Mutations at other sites in F have been associated with virus attenuation. It is possible that mutations that block F binding to EGFR will attenuate disease and improve a live attenuated RSV vaccine.

The F protein's essential role in infection through fusion suggest it is key to protection for both subunit and live virus vaccines.

M2-1 and M2-2 Proteins

The internal viral matrix protein M2 is unique to the family Pneumoviridae, plays a significant role in virus assembly (66), and contains two overlapping translational open reading frames, one for M2-1, a 194 aa protein, and one for M2-2, a 83-90aa protein (126).

The M2-1 protein functions as an intragenic transcription anti-termination factor allowing the synthesis of complete RNA (127–129) and link the RNA/nucleocapsid with the M protein just inside the virus surface (67, 130). M2-1 can induce short term, T cell based RSV immunity (28, 70, 131) and could be included in a subunit vaccine to enhance induction of T cell immunity.

The *M*2-2 protein facilitates the shift from gene transcription to production of viral RNA and infectious virus (126, 132). Deletion of M2-2 results in a decrease genome replication and increase in gene transcription and protein production resulting in both attenuation and increased immunogenicity. M2-2 deletion viruses are being evaluated in a phase 1 clinical trials (34, 133).

L Protein

The L protein is a large, 2,165-amino acid, protein that mediates transcription and replication of RSV RNA and capping and methylation of mRNA (56, 57, 134). The active form of L is a

heterodimer of the L and P proteins with P essential to L's catalytic activity. Given its central role in transcription and replication it is not surprising that attenuating mutations, and likely codon pair de-optimization of L, attenuate live RSV (30, 31).

COMMENT

Though a number of candidate RSV vaccines are under development and some promising candidate vaccines have moved into clinical trials, past failures suggest that we should continue look for better candidate vaccines. Though the composition of a successful RSV vaccine remains uncertain, it likely will need to induce both antibody and Th1 biased T cell memory responses. It is, also, useful to remember that the goal is to prevent disease and not just to control infection. For example, tetanus and diphtheria toxoid vaccines prevent the disease and not pathogen growth. The RSV G protein has the potential to enhance a vaccine by not only helping to control infection but independently decreasing disease by controlling virus-induced inflammation. Virus protein-specific contributions to biology of infection and disease pathogenesis might also suggest ways to

REFERENCES

- Shi T, McAllister DA, O'Brien KL, Simoes EAF, Madhi SA, Gessner BD, et al. Global, regional, and national disease burden estimates of acute lower respiratory infections due to respiratory syncytial virus in young children in 2015: a systematic review and modelling study. *Lancet.* (2017) 390:946–58. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30938-8
- Stockman LJ, Curns AT, Anderson LJ, Fischer-Langley G. Respiratory syncytial virus-associated hospitalizations among infants and young children in the United States, 1997-2006. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (2012) 31:5–9. doi: 10.1097/INF.0b013e31822e68e6
- Falsey AR, Hennessey PA, Formica MA, Cox C, Walsh EE. Respiratory syncytial virus infection in elderly and high-risk adults. *N Engl J Med.* (2005) 352:1749–59. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa043951
- Mazur NI, Higgins D, Nunes MC, Melero JA, Langedijk AC, Horsley N, et al. The respiratory syncytial virus vaccine landscape: lessons from the graveyard and promising candidates. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2018) 18:e295-e311. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(18)30292-5
- Anderson LJ, Dormitzer PR, Nokes DJ, Rappuoli R, Roca A, Graham BS. Strategic priorities for respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) vaccine development. *Vaccine*. (2013) 31(Suppl. 2):B209–15. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.11.106
- Chin J, Magoffin RL, Shearer LA, Schieble JH, Lennette EH. Field evaluation of a respiratory syncytial virus vaccine and a trivalent parainfluenza virus vaccine in a pediatric population. *Am Epidemiol J.* (1969) 89:449–63. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a120957
- Kim HW, Canchola JG, Brandt CD, Pyles G, Chanock RM, Jensen K, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus disease in infants despite prior administration of antigenic inactivated vaccine. *Am. Epidemiol J.* (1969) 89:422–34. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a120955
- Fulginiti VA, Eller JJ, Sieber OF, Joyner JW, Minamitani M, Meiklejohn G. Respiratory virus immunization: I. A field of two inactivated respiratory virus vaccines; an aqueous trivalent parainfluenza virus vaccine and an alum-precipitated respiratory syncytial virus vaccine. *Am Epidemiol J.* (1969) 89:435–48. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a12 0956
- Kapikian AZ, Mitchell RH, Chanock RM, Shvedoff RA, Stewart CE. An epidemiologic study of altered clinical reactivity to respiratory syncytial (RS) virus infection in children previously vaccinated with

decrease disease for other vaccine challenges such as improving influenza vaccines and developing HIV vaccines.

AUTHOR'S NOTE

Respiratory syncytial virus is a high priority for vaccine development but, despite nearly 60 years of research no vaccine is yet available. Understanding the biology of infection and pathogenesis of disease has and will continue to be key to developing new vaccine strategies to finally achieve a successful vaccine. New vaccines are being developed and their safety and efficacy will ultimately be determined by clinical trials in the target population. Given past failures it is important to continue to pursue better candidate vaccines. In developing new vaccines, it is useful to remember that the goal of a vaccine is to prevent disease and not, though essential to an effective vaccine, virus replication.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

an inactivated RS virus vaccine. *Am Epidemiol J.* (1969) 89:405–21. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a120954

- Hall CB, Weinberg GA, Iwane MK, Blumkin AK, Edwards KM, Staat MA, et al. The burden of respiratory syncytial virus infection in young children. N Engl J Med. (2009) 360:588–98. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa0804877
- Lamprecht CL, Krause HE, Mufson MA. Role of maternal antibody in pneumonia and bronchiolitis due to respiratory syncytial virus. *J Infect Dis.* (1981) 134:211–7. doi: 10.1093/infdis/ 134.3.211
- Ogilvie MM, Vathenen AS, Radford M, Codd J, Key S. Maternal antibody and respiratory syncytial virus infection in infancy. *J Med Virol.* (1981) 7:263–71. doi: 10.1002/jmv.1890070403
- Glezen WP, Paredes A, Allison JE, Taber LH, Frank AL. Risk of respiratory syncytial virus infection for infants from low-income families in relationship to age, sex, ethnic group, and maternal antibody level. *Pediatr J.* (1981) 98:708–15. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(81)80829-3
- Stensballe LG, Ravn H, Kristensen K, Agerskov K, Meakins T, Aaby P, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus neutralizing antibodies in cord blood, respiratory syncytial virus hospitalization, and recurrent wheeze. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2009) 123:398–403. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2008.10.043
- Walsh EE, Wang L, Falsey AR, Qiu X, Corbett A, Holden-Wiltse J, et al. Virus-specific antibody, viral load, and disease severity in respiratory syncytial virus infection. *J Infect Dis.* (2018) 218:208–17. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiy106
- Walsh EE, Falsey AR. Humoral and mucosal immunity in protection from natural respiratory syncytial virus infection in adults. J Infect Dis. (2004) 190:373–8. doi: 10.1086/421524
- Piedra PA, Jewell AM, Cron SG, Atmar RL, Glezen WP. Correlates of immunity to respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) associatedhospitalization: establishment of minimum protective threshold levels of serum neutralizing antibodies. *Vaccine*. (2003) 21:3479–82. doi: 10.1016/S0264-410X(03)00355-4
- The IMpact-RSV Study Group. Palivizumab, a humanized respiratory syncytial virus monoclonal antibody, reduces hospitalization from respiratory syncytial virus infection in high-risk infants. *Pediatrics*. (1998) 102:531–7. doi: 10.1542/peds.102.3.531
- Groothuis JR, Simoes EAF, Levin MJ, Hall CB, Long CE, Rodriguez WJ, et al. Prophylactic administration of respiratory syncytial virus immune globulin

in high-risk infants and young children. N Engl Med J. (1993) 329:1524–30. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199311183292102

- Schmidt ME, Varga SM. Modulation of the host immune response by respiratory syncytial virus proteins. J Microbiol. (2017) 55:161–71. doi: 10.1007/s12275-017-7045-8
- Openshaw PJM, Chiu C, Culley FJ, Johansson C. Protective and harmful immunity to RSV infection. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2017) 35:501–32. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-051116-052206
- Rajan D, O'Keefe EL, Travers C, McCracken C, Geoghegan S, Caballero MT, et al. MUC5AC levels associated with respiratory syncytial virus disease severity. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2018) 67:1441–4. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciy340
- Collins PL, Melero JA. Progress in understanding and controlling respiratory syncytial virus: still crazy after all these years. *Virus Res.* (2011) 162:80–99. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2011.09.020
- 24. Anderson LJ, Hierholzer JC, Tsou C, Hendry RM, Fernie BF, Stone Y, et al. Antigenic characterization of respiratory syncytial virus strains with monoclonal antibodies. *J Infect Dis.* (1985) 151:626–33. doi: 10.1093/infdis/151.4.626
- Mufson MA, Orvell C, Rafnar B, Norrby E. Two distinct subtypes of human respiratory syncytial virus. J Gen Virol. (1985) 66:2111–24. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-66-10-2111
- Peret TCT, Hall CB, Hammond GW, Piedra PA, Storch GA, Sullender WM, et al. Circulation patterns of group A and B human respiratory synyctial virus genotypes in five communities in North America. J Infect Dis. (2000) 181:1891–6. doi: 10.1086/315508
- Peret TCT, Hall CB, Schnable KC, Golum JA, Anderson LJ. Circulation patterns of genetically distinct group A and B strains of human respiratory syncytial virus in a community. J Gen Virol. (1998) 79:2221–9. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-79-9-2221
- Connors M, Collins PL, Firestone C-Y, Murphy BR. Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) F, G, M2 (22K), and N proteins each induce resistance to RSV Challenge, but resistance induced by M2 and N proteins is relatively short-lived. *Virol J.* (1991) 65:1634–7.
- Anderson LJ. Respiratory syncytial virus vaccine development. Semin Immunol. (2013) 25:160–71. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2013.04.011
- Collins PL, Murphy BR. New generation live vaccines against human respiratory syncytial virus designed by reverse genetics. *Proc Am Thorac Soc.* (2005) 2:166–73. doi: 10.1513/pats.200501-011AW
- Collins PL, Whitehead SS, Bukreyev A, Fearns R, Teng MN, Juhasz K, et al. Rational design of live-attenuated recombinant vaccine virus for human respiratory syncytial virus by reverse genetics. *Adv Virus Res.* (1999) 54:423– 51. doi: 10.1016/S0065-3527(08)60374-7
- 32. PATH, RSV Vaccine Landscape.
- Buchholz UJ, Cunningham CK, Muresan P, Gnanashanmugam D, Sato P, Siberry GK, et al. International maternal pediatric adolescent, live respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) vaccine candidate containing stabilized temperature-sensitivity mutations is highly attenuated in RSV-seronegative infants and children. J Infect Dis. (2018) 217:1338–46. doi: 10.1093/infdis/ jiy066
- 34. McFarland EJ, Karron RA, Muresan P, Cunningham CK, Valentine ME, Perlowski C, et al. International maternal pediatric adolescent, liveattenuated respiratory syncytial virus vaccine candidate with deletion of RNA synthesis regulatory protein M2-2 is highly immunogenic in children. *J Infect Dis.* (2018) 217:1347–55. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiy040
- Bernstein DI, Falloon J, Yi T. A randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled, phase 1/2a study of the safety and immunogenicity of a live, attenuated human parainfluenza virus type 3 vaccine in healthy infants. *Vaccine*. (2011) 29:7042–8. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2011. 07.031
- 36. Le Nouen C, Brock LG, Luongo C, McCarty T, Yang L, Mehedi M, et al. Attenuation of human respiratory syncytial virus by genome-scale codon-pair deoptimization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2014) 111:13169–74. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1411290111
- 37. Meng J, Lee S, Hotard AL, Moore ML. Refining the balance of attenuation and immunogenicity of respiratory syncytial virus by targeted codon deoptimization of virulence genes. *mBio.* (2014) 5:e01704–14. doi: 10.1128/mBio.01704-14

- Aranda SS, Polack FP. Prevention of pediatric respiratory syncytial virus lower respiratory tract illness: perspectives for the next decade. Front Immunol. (2019) 10:1006. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01006
- Villafana T, Falloon J, Griffin MP, Zhu Q, Esser MT. Passive and active immunization against respiratory syncytial virus for the young and old. *Expert Rev Vaccines*. (2017) 16:1–13. doi: 10.1080/14760584.2017.1333425
- Whelan JN, Tran KC, van Rossum DB, Teng MN. Identification of respiratory syncytial virus nonstructural protein 2 residues essential for exploitation of the host ubiquitin system and inhibition of innate immune responses. J Virol. (2016) 90:6453–63. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00423-16
- Munir S, Hillyer P, Le Nouen C, Buchholz UJ, Rabin RL, Collins PL, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus interferon antagonist NS1 protein suppresses and skews the human T lymphocyte response. *PLoS Pathog.* (2011) 7:e1001336. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1001336
- Munir S, Le Nouen C, Luongo C, Buchholz UJ, Collins PL, Bukreyev A. Nonstructural proteins 1 and 2 of respiratory syncytial virus suppress maturation of human dendritic cells. J Virol. (2008) 82:8780–96. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00630-08
- 43. Le Nouen C, Munir S, Losq S, Winter CC, McCarty T, Stephany DA, et al. Infection and maturation of monocyte-derived human dendritic cells by human respiratory syncytial virus, human metapneumovirus, and human parainfluenza virus type 3. *Virology.* (2009) 385:169–82. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2008.11.043
- 44. Chatterjee S, Luthra P, Esaulova E, Agapov E, Yen BC, Borek DM, et al. Structural basis for human respiratory syncytial virus NS1mediated modulation of host responses. *Nat Microbiol.* (2017) 2:17101. doi: 10.1038/nmicrobiol.2017.101
- 45. Spann KM, Tran KC, Chi B, Rabin RL, Collins PL. Suppression of the induction of alpha, beta, and lambda interferons by the NS1 and NS2 proteins of human respiratory syncytial virus in human epithelial cells and macrophages [corrected]. J Virol. (2004) 78:4363–9. doi: 10.1128/JVI.78.8.4363-4369.2004
- Spann KM, Tran KC, Collins PL. Effects of nonstructural proteins NS1 and NS2 of human respiratory syncytial virus on interferon regulatory factor 3, NF-kappaB, and proinflammatory cytokines. *J Virol.* (2005) 79:5353–62. doi: 10.1128/JVI.79.9.5353-5362.2005
- Boyapalle S, Wong T, Garay J, Teng M, San Juan-Vergara H, Mohapatra S, H. Respiratory syncytial virus NS1 protein colocalizes with mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein MAVS following infection. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e29386. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0029386
- Ren J, Liu T, Pang L, Li K, Garofalo RP, Casola A, H. A novel mechanism for the inhibition of interferon regulatory factor-3-dependent gene expression by human respiratory syncytial virus NS1 protein. *J Gen Virol.* (2011) 92:2153–9. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.032987-0
- Ling Z, Tran KC, Teng MN. Human respiratory syncytial virus nonstructural protein NS2 antagonizes the activation of beta interferon transcription by interacting with RIG-I. J Virol. (2009) 83:3734–42. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02434-08
- Teng MN, Whitehead SS, Bermingham A, St. Claire M, Elkins WR, Murphy BR, H. Recombinant respiratory syncytial virus that does not express the NS1 or M2-2 protein is highly attenuated and immunogenic in chimpanzees. J Virol. (2000) 74:9317–21. doi: 10.1128/JVI.74.19.9317-9321.2000
- Jin H, Cheng X, Traina-Dorge VL, Park HJ, Zhou H, et al. Evaluation of recombinant respiratory syncytial virus gene deletion mutants in African green monkeys for their potential as live attenuated vaccine candidates. *Vaccine*. (2003) 21:3647–52. doi: 10.1016/S0264-410X(03)00426-2
- Schlender J, Bossert B, Buchholz U, Conzelmann KK. Bovine respiratory syncytial virus nonstructural proteins NS1 and NS2 cooperatively antagonize alpha/beta interferon-induced antiviral response. *J Virol.* (2000) 74:8234–42. doi: 10.1128/JVI.74.18.8234-8242.2000
- Whitehead SS, Bukreyev A, Teng MN, Firestone CY, St. Claire M, Elkins WR, et al. Recombinant respiratory syncytial virus bearing a deletion of either the NS2 or SH gene is attenuated in chimpanzees. J Virol. (1999) 73:3438–42.
- 54. Valarcher JF, Furze J, Wyld SG, Cook R, Zimmer G, Herrler G, et al. Bovine respiratory syncytial virus lacking the virokinin or with a mutation in furin cleavage site RA(R/K)R109 induces less pulmonary inflammation without impeding the induction of protective immunity in calves. *J Gen Virol.* (2006) 87:1659–67. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.81755-0

- Valarcher JF, Furze J, Wyld S, Cook R, Conzelmann KK, Taylor G. Role of alpha/beta interferons in the attenuation and immunogenicity of recombinant bovine respiratory syncytial viruses lacking NS proteins. *J Virol.* (2003) 77:8426–39. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.15.8426-8439.2003
- Bakker SE, Duquerroy S, Galloux M, Loney C, Conner E, Eleouet JF, et al. The respiratory syncytial virus nucleoprotein-RNA complex forms a left-handed helical nucleocapsid. J Gen Virol. (2013) 94:1734–8. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.053025-0
- Tawar RG, Duquerroy S, Vonrhein C, Varela PF, Damier-Piolle L, Castagne N, et al. Crystal structure of a nucleocapsid-like nucleoprotein-RNA complex of respiratory syncytial virus. *Science*. (2009) 326:1279–83. doi: 10.1126/science.1177634
- Groskreutz DJ, Babor EC, Monick MM, Varga SM, Hunninghake GW. Respiratory syncytial virus limits alpha subunit of eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 (eIF2alpha) phosphorylation to maintain translation and viral replication. J Biol Chem. (2010) 285:24023–31. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.077321
- Cespedes PF, Bueno SM, Ramirez BA, Gomez RS, Riquelme SA, Palavecino CE, et al. Surface expression of the hRSV nucleoprotein impairs immunological synapse formation with T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2014) 111:E3214–23. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1400760111
- Herve PL, Descamps D, Deloizy C, Dhelft V, Laubreton D, Bouguyon E, et al. Non-invasive epicutaneous vaccine against Respiratory Syncytial Virus: preclinical proof of concept. J Control Release. (2016) 243:146–59. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.10.003
- 61. Roux X, Dubuquoy C, Durand G, Tran-Tolla TL, Castagne N, Bernard J, et al. Sub-nucleocapsid nanoparticles: a nasal vaccine against respiratory syncytial virus. *PLoS ONE.* (2008) 3:e1766. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001766
- 62. Esperante SA, Paris G, de Prat-Gay G. Modular unfolding and dissociation of the human respiratory syncytial virus phosphoprotein p and its interaction with the m(2-1) antiterminator: a singular tetramer-tetramer interface arrangement. *Biochemistry*. (2012) 51:8100–10. doi: 10.1021/bi300765c
- Meshram CD, Baviskar PS, Ognibene CM, Oomens AGP. The respiratory syncytial virus phosphoprotein, matrix protein, and fusion protein carboxyterminal domain drive efficient filamentous virus-like particle formation. J Virol. (2016) 90:10612–28. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01193-16
- Ghildyal R, Ho A, Jans DA. Central role of the respiratory syncytial virus matrix protein in infection. *FEMS Microbiol Rev.* (2006) 30:692–705. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2006.00025.x
- Henderson G, Murray J, Yeo RP. Sorting of the respiratory syncytial virus matrix protein into detergent-resistant structures is dependent on cell-surface expression of the glycoproteins. *Virology*. (2002) 300:244–54. doi: 10.1006/viro.2002.1540
- Teng MN, Collins PL. Identification of the respiratory syncytial virus proteins required for formation and passage of helper-dependent infectious particles. J Virol. (1998) 72:5707–16.
- Ke Z, Dillard RS, Chirkova T, Leon F, Stobart CC, Hampton CM, et al. The morphology and assembly of respiratory syncytial virus revealed by cryo-electron tomography. *Viruses.* (2018) 10:1–22. doi: 10.3390/ v10080446
- Liljeroos L, Krzyzaniak MA, Helenius A, Butcher SJ. Architecture of respiratory syncytial virus revealed by electron cryotomography. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2013) 110:11133–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.13090 70110
- 69. Mitra R, Baviskar P, Duncan-Decocq RR, Patel D, Oomens AG. The human respiratory syncytial virus matrix protein is required for maturation of viral filaments. *J Virol.* (2012) 86:4432–43. doi: 10.1128/JVI.06744-11
- Schwarz B, Morabito KM, Ruckwardt TJ, Patterson DP, Avera J, Miettinen HM, et al. Viruslike particles encapsidating respiratory syncytial virus M and M2 proteins induce robust T cell responses. ACS Biomater Sci Eng. (2016) 2:2324–32. doi: 10.1021/acsbiomaterials.6b00532
- Roumanes D, Falsey AR, Quataert S, Secor-Socha S, Lee FE, Yang H, et al. T-cell responses in adults during natural respiratory syncytial virus infection. J Infect Dis. (2018) 218:418–28. doi: 10.1093/infdis/ jiy016
- 72. Gan SW, Tan E, Lin X, Yu D, Wang J, Tan GM, et al. The small hydrophobic protein of the human respiratory syncytial virus forms pentameric ion channels. *J Biol Chem.* (2012) 287:24671–89. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.332791

- Triantafilou K, Kar S, Vakakis E, Kotecha S, Triantafilou M. Human respiratory syncytial virus viroporin SH: a viral recognition pathway used by the host to signal inflammasome activation. *Thorax.* (2013) 68:66–75. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2012-202182
- 74. Karron RA, Buonagurio DA, Georgiu AF, Whitehead SS, Adamus JE, Clements-Mann ML, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) SH and G proteins are not essential for viral replication *in vitro*: clinical evaluation and molecular characterization of a cold-passaged, attenuated RSV subgroup B mutant. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1997) 94:13961–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.25.13961
- Stobart CC, Rostad CA, Ke Z, Dillard RS, Hampton CM, Strauss JD, et al. A live RSV vaccine with engineered thermostability is immunogenic in cotton rats despite high attenuation. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:13916. doi: 10.1038/ncomms13916
- Akerlind-Stopner B, Hu A, Mufson MA, Utter G, Norrby E. Antibody responses of children to the C-terminal peptide of the SH protein of respiratory syncytial virus and the immunological characterization of this protein. J Med Virol. (1993) 40:112–20. doi: 10.1002/jmv.1890400207
- 77. Schepens B, Sedeyn K, Vande Ginste L, De Baets S, Schotsaert M, Roose K, et al. Protection and mechanism of action of a novel human respiratory syncytial virus vaccine candidate based on the extracellular domain of small hydrophobic protein. *EMBO Mol Med.* (2014) 6:1436–54. doi: 10.15252/emmm.201404005
- Hagglund S, Hu K, Blodorn K, Makabi-Panzu B, Gaillard AL, Ellencrona K, et al. Characterization of an experimental vaccine for bovine respiratory syncytial virus. *Clin Vaccine Immunol.* (2014) 21:997–1004. doi: 10.1128/CVI.00162-14
- Tripp R, Jones L, Haynes L, Zheng H, Murphy P, Anderson L. CX3C chemokine mimicry by respiratory syncytial virus G protein. *Nat Immunol.* (2001) 2:732–8. doi: 10.1038/90675
- Chirkova T, Lin S, Oomens AG, Gaston KA, Boyoglu-Barnum S, Meng J, et al. CX3CR1 is an important surface molecule for respiratory syncytial virus infection in human airway epithelial cells. *J Gen Virol.* (2015) 96:2543–56. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.000218
- Jeong KI, Piepenhagen PA, Kishko M, DiNapoli JM, Groppo RP, Zhang L, et al. CX3CR1 is expressed in differentiated human ciliated airway cells and co-localizes with respiratory syncytial virus on cilia in a G protein-dependent manner. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0130517. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0130517
- Johnson SM, McNally BA, Ioannidis I, Flano E, Teng MN, Oomens AG, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus uses CX3CR1 as a receptor on primary human airway epithelial cultures. *PLoS Pathog.* (2015) 11:e1005318. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005318
- Harrison JK, Jiang Y, Chen S, Xia Y, Maciejewski D, McNamara RK, et al. Role for neuronally derived fractalkine in mediating interactions between neurons and CX3CR1-expressing microglia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1998) 95:10896–901. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.18.10896
- Perros F, Dorfmuller P, Souza R, Durand-Gasselin I, Godot V, Capel F, et al. Fractalkine-induced smooth muscle cell proliferation in pulmonary hypertension. *Eur Respir J.* (2007) 29:937–43. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00104706
- Nishimura M, Umehara H, Nakayama T, Yoneda O, Hieshima K, Kakizaki M, et al. Dual functions of fractalkine/CX3C ligand 1 in trafficking of perforin+/granzyme B+ cytotoxic effector lymphocytes that are defined by CX3CR1 expression. J Immunol. (2002) 168:6173–80. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.168.12.6173
- Bar-On L, Birnberg T, Lewis KL, Edelson BT, Bruder D, Hildner K, et al. CX3CR1+ CD8alpha+ dendritic cells are a steady-state population related to plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:14745– 50. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1001562107
- Corcione A, Ferretti E, Bertolotto M, Fais F, Raffaghello L, Gregorio A, et al. CX3CR1 is expressed by human B lymphocytes and mediates [corrected] CX3CL1 driven chemotaxis of tonsil centrocytes. *PLoS ONE*. (2009) 4:e8485. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0008485
- Tripp RA, Dakhama A, Jones LP, Barskey A, Gelfand EW, Anderson LJ. Respiratory syncytial virus depresses respiratory rates through the G glycoprotein CX3C motif and substance Virol P J. (2003) 77:6580–4. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.11.6580-6584.2003

- Harcourt J, Alvarez R, Jones LP, Henderson C, Anderson LJ, Tripp RA. Respiratory syncytial virus G protein and G protein CX3C motif adversely affect CX3CR1+ T cell responses. *J Immunol.* (2006) 176:1600–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.3.1600
- Haynes LM, Jones LP, Barskey A, Anderson LJ, Tripp RA. Enhanced disease and pulmonary eosinophilia associated with formalin-inactivated respiratory syncytial virus vaccination are linked to G glycoprotein CX3C-CX3CR1 interaction and expression of substance P. J Virol. (2003) 77:9831–44. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.18.9831-9844.2003
- Boyoglu-Barnum S, Chirkova T, Todd SO, Barnum TR, Gaston KA, Jorquera P, et al. Prophylaxis with a respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) anti-G protein monoclonal antibody shifts the adaptive immune response to RSV rA2line19F infection from Th2 to Th1 in BALB/c mice. *J Virol.* (2014) 88:10569– 83. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01503-14
- Chirkova T, Boyoglu-Barnum S, Gaston KA, Malik FM, Trau SP, Oomens AG, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus G protein CX3C motif impairs human airway epithelial and immune cell responses. *J Virol.* (2013) 87:13466–79. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01741-13
- Zhivaki D, Lemoine S, Lim A, Morva A, Vidalain PO, Schandene L, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus infects regulatory B cells in human neonates via chemokine receptor CX3CR1 and promotes lung disease severity. *Immunity*. (2017) 46:301–14. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.01.010
- 94. Haynes LM, Caidi H, Radu GU, Miao C, Harcourt JL, Tripp RA, et al. Therapeutic monoclonal antibody treatment targeting respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) G protein mediates viral clearance and reduces the pathogenesis of RSV infection in BALB/c mice. J Infect Dis. (2009) 200:439–47. doi: 10.1086/600108
- Miao C, Radu GU, Caidi H, Tripp RA, Anderson LJ, Haynes LM. Treatment with respiratory syncytial virus G glycoprotein monoclonal antibody or F(ab')2 components mediates reduced pulmonary inflammation in mice. J Gen Virol. (2009) 90:1119–23. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.009308-0
- 96. Boyoglu-Barnum S, Gaston KA, Todd SO, Boyoglu C, Chirkova T, Barnum TR, et al. A respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) anti-G protein F(ab')2 monoclonal antibody suppresses mucous production and breathing effort in RSV rA2-line19F-infected BALB/c mice. J Virol. (2013) 87:10955–67. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01164-13
- Boyoglu-Barnum S, Todd SO, Chirkova T, Barnum TR, Gaston KA, Haynes LM, et al. An anti-G protein monoclonal antibody treats RSV disease more effectively than an anti-F monoclonal antibody in BALB/c mice. *Virology*. (2015) 483:117–25. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2015.02.035
- Radu GU, Caidi H, Miao C, Tripp RA, Anderson LJ, Haynes LM. Prophylactic treatment with a G glycoprotein monoclonal antibody reduces pulmonary inflammation in respiratory syncytial virus (RSV)-challenged naive and formalin-inactivated RSV-immunized BALB/c mice. *J Virol.* (2010) 84:9632–6. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00451-10
- 99. Rey GU, Miao C, Caidi H, Trivedi SU, Harcourt JL, Tripp RA, et al. Decrease in formalin-inactivated respiratory syncytial virus (FI-RSV) enhanced disease with RSV G glycoprotein peptide immunization in BALB/c mice. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e83075. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0083075
- 100. Boyoglu-Barnum S, Todd SO, Meng J, Barnum TR, Chirkova T, Haynes LM, et al. Mutating the CX3C motif in the G protein should make a live respiratory syncytial virus vaccine safer and more effective. J Virol. (2017) 91:e02059–16. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02059-16
- 101. Plotnicky-Gilquin H, Huss T, Aubry JP, Haeuw JF, Beck A, Bonnefoy JY, et al. Absence of lung immunopathology following respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) challenge in mice immunized with a recombinant RSV G protein fragment. *Virology*. (1999) 258:128–40. doi: 10.1006/viro.1999.9702
- 102. Zhang W, Choi Y, Haynes LM, Harcourt JL, Anderson LJ, Jones LP, et al. Vaccination to induce antibodies blocking the CX3C-CX3CR1 interaction of respiratory syncytial virus G protein reduces pulmonary inflammation and virus replication in mice. J Virol. (2010) 84:1148–57. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01755-09
- 103. Jorquera PA, Choi Y, Oakley KE, Powell TJ, Boyd JG, Palath N, et al. Nanoparticle vaccines encompassing the respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) G protein CX3C chemokine motif induce robust immunity protecting from challenge and disease. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e74905. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0074905

- Quan FS, Kim Y, Lee S, Yi H, Kang SM, Bozja J, et al. Viruslike particle vaccine induces protection against respiratory syncytial virus infection in mice. J Infect Dis. (2011) 204:987–95. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jir474
- 105. Lee J, Klenow L, Coyle EM, Golding H, Khurana S. Protective antigenic sites in respiratory syncytial virus G attachment protein outside the central conserved and cysteine noose domains. *PLoS Pathog.* (2018) 14:e1007262. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1007262
- 106. McGinnes LW, Gravel KA, Finberg RW, Kurt-Jones EA, Massare MJ, Smith G, et al. Assembly and immunological properties of Newcastle disease viruslike particles containing the respiratory syncytial virus F and G proteins. J Virol. (2011) 85:366–77. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01861-10
- 107. Lee YN, Suk Hwang H, Kim MC, Lee YT, Cho MK, Kwon YM, et al. Recombinant influenza virus carrying the conserved domain of respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) G protein confers protection against RSV without inflammatory disease. *Virology.* (2015) 476:217–225. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2014.12.004
- Nguyen TN, Power UF, Robert A, Haeuw JF, Helffer K, Perez A, et al. The respiratory syncytial virus G protein conserved domain induces a persistent and protective antibody response in rodents. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e34331. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0034331
- 109. Power UF, Nguyen TN, Rietveld E, de Swart RL, Groen J, Osterhaus AD, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of a novel recombinant subunit respiratory syncytial virus vaccine (BBG2Na) in healthy young adults. *J Infect Dis.* (2001) 184:1456–60. doi: 10.1086/324426
- Graham BS, Modjarrad K, McLellan JS. Novel antigens for RSV vaccines. Curr Opin Immunol. (2015) 35:30–8. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2015.04.005
- Zhao X, Singh M, Malashkevich VN, Kim PS. Structural characterization of the human respiratory syncytial virus fusion protein core. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2000) 97:14172–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.260499197
- 112. Johnson PR Jr, Olmsted RA, Prince GA, Murphy BR, Alling DW, Walsh EE, et al. Antigenic relatedness between glycoproteins of human respiratory syncytial virus subgroups A and B: evaluation of the contributions of F and G glycoproteins to immunity. *J Virol.* (1987) 61:3163–6.
- 113. Feldman SA, Audet S, Beeler JA. The fusion glycoprotein of human respiratory syncytial virus facilitates virus attachment and infectivity via an interaction with cellular heparan sulfate. *J Virol.* (2000) 74:6442–7. doi: 10.1128/JVI.74.14.6442-6447.2000
- 114. Tayyari F, Marchant D, Moraes TJ, Duan W, Mastrangelo P, Hegele RG. Identification of nucleolin as a cellular receptor for human respiratory syncytial virus. *Nat Med.* (2011) 17:1132–5. doi: 10.1038/nm.2444
- 115. Currier MG, Lee S, Stobart CC, Hotard AL, Villenave R, Meng J, et al. EGFR interacts with the fusion protein of respiratory syncytial virus strain 2-20 and mediates infection and mucin expression. *PLoS Pathog.* (2016) 12:e1005622. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005622
- 116. Mousa JJ, Kose N, Matta P, Gilchuk P, Crowe JE Jr. A novel prefusion conformation-specific neutralizing epitope on the respiratory syncytial virus fusion protein. *Nat Microbiol.* (2017) 2:16271. doi: 10.1038/nmicrobiol.2016.271
- 117. Krarup A, Truan D, Furmanova-Hollenstein P, Bogaert L, Bouchier P, Bisschop IJ, et al. A highly stable prefusion RSV F vaccine derived from structural analysis of the fusion mechanism. *Nat Commun.* (2015) 6:8143. doi: 10.1038/ncomms9143
- 118. Ngwuta JO, Chen M, Modjarrad K, Joyce MG, Kanekiyo M, Kumar A, et al. Prefusion F-specific antibodies determine the magnitude of RSV neutralizing activity in human sera. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7:309ra162. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aac4241
- 119. Magro M, Mas V, Chappell K, Vazquez M, Cano O, Luque D, et al. Neutralizing antibodies against the preactive form of respiratory syncytial virus fusion protein offer unique possibilities for clinical intervention. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2012) 109:3089–94. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1115941109
- 120. McLellan JS, Chen M, Joyce MG, Sastry M, Stewart-Jones GB, Yang Y, et al. Structure-based design of a fusion glycoprotein vaccine for respiratory syncytial virus. *Science*. (2013) 342:592–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1243283
- 121. van Mechelen L, Luytjes W, de Haan CA, Wicht O. RSV neutralization by palivizumab, but not by monoclonal antibodies targeting other epitopes, is augmented by Fc gamma receptors. *Antiviral Res.* (2016) 132:1–5. doi: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2016.05.003

- 122. Hiatt A, Bohorova N, Bohorov O, Goodman C, Kim D, Pauly MH, et al. Glycan variants of a respiratory syncytial virus antibody with enhanced effector function and in vivo efficacy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2014) 111:5992–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1402458111
- Melero JA, Mas V, McLellan JS. Structural, antigenic and immunogenic features of respiratory syncytial virus glycoproteins relevant for vaccine development. *Vaccine*. (2017) 35:461–468. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.09.045
- 124. Hotard AL, Lee S, Currier MG, Crowe JE Jr, Sakamoto K, Newcomb DC, et al. Identification of residues in the human respiratory syncytial virus fusion protein that modulate fusion activity and pathogenesis. *J Virol.* (2015) 89:512–22. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02472-14
- 125. Rostad CA, Stobart CC, Todd SO, Molina SA, Lee S, Blanco JCG, et al. Enhancing the thermostability and immunogenicity of a Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) live-attenuated vaccine by incorporating unique RSV line19F protein residues. J Virol. (2018) 92:e01568–17. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01568-17
- 126. Bermingham A, Collins PL. The M2-2 protein of human respiratory syncytial virus is a regulatory factor involved in the balance between RNA replication and transcription. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1999) 96:11259–64. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.20.11259
- Fearns R, Collins PL. Role of the M2-1 transcription antitermination protein of respiratory syncytial virus in sequential transcription. J Virol. (1999) 73:5852–64.
- Hardy RW, Harmon SB, Wertz GW. Diverse gene junctions of respiratory syncytial virus modulate the efficiency of transcription termination and respond differently to M2-mediated antitermination. *J Virol.* (1999) 73:170–6.
- 129. Tanner SJ, Ariza A, Richard CA, Kyle HF, Dods RL, Blondot ML, et al. Crystal structure of the essential transcription antiterminator M2-1 protein of human respiratory syncytial virus and implications of its phosphorylation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2014) 111:1580–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1317 262111
- 130. Kiss G, Holl JM, Williams GM, Alonas E, Vanover D, Lifland AW, et al. Structural analysis of respiratory syncytial virus reveals the position of M2-1 between the matrix protein and the ribonucleoprotein complex. *J Virol.* (2014) 88:7602–17. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00256-14

- 131. Green CA, Scarselli E, Sande CJ, Thompson AJ, de Lara CM, Taylor KS, et al. Chimpanzee adenovirus- and MVA-vectored respiratory syncytial virus vaccine is safe and immunogenic in adults. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7:300ra126. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aac5745
- 132. Collins PL, Hill MG, Johnson PR. The two open reading frames of the 22K mRNA of human respiratory syncytial virus: sequence comparison of antigenic subgroups A and B and expression *in vitro*. J Gen Virol. (Pt 12) (1990) 71:3015–20. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-71-12-3015
- 133. Karron RA, Luongo C, Thumar B, Loehr KM, Englund JA, Collins PL, et al. A gene deletion that up-regulates viral gene expression yields an attenuated RSV vaccine with improved antibody responses in children. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7:312ra175. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aac8463
- Morin B, Kranzusch PJ, Rahmeh AA, Whelan SP. The polymerase of negative-stranded RNA viruses. *Curr Opin Virol.* (2013) 3:103–10. doi: 10.1016/j.coviro.2013.03.008

Conflict of Interest Statement: LA has done paid consultancies on RSV vaccines for Moderna Therapeutics, Inc., Bavarian Nordic, Novavax, Daiichi-Sankyo, and ClearPath Vaccines Company. LA's laboratory is receiving funding through Emory University from Pfizer for RSV surveillance studies in adults. LA is a co-inventor on several CDC patents on the RSV G protein and its CX3C Q10 chemokine motif relative to immune therapy and vaccine development. LA is also a co-inventor on an Emory patent filing for use of RSV platform VLPs with the F and G proteins for vaccines.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Boyoglu-Barnum, Chirkova and Anderson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Host Components Contributing to Respiratory Syncytial Virus Pathogenesis

Jonatan J. Carvajal^{1†}, Andrea M. Avellaneda^{1†}, Camila Salazar-Ardiles¹, Jorge E. Maya¹, Alexis M. Kalergis^{2,3} and Margarita K. Lay^{1,2*}

¹ Departamento de Biotecnología, Facultad de Ciencias del Mar y Recursos Biológicos, Universidad de Antofagasta, Antofagasta, Chile, ² Millennium Institute on Immunology and Immunotherapy, Departamento de Genética Molecular y Microbiología, Facultad de Ciencias Biológicas, Pontificia Universidad de Chile, Santiago, Chile, ³ Departamento de Endocrinología, Facultad de Medicina, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Zhiwei Wu, Nanjing University, China

Reviewed by:

François J. M. A. Meurens, UMR INRA-Oniris 1300 Oniris -Nantes Atlantic National College of Veterinary Medicine, France Cecilia Johansson, Imperial College London, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Margarita K. Lay margarita.lay@uantof.cl

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Viral Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 26 January 2019 Accepted: 27 August 2019 Published: 12 September 2019

Citation:

Carvajal JJ, Avellaneda AM, Salazar-Ardiles C, Maya JE, Kalergis AM and Lay MK (2019) Host Components Contributing to Respiratory Syncytial Virus Pathogenesis. Front. Immunol. 10:2152. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02152

Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) is the most prevalent viral etiological agent of acute respiratory tract infection. Although RSV affects people of all ages, the disease is more severe in infants and causes significant morbidity and hospitalization in young children and in the elderly. Host factors, including an immature immune system in infants, low lymphocyte levels in patients under 5 years old, and low levels of RSV-specific neutralizing antibodies in the blood of adults over 65 years of age, can explain the high susceptibility to RSV infection in these populations. Other host factors that correlate with severe RSV disease include high concentrations of proinflammatory cytokines such as interleukins (IL)-6, IL-8, tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , and thymic stromal lymphopoitein (TSLP), which are produced in the respiratory tract of RSV-infected individuals, accompanied by a strong neutrophil response. In addition, data from studies of RSV infections in humans and in animal models revealed that this virus suppresses adaptive immune responses that could eliminate it from the respiratory tract. Here, we examine host factors that contribute to RSV pathogenesis based on an exhaustive review of in vitro infection in humans and in animal models to provide insights into the design of vaccines and therapeutic tools that could prevent diseases caused by RSV.

Keywords: RSV, pathogenesis, innate and adaptive immune response, host factors, disease

INTRODUCTION

Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) is the main viral etiological agent that produces lower respiratory tract infections (LRTI) and is the primary cause of hospitalization due to respiratory diseases in infants (1, 2). RSV infection may lead to bronchiolitis and pneumonia and has been implicated in the development of recurrent wheezing and asthma (3). Milder RSV manifestations include rhinorrhea, cough, congestion, low-grade fever, reduced appetite, and respiratory distress (4). Recent reports of other pulmonary manifestations, such as encephalitis, cardiopathy, and hepatitis, suggest that RSV has a versatile ability to infect tissues of the respiratory tract (5).

RSV is highly infectious and easily spread in hospitals, homes, and nurseries, despite being less cytopathic and less invasive than influenza A virus. Worldwide, RSV affects more than 70% of infants in the first year of life, and nearly 100% of children by 2 years of age (6). The estimated rate of hospitalization due to RSV is 3.4 million/year and between 66,000 and 239,000 deaths occur around the world in children under 5 years of age who have suffered LRTI caused by RSV (7, 8).

102

During the year 2000 in the U.S., there were approximately 86,000 RSV-associated hospitalizations, 402,000 emergency room visits, 1.7 million office visits, and 236,000 outpatient hospital visits, at an estimated cost of US \$652 million (9). Interestingly, the rate of hospitalization for primary RSV infection in Alaska is approximately 0.5%, but can vary by situation, with ethnic group susceptibility as high as 25% (10). In contrast, an estimated of 33.1 million cases of RSV LRTI was reported in children under 5 years of age in 2015. Half of the global RSV burden was contributed by cases in India (7,013,468), China (2,581,262), Nigeria (1,728,622), Pakistan (1,575,051), and Indonesia (1,245,185) (11). RSV is also recognized as a major threat to older adults (>64) (12). Epidemiological evidence indicates that the impact of RSV on these patients may be similar to non-pandemic influenza (12).

Scientific evidence has shown that after the resolution of respiratory diseases associated with RSV infection, the virus interferes with the establishment of immunological memory, which leads to recurrent reinfections (13). Indeed, around 36% of individuals can be reinfected with RSV, at least once, during the winter season (13). These reinfections could result when an initial encounter with RSV fails to initiate adequate humoral and cellular immune responses to generate protective memory lymphocytes (13, 14).

RSV was first isolated in 1956, from throat samples in a colony of chimpanzees that had symptoms such as coughing, sneezing, and purulent nasal discharge (15, 16). These symptoms were quickly observed in other monkeys of the colony, indicating that the pathogen responsible for the disease was highly contagious. Originally, the pathogen was called chimp coryza agent (16). Later, in 1957, a similar viral agent was isolated from the throats of babies who had severe respiratory diseases (17). Interestingly, the isolated pathogen induced syncytia formation that was shown later to be caused by the viral fusion (F) protein (18, 19). Since then, this pathogen was renamed as RSV.

This respiratory virus was recently classified in the *Pneumoviridae* family, *Orthopneumovirus* genus (20). Specifically, RSV is an enveloped, negative sense, single stranded RNA virus with a non-segmented 15.2 kb genome, containing ten genes: non-structural proteins (NS)1, NS2, nucleoprotein (N), phosphoprotein (P), matrix (M), small hydrophobic (SH), fusion (F), glycoprotein (G), M2 and large polymerase (L) (from the 3' to 5' end) that encode eleven proteins (21). The M2 gene contains two open reading frames that slightly overlap and encode the M2-1 and M2-2 proteins (22). Further, the F, G, and SH proteins are found on the viral surface, whereas the N, P, L, M, and M2 proteins are located underneath the viral envelope (21, 23). The F protein is essential for union and entry of the virus into the host (24, 25). F and G are the only RSV proteins that induce neutralizing antibodies (26).

A growing concern is that severe RSV infection at an early age, may adversely affect pulmonary development and lead to long-term respiratory disorders. Thus, the development of new treatment strategies to prevent RSV infections is a priority of the World Health Organization (27). To design effective therapeutic tools that thwart viral infection, we need to understand host factors that influence RSV pathogenesis. In this review, we describe mechanisms of RSV pathogenesis, as well as host factors and immune responses that contribute to disease severity caused by this important respiratory virus.

RSV PATHOGENESIS

RSV transmission occurs via air, by contact with epithelium of the nostrils, mouth, or eyes of RSV-infected individuals, or by contact with a surface contaminated with the virus (28). RSV can survive for prolonged periods on the surface of furniture (7 h), skin (30 min), fabrics (2 h), and gloves (5 h), which facilitates its spread (29, 30). With an incubation time of 3–8 days, RSV can infect the lower respiratory tract producing bronchiolitis (inflammation of bronchioles in the small airways) or pneumonia (inflammation of the alveolar spaces in the small airways). In children, pneumonia caused by RSV manifests with fever, chest pain, wheezing, nausea, chills and other respiratory difficulties (31, 32). Likewise, bronchiolitis caused by RSV is characterized by wheezing, dyspnea, tachypnea, fatigue, fever, and cough (33). Because these diseases could be fatal, infants with severe RSV symptoms are hospitalized to receive necessary health care.

Once RSV enters the nostrils or mouth, it begins to infect airway epithelial cells (AECs) of the upper respiratory system (34–36), moving down to the lower respiratory system, and reaching the bronchioles where viral replication is more effective, as observed in both mouse and infant respiratory tissues (37, 38). Specifically, ciliated cells in the bronchial epithelia and type 1 pneumocytes in the alveolus, are the main cells targeted by RSV infection (39–42). RSV has also been reported to infect intraepithelial dendritic cells (DCs) and basal epithelial cells of the conductive airways, using *in vitro* cultures (41). Thus, RSV has a wide range of cellular reservoirs in the respiratory tract that perpetuate its pathogenesis in the human host.

An *in vitro* AEC model was used to show that RSV infection is concentrated in groups of non-continuous cells or small groups of ciliated apical cells located in the epithelium of large airways (40). As this infection progresses, RSV induces sloughing and shedding of specific apical AECs, loss of ciliation, as well as sporadic syncytium formation and mucus hypersecretion, which could lead to formation of thick plugs in the bronchiolar lumen *in vivo* (40, 43, 44). RSV has also been shown to cause detachment of apical AECs *in vivo*, which exposes nociceptive nerve fibers and produces a cough reflex (37).

Well-differentiated primary pediatric bronchial epithelial cells (WD-PBEC) provide a suitable *in vitro* model to study RSV infection (45, 46). WD-PBECs consist of polarized pseudostratified multilayered epithelium containing ciliated, goblet and basal cells and intact tight junctions. Hence, this *in vitro* model imitates the physiological, functional, and morphological environment of the respiratory tract (47).

RSV does not cause the massive airway epithelium destruction observed in post-mortem lung samples from RSV-infected patients in the WD-PBEC *in vitro* model (39, 44, 45). The latter *in vitro* studies demonstrated that the cell monolayer remains intact, even when most of ciliated cells were infected with RSV. Other studies confirmed these results and demonstrated that peak RSV infection in ciliated cells occurs at day 4 post infection (p.i.) and decreases significantly by day 8 p.i. (48), suggesting that in the absence of immune-cell mediated mechanisms, RSVinfected ciliated cells can be cleared from the epithelium between days 4 and 8 p.i. Detachment and apoptosis of ciliated cells in the epithelium of apical airways has also been observed in WD-PBEC cells, which agrees with the results of histopathological studies of infants with fatal RSV, where caspase-3 activity was detected in bronchiolar epithelial cells (49). Using an in vitro model, Liesman et al. (48) also found that RSV-infected ciliated cells die when they detach from the epithelium. RSV-infected AECs that have sloughed from the airway epithelium are thought to obstruct the lower airways in RSV-infected individuals, as observed in hospitalized infants (48). RSV NS2 was identified as the viral protein that causes rounding and sloughing of infected ciliated cells by using RSV gene deletion mutants and gainof-function experiments with recombinant RSV NS2-expressing parainfluenza virus 3 (PIV3-NS2) (48).

An in vivo model was also used to show that RSV pathogenesis is characterized by excessive mucus secretion (48). However, RSV does not infect goblet cells, nor does it induce them to secrete mucus. Rather, it infects basal cells of the airway epithelium, which differentiate into mucus-secreting cells, as shown in an in vitro culture model (48). Thus, RSV indirectly induces mucus in the bronchial lumen by stimulating goblet cell proliferation, consistent with the presence of goblet cell hyperplasia in lungs of fatal RSV infection cases (49). Therefore, RSV infection in the respiratory tract induces the production of mucus plugs and detached ciliated AECs. Additionally, RSV drastically reduces mucociliary transport (MCT), a unidirectional movement of the airway epithelium that mobilizes mucus plugging out from the airways within 5 days. Thus, these plugs accumulate in the bronchial lumen, leading to the pathogenesis of this viral agent (48). Consequently, RSV infection produces epithelial airway necrosis, submucosal edema, and occlusion of the bronchial lumen (37, 39–41).

RSV was also recently shown to induce production of thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) and interleukin (IL)-33 (50–54), which are cytokines that play important roles in the development of allergic asthma. *In vivo* and *in vitro* models were used to show that production of these cytokines has important repercussions on RSV pathogenesis. Indeed, upon RSV infection in the lungs, TSLP and IL-33 secretion create an inflammatory environment that directly or indirectly increases mucus secretion, eosinophil and neutrophil numbers, and levels of the T helper (Th) 2 cytokine interleukins IL-5 and IL-13 (55–59), as discussed in more detail in the section below. Concurrently, a decrease in the total CD4+ and CD8+ T-lymphocyte numbers is also observed in RSV-infected individuals (60, 61).

Together, these results suggest that RSV, as a result of its NS2 protein functions, primarily infects ciliated cells in the large airways, inducing their extrusion and cell shedding into large airways. RSV also induces mucus production by causing goblet cell proliferation and proinflammatory cytokine production. Mucus accumulates in the narrow-diameter bronchiolar airway lumen due to RSV inhibition of MCT, which, in turn, is thought to cause acute obstruction in the distal airways. RSV infection of ciliated cells also induces TSLP and IL-33 release, which indirectly induces eosinophil and neutrophil recruitment to the lung. In other respiratory viral infections (62), *in vivo* presence of the latter immune cells correlates with the presence neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), which are weblike networks of neutrophil DNA covered with histones and cytotoxic microbicidal proteins that trap and eliminate different pathogens (62). The release of NETs by neutrophils has been observed *in vitro* (62). Thus, upon RSV infection, recruited neutrophils and tamponades produce NETs, composed of mucus and dead ciliated cells that appear to exacerbate obstruction of the host upper and lower airways (62, 63). **Figure 1** shows a current RSV pathogenesis model.

RSV Pathogenesis in Infants

RSV is a highly infectious virus, especially in infants and young children. At early ages, most primary RSV infections cause LRTI, resulting in hospitalization for an estimated 2-3%of infected infants. LRTI in infants and young children can result in respiratory diseases including bronchiolitis, pneumonia, wheezing, and even respiratory failure, which likely ends, unfortunately, in death. RSV is considered the second most-likely single pathogen to cause death in children <1 year of age (8). Possible host and virulence factors that determine the outcome of LRTI in infants upon RSV infection will be discussed below.

RSV Pathogenesis in Adults and the Elderly

RSV pathogenesis in adults and the elderly differs from that in infants, displaying symptoms similar to those caused by influenza virus, typically including mild fever, runny nose, nasal congestion, cough, dyspnea, and wheezing (64, 65). A study of adults between 24 and 95 years of age who had been exposed to RSV, showed detectable virus for 10 to 13 days in nasal secretions that in some cases lasted \geq 20 days. Levels of RSV viral RNA in sputum were slightly higher than nasal titers, suggesting that viral replication also occurs in the lower airways in adults (12, 66).

In adults, it is required that a diagnosis of RSV infection based on laboratory diagnostic tests be confirmed due to the similarity of RSV symptoms with other viral and bacterial agents that cause acute respiratory tract infection. Reverse transcriptasepolymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) is the reference diagnostic method for RSV detection and is specifically recommended for use in adults because its analytic and clinical sensitivities are superior to those of other diagnostic methods (67, 68). However, a low percentage of clinical laboratories currently use RT-PCR to identify RSV because of its associated costs, specialized equipment, and expertise required (69). Consequently, most RSV disease in adults is not diagnosed early (70, 71). The absence of an easily administered and effective antiviral and a commercially available vaccine has led to a high rate of severe RSV disease in the elderly (72). Indeed, RSV infection rates in nursing homes are \sim 5–10% per year, with significant rates of pneumonia (10–20%) and death (2-5%) (73). Data collected in the U.S.A. over 9 years of surveillance indicated that RSV infection causes approximately 10,000 deaths per year in people over 64 years of age. In addition, some in vivo studies conducted in this risk group reported high levels of IL-6 and macrophage inflammatory proteins 1 alpha (MIP-1 α) upon RSV infection, which directly correlates with the



severity of patient disease (73, 74). Although the protective or pathological roles of cellular immunity in adults is still unknown, *in vivo* studies indicate that there is decreased production of interferon (IFN)- γ and both CD8+ and CD4+ memory T cells with age, which could influence the severity of RSV disease (75–78). These immune host factors for RSV susceptibility will be discussed more in detail in the next section.

HOST COMPONENTS CONTRIBUTING TO RSV PATHOGENESIS

Several host factors affect RSV pathogenesis and increase the risk of developing severe RSV disease including young age (<6 months), premature delivery (<35 weeks of gestation) (79, 80), malnutrition (81), gender, low titer RSV-specific serum antibodies, and fragile old age (82). Suffering from severe or chronic diseases, including allogeneic bone marrow transplants (83), congenital heart defects (84), chronic lung disease including cystic fibrosis (85), and nervous system and muscle diseases (86, 87) increases the risk of severe RSV disease in older adults and in babies (88). Babies born with Downs syndrome and cerebral palsy have also been shown to have a higher risk of hospital admission with RSV bronchiolitis, although more research is needed to better explain the mechanism behind this risk factor for RSV infection (89). Host conditions that contribute specifically to pathogenesis of severe LRTI caused by RSV (90) include immune

system immaturity and immunologic impairment disorders, incomplete development of the respiratory tract, hyperreactivity of the airways, and pulmonary congestion. Epidemiological studies have also established that primary infection at an early age plays a central role in RSV disease severity (91).

Early Age

Inability of the infant immune system to efficiently respond after RSV infection is due, at least in part, to failure of innate antiviral immune responses (92). Studies in infants, including fatal cases, found that after RSV infection, respiratory epithelial cells release chemokines and cytokines that are known to recruit immune cells to the site of infection, such as leukocytes, neutrophils, monocytes, natural killer (NK) cells, macrophages, eosinophils, basophils, and DCs, which contribute to lung inflammation (92). Low expression of Toll-like receptor (TLR) 4 in the neutrophils of infants (93) could also contribute to development of more serious RSV disease caused in this population (93). The status of innate immune cells in the host may also contribute to RSV pathogenesis. In fact, in vivo assays of hematopoietic cells found that they are permissive for RSV infection and can serve as an RSV reservoir (93). For example, DCs play a central role in configuring the immune response to, and disease outcome of, RSV infection (94).

Plasmacytoid (p)DCs are thought to be key players in the immune response to different viruses, due to their ability to

produce large amounts of type I IFN (IFN- α and IFN- β) (94). These cells are known to be important in controlling RSV infection in mouse lungs (94, 95). RSV-induced IFN- α , mainly produced by pDCs, is significantly lower in term infants and young children (<5 years of age), than in adults, suggesting that human pDCs have a limited function in early life that could partially explain the severity of RSV disease in infants and young children (96). Further studies are required to fully elucidate the role of pDCs in RSV disease.

Neonatal susceptibility to RSV is intrinsically linked to immunological characteristics of the young pulmonary mucosa. To better understand immune responses to RSV infection in infants, a mouse model of neonatal infection was developed in BALB/c mice (96). Mice infected with RSV within 7 days of birth developed an asthma-like pathology and when these mice were reinfected as adults, they underwent weight loss, airway hyperresponsiveness, mucus hypersecretion, Th2 immune responses, and airway remodeling (95, 96). These results suggest that primary RSV infection at an early age in neonatal mice influences the clinical outcome of RSV re-exposure in adults.

Gender

Gender is another host factor that can affect RSV disease susceptibility. For example, illness caused by RSV infection is more severe in male infants because their airways have a smaller diameter than those of female infants (97, 98). Thus, male infants are more likely than females to have an acute bronchial obstruction upon RSV infection.

Hypersensitivity

Hypersensitivity, such as allergic reactions, is an exaggerated immune response to an antigen. There is a strong epidemiological correlation between severe RSV infection in early life and asthma development later in life (27, 99, 100). Some evidence in infants shows an association between genetic predisposition to asthma and disease severity following RSV infection. During RSV infection of infants, a large amount of specific immunoglobulin (Ig) E is produced (101, 102) and increased sIgE levels correlate with greater severity of RSV infection such as wheezing in babies and asthma in children (101, 103). Similarly, RSV-infected asthmatic patients had higher anti-RSV IgE antibody titers than did non-asthmatic individuals (104), suggesting that RSV infection differs between asthmatic and non-asthmatic individuals.

Atopic hypersensitivity also correlates with severe RSV disease (105). Specifically, 32% of children hospitalized with RSV infection developed atopic sensitization, while only 9% of those who were not hospitalized due to RSV infection developed atopic sensitization after 3 years (p = 0.002). In a follow-up study, 34% of patients hospitalized due to RSV infection developed atopic hypersensitivity to allergenic agents by 7 years of age compared to only 15% of those who had not been hospitalized due to RSV infection (106).

Cytokines such as IL-3, IL-4, IL-10, and IL-13 in the lower respiratory tract of infants with RSV bronchiolitis (107) are known to exacerbate allergic processes (108–110). The presence

of some of these cytokines correlates with severe RSV infection. Specifically, Bertrand and Lay (107) reported a direct correlation between the number of days hospitalized due to RSV infection and high IL-4 levels (Pearson correlation: r = 0.52, p = 0.05) (107). They also found a direct correlation between high levels of IL-12p40 and IL-3, and development of recurrent wheezing later in life upon RSV infection (Pearson correlation: r = 0.68, p = 0.0071, r = 0.71, p = 0.0058, respectively) (107). These two cytokines were elevated in infants who developed asthma later in life. Interestingly, IL-3 is known to be involved in mast cell infiltration into the airways as well as increased basophil production (111). The same study found elevated expression of IL-33 mRNA in nasopharyngeal aspirates from RSV-infected patients with a family history of atopy (107), suggesting that genetic predisposition of the host promotes Th2 responses and allergic inflammation after RSV infection, similar to previous reports of sensitization to allergens (112-115).

Genetic Factors

Genetic predisposition of the host could affect RSV disease severity (89, 116) and recent studies have proposed that genetic predisposition to asthma could also predispose to severe RSV disease (117, 118). Specifically, a clinical study by Thomsen et al. (117) found that hospitalizations due to RSV and asthma were directly correlated (r = 0.43), and that genetic determinants of the two disorders overlap precisely. The same study analyzed the correlation between hospitalization due to RSV and asthma, showing a model, by which asthma "causes" hospitalization due to RSV. This model was adjusted to data significantly better (P = 0.39) than one by which RSV hospitalization "causes" asthma (P < 0.001). In support of this model, recent studies also showed that asthma increases the risk of RSV hospitalization by 3-fold in a time-independent manner (119, 120). However, the exact mechanisms by which severe RSV infection interacts with asthma inheritance factors at the onset of childhood RSV infection still need to be elucidated.

Other genetic factors associated with severity of RSV disease are two single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) that encode Asp299Gly and Thr399Ile substitutions in the TLR4 ectodomain, which were previously associated with TLR4 and are known to regulate innate and adaptive immune responses by recognizing pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) (121). Both SNPs are related to increased severity of RSV infection in premature babies, with 89.5 and 87.6% of heterozygous cases for Asp299Gly and Thr399Ile polymorphisms, respectively (121). These results suggest that heterozygosity of these two TLR4 SNPs is strongly associated with symptomatic RSV disease in high-risk infants, supporting a dual role for TLR4 SNPs in prematurity and increased susceptibility to RSV (121). In vitro studies also showed that these SNPs were associated with a decreased response to lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and to purified RSV F protein that activates cells through TLR4 (122). Thus, these mutations may delay and/or attenuate triggering of the innate immune response to RSV (96).

Another genetic factor that has been reported to be involved in RSV disease is the CC genotype of CD14 (-550 C/T), which is associated with development of RSV bronchiolitis in Japanese populations (123). This study found that CD14 (-550 C/T) is associated with higher serum levels of soluble (s) CD14 in Japanese neonates and children and directly correlates with development of bronchiolitis upon RSV infection. A possible explanation of these associations is that high levels of sCD14, a soluble form of the glycosyl phosphatidylinositol-anchored membrane protein (124), may bind to available LPS and transfer it to membranous CD14, thereby stimulating production of proinflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) (125–127), which is known to enhance RSV-induced disease (128). RSV bronchiolitis could be triggered by RSV infection and an inflammatory environment caused by high sCD14 levels in the blood.

Although these are very important host factors, several authors have suggested that Th2 cytokine genes such as IL-4, IL-13, and IL-5 contribute to asthma severity. A study of single-strand conformation polymorphism in these genes, which are grouped on chromosome 5, identified point mutations at IL-3 position-68, IL-4 position-590 and IL-9 position-351 (129). The IL-4 promoter polymorphism is associated with increased total serum IgE, which is of special interest, since this group of cytokines is involved in asthma development and could be influenced during and after RSV infection (130). These genes are also associated with exacerbating and perpetuating asthma during RSV infection (129).

Four SNPs of interest have also been shown to be associated with RSV disease severity at allele and at genotype levels. Specifically, a SNP in the vitamin D receptor gene (rs10735810, P = 0.0017) (131) has been linked to increased susceptibility to RSV infection (132). In addition, the synthetic nitric oxide 2 (NOS2A) gene (rs1060826; P = 0.0031) (131) has been associated with increased chronic respiratory morbidity and reduced lung function in infants who had LRTI caused by RSV (133). Further, the Jun protooncogene product, a subunit of the AP-1 transcription factor (JUN) (rs11688; P = .0093) (131) and interferon alpha 5 (IFNA5) gene (rs10757212; P = 0.0093) (131) are involved in innate immunity and contribute to the susceptibility to and duration of RSV infection (134, 135).

The olfactory receptor (OR13C5) gene is also involved in RSV pathogenicity, since the olfactory nerve connects the nasal cavity with the central nervous system and thus could be used as a shortcut by RSV (136). This could explain neurological symptoms produced by RSV such as encephalitis, apnea, or seizures, that occur in at least 2% of RSV-infected people (137, 138), and likely cause serious and permanent neurological sequelae (139). SNPs in human leukocyte antigen (HLA) HLA-DQA1 and in HLA-DPB1 genes have been associated with the development of bronchiolitis and several types of asthma (140-142). One of the most important SNPs is located in the mucin 4 (MUC4) gene, where three SNPs have been identified: rs201623571 ($P = 3.55 \times 10^{-10}$, OR0.10), rs529417345 (P = 9.40 $\times 10^{-10}$, OR = 0.03) and rs548345415 (P = 9.40 $\times 10^{-10}$, OR = 0.03). These SNPs in MUC4 diminish mucin in the airways upon RSV infection, which can increase the severity of RSV disease (143, 144).

In a severe RSV infection, loss of function (LOF) variants associated with the innate immune response, such as helicase C domain 1 (IFIH1) and other IFN pathway genes become very important (145). IFIH1 encodes a RIG-I-like cytoplasmic sensor that detects viral RNA by interacting with its C-terminal regulatory domain (CTD) and helicase domain with long dsRNA molecules. This ATP-dependent reaction polymerizes IFIH1 molecules into a filament, and assembles IFIH1 caspase activation recruitment domains (CARDs), which in turn induce IFN-β expression and activate antiviral genes (146). IFIH1 has been shown to effectively restrict RSV replication. Specifically, Asgari et al. (145) showed that three IFIH1 LOF variants increase the susceptibility and duration of RSV infection. One of those was a "rare splice" variant rs35732034 (145) that changed the reading frame and produced an early stop codon, whose protein (IFIH1- Δ 14) lacks a CTD. IFIH1- Δ 14 cannot bind viral dsRNA and has thus lost its main function. The second variant is a "cracking" variant rs35337543 (145), whose protein (IFIH1- Δ 8) removes amino acids at the end of the helicase 1 domain and in the helicase 1 and 2 binding site without changing the reading frame. Finally, the "prolonged gain" variant rs35744605 protein (IFIH1- Δ CTD) lacks amino acids at the C-terminus (145). These three variants are unable to induce IFN- β , having lower stability than the normal protein and lacking the characteristic ATPase activity required to polymerize and activate IFH1. These IFIH1 gene variants impair normal function of the viral sensor protein, thus restricting RSV infection (145).

Other genes that contribute to RSV disease severity, duration, and susceptibility include SFPA/D, IL-8, IL-4, and IL4RA, which exacerbate bronchiolitis caused by RSV (147–150); as well as IL-10 and IL-13 genes. Patients with mutations in IL-10 and IL-13 have required mechanical ventilation upon RSV infection (151, 152). In addition, SNPs in genes related to the innate immune response such as IFNA13 (rs643070), IFNAR2 (rs7279064), signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) 2 (rs11575234), IL27 (rs181206), Nuclear Factor Kappa B Inhibitor Alpha (rs22333409), C3 (rs22302021), IL1RN (rs315952), and TLR5 (rs5744174), have been associated with failure of the antiviral response against RSV (131, 153). Moreover, the ADAM33 and transforming growth factor beta receptor 1 (TGFBR1) genes participate in respiratory tract remodeling and increase RSV disease severity by favoring viral replication (153–155).

Malnutrition

Vitamin D plays a major role in innate immunity and influences lung function of asthmatic patients (156). In its active form, vitamin D 25-dihydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D] helps to modulate inflammatory processes (157–160), promote Treg cell development (160), and acts as an antiviral agent (161). The concentration of 25(OH)D in the blood has been associated with the risk of contracting severe respiratory infection or exacerbating asthma in children and adults (162–164). The risk of contracting a severe respiratory infection decreases by 7% for every 10 nmol/L of 25(OH)D in adults (165). Some studies indicate that the risk rises in children and in infants when 25(OH)D concentrations fall below 75 nmol/L, making these children more vulnerable to bacterial and viral lung infections
(166–168). In recent studies, low levels of vitamin D in cord blood of healthy neonates was associated with an increased risk of severe RSV LRTI in the first year of life (169, 170), suggesting that a low intake of this vitamin by the mother during pregnancy can impact RSV disease severity in infants.

RSV reinfection can occur throughout life, causing winter/early spring epidemics in temperate regions, but synchronization of RSV activity can vary widely depending on geographical location. It should be noted that different RSV strains circulate rapidly throughout the world (171). Environmental factors (temperature and humidity), including those that affect lung function (e.g., smoking at home), external conditions that increase exposure to RSV infection (e.g., daycare, hospitalization, multiple siblings), and lack of lactation, are factors that may indirectly influence RSV disease severity (28).

The host response to RSV infection has largely been studied in infants with comorbidities, but not in healthy infants or in the elderly. Although there is no vaccine or effective antiviral therapy currently, there is much effort to investigate these issues (172–174). Babies at high risk for serious RSV disease can receive passive immunoprophylaxis during an epidemic season by monthly injection of the RSV neutralizing monoclonal antibody, palivizumab (Synagis), which provides a 55% reduction in hospitalization rate associated with RSV (175).

Premature Birth

As mentioned above, infants under 6 months of age have an increased risk of RSV infection. However, premature infants, with a gestational period of <37 weeks are even more likely to develop severe RSV bronchiolitis than full-term infants (176). One reason for this risk is the deficiency in passive immunization by maternal antibodies that are essential to defend against pathogens in the first months of life. Moreover, during gestation antibodies migrate from the mother to the fetus between 26 and 41 weeks of gestation. These antibodies include IgG1 and IgG4 that are efficiently transferred from the mother to the fetus, followed by IgG3 and IgG2 (177-180). Because premature infants with <41 weeks of gestation have not fully acquired maternal antibodies, they have an increased risk of RSV infection. Another important immunological factor in premature infants is the presence of neutrophils, which have a reduced ability to migrate to respiratory tissues than in full-term infants (181). Neutrophils in premature infants also release fewer bactericidal proteins and have decreased pathogen recognition capacities (176, 182). Premature infants also have compromised pulmonary development. One of the complications is bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD), which is abnormal development of lung tissue. Infants with this disease upon RSV infection, have a more severe outcome with a much higher rate of hospitalization and death (176, 183).

Microbiome of the Airways

RSV infection in the lower respiratory tract of infants who develop severe bronchiolitis has been associated with a specific microbiota that includes a high abundance of Firmicutes, such as the genus *Streptococcus*. These patients were reported to have a low abundance of Proteobacteria, including the genera

Haemophilus and *Moraxella* (P < 0.001) (183, 184). However, another study reported that children <2 years of age who were hospitalized due to RSV infection had a positive association with the presence of *H. influenzae* and *Streptococcus* and a negative association with *S. aureus* (Firmicutes phylum) abundance (185). A third study showed that nasopharyngeal aspirates of RSVinfected infants (<6 months), with different levels of disease severity, had an abundance of opportunistic organisms like *Haemophilus* and *Achromobacter*. The abundant presence of *Haemophilus* in these RSV-infected patients was associated with increased viral load and mucosal chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 8 (CXCL8) responses, which influence RSV disease severity (186). Further studies are needed to elucidate the role of respiratory tract microbiota in RSV disease.

Factors Associated With Age

Aggravating factors such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease can exacerbate RSV infection in the elderly (184, 187). Being a smoker also increases the chances of developing asthma after RSV infection and exacerbates the pathology if the individual already has asthma (188, 189). Other underlying chronic lung diseases, such as bacterial coinfection in the airways, can increase the severity of RSV infection, including death (189). An acute RSV infection can trigger an acute myocardial infarction in adult patients (189). Immune senescence combined with decreased numbers of RSV-specific neutralizing antibodies in the serum of this patient group (75, 190, 191) can have a detrimental effect on RSV infection.

Role of Regulatory T Cells

Regulatory T cells (Tregs) are immunomodulatory cells that play a key role in tolerance, immune homeostasis, and regulating inflammatory responses by suppressing T-cell proliferation and cytokine production (192). Tregs avoid exacerbating the immune response (193-195), which can be harmful to an individual. Although, Tregs are found in newborns and adults, preterm infants have a higher number of Tregs than do full-term infants (196), while adults have fewer Tregs than do full-term infants (197). However, Tregs from adults more efficiently suppress Tcell responses than do Tregs from children (198). Conversely, Tregs from newborns are more resistant to apoptosis than are Tregs from adults (199). The frequency of activated Tregs was lower in the peripheral blood of infants infected with RSV than in age-matched controls. These results suggest that the reduced number of Tregs in RSV-infected infants precludes their ability to properly control the host inflammatory response leading to severe RSV disease in these patients (200). Further studies still are needed to understand the contribution of Tregs to RSV disease.

HOST IMMUNE RESPONSE TO RSV

Host Innate Immune Response Against RSV

Once RSV enters the host respiratory tract, it begins to infect susceptible target cells in the respiratory epithelium. The host responds through pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) that activate early innate immune responses at the site of infection (47, 201). PRRs can detect PAMPs, including RNA viruses like RSV that infect the respiratory tract (202). These interactions induce cytokine production, including IFN, and antiviral responses (47). A majority of TLRs, RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs), nucleic acid-binding domains, and leucine-rich proteins (LRRs), are involved in antiviral defense and in increasing cytokine production during RSV infection (203, 204). Recognition of RSV by these PRRs is well-studied in humans and in adult mice, but very little is known about their role in neonates.

Early host detection of RSV occurs through three main classes of PRRs. First, TLRs activate the innate immune response via myeloid differentiation primary response 88 (MyD88) (TLRs 2, 4, 7 and 8) or via the TIR-domain-containing adapterinducing interferon- β (TRIF) (TLR 3 and 4). Once a specific PAMP is recognized (205), RLRs such as RIG-I, melanoma differentiation-associated protein 5 (MDA5), and nucleotidebinding oligomerization domain-containing protein (NOD) 2, activate the innate signaling pathway through the adapter mitochondrial antiviral-signaling protein (MAVS) (206) and NOD-like receptors (NLRs). However, other cellular proteins, such as protein kinase R (PKR) may also recognize RSV in infected cells (207). The signal generated by PRRs activates transcription factors such as the regulatory factors NF-KB, JUN, and different IFN regulatory factors (IRFs). These factors then induce type I IFN expression, DC activation, and expression of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines, that are produced not only by DCs but also by cells such as alveolar macrophages in the respiratory tract (208). Production of IFN types I and III is induced in this early immune response against RSV, resulting in transcription of IFN stimulating genes and production of proinflammatory mediators. RSV infection activates the inflammasome, cellular stress, and in some cases cell death (209). The role of TLRs in response to RSV infection was evaluated in TLR deficient mice. Peritoneal macrophages from C57BL/6, TLR2 KO, and TLR4 KO mice, previously induced with thioglycolate, were then stimulated with RSV. Mouse macrophages from TLR2 KO and TLR4 KO mice produced lower levels of intracellular TNF- α than did wild type mice after RSV infection. Further, macrophages from TLR2 KO mice generated the lowest TNF- α levels, suggesting that TLR2 plays an important role in proinflammatory cytokine induction after RSV infection (210). Likewise, TLR2 KO mice infected with RSV displayed altered migration of neutrophils to the lung and uncontrolled RSV replication, despite type I IFN production (211). Although TLR3 recognizes viral dsRNA, studies suggest that it may not be required for viral clearance of RSV infection, nonetheless, it is important to maintain an adequate environment in the lung. Similarly, an altered immune environment is induced, affecting the airway epithelium, without TLR7mediated responses (212, 213).

TLR3 contributes to RSV recognition during infection, since it binds to viral RNA that is generated during replication (47). However, once the viral RNA is detected, both TLRs and RLRs provoke a signaling cascade that activates the transcription factors NF- κ B, IRF, and activating transcription factor (ATF)-2 (214). Another member of the PRR family is the NLRs. These receptors function in cellular processes that are important for immune responses to pathogens (215). Some NLRs, such as NLRP3, are essential for formation of the inflammasome, a protein involved in inflammation and apoptosis by activating host caspases (216). Interestingly, during RSV infection, signaling activated through TLR2 provides the first signal for NLRP3 expression. Once NLRP3 is translated, it forms the NLRP3/ASC inflammasome, a complex that is activated by reactive oxygen species (ROS) (217).

After RSV infects AECs it also induces NF-kB activation causing secretion of cytokines and chemokines, such as chemokine (C-C motif) ligand (CCL-5), CCL2, CXCL8, and CXCL10 (218). These cytokines have chemotactic properties in inflammatory cells and other cell types (47). Secretion of these molecules promotes the recruitment of an arsenal of immune system cells such as neutrophils, eosinophils, monocytes, macrophages, DCs, memory cells, Th1 cells, and NK cells to infected tissues (47). Secretion of TSLP from AECs contributes to an inflammatory environment in the lung. TSLP is a cytokine that plays a critical role in development of allergic asthma in AECs by functioning through the TSLP receptor (TSLPR) on myeloid DCs (219), which then triggers a second round of inflammatory cytokine secretion in RSV-infected tissues, causing lung damage (220).

Type 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2) and other cells of the innate immune response are recruited at the alveolarization stage of the lungs (135). After RSV infection, the pulmonary epithelium of neonates can produce large amounts of IL-33, which is associated with ILC2 accumulation during the alveolar period (221, 222). In contrast, IL-33 is not observed in lungs of adult mice in early RSV infection (135). IL-33 increases the production of ILC2 and IL-13 in lungs of neonatal mice, and impacts disease severity in RSV reinfected mice (54). However, the relationship between TSLP produced by respiratory epithelium and ILC2 proliferation/activation is not well-understood in RSV-infected neonatal mice (135).

As mentioned previously, extensive neutrophil accumulation in the lungs after RSV infection and obstruction of the small airways by excess DNA-rich mucus, produces severe RSV-LRTD (223). Although NET formation was initially thought to protect against bacteria and fungi (62), it is also now known to form in response to viral diseases including influenza, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-1 and poxviruses. NET formation can capture HIV-1 particles (224) and a similar protective effect is seen in mice infected with poxviruses in vitro (225, 226). Cortjens et al. (223) showed that NETs could capture RSV particles, in a functional form, and prevent them from infecting target epithelial cells. The same study also found marked NET formation during RSV infection in vivo and an accumulation of NETs in dense structures that obstruct the airways without capturing the viral antigen, indicating an unfavorable response for the host.

NET formation induced by neutrophils may be favorable for the host as a local first-line immune response against RSV. However, the intense response of these cells could worsen the pathology during RSV-LRTD (223, 227, 228). Stokes et al. (228) stated that depleting these cells induces a decrease in the process of airway inflammation and mucin expression in RSV-infected mice, which supports the fact that neutrophils may be involved in the respiratory tract tamponade during RSV-LRTD (223).

Host Adaptative Immune Response Against RSV

Humoral Response

In addition to innate immune responses to RSV, infants produce antibodies to the majority of RSV proteins (229). RSV infection induces development of IgM, IgA, and IgG antibodies in both blood and mucosa. These antibodies, mediated by the adaptive immune response to RSV, protect the host against reinfections. The primary immune response against RSV is not effective, but when a reinfection occurs, in children for example, IgG and IgA antibody levels increase significantly (230). These antibodies are usually directed against RSV F and G proteins to neutralize the virus (231). However, infants <6 months of age produce less antibody against F protein and thus mount a poor neutralizing response to RSV (229).

The primary humoral immune response against RSV is the induction of the IgM antibody, which is usually detected during the first 5–10 days of the infection and persists in the blood for 1 to 3 months (230). However, in some studies the IgM response remains detectable for at least 1 year (230). Conversely, RSV-specific IgG antibodies are detected in the majority of patients, and peak 20–30 days after the symptom onset (230). Interestingly, 1 year after the patient acquires their first RSV infection, levels of RSV-specific IgG antibodies begin to decline (229). Likewise, a decreased numbers of RSV-specific neutralizing antibodies is observed in the serum of elderly adults that correlate with greater risk of developing symptomatic RSV infection (73).

Some studies showed that production of specific anti-RSV antibodies regulate the T-cell response to RSV (232). Responses mediated by T cells and antibodies are interdependent. During RSV infection of human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC), the balance between the number of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells directly depends on the relationship between neutralizing and non-neutralizing antibodies *in vitro* (233). In *in vitro* studies, RSV infection significantly increased the proinflammatory effects of substance P, a neuropeptide with bronchoconstrictor effects in animal models, by up-regulating the expression and density of its specific NK1 receptor in target cells (234). RSV not only affects substance P, but also induces specific cellular immune adaptive responses, including lymphocyte transformations, and responses mediated by cytotoxic T cells and by antibodies dependent on cytotoxic T cells (235).

Cellular Response

The cellular immune response to RSV infection is balanced between Th-1 and Th-2 responses (229). The Th-1 response induces IFN- γ release from CD8+ and CD4+ T lymphocytes, neutralizing antibodies, and production of mucosal IgA antibodies. While the Th-2 response induces IL4 secretion of CD4+ T cells, eosinophilia, and high levels of IgE antibody (236–238). Host factors and RSV antigens determine the balance between Th-1 and Th-2 responses (229). For example, the RSV F protein induces a Th-1 response while the G protein stimulates a Th-2 response (239). Interestingly, infants <3 months of age have higher Th-2 cytokines in nasal secretions than do older children (240). A third subset of effector T helper cells that produce IL-17 (Th17 cells), are also involved in RSV infection (241). A study of plasma cytokine profiles in infants infected with RSV (6 months or less) found that patients with a moderate response to the virus had higher IL-17 plasma levels than those with an elevated response to RSV (241). Further, IFN- γ and TNF- α levels were lower in RSV-infected infants than in controls. In contrast, another study examined tracheal aspirates and reported higher IL-6 and IL-17 levels in critically ill ventilated infants upon RSV infection than in healthy infants (242). The role of IL-17 in the respiratory tract remains unclear and further studies are needed to explain why in some cases, but not all, higher IL-17 levels are associated with improvements in RSV-infected infants. It is possible that the immature immune system in newborns presents an altered Th1 response (243) that allows favorable outcomes. Unlike adults, DCs from umbilical cord blood of RSV-infected newborns, produced IL-17 when they were co-cultured with T lymphocytes (244). In the same study, DCs of RSV-infected children were found to produce TGF- β , a cytokine that promotes differentiation of Th17 lymphocytes (244). In another study, human bronchial epithelial cells chronically infected with the long strain RSV A2, promoted differentiation of naïve T lymphocytes to Th2 and Th17 lymphocytes, but not to Th1 lymphocytes (245). Together, these studies indicate that in addition to Th1 and Th2 responses, the Th17 response also occurs in RSV infection, and suggests that the Th17 response is beneficial in some cases of RSV infection. However, Th17 responses have also been linked to respiratory tract pathology during severe asthma dominated by neutrophils. Therefore, more studies and research are needed to identify the consequences of the IL-17 production, its benefits and damages (244).

The inflammatory process generated upon RSV infection, may be influenced by the ability of RSV to induce TSLP production, which polarizes the cellular response to RSV. Qiao et al. (63) suggest that TSLP secretion activates mDCs in AEC caused by RSV infection, which induces polarization toward a Th2 response. This occurs because thymus- and activation- regulated chemokine (TARC/CCL17) is associated with recruitment of Th2 response cells (63). In addition, ILC2 also induces Th2-type cytokines such as IL-4, IL-5, and ILC3 via IL-17 (246) to generate a Th2 response. Activation of mDCs by TSLP allows them to migrate to draining lymph nodes, initiate an adaptive response to allergies, and promote differentiation of naïve CD4+ T cells to Th2 phenotypes, which secrete IL-5 and IL-13 (246). Upon IL-13 induction, eosinophils and neutrophils are recruited to the lung and IL-5 secretion stimulates mucus production by ciliated airway cells (246). A proposed model of this orchestrated cellular immune response to RSV is shown in Figure 2.

During RSV LRTI, systemic T-cell lymphopenia can occur due to reduced numbers of CD8+, CD4+, and CD3+ T cells, compared to those present during convalescence and in uninfected infants (241, 247, 248). In circulating T cells, CD119 expression is not increased, suggesting that these cells are not



inflammation in the lung.

activated. Also, increased expression of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen (CTLA) 4, a negative regulator of T-cell activation, is observed (249, 250). During RSV infection, T-cell lymphopenia is more pronounced in younger patients (251).

Other studies have considered that adaptive immune responses mediated by T cells and by proinflammatory cytokines, play a major role in RSV pathogenesis in children (28, 252), with little evidence that this occurs in adult patients. Specifically, the severity of RSV disease in adults and the elderly is attributed, among other factors, to low levels of specific serum antibodies against RSV (253, 254). Walsh et al. (255) suggests that the functional capacity of CD8+ T cells in adults is lost over the years (255), which contributes to increased disease severity, while several other studies suggest that immune responses mediated by these cells lose specificity instead (256, 257). Infants under 21 days of age have low numbers of CD8+ and CD4+ T lymphocytes because their adaptive immune system is not yet fully developed. Likewise, adults over 65 years of age, have fewer lymphocytes than do adults under 50 years of age, because lymphocyte numbers decrease with age. These results suggest that CD8+ and CD4+ T lymphocytes play important roles in controlling RSV infection in the host.

RSV pathogenesis in the respiratory system is caused by virulence factors, such as NS2 that provoke cell rounding, detachment of ciliated cells from the airway epithelium and contribute to airway obstruction. In contrast, host factors including age can determine immune system status and thus influence the immune response to efficiently clear RSV with minimal inflammation of lung tissue. Indeed, RSV infection in hosts with immature immune and respiratory systems produces more severe disease. Specifically, RSV infection in the airway epithelium induces TSLP and IL-33 production, which elevates the number of ILC2 at this age. In turn, these cells secrete IL-5 and IL-13, causing mucus secretion by goblet cells and recruiting proinflammatory immune cells, such as eosinophils and neutrophils. TSLP is also known to polarize DCs toward a Th2 immune response, and to stimulate proinflammatory cytokines and immune cells, such as neutrophils, which simultaneously release NETs that may contribute to RSV pathogenesis in the lower airways. A better understanding of host factors that contribute to disease severity caused by RSV will help efforts to develop therapeutic tools, such as vaccines to prevent severe RSV diseases.

TABLE 1 | Summary of vaccines against RSV in different clinical phases according to database.

	Preclinical	Phase I	Phase 2	Phase 3	Market approve
Live-Attenuated/ Chimeric	Codagenix, LID/NIAID/NIH RSV	Intravacc ^P Delta-G RSV Sanofi, ^P LID/NIAID/NIH RSV ΔNS2/ Δ1313/11314L			
	LID/NIAID/NIH RSV	Sanofi, ^P LID/NIAID/NIH RSV 6120/∆NS2/1030s			
	LID/NIAID/NIH PIV1-3/RSV	Pontificia ^P Universidad Catolica de Chile BCG/RSV SIIPL, St. Jude ^P Hospital SeV/RSV			
	MeissaVaccines RSV	Sanofi, ^P LID/NIAID/NIH RSV D46/NS2/N/∆M2-2-HindIII			
Whole-Inactivated	Blue WillowBiologics RSV	_	_		
Particle-Based	AgilVax VLP	Novavax ^P RSV F Nanoparticle	Novavax ^E RSV FNanoparticle	Novavax ^M RSV F Nanoparticle	
	Fraunhofer VLP				
	Georgia StateUniversity VLP Icosavax				
	VLP University of Massachusetts				
	VLP TechnoVax VLP				
	Virometix VLP Artificial CellTechnologies Peptide				
	microparticle				
Subunit	Instituto de Salud CarlosIII RSV FProtein	Beijing Advaccine ^{PE} Biotechnology RSV G Protein	Pfizer ^{EM} RSV FProtein		
	University ofGeorgia RSV GProtein	Immunivaccine, VIB ^E DPX-RSV-SH Protein			
	Sciogen RSV GProtein	NIH/NIAID/VRC ^{EM} RSV F Protein			
	University ofSaskatchewan RSV FProtein	GlaxoSmithKline ^{EM} RSV F Protein Janssen ^E Pharmaceutical			
Nucleic Acid	CureVac	RSV F Protein			
	RNA InovioPharmaceuticals DNA				
Recombinant Vectors		Vaxart ^E Adenovirus	Bavarian Nordic ^E MVA		
	Auditovitus	Adenovirus	Janssen ^{PE} Pharmaceutica Adenovirus GlaxoSmithKline ^P	al	
			Adenovirus		D.
Immuno-Prophylaxis/ Combination	Arsanis Anti-F-mAb Biomedical ResearchModels DNA prime, Particleboost	Merck ^P Anti-F mAb	Medlmmune, ^p Sanofi Anti-F mAb		MedImmune ^P Synagis
	Pontificia Universidad Catolica deChile Anti-N mAb UCAB,mAbXience Anti-F mAb				

Adequate from the PATH (formerly the Program for Appropriate Technology in Health). Target indication: p, Pediatric; M, Maternal; E, Elderly.

CANDIDATE VACCINES AGAINST RSV

After failure of the first RSV vaccine that used whole RSV inactivated with formalin in the 1960's (258), there have been significant efforts to develop therapies and new vaccine candidates using different approaches. Currently, passive immunity with palivizumab is the mainstay of RSV prophylaxis (259). This therapy, which uses a specific-RSV monoclonal antibody developed by MedImmune, was licensed in 1998 and is the only prophylactic tool that is effective and safe to prevent RSV infection (260, 261). It is also used to prevent serious RSV infections in high-risk children, including children born at <35 weeks gestational age (wGA) and <6 months at the onset of the RSV season, children <2 years of age who required treatment for borderline personality disorder within the last 6 months, and children <2 years of age with hemodynamically significant congenital heart disease CHD (HS-CHD) (259). However, more evidence of its usefulness is still needed in certain high-risk populations, such as those with cystic fibrosis.

Vaccine candidates for maternal immunization have been the focus of much effort worldwide (259) because it is a permissible route for childhood prophylaxis against RSV. However, strict safety standards required for any treatment or medication in pregnant women has limited progress of these strategies. Thus, vaccine candidates based on nanoparticles and subunits have been tested in clinical trials, as they would be appropriate for use in pregnant women (259). Vector and subunits vaccines attenuated in vivo are considered most suitable for pediatric populations because they are safer than other strategies. The drawback of these vaccine approaches is that they may mount a less robust immune response to RSV (262). Due to the unfortunate experience with the first RSV vaccine, which caused some deaths in vaccinated children upon RSV infection (263), researchers have been very cautious in designing new vaccine candidates for infants (263).

There is consensus that pediatric populations are the main risk group, and that most efforts should focus on developing an effective and safe candidate vaccine for this group. Specifically, there is a high priority to obtain a candidate vaccine for babies in their first 6 months of life, since the risk of acquiring severe RSV disease is greater in this group (263) than in infants older than 6 months of age with a more mature immune system, which reduces their susceptibility to RSV complications (263).

Currently, 84 studies of vaccine candidates against RSV are reported in the *ClinicalTrials* database (https://ClinicalTrials. gov/). Particularly, studies based on RSV subunits are in phase II and those based on RSV particles are already in phase III trials

REFERENCES

- 1. Robinson RF. Impact of respiratory syncytial virus in the United States. *Am J Health Syst Pharm.* (2008) 65 (23 Suppl. 8):S3–6. doi: 10.2146/ajhp080438
- Monto AS. Epidemiology of viral respiratory infections. Am J Med. (2002) 112 (Suppl. 6A):4S-12S. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9343(01) 01058-0

(**Table 1**) (259, 264). Several promising candidate vaccines and therapies based on monoclonal antibody compounds and other strategies in pre-clinical studies are also expected to be available in coming years (259).

CONCLUSIONS

Taken together, the virus and host both contribute to the severity of RSV disease.

RSV pathogenesis in the respiratory system is caused by virulence factors that provoke cell rounding and detachment of ciliated cells from the airway epithelium contributing to airway obstruction. Host factors including age, malnutrition, and premature delivery influence the immune system and its ability to mount an effective response to efficiently clear RSV with minimal inflammation in lung tissue. RSV infection at an early age, when the host has immature immune and respiratory systems, can produce more severe disease. Moreover, the low abundance of RSV-specific memory CD8+ T cells, which decreases with age, in older adults, is a host factor that contributes to severe RSV disease, due to loss of T-cell functional capacity and specific response to RSV in older patients. Therefore, the elderly are more likely than younger adults to present with severe RSV disease. Identification of specific genes that influence the probability of developing severe RSV disease, especially those involved in immune signaling pathways, will be important in ongoing efforts to improve immune responses that promote more efficient clearing of RSV infection from the respiratory tract. A better understanding of host factors that contribute to RSV disease severity will help us develop more effective therapeutic tools and vaccines to prevent severe RSV diseases.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JC, AA, CS-A, and JM wrote the manuscript. AK and ML reviewed the manuscript, and ML reviewed and approved the version to be published. All authors listed have made substantial and intellectual contribution to the work.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Regional Government of Antofagasta through the Innovation Fund for Competitiveness FIC-R 2017 (BIP Code: 30488811-0). Millennium Institute on Immunology and Immunotherapy from Chile (P09/016-F to AK), FONDECYT 1190830 (to AK), and FONDEF grant D1111080 (to AK).

- Iwane MK, Edwards KM, Szilagyi PG, Walker FJ, Griffin MR, Weinberg GA, et al. Population-based surveillance for hospitalizations associated with respiratory syncytial virus, influenza virus, and parainfluenza viruses among young children. *Pediatrics*. (2004) 113:1758–64. doi: 10.1542/peds.113.6.1758
- Collins PL, Melero JA. Progress in understanding and controlling respiratory syncytial virus: still crazy after all these years. *Virus Res.* (2011) 162:80–99. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2011.09.020

- Sweetman LL, Ng YT, Butler IJ, Bodensteiner JB. Neurologic complications associated with respiratory syncytial virus. *Pediatr Neurol.* (2005) 32:307–10. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2005.01.010
- 6. Hall CB, Geiman JM, Douglas RG, Meagher MP. Control of nosocomial respiratory syncytial viral infections. *Pediatrics.* (1978) 62:728–32.
- Nair H, Nokes DJ, Gessner BD, Dherani M, Madhi SA, Singleton RJ, et al. Global burden of acute lower respiratory infections due to respiratory syncytial virus in young children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet*. (2010) 375:1545–55. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60206-1
- Lozano R, Naghavi M, Foreman K, Lim S, Shibuya K, Aboyans V, et al. Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet*. (2012) 380:2095–128. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61728-0
- Paramore LC, Ciuryla V, Ciesla G, Liu L. Economic impact of respiratory syncytial virus-related illness in the US: an analysis of national databases. *Pharmacoeconomics*. (2004) 22:275–84. doi: 10.2165/00019053-200422050-00001
- Karron RA, Singleton RJ, Bulkow L, Parkinson A, Kruse D, DeSmet I, et al. Severe respiratory syncytial virus disease in Alaska native children. RSV Alaska Study Group. J Infect Dis. (1999) 180:41–9. doi: 10.1086/314841
- Shi T, McAllister DA, O'Brien KL, Simoes EAF, Madhi SA, Gessner BD, et al. Global, regional, and national disease burden estimates of acute lower respiratory infections due to respiratory syncytial virus in young children in 2015: a systematic review and modelling study. *Lancet.* (2017) 390:946–58. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30938-8
- Falsey AR, Walsh EE. Respiratory syncytial virus infection in adults. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* (2000) 13:371–84. doi: 10.1128/CMR.13.3.371
- Hall CB, Walsh EE, Long CE, Schnabel KC. Immunity to and frequency of reinfection with respiratory syncytial virus. J Infect Dis. (1991) 163:693–8. doi: 10.1093/infdis/163.4.693
- Bont L, Versteegh J, Swelsen WT, Heijnen CJ, Kavelaars A, Brus F, et al. Natural reinfection with respiratory syncytial virus does not boost virus-specific T-cell immunity. *Pediatr Res.* (2002) 52:363–7. doi: 10.1203/01.PDR.0000028458.76706.C7
- Beem M, Wright FH, Hamre D, Egerer R, Oehme M. Association of the chimpanzee coryza agent with acute respiratory disease in children. N Engl J Med. (1960) 263:523–30. doi: 10.1056/NEJM196009152631101
- Morris J, Blount R Jr, Savage R. Recovery of cytopathogenic agent from chimpanzees with goryza. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. (1956) 92:544–9. doi: 10.3181/00379727-92-22538
- Chanock R, Finberg L. Recovery from infants with respiratory illness of a virus related to chimpanzee coryza agent (CCA). II. Epidemiologic aspects of infection in infants and young children. *Am J Hyg.* (1957) 66:291–300. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a119902
- Chanock R, Roizman B, Myers R. Recovery from infants with respiratory illness of a virus related to chimpanzee coryza agent (CCA). I. Isolation properties and characterization. *Am J Hyg.* (1957) 66:281–90. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a119901
- 19. Walsh EE, Hruska J. Monoclonal antibodies to respiratory syncytial virus proteins: identification of the fusion protein. *J Virol.* (1983) 47:171–7.
- Afonso CL, Amarasinghe GK, Bányai K, Bào Y, Basler CF, Bavari S, et al. Taxonomy of the order Mononegavirales: update 2016. Arch Virol. (2016) 161:2351-60. doi: 10.1007/s00705-016-2880-1
- Collins PL, Fearns R, Graham BS. Respiratory syncytial virus: virology, reverse genetics, and pathogenesis of disease. In: Anderson LJ, Graham B, editors. *Challenges and Opportunities for Respiratory Syncytial Virus Vaccines*. Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology, Vol. 372. Berlin; Heidelberg: Springer (2013). p. 3–38. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-38919-1_1
- 22. Hacking D, Hull J. Respiratory syncytial virus-viral biology and the host response. J Infect. (2002) 45:18–24. doi: 10.1053/jinf.2002.1015
- Fuentes S, Tran KC, Luthra P, Teng MN, He B. Function of the respiratory syncytial virus small hydrophobic protein. J Virol. (2007) 81:8361–6. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02717-06
- 24. Mastrangelo P, Hegele RG. RSV fusion: time for a new model. *Viruses*. (2013) 5:873–85. doi: 10.3390/v5030873
- Marr N, Turvey SE. Role of human TLR4 in respiratory syncytial virusinduced NF-kappaB activation, viral entry and replication. *Innate Immun.* (2012) 18:856–65. doi: 10.1177/1753425912444479

- Connors M, Collins PL, Firestone CY, Murphy BR. Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) F, G, M2 (22K), and N proteins each induce resistance to RSV challenge, but resistance induced by M2 and N proteins is relatively short-lived. J Virol. (1991) 65:1634–7.
- Sigurs N, Aljassim F, Kjellman B, Robinson PD, Sigurbergsson F, Bjarnason R, et al. Asthma and allergy patterns over 18 years after severe RSV bronchiolitis in the first year of life. *Thorax.* (2010) 65:1045–52. doi: 10.1136/thx.2009.121582
- Collins PL, Graham BS. Viral and host factors in human respiratory syncytial virus pathogenesis. J Virol. (2008) 82:2040–55. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01 625-07
- Hall CB. Respiratory syncytial virus and parainfluenza virus. N Engl J Med. (2001) 344:1917–28. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200106213442507
- Hall CB, Douglas RG Jr, Geiman JM. Possible transmission by fomites of respiratory syncytial virus. J Infect Dis. (1980) 141:98–102. doi: 10.1093/infdis/141.1.98
- Scott JA, Wonodi C, Moïsi JC, Deloria-Knoll M, DeLuca AN, Karron RA, et al. The definition of pneumonia, the assessment of severity, and clinical standardization in the Pneumonia Etiology Research for Child Health study. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2012) 54 (Suppl. 2):S109–16. doi: 10.1093/cid/cir1065
- 32. Nascimento-Carvalho AC, Ruuskanen O, Nascimento-Carvalho CM. Comparison of the frequency of bacterial and viral infections among children with community-acquired pneumonia hospitalized across distinct severity categories: a prospective cross-sectional study. *BMC Pediatrics*. (2016) 16:105. doi: 10.1186/s12887-016-0645-3
- Pickles RJ, DeVincenzo JP. Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) and its propensity for causing bronchiolitis. J Pathol. (2015) 235:266–76. doi: 10.1002/path.4462
- 34. Yuan X, Hu T, He H, Qiu H, Wu X, Chen J, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus prolifically infects N2a neuronal cells, leading to TLR4 and nucleolin protein modulations and RSV F protein co-localization with TLR4 and nucleolin. J Biomed Sci. (2018) 25:13. doi: 10.1186/s12929-018-0416-6
- Mastrangelo P, Norris MJ, Duan W, Barrett EG, Moraes TJ, Hegele RG. Targeting host cell surface nucleolin for RSV therapy: challenges and opportunities. *Vaccines*. (2017) 5:E27. doi: 10.3390/vaccines5030027
- Tayyari F, Marchant D, Moraes TJ, Duan W, Mastrangelo P, Hegele RG. Identification of nucleolin as a cellular receptor for human respiratory syncytial virus. *Nat Med.* (2011) 17:1132–5. doi: 10.1038/nm.2444
- Piedimonte G, Perez MK. Respiratory syncytial virus infection and bronchiolitis. *Pediatrics Rev.* (2014) 35:519. doi: 10.1542/pir.35-12-519
- Ackermann MR. Lamb model of respiratory syncytial virus-associated lung disease: insights to pathogenesis and novel treatments. *ILAR J.* (2014) 55:4– 15. doi: 10.1093/ilar/ilu003
- 39. Welliver TP, Garofalo RP, Hosakote Y, Hintz KH, Avendano L, Sanchez K, et al. Severe human lower respiratory tract illness caused by respiratory syncytial virus and influenza virus is characterized by the absence of pulmonary cytotoxic lymphocyte responses. *J Infect Dis.* (2007) 195:1126–36. doi: 10.1086/512615
- Aherne W, Bird T, Court SD, Gardner PS, McQuillin J. Pathological changes in virus infections of the lower respiratory tract in children. *J Clin Pathol.* (1970) 23:7–18. doi: 10.1136/jcp.23.1.7
- Persson BD, Jaffe AB, Fearns R, Danahay H. Respiratory syncytial virus can infect basal cells and alter human airway epithelial differentiation. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e102368. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.01 02368
- Zhang L, Peeples ME, Boucher RC, Collins PL, Pickles RJ. Respiratory syncytial virus infection of human airway epithelial cells is polarized, specific to ciliated cells, and without obvious cytopathology. *J Virol.* (2002) 76:5654– 66. doi: 10.1128/JVI.76.11.5654-5666.2002
- Neilson KA, Yunis EJ. Demonstration of respiratory syncytial virus in an autopsy series. *Pediatr Pathol.* (1990) 10:491–502. doi: 10.3109/15513819009067138
- Johnson JE, Gonzales RA, Olson SJ, Wright PF, Graham BS. The histopathology of fatal untreated human respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Mod Pathol.* (2007) 20:108–19. doi: 10.1038/modpathol.38 00725
- 45. Villenave R, Thavagnanam S, Sarlang S, Parker J, Douglas I, Skibinski G, et al. *In vitro* modeling of respiratory syncytial virus infection of pediatric

bronchial epithelium, the primary target of infection *in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2012) 109:5040–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1110203109

- Doherty GM, Christie SN, Skibinski G, Puddicombe SM, Warke TJ, de Courcey F, et al. Non-bronchoscopic sampling and culture of bronchial epithelial cells in children. *Clin Exp Allergy*. (2003) 33:1221–5. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2222.2003.01752.x
- 47. Lay MK, González PA, León MA, Céspedes PF, Bueno SM, Riedel CA, et al. Advances in understanding respiratory syncytial virus infection in airway epithelial cells and consequential effects on the immune response. *Microbes Infect.* (2013) 15:230–42. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2012.11.012
- Liesman RM, Buchholz UJ, Luongo CL, Yang L, Proia AD, DeVincenzo JP, et al. RSV-encoded NS2 promotes epithelial cell shedding and distal airway obstruction. J Clin Invest. (2014) 124:2219–33. doi: 10.1172/JCI72948
- Welliver TP, Reed JL, Welliver RC. Respiratory syncytial virus and influenza virus infections: observations from tissues of fatal infant cases. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (2008) 27 (10 Suppl. 1):S92–6. doi: 10.1097/INF.0b013e318168b706
- McNamara PS, Flanagan BF, Hart CA, Smyth RL. Production of chemokines in the lungs of infants with severe respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. J Infect Dis. (2005) 191:1225–32. doi: 10.1086/428855
- Harrison AM, Bonville CA, Rosenberg HF, Domachowske JB. Respiratory syncytical virus-induced chemokine expression in the lower airways: eosinophil recruitment and degranulation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (1999) 159:1918–24. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.159.6.9805083
- Gill MA, Long K, Kwon T, Muniz L, Mejias A, Connolly J, et al. Differential recruitment of dendritic cells and monocytes to respiratory mucosal sites in children with influenza virus or respiratory syncytial virus infection. *J Infect Dis.* (2008) 198:1667–76. doi: 10.1086/593018
- García-García ML, Calvo C, Moreira A, Cañas JA, Pozo F, Sastre B, et al. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin, IL-33, and periostin in hospitalized infants with viral bronchiolitis. *Medicine*. (2017) 96. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000006787
- Saravia J, You D, Shrestha B, Jaligama S, Siefker D, Lee GI, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus disease is mediated by age-variable IL-33. *PLoS Pathog.* (2015) 11:e1005217. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005217
- Garofalo RP, Patti J, Hintz KA, Hill V, Ogra PL, Welliver RC. Macrophage inflammatory protein-1alpha (not T helper type 2 cytokines) is associated with severe forms of respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. *J Infect Dis.* (2001) 184:393–9. doi: 10.1086/322788
- Garofalo RP, Hintz KH, Hill V, Patti J, Ogra PL, Welliver RC. A comparison of epidemiologic and immunologic features of bronchiolitis caused by influenza virus and respiratory syncytial virus. *J Med Virol.* (2005) 75:282–9. doi: 10.1002/jmv.20268
- 57. Abu-Harb M, Bell F, Finn A, Rao WH, Nixon L, Shale D, et al. IL-8 and neutrophil elastase levels in the respiratory tract of infants with RSV bronchiolitis. *Eur Respir J.* (1999) 14:139–43. doi: 10.1034/j.1399-3003.1999.14a23.x
- Gern JE, Martin MS, Anklam KA, Shen K, Roberg KA, Carlson-Dakes KT, et al. Relationships among specific viral pathogens, virusinduced interleukin-8, and respiratory symptoms in infancy. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2002) 13:386–93. doi: 10.1034/j.1399-3038.2002.01093.x
- Rayavara K, Kurosky A, Stafford SJ, Garg NJ, Brasier AR, Garofalo RP, et al. Proinflammatory effects of respiratory syncytial virus-induced epithelial HMGB1 on human innate immune cell activation. *J Immunol.* (2018) 201:2753–66. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1800558
- Han J, Dakhama A, Jia Y, Wang M, Zeng W, Takeda K, et al. Responsiveness to respiratory syncytial virus in neonates is mediated through thymic stromal lymphopoietin and OX40 ligand. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2012) 130:1175– 86.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.08.033
- 61. Lee HC, Headley MB, Loo YM, Berlin A, Gale M, Debley JS, et al. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin is induced by respiratory syncytial virus-infected airway epithelial cells and promotes a type 2 response to infection. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2012) 130:1187–96.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.07.031
- 62. Brinkmann V, Reichard U, Goosmann C, Fauler B, Uhlemann Y, Weiss DS, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria. *Science*. (2004) 303:1532–5. doi: 10.1126/science.1092385
- Qiao J, Li A, Jin X. TSLP from RSV-stimulated rat airway epithelial cells activates myeloid dendritic cells. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2011) 89:231–8. doi: 10.1038/icb.2010.85

- 64. Mochizuki H, Todokoro M, Arakawa H. RS virus-induced inflammation and the intracellular glutathione redox state in cultured human airway epithelial cells. *Inflammation*. (2009) 32:252–64. doi: 10.1007/s10753-009-9128-0
- Bonville CA, Rosenberg HF, Domachowske JB. Macrophage inflammatory protein-1alpha and RANTES are present in nasal secretions during ongoing upper respiratory tract infection. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (1999) 10:39–44. doi: 10.1034/j.1399-3038.1999.101005.x
- Falsey AR, Hennessey PA, Formica MA, Cox C, Walsh EE. Respiratory syncytial virus infection in elderly and high-risk adults. *N Engl J Med.* (2005) 352:1749–59. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa043951
- Somerville LK, Ratnamohan VM, Dwyer DE, Kok J. Molecular diagnosis of respiratory viruses. *Pathology*. (2015) 47:243–9. doi: 10.1097/PAT.00000000000240
- Chartrand C, Tremblay N, Renaud C, Papenburg J. Diagnostic accuracy of rapid antigen detection tests for respiratory syncytial virus infection: systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Clin Microbiol.* (2015) 53:3738–49. doi: 10.1128/JCM.01816-15
- Haynes AK, Prill MM, Iwane MK, Gerber SI. Respiratory syncytial virus– United States, July 2012–June 2014. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. (2014) 63:1133–6.
- Falsey AR, Formica MA, Treanor JJ, Walsh EE. Comparison of quantitative reverse transcription-PCR to viral culture for assessment of respiratory syncytial virus shedding. *J Clin Microbiol.* (2003) 41:4160–5. doi: 10.1128/JCM.41.9.4160-4165.2003
- Falsey AR. Respiratory syncytial virus infection in adults. Semin Respir Crit Care Med. (2007) 28:171–81. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-976489
- Thompson WW, Shay DK, Weintraub E, Brammer L, Cox N, Anderson LJ, et al. Mortality associated with influenza and respiratory syncytial virus in the United States. *JAMA*. (2003) 289:179–86. doi: 10.1001/jama.289. 2.179
- Falsey AR, Walsh EE. Respiratory syncytial virus infection in elderly adults. Drugs Aging. (2005) 22:577–87. doi: 10.2165/00002512-200522070-00004
- 74. Jafri HS, Chavez-Bueno S, Mejias A, Gomez AM, Rios AM, Nassi SS, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus induces pneumonia, cytokine response, airway obstruction, and chronic inflammatory infiltrates associated with longterm airway hyperresponsiveness in mice. J Infect Dis. (2004) 189:1856–65. doi: 10.1086/386372
- Falsey AR, Walsh EE. Relationship of serum antibody to risk of respiratory syncytial virus infection in elderly adults. J Infect Dis. (1998) 177:463–6. doi: 10.1086/517376
- Cherukuri A, Patton K, Gasser RA, Zuo F, Woo J, Esser MT, et al. Adults 65 years old and older have reduced numbers of functional memory T cells to respiratory syncytial virus fusion protein. *Cli Vaccine Immunol.* (2013) 20:239–47. doi: 10.1128/CVI.00580-12
- Jounai N, Yoshioka M, Tozuka M, Inoue K, Oka T, Miyaji K, et al. Agespecific profiles of antibody responses against respiratory syncytial virus infection. *EBio Med.* (2017) 16:124–35. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2017.01.014
- Liu B, Kimura Y. Local immune response to respiratory syncytial virus infection is diminished in senescence-accelerated mice. J General Virol. (2007) 88:2552–8. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.83089-0
- Hall CB, Kopelman AE, Douglas RG, Geiman JM, Meagher MP. Neonatal respiratory syncytial virus infection. N Engl J Med. (1979) 300:393–6. doi: 10.1056/NEJM197902223000803
- Perk Y, Özdil M. Respiratory syncytial virus infections in neonates and infants. *Turk Pediatri Ars.* (2018) 53:63–70. doi: 10.5152/TurkPediatriArs.2018.6939
- Okiro EA, Ngama M, Bett A, Cane PA, Medley GF, James Nokes D. Factors associated with increased risk of progression to respiratory syncytial virusassociated pneumonia in young Kenyan children. *Trop Med Int Health.* (2008) 13:914–26. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3156.2008.02092.x
- Welliver RC. Review of epidemiology and clinical risk factors for severe respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infection. J Pediatr. (2003) 143 (5 Suppl. 1):S112–7. doi: 10.1067/S0022-3476(03)00508-0
- Hall CB, Long CE, Schnabel KC. Respiratory syncytial virus infections in previously healthy working adults. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2001) 33:792–6. doi: 10.1086/322657
- MacDonald NE, Hall CB, Suffin SC, Alexson C, Harris PJ, Manning JA. Respiratory syncytial viral infection in infants with congenital heart

disease. N Engl J Med. (1982) 307:397-400. doi: 10.1056/NEJM1982081230 70702

- Wat D. Impact of respiratory viral infections on cystic fibrosis. *Postgrad Med J.* (2003) 79:201–3. doi: 10.1136/pmj.79.930.201
- Kassis C, Champlin RE, Hachem RY, Hosing C, Tarrand JJ, Perego CA, et al. Detection and control of a nosocomial respiratory syncytial virus outbreak in a stem cell transplantation unit: the role of palivizumab. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant.* (2010) 16:1265–71. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2010.03.011
- Murphy D, Rose RC. Respiratory syncytial virus pneumonia in a human immunodeficiency virus-infected man. JAMA. (1989) 261:1147. doi: 10.1001/jama.1989.03420080061014
- Thorburn K. Pre-existing disease is associated with a significantly higher risk of death in severe respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Arch Dis Child.* (2009) 94:99–103. doi: 10.1136/adc.2008.139188
- Murray J, Bottle A, Sharland M, Modi N, Aylin P, Majeed A, et al. Risk factors for hospital admission with RSV bronchiolitis in England: a population-based birth cohort study. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e89186. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0089186
- van Drunen Littel-van den Hurk S, Watkiss ER. Pathogenesis of respiratory syncytial virus. *Curr Opin Virol.* (2012) 2:300–5. doi: 10.1016/j.coviro.2012.01.008
- Cormier SA, You D, Honnegowda S. The use of a neonatal mouse model to study respiratory syncytial virus infections. *Expert Rev Anti-Infect Ther*. (2010) 8:1371–80. doi: 10.1586/eri.10.125
- Welliver RC. The immune response to respiratory syncytial virus infection: friend or foe? *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol.* (2008) 34:163–73. doi: 10.1007/s12016-007-8033-2
- Halfhide CP, Brearey SP, Flanagan BF, Hunt JA, Howarth D, Cummerson J, et al. Neutrophil TLR4 expression is reduced in the airways of infants with severe bronchiolitis. *Thorax.* (2009) 64:798–805. doi: 10.1136/thx.2008.107821
- Barchet W, Cella M, Colonna M. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells—virus experts of innate immunity. In: Ardavín, C, editor. *Seminars in Immunology*. Amsterdam: Elsevier (2005). p. 253–61. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2005.05.008
- 95. Dakhama A, Park JW, Taube C, Joetham A, Balhorn A, Miyahara N, et al. The enhancement or prevention of airway hyperresponsiveness during reinfection with respiratory syncytial virus is critically dependent on the age at first infection and IL-13 production. *J Immunol.* (2005) 175:1876–83. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.3.1876
- Culley FJ, Pollott J, Openshaw PJ. Age at first viral infection determines the pattern of T cell-mediated disease during reinfection in adulthood. J Exp Med. (2002) 196:1381–6. doi: 10.1084/jem.20020943
- Glezen WP, Paredes A, Allison JE, Taber LH, Frank AL. Risk of respiratory syncytial virus infection for infants from low-income families in relationship to age, sex, ethnic group, and maternal antibody level. *J Pediatrics*. (1981) 98:708–15. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(81)80829-3
- Ramos-Fernández JM, Moreno-Pérez D, Gutiérrez-Bedmar M, Hernández-Yuste A, Cordón-Martínez AM, Milano-Manso G, et al. Prediction of severe course in infants with RSV bronchiolitis under 6 months. Spain. *Rev Espanola Salud Publ.* (2017) 2017:91.
- Stein RT, Sherrill D, Morgan WJ, Holberg CJ, Halonen M, Taussig LM, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus in early life and risk of wheeze and allergy by age 13 years. *Lancet.* (1999) 354:541–5. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(98)10321-5
- 100. Szabo SM, Levy AR, Gooch KL, Bradt P, Wijaya H, Mitchell I. Elevated risk of asthma after hospitalization for respiratory syncytial virus infection in infancy. *Paediatr Respir Rev.* (2013) 13 (Suppl. 2):S9–15. doi: 10.1016/S1526-0542(12)70161-6
- 101. Welliver RC, Wong DT, Sun M, Middleton E, Vaughan RS, Ogra PL. The development of respiratory syncytial virus-specific IgE and the release of histamine in nasopharyngeal secretions after infection. *N Engl J Med.* (1981) 305:841–6. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198110083051501
- 102. Gut W, Pancer K, Abramczuk E, Cześcik A, Dunal-Szczepaniak M, Lipka B, et al. RSV respiratory infection in children under 5 y.o.-dynamics of the immune response Th1/Th2 and Ig E. *Przegl Epidemiol.* (2013) 67:17–22, 105–9.
- 103. Welliver RC, Sun M, Rinaldo D, Ogra PL. Predictive value of respiratory syncytial virus-specific IgE responses for recurrent

wheezing following bronchiolitis. J Pediatr. (1986) 109:776–80. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(86)80692-8

- 104. Smith-Norowitz TA, Mandal M, Joks R, Norowitz LT, Weaver D, Durkin HG, et al. IgE anti-respiratory syncytial virus antibodies detected in serum of pediatric patients with asthma. *Hum Immunol.* (2015) 76:519–24. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2015.06.002
- 105. Sigurs N, Bjarnason R, Sigurbergsson F, Kjellman B, Björkstén B. Asthma and immunoglobulin E antibodies after respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis: a prospective cohort study with matched controls. *Pediatrics*. (1995) 95:500–5.
- 106. Sigurs N, Bjarnason R, Sigurbergsson F, Kjellman B. Respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis in infancy is an important risk factor for asthma and allergy at age 7. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. (2000) 161:1501–7. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.161.5.9906076
- 107. Bertrand P, Lay MK, Piedimonte G, Brockmann PE, Palavecino CE, Hernández J, et al. Elevated IL-3 and IL-12p40 levels in the lower airway of infants with RSV-induced bronchiolitis correlate with recurrent wheezing. *Cytokine*. (2015) 76:417–23. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2015.07.017
- Pawankar R, Hayashi M, Yamanishi S, Igarashi T. The paradigm of cytokine networks in allergic airway inflammation. *Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2015) 15:41–8. doi: 10.1097/ACI.00000000000129
- Nakajima H, Takatsu K. Role of cytokines in allergic airway inflammation. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. (2007) 142:265–73. doi: 10.1159/000097357
- 110. Papazian D, Hansen S, Würtzen PA. Airway responses towards allergens from the airway epithelium to T cells. *Clin Exp Allergy*. (2015) 45:1268–87. doi: 10.1111/cea.12451
- Martinez-Moczygemba M, Huston DP. Biology of common beta receptorsignaling cytokines: IL-3, IL-5, and GM-CSF. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2003) 112:653–65; quiz 666. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2003.08.015
- 112. Yagami A, Orihara K, Morita H, Futamura K, Hashimoto N, Matsumoto K, et al. IL-33 mediates inflammatory responses in human lung tissue cells. *J Immunol.* (2010) 185:5743–50. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0 903818
- Besnard AG, Togbe D, Guillou N, Erard F, Quesniaux V, Ryffel B. IL-33activated dendritic cells are critical for allergic airway inflammation. *Eur J Immunol.* (2011) 41:1675–86. doi: 10.1002/eji.201041033
- 114. Lewis TC, Henderson TA, Carpenter AR, Ramirez IA, McHenry CL, Goldsmith AM, et al. Nasal cytokine responses to natural colds in asthmatic children. *Clin Exp Allergy*. (2012) 42:1734–44. doi: 10.1111/cea.12005
- 115. Saenz SA, Taylor BC, Artis D. Welcome to the neighborhood: epithelial cell-derived cytokines license innate and adaptive immune responses at mucosal sites. *Immunol Rev.* (2008) 226:172–90. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00713.x
- 116. Hervás D, Reina J, Yañez A, del Valle JM, Figuerola J, Hervás JA. Epidemiology of hospitalization for acute bronchiolitis in children: differences between RSV and non-RSV bronchiolitis. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis.* (2012) 31:1975–81. doi: 10.1007/s10096-011-1529-y
- 117. Thomsen SF, van der Sluis S, Stensballe LG, Posthuma D, Skytthe A, Kyvik KO, et al. Exploring the association between severe respiratory syncytial virus infection and asthma: a registry-based twin study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2009) 179:1091–7. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200809-1471OC
- 118. Daley D, Park JE, He JQ, Yan J, Akhabir L, Stefanowicz D, et al. Associations and interactions of genetic polymorphisms in innate immunity genes with early viral infections and susceptibility to asthma and asthma-related phenotypes. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2012) 130:1284–93. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.07.051
- 119. Stensballe LG, Simonsen JB, Thomsen SF, Larsen AM, Lysdal SH, Aaby P, et al. The causal direction in the association between respiratory syncytial virus hospitalization and asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2009) 123:131–7.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2008.10.042
- 120. James KM, Peebles RS Jr, Hartert TV. Response to infections in patients with asthma and atopic disease: an epiphenomenon or reflection of host susceptibility? J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2012) 130:343–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.05.056
- 121. Awomoyi AA, Rallabhandi P, Pollin TI, Lorenz E, Sztein MB, Boukhvalova MS, et al. Association of TLR4 polymorphisms with symptomatic respiratory syncytial virus infection in high-risk infants and young children. *J Immunol.* (2007) 179:3171–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.5.3171

- 122. Arbour NC, Lorenz E, Schutte BC, Zabner J, Kline JN, Jones M, et al. TLR4 mutations are associated with endotoxin hyporesponsiveness in humans. *Nat Genet.* (2000) 25:187–91. doi: 10.1038/76048
- 123. Inoue Y, Shimojo N, Suzuki Y, Campos Alberto EJ, Yamaide A, Suzuki S, et al. CD14-550 C/T, which is related to the serum level of soluble CD14, is associated with the development of respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis in the Japanese population. J Infect Dis. (2007) 195:1618–24. doi: 10.1086/516790
- 124. Haziot A, Chen S, Ferrero E, Low MG, Silber R, Goyert SM. The monocyte differentiation antigen, CD14, is anchored to the cell membrane by a phosphatidylinositol linkage. *J Immunol.* (1988) 141:547–52.
- 125. Hailman E, Vasselon T, Kelley M, Busse LA, Hu MC, Lichenstein HS, et al. Stimulation of macrophages and neutrophils by complexes of lipopolysaccharide and soluble CD14. *J Immunol.* (1996) 156:4384–90.
- 126. Pugin J, Schürer-Maly CC, Leturcq D, Moriarty A, Ulevitch RJ, Tobias PS. Lipopolysaccharide activation of human endothelial and epithelial cells is mediated by lipopolysaccharide-binding protein and soluble CD14. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1993) 90:2744–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.90.7.2744
- 127. Verhasselt V, Buelens C, Willems F, De Groote D, Haeffner-Cavaillon N, Goldman M. Bacterial lipopolysaccharide stimulates the production of cytokines and the expression of costimulatory molecules by human peripheral blood dendritic cells: evidence for a soluble CD14-dependent pathway. *J Immunol.* (1997) 158:2919–25.
- Aung S, Rutigliano JA, Graham BS. Alternative mechanisms of respiratory syncytial virus clearance in perforin knockout mice lead to enhanced disease. *J Virol.* (2001) 75:9918–24. doi: 10.1128/JVI.75.20.9918-9924.2001
- 129. Rosenwasser LJ, Klemm DJ, Dresback JK, Inamura H, Mascali JJ, Klinnert M, et al. Promoter polymorphisms in the chromosome 5 gene cluster in asthma and atopy. *Clin Exp Allergy*. (1995) 25 (Suppl. 2):74–8; discussion 95–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.1995.tb00428.x
- Garcia-Garcia ML, Rey CC, del Rosal Rabes T. Asma y virus en el niño. Arch Bronconeumol. (2016) 52:269–73. doi: 10.1016/j.arbres.2015.11.008
- 131. Janssen R, Bont L, Siezen CL, Hodemaekers HM, Ermers MJ, Doornbos G, et al. Genetic susceptibility to respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis is predominantly associated with innate immune genes. J Infect Dis. (2007) 196:826–34. doi: 10.1086/520886
- Laplana M, Royo JL, Fibla J. Vitamin D Receptor polymorphisms and risk of enveloped virus infection: a meta-analysis. *Gene.* (2018) 678:384–94. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2018.08.017
- 133. Drysdale SB, Prendergast M, Alcazar M, Wilson T, Smith M, Zuckerman M, et al. Genetic predisposition of RSV infection-related respiratory morbidity in preterm infants. *Eur J Pediatr.* (2014) 173:905–12. doi: 10.1007/s00431-014-2263-0
- Verhoeven D. Influence of immunological maturity on respiratory syncytial virus-induced morbidity in young children. *Viral Immunol.* (2018) 32:76–83. doi: 10.1089/vim.2018.0121
- Drajac C, Laubreton D, Riffault S, Descamps D. Pulmonary susceptibility of neonates to respiratory syncytial virus infection: a problem of innate immunity? J Immunol Res. (2017) 2017. doi: 10.1155/2017/8734504
- van Riel D, Verdijk R, Kuiken T. The olfactory nerve: a shortcut for influenza and other viral diseases into the central nervous system. J Pathol. (2015) 235:277–87. doi: 10.1002/path.4461
- 137. Ng YT, Cox C, Atkins J, Butler IJ. Encephalopathy associated with respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. J Child Neurol. (2001) 16:105–8. doi: 10.1177/088307380101600207
- 138. Park A, Suh SI, Son GR, Lee YH, Seo HS, Eun BL, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus-related encephalitis: magnetic resonance imaging findings with diffusion-weighted study. *Neuroradiology*. (2014) 56:163–8. doi: 10.1007/s00234-013-1305-z
- Uda K, Kitazawa K. Febrile status epilepticus due to respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Pediatrics Int.* (2017) 59:878–84. doi: 10.1111/ped. 13300
- 140. Pasanen A, Karjalainen MK, Bont L, Piippo-Savolainen E, Ruotsalainen M, Goksör E, et al. Genome-wide association study of polymorphisms predisposing to bronchiolitis. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:41653. doi: 10.1038/srep41653
- 141. Ahout IM, Jans J, Haroutiounian L, Simonetti ER, van der Gaast-de Jongh C, Diavatopoulos DA, et al. Reduced expression of HLA-DR on monocytes

during severe respiratory syncytial virus infections. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (2016) 35:e89–96. doi: 10.1097/INF.00000000001007

- 142. Lasky-Su J, Himes BE, Raby BA, Klanderman BJ, Sylvia JS, Lange C, et al. HLA-DQ strikes again: genome-wide association study further confirms HLA-DQ in the diagnosis of asthma among adults. *Clin Exp Allergy*. (2012) 42:1724–33. doi: 10.1111/cea.12000
- 143. Baños-Lara Mdel R, Piao B, Guerrero-Plata A. Differential mucin expression by respiratory syncytial virus and human metapneumovirus infection in human epithelial cells. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2015) 2015:347292. doi: 10.1155/2015/347292
- 144. Stokes KL, Currier MG, Sakamoto K, Lee S, Collins PL, Plemper RK, et al. The respiratory syncytial virus fusion protein and neutrophils mediate the airway mucin response to pathogenic RSV infection. J Virol. (2013) 87:10070–82. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01347-13
- 145. Asgari S, Schlapbach LJ, Anchisi S, Hammer C, Bartha I, Junier T, et al. Severe viral respiratory infections in children with IFIH1 lossof-function mutations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2017) 114:8342–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1704259114
- 146. Loo YM, Gale M. Immune signaling by RIG-I-like receptors. *Immunity*. (2011) 34:680–92. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2011.05.003
- 147. Thomas NJ, DiAngelo S, Hess JC, Fan R, Ball MW, Geskey JM, et al. Transmission of surfactant protein variants and haplotypes in children hospitalized with respiratory syncytial virus. *Pediatr Res.* (2009) 66:70–3. doi: 10.1203/PDR.0b013e3181a1d768
- Hull J, Thomson A, Kwiatkowski D. Association of respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis with the interleukin 8 gene region in UK families. *Thorax.* (2000) 55:1023–7. doi: 10.1136/thorax.55.12.1023
- 149. Hoebee B, Rietveld E, Bont L, Oosten Mv, Hodemaekers HM, Nagelkerke NJ, et al. Association of severe respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis with interleukin-4 and interleukin-4 receptor alpha polymorphisms. J Infect Dis. (2003) 187:2–11. doi: 10.1086/345859
- 150. Tapia LI, Ampuero S, Palomino MA, Luchsinger V, Aguilar N, Ayarza E, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus infection and recurrent wheezing in Chilean infants: a genetic background? *Infect Genet Evol.* (2013) 16:54–61. doi: 10.1016/j.meegid.2012.12.030
- 151. Wilson J, Rowlands K, Rockett K, Moore C, Lockhart E, Sharland M, et al. Genetic variation at the IL10 gene locus is associated with severity of respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. J Infect Dis. (2005) 191:1705–9. doi: 10.1086/429636
- Puthothu B, Krueger M, Forster J, Heinzmann A. Association between severe respiratory syncytial virus infection and IL13/IL4 haplotypes. J Infect Dis. (2006) 193:438–41. doi: 10.1086/499316
- 153. Siezen CL, Bont L, Hodemaekers HM, Ermers MJ, Doornbos G, Van't Slot R, et al. Genetic susceptibility to respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis in preterm children is associated with airway remodeling genes and innate immune genes. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (2009) 28:333–5. doi: 10.1097/INF.0b013e31818e2aa9
- 154. Cakebread JA, Haitchi HM, Holloway JW, Powell RM, Keith T, Davies DE, et al. The role of ADAM33 in the pathogenesis of asthma. *Springer Semin Immunopathol.* (2004) 25:361–75. doi: 10.1007/s00281-003-0153-z
- 155. Boxall C, Holgate ST, Davies DE. The contribution of transforming growth factor-beta and epidermal growth factor signalling to airway remodelling in chronic asthma. *Eur Respir J.* (2006) 27:208–29. doi: 10.1183/09031936.06.00130004
- 156. Zosky GR, Berry LJ, Elliot JG, James AL, Gorman S, Hart PH. Vitamin D deficiency causes deficits in lung function and alters lung structure. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. (2011) 183:1336–43. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201010-1596OC
- Zanetti M, Gennaro R, Skerlavaj B, Tomasinsig L, Circo R. Cathelicidin peptides as candidates for a novel class of antimicrobials. *Curr Pharm Des.* (2002) 8:779–93. doi: 10.2174/1381612023395457
- 158. Gombart AF, Borregaard N, Koeffler HP. Human cathelicidin antimicrobial peptide (CAMP) gene is a direct target of the vitamin D receptor and is strongly up-regulated in myeloid cells by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. *FASEB J.* (2005) 19:1067–77. doi: 10.1096/fj.04-3284com
- Gennaro R, Zanetti M. Structural features and biological activities of the cathelicidin-derived antimicrobial peptides. *Biopolymers*. (2000) 55:31–49. doi: 10.1002/1097-0282(2000)55:1<31::AID-BIP40>3.0.CO;2-9

- 160. Jeffery LE, Burke F, Mura M, Zheng Y, Qureshi OS, Hewison M, et al. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 and IL-2 combine to inhibit T cell production of inflammatory cytokines and promote development of regulatory T cells expressing CTLA-4 and FoxP3. J Immunol. (2009) 183:5458–67. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0803217
- 161. Hansdottir S, Monick MM, Lovan N, Powers L, Gerke A, Hunninghake GW. Vitamin D decreases respiratory syncytial virus induction of NF-kappaB-linked chemokines and cytokines in airway epithelium while maintaining the antiviral state. J Immunol. (2010) 184:965–74. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0902840
- 162. Sabetta JR, DePetrillo P, Cipriani RJ, Smardin J, Burns LA, Landry ML. Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin d and the incidence of acute viral respiratory tract infections in healthy adults. *PLoS ONE*. (2010) 5:e11088. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0011088
- 163. Ginde AA, Mansbach JM, Camargo CA. Association between serum 25hydroxyvitamin D level and upper respiratory tract infection in the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *Arch Intern Med.* (2009) 169:384–90. doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2008.560
- 164. Randolph AG, Yip WK, Falkenstein-Hagander K, Weiss ST, Janssen R, Keisling S, et al. Vitamin D-binding protein haplotype is associated with hospitalization for RSV bronchiolitis. *Clin Exp Allergy*. (2014) 44:231–7. doi: 10.1111/cea.12247
- 165. Berry DJ, Hesketh K, Power C, Hyppönen E. Vitamin D status has a linear association with seasonal infections and lung function in British adults. Br J Nutr. (2011) 106:1433–40. doi: 10.1017/S0007114511001991
- 166. Inamo Y, Hasegawa M, Saito K, Hayashi R, Ishikawa T, Yoshino Y, et al. Serum vitamin D concentrations and associated severity of acute lower respiratory tract infections in Japanese hospitalized children. *Pediatr Int.* (2011) 53:199–201. doi: 10.1111/j.1442-200X.2010.03224.x
- 167. Morcos MM, Gabr AA, Samuel S, Kamel M, el Baz M, el Beshry M, et al. Vitamin D administration to tuberculous children and its value. *Boll Chim Farm.* (1998) 137:157–64.
- 168. Urashima M, Segawa T, Okazaki M, Kurihara M, Wada Y, Ida H. Randomized trial of vitamin D supplementation to prevent seasonal influenza A in schoolchildren. Am J Clin Nutr. (2010) 91:1255-60. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2009.29094
- 169. Belderbos ME, Houben ML, Wilbrink B, Lentjes E, Bloemen EM, Kimpen JL, et al. Cord blood vitamin D deficiency is associated with respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. *Pediatrics*. (2011) 127:e1513–20. doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-3054
- Oduwole AO, Renner JK, Disu E, Ibitoye E, Emokpae E. Relationship between vitamin D levels and outcome of pneumonia in children. West Afr J Med. (2010) 29. doi: 10.4314/wajm.v29i6.68261
- 171. Trento A, Viegas M, Galiano M, Videla C, Carballal G, Mistchenko AS, et al. Natural history of human respiratory syncytial virus inferred from phylogenetic analysis of the attachment (G) glycoprotein with a 60-nucleotide duplication. J Virol. (2006) 80:975–84. doi: 10.1128/JVI.80.2.975-984.2006
- Collins PL, Murphy BR. New generation live vaccines against human respiratory syncytial virus designed by reverse genetics. *Proc Am Thorac Soc.* (2005) 2:166–73. doi: 10.1513/pats.200501-011AW
- 173. Karron RA, Wright PF, Belshe RB, Thumar B, Casey R, Newman F, et al. Identification of a recombinant live attenuated respiratory syncytial virus vaccine candidate that is highly attenuated in infants. *J Infect Dis.* (2005) 191:1093–104. doi: 10.1086/427813
- 174. Sidwell RW, Barnard DL. Respiratory syncytial virus infections: recent prospects for control. *Antiviral Res.* (2006) 71:379–90. doi: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2006.05.014
- Cardenas S, Auais A, Piedimonte G. Palivizumab in the prophylaxis of respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther.* (2005) 3:719–26. doi: 10.1586/14787210.3.5.719
- Fonseca W, Lukacs NW, Ptaschinski C. Factors affecting the immunity to respiratory syncytial virus: from epigenetics to microbiome. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:226. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00226
- 177. Gusdon JP. Fetal and maternal immunoglobulin levels during pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol. (1969) 103:895–900. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(16)34434-9

- Garty BZ, Ludomirsky A, Danon YL, Peter JB, Douglas SD. Placental transfer of immunoglobulin G subclasses. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol.* (1994) 1:667–9.
- 179. Malek A, Sager R, Kuhn P, Nicolaides KH, Schneider H. Evolution of maternofetal transport of immunoglobulins during human pregnancy. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (1996) 36:248–55. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.1996.tb00172.x
- 180. Kohler PF, Farr RS. Elevation of cord over maternal IgG immunoglobulin: evidence for an active placental IgG transport. *Nature*. (1966) 210:1070–1. doi: 10.1038/2101070a0
- 181. Carr R, Pumford D, Davies JM. Neutrophil chemotaxis and adhesion in preterm babies. Arch Dis Child. (1992) 67:813–7. doi: 10.1136/adc.67.7_Spec_No.813
- 182. Raymond SL, Mathias BJ, Murphy TJ, Rincon JC, López MC, Ungaro R, et al. Neutrophil chemotaxis and transcriptomics in term and preterm neonates. *Transl Res.* (2017) 190:4–15. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2017.08.003
- 183. Madurga A, Mizíková I, Ruiz-Camp J, Morty RE. Recent advances in late lung development and the pathogenesis of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. (2013) 305:L893–905. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00267.2013
- 184. Mehta J, Walsh EE, Mahadevia PJ, Falsey AR. Risk factors for respiratory syncytial virus illness among patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Chronic Obstruct Pulmonary Dis. (2013) 10:293–9. doi: 10.3109/15412555.2012.744741
- 185. de Steenhuijsen Piters WA, Heinonen S, Hasrat R, Bunsow E, Smith B, Suarez-Arrabal MC, et al. Nasopharyngeal microbiota, host transcriptome, and disease severity in children with respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2016) 194:1104–15. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201602-0220OC
- 186. Ederveen THA, Ferwerda G, Ahout IM, Vissers M, de Groot R, Boekhorst J, et al. Haemophilus is overrepresented in the nasopharynx of infants hospitalized with RSV infection and associated with increased viral load and enhanced mucosal CXCL8 responses. *Microbiome.* (2018) 6:10. doi: 10.1186/s40168-017-0395-y
- 187. Ackerson B, Tseng HF, Sy LS, Solano Z, Slezak J, Luo Y, et al. Severe morbidity and mortality associated with respiratory syncytial virus versus influenza infection in hospitalized older adults. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2018) 69:197–203. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciy991
- 188. Voraphani N, Stern DA, Wright AL, Guerra S, Morgan WJ, Martinez FD. Risk of current asthma among adult smokers with respiratory syncytial virus illnesses in early life. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2014) 190:392–8. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201311-2095OC
- 189. Park SY, Kim T, Jang YR, Kim MC, Chong YP, Lee SO, et al. Factors predicting life-threatening infections with respiratory syncytial virus in adult patients. *Infect Dis.* (2017) 49:333–40. doi: 10.1080/23744235.2016.1260769
- 190. Murasko DM, Goonewardene IM. T-cell function in aging: mechanisms of decline. In: Cristofalo VJ, Lawton MP, editors. Special Focus on the Biology of Aging. Berlin; Heidelberg: Springer (1991). p. 71–96. doi: 10.1007/978-3-662-38445-9_5
- 191. Malloy AM, Falsey AR, Ruckwardt TJ. Consequences of immature and senescent immune responses for infection with respiratory syncytial virus. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol.* (2013) 372:211–31. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-38919-1_11
- 192. Wing K, Larsson P, Sandström K, Lundin SB, Suri-Payer E, Rudin A. CD4+ CD25+ FOXP3+ regulatory T cells from human thymus and cord blood suppress antigen-specific T cell responses. *Immunology*. (2005) 115:516–25. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2005.02186.x
- 193. Sanchez AM, Yang Y. The role of natural regulatory T cells in infection. Immunol Res. (2011) 49:124–34. doi: 10.1007/s12026-010-8176-8
- 194. Suvas S, Azkur AK, Kim BS, Kumaraguru U, Rouse BT. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells control the severity of viral immunoinflammatory lesions. *J Immunol.* (2004) 172:4123–32. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.7.4123
- Belkaid Y, Rouse BT. Natural regulatory T cells in infectious disease. Nat Immunol. (2005) 6:353–60. doi: 10.1038/ni1181
- 196. Schober L, Radnai D, Schmitt E, Mahnke K, Sohn C, Steinborn A. Term and preterm labor: decreased suppressive activity and changes in composition of the regulatory T-cell pool. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2012) 90:935– 44. doi: 10.1038/icb.2012.33

- 197. Thome JJ, Bickham KL, Ohmura Y, Kubota M, Matsuoka N, Gordon C, et al. Early-life compartmentalization of human T cell differentiation and regulatory function in mucosal and lymphoid tissues. *Nat Med.* (2016) 22:72–7. doi: 10.1038/nm.4008
- 198. Wing K, Lindgren S, Kollberg G, Lundgren A, Harris RA, Rudin A, et al. CD4 T cell activation by myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein is suppressed by adult but not cord blood CD25+ T cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2003) 33:579–87. doi: 10.1002/eji.200323701
- 199. Fritzsching B, Oberle N, Pauly E, Geffers R, Buer J, Poschl J, et al. Naive regulatory T cells: a novel subpopulation defined by resistance toward CD95L-mediated cell death. *Blood.* (2006) 108:3371–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-02-005660
- Christiaansen AF, Syed MA, Ten Eyck PP, Hartwig SM, Durairaj L, Kamath SS, et al. Altered Treg and cytokine responses in RSV-infected infants. *Pediatr Res.* (2016) 80:702–9. doi: 10.1038/pr.2016.130
- 201. Lay MK, Bueno SM, Gálvez N, Riedel CA, Kalergis AM. New insights on the viral and host factors contributing to the airway pathogenesis caused by the respiratory syncytial virus. *Crit Rev Microbiol.* (2016) 42:800–12. doi: 10.3109/1040841X.2015.1055711
- 202. Goritzka M, Pereira C, Makris S, Durant LR, Johansson C. T cell responses are elicited against Respiratory Syncytial Virus in the absence of signalling through TLRs, RLRs and IL-1R/IL-18R. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:18533. doi: 10.1038/srep18533
- 203. Lambert L, Sagfors AM, Openshaw PJ, Culley FJ. Immunity to RSV in early-life. *Front Immunol.* (2014) 5:466. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00466
- 204. Johansson C. Respiratory syncytial virus infection: an innate perspective. F1000 Res. (2016) 5:2898. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.9637.1
- 205. Kumar H, Kawai T, Akira S. Pathogen recognition by the innate immune system. Int Rev Immunol. (2011) 30:16–34. doi: 10.3109/08830185.2010.529976
- Sabbah A, Chang TH, Harnack R, Frohlich V, Tominaga K, Dube PH, et al. Activation of innate immune antiviral responses by Nod2. *Nat Immunol.* (2009) 10:1073–80. doi: 10.1038/ni.1782
- 207. Marr N, Turvey SE, Grandvaux N. Pathogen recognition receptor crosstalk in respiratory syncytial virus sensing: a host and cell type perspective. *Trends Microbiol.* (2013) 21:568–74. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2013.08.006
- 208. Goritzka M, Makris S, Kausar F, Durant LR, Pereira C, Kumagai Y, et al. Alveolar macrophage-derived type I interferons orchestrate innate immunity to RSV through recruitment of antiviral monocytes. J Exp Med. (2015) 212:699–714. doi: 10.1084/jem.20140825
- Yoneyama M, Onomoto K, Jogi M, Akaboshi T, Fujita T. Viral RNA detection by RIG-I-like receptors. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2015) 32:48–53. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2014.12.012
- Sun Y, López CB. The innate immune response to RSV: advances in our understanding of critical viral and host factors. *Vaccine*. (2017) 35:481–8. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.09.030
- 211. Murawski MR, Bowen GN, Cerny AM, Anderson LJ, Haynes LM, Tripp RA, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus activates innate immunity through Toll-like receptor 2. J Virol. (2009) 83:1492–500. doi: 10.1128/JVI.0 0671-08
- 212. Rudd BD, Smit JJ, Flavell RA, Alexopoulou L, Schaller MA, Gruber A, et al. Deletion of TLR3 alters the pulmonary immune environment and mucus production during respiratory syncytial virus infection. *J Immunol.* (2006) 176:1937–42. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.3.1937
- 213. Lukacs NW, Smit JJ, Mukherjee S, Morris SB, Nunez G, Lindell DM. Respiratory virus-induced TLR7 activation controls IL-17-associated increased mucus via IL-23 regulation. J Immunol. (2010) 185:2231–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000733
- Baum A, García-Sastre A. Induction of type I interferon by RNA viruses: cellular receptors and their substrates. *Amino acids*. (2010) 38:1283–99. doi: 10.1007/s00726-009-0374-0
- Man SM, Kanneganti TD. Regulation of inflammasome activation. *Immunol Rev.* (2015) 265:6–21. doi: 10.1111/imr.12296
- Broz P, Dixit VM. Inflammasomes: mechanism of assembly, regulation and signalling. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2016) 16:407–20. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.58
- 217. Segovia J, Sabbah A, Mgbemena V, Tsai SY, Chang TH, Berton MT, et al. TLR2/MyD88/NF-κB pathway, reactive oxygen species, potassium efflux activates NLRP3/ASC inflammasome during respiratory syncytial

virus infection. PLoS ONE. (2012) 7:e29695. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.00 29695

- Bueno SM, González PA, Pacheco R, Leiva ED, Cautivo KM, Tobar HE, et al. Host immunity during RSV pathogenesis. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2008) 8:1320–9. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2008.03.012
- 219. He R, Geha RS. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2010) 1183:13–24. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05128.x
- Gonzalez PA, Bueno SM, Carreño LJ, Riedel CA, Kalergis AM. Respiratory syncytial virus infection and immunity. *Rev Med Virol.* (2012) 22:230–44. doi: 10.1002/rmv.1704
- 221. Saluzzo S, Gorki AD, Rana BMJ, Martins R, Scanlon S, Starkl P, et al. Firstbreath-induced type 2 pathways shape the lung immune environment. *Cell Rep.* (2017) 18:1893–905. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.01.071
- 222. de Kleer IM, Kool M, de Bruijn MJ, Willart M, van Moorleghem J, Schuijs MJ, et al. Perinatal activation of the interleukin-33 pathway promotes type 2 immunity in the developing lung. *Immunity*. (2016) 45:1285–98. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.10.031
- 223. Cortjens B, de Boer OJ, de Jong R, Antonis AF, Sabogal Piñeros YS, Lutter R, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps cause airway obstruction during respiratory syncytial virus disease. J Pathol. (2016) 238:401–11. doi: 10.1002/path.4660
- 224. Saitoh T, Komano J, Saitoh Y, Misawa T, Takahama M, Kozaki T, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps mediate a host defense response to human immunodeficiency virus-1. *Cell Host Microbe.* (2012) 12:109–16. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2012.05.015
- 225. Raftery MJ, Lalwani P, Krautkrämer E, Peters T, Scharffetter-Kochanek K, Krüger R, et al. beta2 integrin mediates hantavirus-induced release of neutrophil extracellular traps. J Exp Med. (2014) 211:1485–97. doi: 10.1084/jem.20131092
- Jenne CN, Kubes P. Virus-induced NETs-critical component of host defense or pathogenic mediator? *PLoS Pathog.* (2015) 11:e1004546. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004546
- 227. Stoppelenburg AJ, de Roock S, Hennus MP, Bont L, Boes M. Elevated Th17 response in infants undergoing respiratory viral infection. Am J Pathol. (2014) 184:1274–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2014.01.033
- 228. Stokes CA, Ismail S, Dick EP, Bennett JA, Johnston SL, Edwards MR, et al. The role of IL-1 and MyD88-dependent signaling in rhinoviral infection. J Virol. 85:7912–21. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02649-10
- 229. Noor A, Krilov LR. Respiratory syncytial virus vaccine: where are we now and what comes next? *Expert Opin Biol Ther.* (2018) 18:1247–56. doi: 10.1080/14712598.2018.1544239
- 230. Ruuskanen O, Ogra PL. Respiratory syncytial virus. Curr Probl Pediatr. (1993) 23:50-79. doi: 10.1016/0045-9380(93)90003-U
- 231. Group I-RS. Palivizumab, a humanized respiratory syncytial virus monoclonal antibody, reduces hospitalization from respiratory syncytial virus infection in high-risk infants. *Pediatrics.* (1998) 102:531–7. doi: 10.1542/peds.102.3.531
- 232. Schuurhuis DH, Ioan-Facsinay A, Nagelkerken B, van Schip JJ, Sedlik C, Melief CJ, et al. Antigen-antibody immune complexes empower dendritic cells to efficiently prime specific CD8+ CTL responses *in vivo. J Immunol.* (2002) 168:2240–6. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.168.5.2240
- 233. Kruijsen D, Bakkers MJ, van Uden NO, Viveen MC, van der Sluis TC, Kimpen JL, et al. Serum antibodies critically affect virus-specific CD4+/CD8+ T cell balance during respiratory syncytial virus infections. J Immunol. (2010) 185:6489–98. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1002645
- 234. Piedimonte G. Neural mechanisms of respiratory syncytial virusinduced inflammation and prevention of respiratory syncytial virus sequelae. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. (2001) 163(3 Pt 2):S18–21. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.163.supplement_1.2011113
- 235. Kimpen JL, Simoes EA. Respiratory syncytial virus and reactive airway disease. New developments prompt a new review. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2001) 163 (3 Pt 2):S1. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.163.supplement_1.2011109
- Hall CB, Douglas RG, Geiman JM. Respiratory syncytial virus infections in infants: quantitation and duration of shedding. *J Pediatrics*. (1976) 89:11–5. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(76)80918-3
- 237. Haynes LM, Caidi H, Radu GU, Miao C, Harcourt JL, Tripp RA, et al. Therapeutic monoclonal antibody treatment targeting respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) G protein mediates viral clearance and reduces the pathogenesis

of RSV infection in BALB/c mice. J Infect Dis. (2009) 200:439–47. doi: 10.1086/600108

- Durbin JE, Durbin RK. Respiratory syncytial virus-induced immunoprotection and immunopathology. Viral Immunol. (2004) 17:370–80. doi: 10.1089/vim.2004.17.370
- Cannon MJ, Openshaw PJ, Askonas BA. Cytotoxic T cells clear virus but augment lung pathology in mice infected with respiratory syncytial virus. *J Exp Med.* (1988) 168:1163–8. doi: 10.1084/jem.168.3.1163
- 240. Johnson TR, Varga SM, Braciale TJ, Graham BS. Vβ14+ T cells mediate the vaccine-enhanced disease induced by immunization with respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) G glycoprotein but not with formalin-inactivated RSV. *J Virol.* (2004) 78:8753–60. doi: 10.1128/JVI.78.16.8753-8760.2004
- 241. Larrañaga CL, Ampuero SL, Luchsinger VF, Carrión FA, Aguilar NV, Morales PR, et al. Impaired immune response in severe human lower tract respiratory infection by respiratory syncytial virus. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (2009) 28:867–73. doi: 10.1097/INF.0b013e3181a3ea71
- 242. Mukherjee S, Lindell DM, Berlin AA, Morris SB, Shanley TP, Hershenson MB, et al. IL-17-induced pulmonary pathogenesis during respiratory viral infection and exacerbation of allergic disease. *Am J Pathol.* (2011) 179:248– 58. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.03.003
- Tregoning JS, Schwarze J. Respiratory viral infections in infants: causes, clinical symptoms, virology, and immunology. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* (2010) 23:74–98. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00032-09
- 244. Thornburg NJ, Shepherd B, Crowe JE. Transforming growth factor beta is a major regulator of human neonatal immune responses following respiratory syncytial virus infection. J Virol. (2010) 84:12895–902. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01273-10
- Qin L, Hu CP, Feng JT, Xia Q. Activation of lymphocytes induced by bronchial epithelial cells with prolonged RSV infection. *PLoS ONE*. (2011) 6:e27113. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027113
- 246. Soumelis V, Reche PA, Kanzler H, Yuan W, Edward G, Homey B, et al. Human epithelial cells trigger dendritic cell mediated allergic inflammation by producing TSLP. *Nat Immunol.* (2002) 3:673–80. doi: 10.1038/ni805
- 247. O'Donnell DR, Carrington D. Peripheral blood lymphopenia and neutrophilia in children with severe respiratory syncytial virus disease. *Pediatr Pulmonol.* (2002) 34:128–30. doi: 10.1002/ppul.10140
- 248. De Weerd W, Twilhaar WN, Kimpen JL. T cell subset analysis in peripheral blood of children with RSV bronchiolitis. *Scand J Infect Dis.* (1998) 30:77–80. doi: 10.1080/003655498750002349
- 249. Ayukawa H, Matsubara T, Kaneko M, Hasegawa M, Ichiyama T, Furukawa S. Expression of CTLA-4 (CD152) in peripheral blood T cells of children with influenza virus infection including encephalopathy in comparison with respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2004) 137:151–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2004.02502.x
- 250. Koga M, Matsuoka T, Matsubara T, Katayama K, Furukawa S. Different expression of ICAM-1 and LFA-1 alpha by peripheral leukocytes during respiratory syncytial virus and influenza virus infection in young children. *Scand J Infect Dis.* (2000) 32:7–11. doi: 10.1080/00365540050164146
- 251. Roe MF, Bloxham DM, White DK, Ross-Russell RI, Tasker RT, O'Donnell DR. Lymphocyte apoptosis in acute respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2004) 137:139–45. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2004.02512.x
- Lukens MV, van de Pol AC, Coenjaerts FE, Jansen NJ, Kamp VM, Kimpen JL, et al. A systemic neutrophil response precedes robust CD8+ T-cell activation during natural respiratory syncytial virus infection in infants. *J Virol.* (2010) 84:2374–83. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01807-09

- Duncan CB, Walsh EE, Peterson DR, Lee FE, Falsey AR. Risk factors for respiratory failure associated with respiratory syncytial virus infection in adults. *J Infect Dis.* (2009) 200:1242–6. doi: 10.1086/605948
- 254. Walsh EE, Peterson DR, Falsey AR. Risk factors for severe respiratory syncytial virus infection in elderly persons. J Infect Dis. (2004) 189:233–8. doi: 10.1086/380907
- 255. Walsh EE, Peterson DR, Kalkanoglu AE, Lee FE, Falsey AR. Viral shedding and immune responses to respiratory syncytial virus infection in older adults. *J Infect Dis.* (2013) 207:1424–32. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jit038
- 256. Miller JD, van der Most RG, Akondy RS, Glidewell JT, Albott S, Masopust D, et al. Human effector and memory CD8+ T cell responses to smallpox and yellow fever vaccines. *Immunity*. (2008) 28:710–22. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2008.02.020
- 257. Heidema J, Lukens MV, van Maren WW, van Dijk ME, Otten HG, van Vught AJ, et al. CD8+ T cell responses in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid and peripheral blood mononuclear cells of infants with severe primary respiratory syncytial virus infections. *J Immunol.* (2007) 179:8410–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.12.8410
- Esposito S, Pietro GD. Respiratory syncytial virus vaccines: an update on those in the immediate pipeline. *Future Microbiol.* (2016) 11:1479–90. doi: 10.2217/fmb-2016-0106
- 259. Simões EAF, Bont L, Manzoni P, Fauroux B, Paes B, Figueras-Aloy J, et al. Past, present and future approaches to the prevention and treatment of respiratory syncytial virus infection in children. *Infect Dis Ther.* (2018) 7:87–120. doi: 10.1007/s40121-018-0188-z
- 260. Meissner HC, Groothuis JR, Rodriguez WJ, Welliver RC, Hogg G, Gray PH, et al. Safety and pharmacokinetics of an intramuscular monoclonal antibody (SB 209763) against respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) in infants and young children at risk for severe RSV disease. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother.* (1999) 43:1183–8. doi: 10.1128/AAC.43.5.1183
- 261. Johnson S, Oliver C, Prince GA, Hemming VG, Pfarr DS, Wang SC, et al. Development of a humanized monoclonal antibody (MEDI-493) with potent *in vitro* and *in vivo* activity against respiratory syncytial virus. J Infect Dis. (1997) 176:1215–24. doi: 10.1086/514115
- 262. Anderson LJ, Dormitzer PR, Nokes DJ, Rappuoli R, Roca A, Graham BS. Strategic priorities for respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) vaccine development. *Vaccine.* (2013) 31 (Suppl. 2):B209–15. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.11.106
- 263. Higgins D, Trujillo C, Keech C. Advances in RSV vaccine research and development—a global agenda. Vaccine. (2016) 34:2870–2875. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.03.109
- 264. Path Vaccine Resource. mAb Snapshot-PATH Vaccine Resource Library (2017). Available online at: https://vaccineresources.org/details. php?i=1562

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Carvajal, Avellaneda, Salazar-Ardiles, Maya, Kalergis and Lay. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Determining Immune and miRNA Biomarkers Related to Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) Vaccine Types

Lydia J. Atherton, Patricia A. Jorquera, Abhijeet A. Bakre and Ralph A. Tripp*

Department of Infectious Diseases, College of Veterinary Medicine, University of Georgia, Athens, GA, United States

Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) causes serious respiratory tract illness and substantial morbidity and some mortality in populations at the extremes of age, i.e., infants, young children, and the elderly. To date, RSV vaccine development has been unsuccessful, a feature linked to the lack of biomarkers available to assess the safety and efficacy of RSV vaccine candidates. We examined microRNAs (miR) as potential biomarkers for different types of RSV vaccine candidates. In this study, mice were vaccinated with a live attenuated RSV candidate that lacks the small hydrophobic (SH) and attachment (G) proteins (CP52), an RSV G protein microparticle (GA2-MP) vaccine, a formalin-inactivated RSV (FI-RSV) vaccine or were mock-treated. Several immunological endpoints and miR expression profiles were determined in mouse serum and bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) following vaccine priming, boost, and RSV challenge. We identified miRs that were linked with immunological parameters of disease and protection. We show that miRs are potential biomarkers providing valuable insights for vaccine development.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Alexis M. Kalergis, Pontifical Catholic University of Chile, Chile

Reviewed by:

Marina Boukhvalova, Sigmovir Biosystems, United States Marcelo Lopez-Lastra, Pontifical Catholic University of Chile, Chile

*Correspondence:

Ralph A. Tripp ratripp@uga.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Viral Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 16 December 2018 Accepted: 13 September 2019 Published: 09 October 2019

Citation:

Atherton LJ, Jorquera PA, Bakre AA and Tripp RA (2019) Determining Immune and miRNA Biomarkers Related to Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) Vaccine Types. Front. Immunol. 10:2323. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02323 Keywords: RSV, miR, vaccines, immune, disease, microRNA

INTRODUCTION

Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) is a cause of lower respiratory tract infection (LRTI) worldwide and is responsible for >30 million new LRTI episodes and up to 199,000 deaths in children under 5 years old resulting in more than 3.4 million hospital admission associated with severe RSV disease (1, 2). The elderly population is also markedly affected by RSV (3). Currently, the only approved RSV prophylactic is palivizumab which is used for high-risk patients, but such treatment has limited applicability due to cost and treatment logistics (4-9). Unfortunately, all efforts to develop a safe and effective RSV vaccine have been unsuccessful (10-16). Attempts in the 1960s to develop a formalin-inactivated RSV (FI-RSV) vaccine candidate were hampered by several factors, including lack of protection against RSV infection in infants and young children, and an association with vaccine enhanced disease that resulted in two deaths upon natural RSV infection of vaccinees (10, 17-19). Efforts to develop live attenuated RSV vaccine candidates using cold-passaging, chemical mutagenesis, or reverse genetics have also been unsuccessful largely due to over- or underattenuation, which currently cannot be precisely predicted (20-30), and natural RSV infection does not provide long-term protective immunity. Several other RSV vaccine platforms have been developed including subunit (31-38), vectored (39-46), particle-based (47-57), or nucleic acid-based (58–63), but none are FDA-approved a feature linked to our incomplete understanding of the host immune response to RSV (10). There are several target populations for RSV vaccines: infants, young children, pregnant women, and the elderly (10). Due to the differences in these target populations, vaccine safety, efficacy, and platform strategies will need to be different (10, 11, 18, 33).

By establishing measures of vaccine protection and disease, a wide range of promising vaccine candidates can be evaluated early in development.

The host immune response is important in the outcome of RSV infections (14, 60, 64, 65), and an imbalance between Th1and Th2-type cytokines is understood to be responsible for a variety of inflammatory disorders (66, 67). Biomarkers can be surrogates for clinical endpoints and are needed to improve vaccine design and efficacy. Small regulatory microRNAs (miRs) have fundamental roles in regulating the expression and function of key immunological mediators such as cytokines (68-70). miR expression profiles have been identified and shown to be useful predictors for several allergic inflammatory diseases (71-74). In addition, specific miRs have been shown to function in regulating key pathogenic mechanisms in asthma and airway hyperresponsiveness, including polarization of adaptive immune responses, activation of T cells (75-78), regulation of eosinophil development (79-84) and modulation of cytokinedriven responses (68-70). miRs are stable, in a variety of tissues, bodily fluids, and sera allowing for sensitive and accurate measurements regarding the physiological state of the individual (72-74). miRs govern host gene expression by inducing mRNA degradation or translation inhibition and have a prominent role in determining the level of protein expression of host gene targets (85-90). Several miRs can also upregulate target gene expression via regulation of promoter function (91, 92). It has been shown that miR patterns of expression vary for numerous physiological processes that have been deemed useful for diagnosis of neurodegenerative disorders, autoimmune diseases, cardiovascular disease, and cancers; likewise miRs have also been implicated in infectious diseases (42, 93-98). Assessing circulating miRs in the sera of patients has supported miR profiling as a powerful non-invasive biomarker tool.

Previously, it was shown that RSV infection of normal tracheal epithelial cells (NTECs) with GFP-expressing RSV (rgRSV) downregulated the expression of multiple miRNAs (99). Of the 24 miRNAs, miR-221 was shown to regulate nerve growth factor (NGF), a key neurokinin that prevents apoptosis in respiratory cells (99). Later, RSV infection of type II respiratory epithelial cells was shown to induce expression of five and down-regulation of three microRNAs via an RSV G protein regulated mechanism (100). RSV deregulated miRNAs were demonstrated to regulate several key immunological pathways. In a follow-up study, RSV infection of normal human bronchoepithelial (NHBE) cells, miRNA deregulation was tied to mechanisms involving IFN beta and the transcription factor NF- $\kappa\beta$ (101). We showed that RSV G and NS1/NS2 proteins can modulate miRNA expression (102, 103). Several studies have investigated differential expression of miRNAs in clinical RSV infections and shown deregulated patterns that can be used as potential biomarkers of infections (104-109). While these data show miRNA deregulation during infection, miRNA expression following vaccination with different RSV vaccine candidates under investigation is not well-understood and has the potential to identify safe vs. unsafe vaccine candidates.

As miRs regulate host gene responses, it is important to determine if miR profiles serve to predict safe, efficacious,

or diseased vaccine outcomes, particularly since RSV lacks a licensed vaccine. To determine if patterns of miR expression may serve as a surrogate of RSV immunity or disease requires proof of biological relevance. Therefore, we identified miR biomarkers and immune correlates associated with RSV vaccination to establish baselines for biomarker expression across different vaccination types and strategies. Since serum miR profiles provide indications of how miRs may regulate the immune response induced by RSV vaccination or infection (50), serum miR profiles may also suggest vaccine disease outcomes. We hypothesized that RSV infection or vaccination would alter the pattern and tempo of miR expression and that this would be reflected in changes by the host immune or disease response. In the present study, we examined serum miRs in BALB/c mice at various time-points post-RSV vaccination or RSV challenge using several RSV vaccine types. A miR PCR array was used to identify miRs post-vaccination, post-boost, or post-RSV challenge, and correlated with immune parameters and markers of disease.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Mice

Specific-pathogen-free, 6-to-8 weeks old female BALB/c mice (The Jackson Laboratory) were used. Mice were maintained in microisolator cages with sterilized water and food *ad libitum*. All experiments were approved by and performed in accordance with the guidelines of the University of Georgia Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC).

Viruses and Cell Culture

CP52 was a gift from Stephen Whitehead and Brian Murphy at LID, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, Bethesda, MD. CP52 is a cold-passaged live attenuated vaccine strain that lacks the RSV G and SH genes and is derived from RSV B1. RSV A2 and CP52 were propagated in mycoplasma-free Vero E6 cells (ATCC CRL-1586) using DMEM (Gibco) containing 5% FBS (Hyclone) at 37°C/5% CO₂ and 32°C/5% CO₂, respectively (110). Viral titers were determined by plaque assay on Vero E6 cells, and plaques were enumerated by an anti-F protein (clone 131-2A) immunostaining assay (111, 112). Infections were performed in serum-free DMEM (SF-DMEM).

FI-RSV Preparation

The preparation of formalin-inactivated RSV (FI-RSV) vaccine was adapted from the FI-RSV Lot 100 method (113). Briefly, strain A2 was used to infect Vero E6 cells (MOI = 0.1), and at day 4 pi, the cells were lysed following scraping, sonicated, and clarified by centrifugation at 600 x g for 15 min at 4°C. The supernatant was transferred to a tube and filter sterilized using a 2 μ m filter; the final protein concentration (determined by BCA) was adjusted to 1 mg/ml. Viral stocks were inactivated by the addition of 37% formalin (final dilution 1:4,000) and incubated at 37°C for 3 days in agitation. FI-RSV was pelleted by ultracentrifugation for 2 h at 25,000 rpm, re-suspended in SF-DMEM at 1/25th of the original volume and adsorbed overnight at room temperature in 4 mg/mL aluminum hydroxide. The compound material was pelleted by centrifugation and the pellet was suspended in SF-DMEM and total virus inactivation was confirmed via plaque assay on Vero cells. This procedure resulted in an FI-RSV vaccine that is concentrated 100-fold and contains 16 mg/ml alum. The vaccine was aliquoted in 1 ml volumes and stored at 4° C.

RSV GA2 Microparticle-Based Vaccine

A microparticle-based RSV G protein vaccine consisting of 3 µm CaCO₃ cores was prepared using alternating poly-I-glutamic acid (PGA, negative charge) and poly-I-lysine (PLL, positive charge) layering to build up to seven layers with an RSV G peptide CX3C motif linked to a cationic sequence added as the outermost layer (4). The composition of the seven-layer film was determined using amino acid analysis, which showed that a comparable amount of the peptide component was present in each vaccine batch. Endotoxin levels by limulus amebocyte lysate (LAL) assay were <0.1 EU/µg. The dispersity of the particle vaccines was monitored by dynamic light scattering (DLS). DLS is used to determine the size distribution profile of small particles in suspension or polymers in solution. This layer-by-layer microparticle vaccine has an apparent diameter of \sim 150 nm for uncoated particles to about 400–500 nm for fully coated particles. Some particle aggregation was detected in each batch with a second population of particles in the 1,500-2,000 nm range.

Vaccine Delivery

We examined three vaccine types: (1) live-attenuated (CP52), (2) inactivated (FI-RSV), and (3) an RSV G peptide microparticlebased (GA2-MP). The GA2-MP vaccines were suspended in PBS and dispersed by water bath sonication immediately prior to immunization. Doses were adjusted to deliver 50 µg designed peptide (DP)/100 μ l/mouse. Mice were subcutaneously (s.c.) immunized with GA2-MP without adjuvant between the shoulder blades. 10⁶ PFU equivalents of FI-RSV was used to intramuscularly (i.m.) vaccinate mice. Mice received a 1:25 dilution of FI-RSV in PBS by i.m. injection in a final volume of 50 µL/mouse. FI-RSV was a positive control for vaccine enhanced disease. 10⁶ PFU of live CP52 diluted in PBS was used to vaccinate mice by intranasal (i.n.) instillation in a final volume of 50 µL/mouse. CP52 was a positive control for vaccine protection. PBS vaccinated mice received 50 µL of PBS (vehicle control) by s.c. injection. Mice were anesthetized by i.p. administration of 2,2,2- tribromoethanol (Avertin; 200 µg/kg Sigma) and a portion of vaccinated mice were i.n. challenged with 106 PFU A2 diluted in PBS.

Lung Virus Titers and Disease Endpoints

Lung virus titers were determined in treatment and control mice by plaque assay on Vero E6 cells (111). Briefly, lungs were aseptically removed from mice at day 5 post-RSV (10^6 PFU/mouse) challenge, and individual lung specimens were homogenized at 4°C in 1 mL of SF-DMEM using a gentleMACSTM Dissociator (Miltenyi Biotec). Samples were clarified by centrifugation for 10 min at 200 × g and supernatants were transferred and stored at -80° C. For the plaque assay,

10-fold serial dilutions of the lung homogenates were adsorbed to 90% confluent Vero E6 cell monolayers for 2 h, at 37°C, overlaid with 1% methylcellulose medium and incubated at 37°C for 5 days. RSV plaques were enumerated by immunostaining with monoclonal antibodies against RSV F protein (clone 131-2A) as previously described (112). Lungs from vaccinated and challenged mice were examined for disease pathogenesis, and as anticipated (54, 114, 115), only the lungs from FI-RSV vaccinated mice challenged with RSV showed substantially enhanced disease (data not shown).

Microneutralization Assay

Two-fold serial dilutions (1:50-1:1,600) of mouse serum in SF-DMEM were incubated with 10⁵ PFU of A2 for 1 h at 37°C, 5% CO₂. Palivizumab (MedImmune) was used as positive control for neutralizing activity, and positive control wells of virus without sera and negative control wells without virus or sera were included in triplicate on each plate. The antibody-virus mixtures were transferred to 80-90% confluent monolayers of Vero E6 cells in 96-well-plates and incubated for 2 h at 37°C, 5% CO₂. The virus overlay was aspirated, and 150 μ l/well of DMEM-10% FBS was added and plates were incubated for 3-4 days at 37°C, 5% CO₂, and the plates were fixed with cold 80% acetone in PBS for 10 min, rinsed twice with PBS followed by three washes with 150 μ l/well of wash buffer (PBS + 0.1% Tween-20). A monoclonal antibody to the RSV F protein (clone 131-2A) was diluted in PBS with 0.5% gelatin + 0.15% Tween 20 and incubated for 1 h at 37°C, 5% CO₂ RSV plaques were enumerated using horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG (Southern Biotech), developed using TMB substrate (Sigma), and absorbance measured at 450/650 nm dual-wavelength (BioTek EpochTM microplate spectrophotometer) and Gen5 Data Analysis software. The percentage of neutralization was calculated, and all samples were normalized to the average value from the no serum control wells.

Indirect ELISA

RSV A2-specific and B1-specific IgG antibodies were detected by ELISA using 96-well-high binding plates (Corning) coated with 10^6 PFU/mL A2 or B1 in 0.05 M carbonate-bicarbonate buffer, pH 9.6. Sera were added to plates in serial dilutions. RSV-specific antibodies were detected with HRP-conjugated antibodies specific for mouse IgG (Southern Biotech) followed by the addition of SureBlue TMB-peroxidase substrate (KPL, Inc.) for 15 min. Antibody titers were determined as the last sample dilution that generated an OD450 reading of >0.2 (mean OD value of background plus 2 standard deviations of the mean).

ELISPOT Analysis

MultiScreen filter 96-well-plates (Millipore) were coated with the anti-mouse IL4 or anti-mouse IFN γ capture antibody (R&D Systems) and incubated overnight at 4°C. The plates were then blocked with 200 µL of RPMI-10 medium (RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% FBS, 100 U/mL penicillin, 100 µg/mL streptomycin, 50 µM 2-mercaptoethanol, and 2 mM L-glutamine) and incubated for 2 h at 37°C. In parallel, spleens were harvested from mice at day 5 post-A2 challenge and prepared to a single cell suspension. The cell suspensions were collected by centrifugation for 10 min at 200 × g and suspended in RPMI-10 at 10^7 cells/mL. Spleen cell suspensions were added to the wells, and cells were stimulated with either $10 \,\mu$ g/mL RSV M2 ($_{82-90}$) peptide, $10 \,\mu$ g/mL RSV F ($_{51-66}$) peptide, $10 \,\mu$ g/mL RSV G ($_{183-198}$) peptide, or $10 \,\mu$ g/mL eGFP ($_{200-208}$) (irrelevant peptide control) for 24 h at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Plates were washed 4 times with wash buffer (0.05% Tween-20 in PBS), anti-mouse IL4 or anti-mouse IFN γ detection antibody (R&D Systems) was added, and plates were incubated overnight at 4°C. Detection antibody was removed, plates were washed, and cytokine spots were developed using NBT/BCIP substrate (R&D Systems). Spots were enumerated using an ELISPOT reader (AID, San Diego).

Quantification of Cytokines

At day 3 post-A2 challenge, a subset of mice from each group was sacrificed and BAL and sera were collected. The mouse lungs were flushed three times with 1 ml of PBS and the retained BAL was centrifuged at 400 \times g for 5 min at 4°C. The recovered supernatants were collected and stored at -80°C until assessed for cytokine concentration, and the cell pellet was suspended in 200 µL of FACS staining buffer (PBS containing 1% BSA). Total cell numbers were counted using a hemocytometer. The Luminex[®] xMAP system using a MILLIPLEX MAP mouse cytokine immunoassay (Millipore) was used to quantitate cytokines in cell-free BAL supernatants and sera according to the manufacturer protocol. Briefly, beads coupled with anti-IFNy, anti-IL1 α , anti-IL2, anti-IL4, anti-IL5, anti-IL6, anti-IL9, anti-IL10, anti-IL12p40, anti-IL13, anti-IL15, anti-IL17A, anti-MCP1, anti-RANTES, anti-TNFa, and anti-eotaxin monoclonal antibodies were sonicated, mixed, and diluted 1:50 in assay buffer. For the assay, 25 µL of beads were mixed with 25 µL of PBS (for BAL samples) or serum matrix (for serum samples), 25 μ L of assay buffer and 25 μ L of BAL supernatant or serum and incubated overnight at 4°C. After washing, beads were incubated with biotinylated detection antibodies for 1 h and the reaction mixture was then incubated with streptavidin-phycoerythrin (PE) conjugate for 30 min at room temperature, washed, and suspended in PBS. The assay was analyzed on a Luminex 200 instrument (Luminex Corporation, Austin, TX) using Luminex xPONENT 3.1 software.

RNA Isolation

Blood was collected from mice via axillary vessels in 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tubes (Fisher), allowed to clot for 30 min at room temperature, and centrifuged at 900 \times g for 10 min and 4°C. Serum layer was transferred to a new microcentrifuge tube and centrifuged for 10 min at 16,000 \times g and 4°C, and the cleared supernatant was transferred to a new microcentrifuge tube without disturbing the pellet. One hundred microliter of serum sample per mouse was processed for RNA isolation using miRNeasy Serum/Plasma Kit (Qiagen) as per manufacturer's recommended protocol or stored at -80 till processing. Serum/Plasma *C. elegans* miR-39 Spike-In Control (Qiagen) was spiked into each sample prior to RNA purification as an internal control for miR expression profiling in serum to allow for monitoring of RNA recovery and purity, and reverse

transcription efficiency. The RNA concentration and purity were determined by Qubit RNA assay broad range (Qubit RNA assay BR, Invitrogen) fluorometry. This reagent specifically binds to RNA only and does not detect DNA, protein or free nucleotides. Additionally, spectrophotometric analysis of all samples using Epoch Gen 5 spectrophotometer (Biotek) showed that all RNA samples had A260/280 ratios \geq 1.8.

miR PCR Arrays and Data Analysis

First-strand cDNA synthesis was performe4d with 200 ng/total RNA from each sample using the miScript II RT kit with miScript HiSpec Buffer (Qiagen) following manufacturer protocol. Briefly, cDNA synthesis was performed at 37°C for 60 min followed by inactivation at 95°C for 5 min. First-strand cDNA was diluted 1:10 in molecular grade water and expression of 84 miRs having a role in T or B cell function was assessed using a miScript miR PCR Array Mouse T cell and B cell Activation (Qiagen) array following the manufacturer's protocol on a Stratagene Mx3000P/3005P real-time instrument. Each array plate contains oligos specific to 84 mature miRs validated to regulate T cell or B cell development and function as well as oligos for spike in (C. elegans miR-39), six housekeeping genes [small nucleolar/nuclear RNA (snoRNAs) SNORD61, SNORD95, SNORD96A, SNORD68, SNORD72, and RNU6B] and positive and negative controls for reverse transcription and PCR. Data obtained were analyzed with miScript miR PCR analysis template (Qiagen) using the $\Delta\Delta C_{\rm T}$ method (116). miRs with fold change ≥ 2 were considered upregulated while miRs with fold change ≤ 0.5 were considered downregulated. RT-qPCR using miR-specific primers was then performed on differentially expressed miRs between treatment groups using a PCR array. The specificity of amplification was validated by dissociation curve analysis.

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism (ver 5.0; GraphPad). Statistical significance was determined using a one-way ANOVA or two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post-hoc* comparisons tests; a $p \le 0.05$ was considered significant.

Pathway Analysis

Analysis of pathways regulated by differentially expressed miRs was carried out using DIANA miRPath ver 3.0 (117–119) using the microT-CDS database. The significance of pathway association was determined using a *p*-value threshold ≤ 0.05 and microT threshold of 0.8 using Fisher's exact test. When multiple miRs were analyzed together, data were filtered to identify pathway intersections instead of unions to identify common core pathways regulated by the miRs. Pathway hits were corrected for false discovery rate.

RESULTS

To assess the serum miR profiles in RSV-vaccinated or challenged mice, the mice were vaccinated (primed) with a live attenuated vaccine (CP52), an inactivated vaccine (FI-RSV), or a microparticle peptide-based vaccine carrying the G CX3C motif (GA2-MP) and boosted 3 weeks later. Three weeks post-boost

vaccinated mice were i.n. challenged with 10⁶ PFU A2, and the sera and lung tissues were collected from vaccinated and mocktreated mice at several time-points. Antibody responses to RSV were assessed to confirm that antigens induced a recall response upon vaccination and challenge. RSV A2 or B1-specific serum IgG was determined at 2 weeks post-boost and 5 days post-RSV challenge, and the levels of neutralizing antibody determined at day 5 pi. Lung viral titers were determined at 5 days postchallenge. Broadly, vaccination with CP52 or FI-RSV elicited a cross-reactive humoral response to either A2 or B1 relative to mock (Figures 1A,C, respectively). CP52 (but not FI-RSV) vaccination followed by A2 challenge elicited a strong antibody response (Figures 1B,D, respectively), which was neutralizing (Figure 1E) and correlated with a statistically significant (p < p0.05) reduction in lung viral titers (Figure 1F). Despite the G protein CX3C motif having intra-strain conservation (120), it was less immunogenic as indicated by the lower anti-A2 and B1 IgG serum levels. These data show the prototypical responses associated with CP52, GA2-MP, and FI-RSV vaccination in mice (121, 122).

RSV Vaccine Types and the Th1- and Th2-Type Response

Th1- or Th2-type responses were assessed by ELISPOT assays, and levels of IFN γ or IL4 expression (representing Th1- or Th2-type responses, respectively) were evaluated at day 14 postboost vaccination by re-stimulated splenocytes with RSV M2,

F or G peptides. As expected, CP52 vaccinated mice had the highest frequency of IFNy expressing cells compared to IL4 expressing cells (Figure 2A), while splenocytes from FI-RSV vaccinated mice had the highest frequency of IL4 expressing cells compared to IFNy expressing cells (Figure 2B). GA2-MP vaccinated mice had higher levels of G protein-specific IL4 secreting cells than IFNy expressing cells, however this difference was not statically significant (p > 0.005). MCP1 and RANTES are chemokines involved in leukocyte recruitment to the airway, and to sites of inflammation in response to RSV infection (123–125). Given the role of these immune cell types in disease pathogenesis, levels of MCP1 (Figure 2C) and RANTES (Figure 2D) in sera and BAL were determined by multiplex cytokine/chemokine assays. MCP1 was localized to the lungs, with the highest level in the BAL from FI-RSV vaccinated mice although the level of expression was not substantially different between CP52 and GA2-MP vaccinated mice. In contrast, RANTES was expressed systemically, as evident by a higher level in the sera compared to BAL, with higher levels for FI-RSV and CP52 immune mice compared to GA2-MP vaccinated mice at day 3 post-RSV challenge. As anticipated, no detectable cytokine expression occurred following mock (PBS) treatment (data not shown). These data indicate that CP52 or FI-RSV vaccinated mice have an overall higher level of inflammation than mice vaccinated with GA2-MP upon RSV challenge. Other Th2-specific cytokines (IL4, IL5, IL6, IL10, and IL3) were higher in the sera (data not shown) and BAL of FI-RSV vaccinated



FIGURE 1 | RSV vaccines types, serum IgG, and virus clearance. Sera at day 14 (A) and 5 (B) post-RSV A or B challenge of prime-boosted mice (C,D); IgG reactivity was determined against A2 (A,C) and B1 (B,D). Three weeks after the boost-vaccination mice were i.n. challenged with 10⁶ PFU of A2. (E) RSV neutralizing antibody levels were measured by microneutralization assay at day 5 post-RSV challenge. (F) Lung virus titers were determined 5 days post-challenge by plaque assay. PBS only-treated groups treated had no detectable effect and are not included. All samples were assayed in duplicate and n = 4 mice/group. Error bars represent the SEM and results were considered significant with a * $p \le 0.05$ and **** $p \le 0.0001$ as determined by one-way ANOVA and Bonferroni's test.



mice compared to all other vaccinated groups which further confirm the biased Th2-type cytokine response associated with FI-RSV vaccination.

The Type of Vaccination Is Linked With Different miR Expression Patterns

Evaluating the Th1- or Th2-type cytokine response using accompanying assays is not efficient for testing of multiple vaccine candidates; however, the examination of miR biomarkers as correlates of the host immune response may aid vetting of safe or disease vaccine types, and considerably accelerate RSV vaccine research. The pattern of miRs can be readily evaluated using PCR (126) in a variety of fluids and tissues (127–133), there is sequence conservation across species (134), and miRs regulate key immunological processes (135). These features can be used to determine baseline data that may differentiate safe from disease risk vaccine types to aid the development of vaccine candidates. Since the memory T cell response is pivotal to development of immunity and disease, we analyzed 84 key miRs connected with T cell function in the sera from vaccinated mice, pre- and post-RSV A2 challenge, at several time-points, e.g., 1-week postprime/boost or 3d post-challenge. Total RNA was isolated from sera, used for cDNA synthesis, and miR expression was assayed using optimized primer-probes. Fold-changes in miR expression was plotted after normalization.

Analysis of the 84 miRs across all treatments identified miR expression signatures unique to prime-boost vaccination and RSV challenged mice, and those miR signatures conserved among all treatments (Figure 3). In general, each vaccine type, i.e., CP52, FI-RSV, or GA2-MP induced temporal and vaccine-specific miR expression patterns (Figure 3) where miR expression levels were heightened post-boost relative to prime and challenge. Given the differences in vaccine type and vaccination routes, differences were expected and emphasize miR patterns for their utility as potential vaccination biomarkers. Analogously, miR responses following A2 challenge of CP52 vaccinated mice compared to FI-RSV vaccinated mice correlated with safe vs. disease phenotypes of Th1- vs. Th2-type cytokines. Intergroup comparisons identified 58, 70 and 65 miRs differentially expressed in sera from CP52, FI-RSV, and GA2-MP vaccinated mice, respectively. Within groups, 8, 18, and 11 miRs were conserved between prime, boost and 3 days post-challenge for CP52, FI-RSV, and GA2-MP vaccinated mice, respectively. Of the miRs examined, let-7a-5p expression was upregulated >2SD in all vaccinated mice, thus this is likely not a biomarker for distinguishing vaccine-specific responses, but instead a general inflammatory biomarker (Table 1).

CP52 vaccination resulted in lower expression of miR-466f-3p and miR-467b-3p and did not induce any miRs. FI-RSV vaccination repressed miR-365-3p and miR-762 expression post-priming, but led to >2.0-fold induction of multiple miRs e.g.,



FIGURE 3 The number of differentially expressed miRNAs during vaccination and post-RSV challenge. Sera miRNA profiles of vaccinated mice (n = 4/group) were evaluated at day 7 post-prime, day 14 post-boost, day 14 post-boost, day 3 post-challenge, and day 5 post-challenge using a miRNA PCR array. The y-axis indicates the number of differentially expressed miRNAs. Significance was determined using a fold-change threshold of >2, the result was reported as a fold-upregulation. If the fold change was <0.5, the result was reported as a fold-downregulation.

FABLE 1 Differentially expressed miRs expressed by the various vaccines	
---	--

Vaccine type	Number of miRs	Conserved miRs
GA2-MP	3	miR-26b-5p, miR-346-5p, miR-142a-5p
FI-RSV	9	miR-31-5p, miR-30c-5p, let-7d-5p, miR-326-3p, miR-93-5p, miR-30e-5p, miR-483-5p, let-7g-5p, miR-106b-5p
FI-RSV and GA2-MP	4	miR-20b-5p, let-7f-5p, miR-103-3p, miR-15a-5p
FI-RSV and CP52	4	miR-20a-5p, miR-195a-5p, miR-17-5p, miR-106a-5p
GA2-MP and CP52	3	miR-467f, miR-182-5p, let-7e-5p
GA2-MP, FI-RSV, and CP52	1	let-7a-5p

Common and unique differentially expressed miRs for GA2-MP, FI-RSV, and CP52 vaccinated mice conserved amongst post-prime (7 and 14 days), post-boost (7 and 14 days), and post-RSV challenge (3 and 5 days) are shown. miRNA expression levels are normalized by SN1/2/3/4/5/6 expression and n = 4 mice/group.

let-7d-5p, miR-326-3p, miR-331-3p, miR-16-5p, miR-103-3p, miR-30a-5p, miR-93-5p, miR-181a-5p, miR-101a-3p, miR-15b-5p, miR-15a-3p, miR-106b-5p, miR-142a-3p, miR-19a-3p, miR-30c-5p, miR-101b-3p, miR-25-3p, miR-31-5p, let-7i-5p, let-7g-5p post-prime (**Table 2**), and miR-326-3p, miR-145a-3p, miR-466f-3p, miR-24-3p, miR-181a-5p, miR-27a-3p, miR-125b-5p, miR-31-5p, miR-214-3p, miR-466f-5p, miR-365-3p, miR-146b-5p, miR-30c-5p, miR-466h-5p, miR-126a-3p post-boost (**Table 3**). In contrast, GA2-MP vaccination induced only miRs let-7e-5p and miR-26b-5p post-prime and miR-669f-3p, miR-142a-3p post-boost (**Table 3**). miR-466f-3p had divergent expression between CP52 and FI-RSV vaccinated mice, while miR-142a-3p showed early induction post-FI-RSV but was induced in GA2-MP vaccinated mice post-boost (**Table 3**).

miR profiling for each vaccine type post-challenge showed unique patterns and tempos of expression. For example, CP52 vaccinated mice had higher expression of let-7f-5p, miR-103-3p, miR-15b-5p, miR-101a-3p, miR-16-5p, miR-20a-5p, miR-106a-5p, miR-98-5p, miR-30a-5p, miR-17-5p, miR-195a-5p, miR-142a-5p, miR-181a-5p, miR-714, miR-31-5p, miR-101b-3p, miR-25-3p, let-7i-5p, miR-130b-3p, and reduced miR-182-5p post-challenge (**Table 4**). In contrast, FI-RSV vaccinated mice showed repression of miR-483-5p post-challenge, while GA2-MP vaccinated mice had induction of miR-145a-5p, miR-346-5p, miR-146b-5p, and repression of miR-669e-5p post-challenge. Thus, comparing between vaccine groups at 7 days post-prime, 7 days post-boost, or 3 days post-RSV challenge showed miRs profiles as related to safe or disease responses (**Table 5**).

miR Patterns Specific to the Vaccine Type

To determine if serum miR profiles were specific to a vaccine type e.g., live (CP52) i.n. delivered, or killed (FI-RSV) i.m. delivered, or subunit (GA2-MP) s.c. delivered, the miRs were evaluated from vaccinated mice at day 7 post-vaccination. Interestingly, we observed nearly twice as many miRs expressed in the sera at day 7 post-vaccination compared to 14 days post-vaccination (Supplementary Table 1). The sera miR profiles showed that CP52 vaccinated mice had decreased miR-466f-3p and miR-467b-3p expression at 7 days post-vaccination, whereas sera miR expression from FI-RSV-vaccinated mice had two downregulated miRs (miR-365-3p and miR-62) while sera from GA2-MP vaccinated mice expressed higher miRs, i.e., let-7e-5p and miR-26b-5p at 7 days post-prime (Table 2). Interestingly, miR-467f expression was downregulated for all vaccine types at day 7 post-vaccination. Additionally, several miRs were identified in all vaccinated mice, e.g., let-7a-5p, miR-142a-5p, and miR-20b-5p which were upregulated (Table 1). The results showed that several miRs were expressed specifically to CP52 (miR-466f-3p,

TABLE 2 | miRs induced by the vaccines at post-prime.

Time-point	Vaccine types	Upregulated miRs	Downregulated miRs	
Day 7 post-prime	GA2-MP, FI-RSV, and CP52	let-7a-5p, miR-142a-5p, miR-20b-5p	miR-467f	
	FI-RSV and GA2-MP	let-7f-5p, miR-15a-5p, miR-98-5p	None	
	FI-RSV and CP52	miR-106a-5p, miR-195a-5p, miR-30e-5p, miR-20a-5p, miR-17-5p, miR-19b-3p	miR-182-5p, miR-466j, miR-483-5p	
	GA2-MP	let-7e-5p, miR-26b-5p	None	
	FI-RSV	let-7d-5p, miR-326-3p, miR-331-3p, miR-16-5p, miR-103-3p, miR-30a-5p, miR-93-5p, miR-181a-5p, miR-101a-3p, miR-15b-5p, miR-15a-3p, miR-106b-5p, miR-142a-3p, miR-19a-3p, miR-30c-5p, miR-101b-3p, miR-25-3p, miR-31-5p, let-7i-5p, let-7g-5p	miR-365-3p, miR-762	
	RSV and CP52	None	miR-466f-3p, miR-467b-3p	

Sera miR profiles of vaccinated mice (n = 4/group) were evaluated at day 7 post-prime using a miR PCR array. The relative expression levels of candidate miRs selected from the PCR array analysis were validated by RT-qPCR. Values are represented as fold-change/mock (PBS vaccinated/RSV A2 challenge). miR levels were normalized by RNU6B gene expression and all samples were run in duplicate. Fold-change was calculated using $2^{(-\Delta\Delta CT)}$ method. Differential expression was determined using the following criteria, if the fold change was >2, the result was reported as a fold-upregulation. If the fold-change was <0.5, the result was reported as a fold-downregulation.

TABLE 3 | miRs induced by the vaccines at post-boost vaccination.

Time-point	Vaccine type	Upregulated-miRs	Downregulated-miRs
Day 7 post-boost	GA2-MP, FI-RSV, and CP52	miR-195a-5p, miR-320-3p, let-7a-5p, miR-181b-5p, miR-672-5p, let-7e-5p, miR-17-5p, let-7c-5p, miR-714, let-7d-5p, let-7f-5p, miR-574-5p, miR-182-5p, miR-16-5p, miR-467f, miR-21a-5p, miR-130b-3p, miR-1187, miR-15b-5p, miR-26b-5p, miR-20a-5p, miR-184-3p, miR-762, miR-20b-5p, miR-25-3p, let-7i-5p, let-7g-5p	None
	FI-RSV and GA2-MP	miR-331-3p, miR-103-3p, miR-29a-3p, miR-30e-5p, miR-23b-3p, miR-101a-3p, miR-106b-5p, miR-142a-5p, miR-19b-3p, miR-19a-3p, miR-101b-3p, miR-30b-5p, miR-221-3p, miR-106a-5p, miR-30a-5p, miR-346-5p, miR-93-5p, miR-29b-3p, miR-466j, miR-15a-3p, miRR-15a-3p, miR-29c-3p	None
	GA2-MP and CP52	miR-223-3p, miR-669e-5p, miR-98-5p, miR-26a-5p, miR-155-5p	None
	FI-RSV and CP52	miR-483-5p, miR-1196-5p	
	GA2-MP	miR-669f-3p, miR-142a-3p	None
	FI-RSV	miR-326-3p, miR-145a-3p, miR-466f-3p, miR-24-3p, miR-181a-5p, miR-27a-3p, miR-125b-5p, miR-31-5p, miR-214-3p, miR-466f-5p, miR-365-3p, miR-146b-5p, miR-30c-5p, miR-466h-5p, miR-126a-3p	None

Sera miR profiles of vaccinated mice (n = 4/group) were evaluated at day 7 post-boost using a miR PCR array. The relative expression levels of candidate miRs selected from the PCR array analysis were validated by RT-qPCR. Values are represented as fold-change/mock (PBS vaccinated/RSV A2 challenge). miR levels were normalized by RNU6B gene expression and all samples were run in duplicate. Fold-change was calculated using $2^{(-\Delta\Delta CT)}$ method. Differential expression was determined using the following criteria, if the fold change was >2, the result was reported as a fold-upregulation. If the fold-change was <0.5, the result was reported as a fold-downregulation.

Time-point	Vaccine type	Upregulated-miRs	Downregulated-miRs
Day 3 post-challenge	GA2-MP and RSV CP52	miR-467f, miR-184-3p	None
	GA2-MP	miR-145a-5p, miR-346-5p, miR-146b-5p	miR-669e-5p
	FI-RSV	None	miR-483-5p
	CP52	let-7f-5p, miR-103-3p, miR-15b-5p, miR-101a-3p, miR-16-5p, miR-20a-5p, miR-106a-5p, miR-98-5p, miR-30a-5p, miR-17-5p, miR-195a-5p, miR-142a-5p, miR-181a-5p, miR-714, miR-31-5p, miR-101b-3p, miR-25-3p, let-7i-5p, miR-130b-3p	miR-182-5p

Sera miR profiles of vaccinated mice (n = 4/group) were evaluated at day 3 post-challenge using a miR PCR array. The relative expression levels of candidate miRs selected from the PCR array analysis were validated by RT-qPCR. Values are represented as fold-change/mock (PBS vaccinated/RSV A2 challenge). miR levels were normalized by RNU6B gene expression and all samples were run in duplicate. Fold-change was calculated using $2^{(-\Delta\Delta CT)}$ method. Differential expression was determined using the following criteria, if the fold change was <2, the result was reported as a fold-upregulation. If the fold change was <0.5, the result was reported as a fold-downregulation.

TABLE 5 | Patterns of miR expression following prime, boost, and challenge.

	Fold-change						
	Prime		Boost		Challenge (day 3)		
	>2.0	≤0.5	>2.0	≤0.5	>2.0	≤0.5	
CP52		mi R-466f-3p, miR-467b-3p		NA	let-7f-5p, miR-103-3p, miR-15b-5p, miR-101a-3p, miR-16-5p, miR-20a-5p, miR-106a-5p, miR-98-5p, miR-30a-5p, miR-17-5p, miR-195a-5p, miR-142a-5p, miR-181a-5p, miR-714, miR-31-5p, miR-101b-3p, miR-25-3p, let-7i-5p, miR-130b-3p	miR-182-5p	
FI-RSV	Let-7d-5p, miR-326-3p, miR-331-3p, miR-16-5p, miR-103-3p, miR-30a-5p, miR-93-5p, miR-181a-5p, miR-101a-3p, miR-15b-5p, miR-15a-3p, miR-106b-5p, miR-142a-3p, miR-106b-5p, miR-30c-5p, miR-101b-3p, miR-25-3p, miR-31-5p, let-7i-5p, let-7g-5p	miR-365-3p, miR-762	miR-326-3p, miR-145a-3p, miR-466f-3p, miR-24-3p, miR-181a-5p, miR-27a-3p, miR-125b-5p, miR-31-5p, miR-214-3p, miR-466f-5p, miR-365-3p, miR-146b-5p, miR-30c-5p, miR-466h-5p, miR-126a-3p	NA		miR-483-5p	
GA2-MP	Let-7e-5p, miR-26b-p		miR-669-3p, miR-142a-3p	NA	miR-145a-5p, miR-346-5p, miR-146b-5p	miR-669e-5p	

miR expression for the top 96 miRs associated with T cell development and function were evaluated in sera obtained day 7 post-prime, day 7 post-boost, or day 3 post-challenge using miR qPCR arrays. Fold-change was calculated using $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method relative to several reference genes that showed no change in expression across time-points and treatments. All data represent >3 independent experiments. miRs common between time-points or treatments are highlighted in bold. NA, not applicable.

miR-467b-3p), to FI-RSV (let-7d-5p, miR-326-3p, miR-331-3p, miR-16-5p, miR-103-3p, miR-30a-5p, miR-93-5p, miR-181a-5p, miR-101a-3p, miR-15b-5p, miR-15a-3p, miR-106b-5p, miR-142a-3p, miR-19a-3p, miR-30c-5p, miR-101b-3p, miR-25-3p, miR-31-5p, let-7i-5p, let-7g-5p) and to GA-M2 vaccines types (let-7e-5p, miR-26b-5p).

miRs Patterns Induced by Post-Boost Vaccination and RSV Challenge

Serum miR profiles were examined to determine the miR profiles by the vaccine types post-boost (Table 3). Of 75 differentially expressed miRs evaluated (Table 3; Figure 3), the miRs commonly expressed were miR-195a-5p, miR-320-3p, let-7a-5p, miR-181b-5p, miR-672-5p, let-7e-5p, miR-17-5p, let-7c-5p, miR-714, let-7d-5p, let-7f-5p, miR-574-5p, miR-182-5p, miR-16-5p, miR-467f, miR-21a-5p, miR-130b-3p, miR-1187, miR-15b-5p, miR-26b-5p, miR-20a-5p, miR-184-3p, miR-762, miR-20b-5p, miR-25-3p, let-7i-5p, let-7g-5p which were induced by all vaccine types. As these miRs are commonly expressed it is likely their expression is linked to a general response, i.e., the proinflammatory response associated with vaccination. The serum miRs upregulated specific to CP52 vaccinated mice were miR-98-5p, miR-26a-5p, miR-155-5p, miR-223-3p, miR-669e-5p, for GA2-MP vaccinated mice miR-669f-3p and miR-142a-3p, and fifteen miRs were upregulated in the sera of FI-RSV vaccinated mice. Two miRs, miR-669f-3p and miR-142a-3p, were commonly expressed in CP52 and GA2-MP vaccinated mice, and 50 miRs were differentially expressed post-RSV challenge of vaccinated mice. All data are shown in **Supplementary Tables 2**, **3**. At day 3 post-RSV challenge, 24 miRs were upregulated for all vaccinated mice types compared to mock-vaccinated (**Table 4**). For CP52-vaccinated mice, several serum miRs were upregulated (e.g., let-7f-5p, miR-103-3p, miR-15b-5p, miR-101a-3p, miR-16-5p, miR-20a-5p, miR-106a-5p, miR-98-5p, miR-30a-5p, miR-17-5p, miR-195a-5p, miR-142a-5p, miR-181a-5p, miR-714, miR-31-5p, miR-101b-3p, miR-25-3p, let-7i-5p, miR-130b-3p), for FI-RSV-vaccinated mice only miR-483-5p was upregulated, and for GA2-MP vaccinated mice miR-145a-5p, miR-346-5p, and miR-146b-5p were upregulated. Interestingly, miR-184-3p was expressed in the sera by all vaccine groups suggesting that this miR is not vaccine-specific. The data from these studies is summarized in **Table 5**.

miRs and the Host Pathway

miRs act as rheostats to subtly regulate aspects of the host immune response to virus infection and vaccination (64). They fine-tune responses, adjust functions, and bolster or dampen immune operations to maintain homeostasis. The pattern of miR expression highlights their function, i.e., constrain or enhance responses in a temporal fashion. As this study examines the pattern and tempo of miRs expressed in the response to vaccination and challenge, it is not surprising to identify unique and common miR profiles and those that are differentially expressed during and after vaccination or challenge. A goal of

these studies is to determine if the miR expression patterns can be used to predict safe or unsafe responses to vaccination or challenge. Viral infection and vaccination induce inflammation and determining miR pathways that are induced or repressed in mice can help differentiate safe vs. disease risk vaccines. As we examined the miR expression pattern linked to the type of vaccine and the cytokine response to RSV vaccination and challenge, we analyzed the gene pathways that could be regulated by miRs that are induced or repressed following CP52, FI-RSV or GA2-MP priming, prime-boost, and RSV challenge using DIANA miRPath (117-119). The intersecting pathways were selected for examination having a *p*-value cutoff of p < 0.05 (Table 5). CP52 vaccination downregulated miR-466f-3p and miR467b-3p which is known to regulate genes of the TGFB signaling which has been shown to have an important role in RSV replication and inflammation leading to lung injury, fibrosis, and remodeling (136-144). Additionally, these miRs are predicted to regulate cancer-related pathways (Table 6; Supplemental Table 1) which contain many of the top genes involved in cell cycle control, a feature live RSV infection is known to regulate (65, 102, 142, 145-147). FI-RSV priming induced miRs predicted to regulate mucin biosynthesis, axon guidance, and other pathways in cancer (Table 2) while GA2-MP primed miRs were predicted to regulate Lysine degradation, proteoglycan expression and function and FoxO signaling (Table 6). FoxO signaling pathway has been shown to regulate the innate immune pathways in respiratory epithelium following infection (148). Analysis of miR at 7d postboost showed distinct miR pathway profiles among candidate vaccines. While both CP52 and GA2-MP boosting did not alter miR expression, FI-RSV boosting led to many deregulated miRs (Table 5). In particular, the fatty acid metabolism pathway is predicted to be regulated by these miRs. Fatty acid metabolism is essential for RSV replication (149). Additional pathways predicted to be regulated by miRs and linked to FI-RSV boosting include lysine degradation and steroid biosynthesis (Table 6). GA2-MP boosting affected miRs patterns predicted to regulate adherens junction signaling which are associated to disruption of the airway barrier during infection [Table 7; (150-152)]. miRs deregulated following RSV challenge in CP52 or GA2-MP vaccinated mice were predicted to regulate multiple pathways in fatty acid metabolism and pluripotency, likely related to cell cycle (Table 8). Additionally, TGFb and Hippo signaling pathways were also shown to likely regulated by the miR expression patterns (Table 8). The Hippo pathway is thought to be involved in modulating the potency of anti-viral response particularly in a nutritional deprivation state (153).

The results indicate that the miR profiles and their tempos of expression are adjusted to the type of vaccine and challenge, an effect linked to both non-specific responses (e.g., inflammation) and specific immune responses (e.g., T cell activation or memory). It is important to note that some miRs are unaffected by vaccination while others undergo a global up- or down-regulation upon vaccination or challenge. For reasons of brevity, we have focused on understanding those miR expression patterns induced \geq 2SD above the control. It is important to note that several immune regulatory molecules are miR targets. Specifically, cytokines/chemokines are immune effector molecules and are integrated in the net responses to TABLE 6 | Pathway analysis following priming by different vaccine types.

Treatment	Pathway name	<i>p</i> -value	# of miRs
Vaccine Type)		
CP52	TGFb signaling pathway	3.55e-12	18
	Endometrial cancer pathway	1.04e-09	11
	Prostate cancer pathway	8.35e-08	12
FI-RSV	Mucin type O glycan biosynthesis	3.63e-13	6
	Axon guidance	9.07e-13	7
	Pathways in cancer	3.99e-11	7
GA2-MP	Lysine degradation	3.09e-14	2
	Proteoglycans in cancer	2.24e-06	2
	FoxO signaling pathways	1.44e-05	2

Pathways regulated by miRs in **Table 1** were analyzed using DIANA miRPath (117–119) using the microT-CDS database. E-values designate statistical confidence ascribed to gene hits for pathways using standard hypergeometric distribution and meta-analysis statistics ($\rho < 0.05$, Fisher's exact t-test).

 TABLE 7 | Pathway analysis of miRs deregulated following boosting by different vaccine types.

	Pathway name	p-value	# of miRs
Post-boost			
CP52	No deregulated miR	NA	NA
FI-RSV	Fatty acid metabolism	1.33e-13	3
	Lysine degradation	2.13e-10	7
	Steroid biosynthesis	3.99e-06	4
GA2-MP	Adherens junction signaling	0.012	2

Pathways regulated by miRs in **Table 1** were analyzed using DIANA miRPath (117–119) using the microT-CDS database. E-values designate statistical confidence ascribed to gene hits for pathways using standard hypergeometric distribution and meta-analysis statistics ($\rho < 0.05$, Fisher's exact t-test). NA, not applicable.

TABLE 8 | Pathway analysis of miRs deregulated following challenge of vaccinated mice.

	Pathway name	p-value	# of miRs
Post-challe	nge		
CP52	Fatty acid metabolism	6.22e-16	15
	Prion diseases	9.06e-09	13
	Fatty acid degradation	3.12e-08	14
FI-RSV	No deregulated miR	NA	NA
GA2-MP	TGFb signaling	6.17e-05	2
	Hippo signaling pathways	0.000474	2
	Signaling pathways regulations pluripotency of stem cells	0.009	2

Pathways regulated by miRs in **Table 1** were analyzed using DIANA miRPath (117–119) using the microT-CDS database. E-values designate statistical confidence ascribed to gene hits for pathways using standard hypergeometric distribution and meta-analysis statistics (p < 0.05, Fisher's exact t-test). NA, not applicable.

vaccination and challenge. miRs control the activation and integration of the pathways to support T cell responses while maintaining homeostasis. Additional information regarding the miR host pathway analysis can be found in **Data Sheet 1** of the Supplementary Material section.

DISCUSSION

The development of safe and effective RSV vaccine candidates can be assisted by a better understanding of biomarker expression. Biomarkers may allow for the prediction of probable vaccine candidate outcomes. Additional analyses are needed to further aid decisions regarding vaccine candidates, but ways to improve RSV vaccine candidate selection has become paramount after more than 5 decades of unsuccessful research efforts. We hypothesized that assessment of miR profiles with general Th1/Th2 cytokine responses would enable correlations with safe, live vaccines (CP52), subunit vaccines (GA-M2), and diseaseenhancing vaccines (FI-RSV) to help develop baselines for a better understanding of prospective RSV vaccine candidates. In this study, show vaccine-specific and temporal miRNA expression profiles relating to efficacy or vaccine-associated disease. We examined miR expression profiles of vaccinated mice pre- and post-RSV challenge were determined for 84 miRs associated with T cell responses and function. We showed that while both CP52 and FI-RSV vaccination induce a humoral response, only CP52 induced a neutralizing antibody response leading to reduction in RSV replication (Figure 1E). Further, splenocytes from CP52, FI-RSV, or GA2-MP vaccinated mice were stimulated with RSV-specific peptides then assayed for Th1type or Th2-type cytokines. The cytokine and miR expression showed that M2₈₂₋₉₀ re-stimulation of splenocytes from CP52 but not FI-RSV vaccinated mice led to a strong induction of IFNg which is characteristic of a Th1 response. In contrast, peptide stimulation of splenocytes from FI-RSV vaccinated mice led to a strong induction of IL4, a cytokine characteristic of a Th2-type response. Peptide stimulation of splenocytes from GA2-MP vaccinated mice led to a higher number of G₁₈₃₋₁₉₈ IL4- and IFN-specific secreting cells, characteristic of a balanced Th1-/Th2-type response to the G protein. Taken together, these results led to the assessment that CP52 vaccination primes for a safe response while FI-RSV primes for disease following vaccination and GA2-MP primes for a mostly balanced cytokine response.

The miR PCR array showed differential expression of a conserved set of miRs across prime-boost vaccination and RSVchallenge, more specifically 11 miRNAs in GA2-MP vaccinated mice, 18 miRs in FI-RSV vaccinated mice, and 8 miRs in RSV CP52 vaccinated mice. Several of these miRs have been shown to participate in the regulation of the immune response, and in some cases are associated with RSV infection. FI-RSV vaccinated mice had let-7d-5p, let-7f-5p, and let-7g-5p miR expression at post-prime, post-boost, and post-challenge. GA2-MP vaccinated mice had similar results with let-7e-5p and let-7f expression. Members of the let-7 family target IL-6 expression, and has an extensive list of other experimentally validated targets including SOCS4, caspase-3, p27, TLR4, IL-13, and IL10 (101). Let-7 could be a mechanism of IL-6 regulation during RSV infection (101). RSV infection induces secretion of numerous pro-inflammatory cytokines, including type I and types II IFNs, TNFa, IL-12, and IL-6 (101, 154-156). Mice vaccinated with CP52 or GA2-MP induced differential miR-467f expression during prime-boost vaccination and post-challenge. Previous miR screens for respiratory viruses have not previously identified miR-467f; however, a microarray-based approach to evaluate the miR profile of HIV-associated nephropathy in a mouse model showed that treatment with rapamycin (an mTOR inhibitor) to halt disease progression induced upregulation of miR-467f expression (157). Interestingly, rapamycin inhibits RSV-induced mTOR activation and increases the frequency of RSV-specific CD8 T cells and RSV-specific memory T cell precursors in mice (158). Therefore, miR-467f may have a role in cellular immunity during vaccination and RSV infection. miR-106a-5p and miR-106b-5p expression levels were upregulated in FI-RSV vaccinated mice during prime-boost vaccination and post-challenge with RSV. Interestingly, allergic airway inflammation in mice has been associated with increased miR-106a expression and decreased IL-10, suggesting that miR-106a may regulate IL-10 expression and Th2-type responses (159, 160). Expression levels of miR-30c-5p and miR-30e-5p (from the miR-30/384-5p family) were upregulated in FI-RSV vaccinated mice at prime and boostvaccination, and post-challenge. Upregulation of miR-30c-5p expression in the airway wall has been shown in a BALB/c mouse model of chronic asthma (161). The miR profiles identified for vaccine-induced protection and vaccine-enhanced disease appear to correlate with protective immune functions and airway inflammation, respectively. Although this study produced a list of miRs that may regulate RSV vaccine efficacy, additional studies are warranted to clarify the mechanisms behind how these miRs mediate host-virus interactions.

Overall, the results from these studies show that vaccine candidates associated safe or disease responses exhibited differential miR profiles following boosting which were higher in magnitude compared to priming or RSV challenge sera specimens. The results demonstrate that a considerable number of miRs are different between vaccine types, and a common set of miRs is expressed for all vaccine treatments. Pathway analysis of miR targets identified pathways correlated with inflammation particularly those that may contribute to airway inflammation, leukocyte recruitment and alveolar infiltration (12, 162, 163). The miR profiles from vaccinated mice were linked to cytokine phenotypes of protection or disease and appear to correlate with miRs that regulate protective immune functions or airway inflammation. Additional studies are warranted to validate miR phenotypes to determine the mechanisms of action linked to host gene regulation, and the associated immune response to determine their value as predictive biomarkers. These studies show that serum miR profiles may offer a proxy to assist vaccine development and facilitate a better understanding of vaccine studies.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Specific-pathogen-free, 6-to-8 weeks old female BALB/c mice (The Jackson Laboratory) were used. Mice were maintained in microisolator cages with sterilized water and food *ad libitum*. All experiments were performed in accordance with the guidelines

of the University of Georgia Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LA, PJ, AB, and RT conceived, designed, performed, analyzed the experiments, and wrote the manuscript. RT contributed reagents, materials, and analysis tools.

FUNDING

This project was supported by an ARCS Foundation fellowship to LA, and the Georgia Research Alliance funding to RT.

REFERENCES

- Shi T, McAllister DA, O'Brien KL, Simoes EAF, Madhi SA, Gessner BD, et al. Global, regional, and national disease burden estimates of acute lower respiratory infections due to respiratory syncytial virus in young children in 2015: a systematic review and modelling study. *Lancet.* (2017) 390:946–58. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30938-8
- Hall CB, Weinberg GA, Iwane MK, Blumkin AK, Edwards KM, Staat MA, et al. The burden of respiratory syncytial virus infection in young children. *N Engl J Med.* (2009) 360:588–98. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0804877
- Parikh RC, McLaurin KK, Margulis AV, Mauskopf J, Ambrose CS, Pavilack M, et al. Chronologic age at hospitalization for respiratory syncytial virus among preterm and term infants in the United States. *Infect Dis Ther.* (2017) 6:477–86. doi: 10.1007/s40121-017-0167-9
- Anderson EJ, Carosone-Link P, Yogev R, Yi J, Simoes EAF. Effectiveness of palivizumab in high-risk infants and children: a propensity score weighted regression analysis. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (2017) 36:699–704. doi: 10.1097/INF.00000000001533
- Hoch HE, Collaco JM. Recurrent wheezing in childhood and palivizumab. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. (2017) 196:1–2. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201701-0256ED
- Mochizuki H, Kusuda S, Okada K, Yoshihara S, Furuya H, Simoes EAF. Palivizumab prophylaxis in preterm infants and subsequent recurrent wheezing. Six-year follow-up study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2017) 196:29–38. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201609-1812OC
- Resch B. Product review on the monoclonal antibody palivizumab for prevention of respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*. (2017) 13:2138–49. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2017.1337614
- Sanchez-Luna M, Burgos-Pol R, Oyaguez I, Figueras-Aloy J, Sanchez-Solis M, Martinon-Torres F, et al. Cost-utility analysis of Palivizumab for Respiratory Syncytial Virus infection prophylaxis in preterm infants: update based on the clinical evidence in Spain. *BMC Infect Dis.* (2017) 17:687. doi: 10.1186/s12879-017-2803-0
- Wong SK, Li A, Lanctot KL, Paes B. Adherence and outcomes: a systematic review of palivizumab utilization. *Expert Rev Respir Med.* (2018) 12:27–42. doi: 10.1080/17476348.2018.1401926
- Anderson LJ, Dormitzer PR, Nokes DJ, Rappuoli R, Roca A, Graham BS. Strategic priorities for respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) vaccine development. *Vaccine*. (2013) 31(Suppl. 2):B209–15. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.11.106
- Drysdale SB, Sande CJ, Green CA, Pollard AJ. RSV vaccine use-the missing data. *Expert Rev Vaccines*. (2016) 15:149–52. doi: 10.1586/14760584.2016.1114419
- Graham BS. Vaccine development for respiratory syncytial virus. Curr Opin Virol. (2017) 23:107–12. doi: 10.1016/j.coviro.2017.03.012
- Higgins D, Trujillo C, Keech C. Advances in RSV vaccine research and development - a global agenda. *Vaccine*. (2016) 34:2870–5. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.03.109

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Jeff Powell (Artificial Cell Technologies, New Haven, CT) for providing the GA2-MP vaccine. We would also like to thank Colin Williams, Ali S. Maleki, and Jackelyn Murray for assistance.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2019.02323/full#supplementary-material

- Jorquera PA, Anderson L, Tripp RA. Understanding respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) vaccine development and aspects of disease pathogenesis. *Expert Rev Vaccines*. (2016) 15:173–87. doi: 10.1586/14760584.2016.1115353
- Rezaee F, Linfield DT, Harford TJ, Piedimonte G. Ongoing developments in RSV prophylaxis: a clinician's analysis. *Curr Opin Virol.* (2017) 24:70–8. doi: 10.1016/j.coviro.2017.03.015
- Roberts JN, Graham BS, Karron RA, Munoz FM, Falsey AR, Anderson LJ, et al. Challenges and opportunities in RSV vaccine development: meeting report from FDA/NIH workshop. *Vaccine*. (2016) 34:4843–9. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.07.057
- Becker Y. Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) evades the human adaptive immune system by skewing the Th1/Th2 cytokine balance toward increased levels of Th2 cytokines and IgE, markers of allergy–a review. *Virus Genes*. (2006) 33:235–52. doi: 10.1007/s11262-006-0064-x
- Castilow EM, Olson MR, Varga SM. Understanding respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) vaccine-enhanced disease. *Immunol Res.* (2007) 39:225–39. doi: 10.1007/s12026-007-0071-6
- Johnson TR, Graham BS. Contribution of respiratory syncytial virus G antigenicity to vaccine-enhanced illness and the implications for severe disease during primary respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (2004) 23:S46–57. doi: 10.1097/01.inf.0000108192.94692.d2
- Boyoglu-Barnum S, Todd SO, Meng J, Barnum TR, Chirkova T, Haynes LM, et al. Mutating the CX3C motif in the G protein should make a live respiratory syncytial virus vaccine safer and more effective. J Virol. (2017) 91:e02059-16. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02059-16
- Connors M, Crowe JE Jr, Firestone CY, Murphy BR, Collins PL. A cold-passaged, attenuated strain of human respiratory syncytial virus contains mutations in the F and L genes. *Virology*. (1995) 208:478–84. doi: 10.1006/viro.1995.1178
- Gonzalez IM, Karron RA, Eichelberger M, Walsh EE, Delagarza VW, Bennett R, et al. Evaluation of the live attenuated cpts 248/404 RSV vaccine in combination with a subunit RSV vaccine (PFP-2) in healthy young and older adults. *Vaccine*. (2000) 18:1763–72. doi: 10.1016/S0264-410X(99)00527-7
- 23. Groppo R, DiNapoli J, Il Jeong K, Kishko M, Jackson N, Kleanthous H, et al. Effect of genetic background and delivery route on the preclinical properties of a live attenuated RSV vaccine. *PLoS ONE*. (2018) 13:e0199452. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0199452
- 24. Hsu KH, Crowe JE Jr, Lubeck MD, Davis AR, Hung PP, Chanock RM, et al. Isolation and characterization of a highly attenuated respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) vaccine candidate by mutagenesis of the incompletely attenuated RSV A2 ts-1 NG-1 mutant virus. *Vaccine*. (1995) 13:509–15. doi: 10.1016/0264-410X(94)00002-5
- 25. Jin H, Cheng X, Traina-Dorge VL, Park HJ, Zhou H, Soike K, et al. Evaluation of recombinant respiratory syncytial virus gene deletion mutants in African green monkeys for their potential as live attenuated vaccine candidates. *Vaccine*. (2003) 21:3647–52. doi: 10.1016/S0264-410X(03)00426-2
- 26. Karron RA, Luongo C, Thumar B, Loehr KM, Englund JA, Collins PL, et al. A gene deletion that up-regulates viral gene expression yields an attenuated

RSV vaccine with improved antibody responses in children. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7:312ra175. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aac8463

- Le Nouen C, Brock LG, Luongo C, McCarty T, Yang L, Mehedi M, et al. Attenuation of human respiratory syncytial virus by genome-scale codon-pair deoptimization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2014) 111:13169–74. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1411290111
- Malkin E, Yogev R, Abughali N, Sliman J, Wang CK, Zuo F, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of a live attenuated RSV vaccine in healthy RSVseronegative children 5 to 24 months of age. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e77104. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0077104
- Russell RF, McDonald JU, Ivanova M, Zhong Z, Bukreyev A, Tregoning JS. Partial attenuation of respiratory syncytial virus with a deletion of a small hydrophobic gene is associated with elevated interleukin-1beta responses. J Virol. (2015) 89:8974–81. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01070-15
- Wright PF, Karron RA, Belshe RB, Thompson J, Crowe JE Jr, Boyce TG, et al. Evaluation of a live, cold-passaged, temperature-sensitive, respiratory syncytial virus vaccine candidate in infancy. J Infect Dis. (2000) 182:1331–42. doi: 10.1086/315859
- Blanco JCG, Pletneva LM, McGinnes-Cullen L, Otoa RO, Patel MC, Fernando LR, et al. Efficacy of a respiratory syncytial virus vaccine candidate in a maternal immunization model. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:1904. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-04216-6
- 32. Cayatte C, Snell Bennett A, Rajani GM, Hostetler L, Maynard SK, Lazzaro M, et al. Inferior immunogenicity and efficacy of respiratory syncytial virus fusion protein-based subunit vaccine candidates in aged versus young mice. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0188708. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0188708
- Esposito S, Pietro GD. Respiratory syncytial virus vaccines: an update on those in the immediate pipeline. *Future Microbiol.* (2016) 11:1479–90. doi: 10.2217/fmb-2016-0106
- 34. Garg R, Latimer L, Gomis S, Gerdts V, Potter A, van Drunen Littelvan den Hurk S. Maternal vaccination with a novel chimeric glycoprotein formulated with a polymer-based adjuvant provides protection from human parainfluenza virus type 3 in newborn lambs. *Antiviral Res.* (2019) 162:54– 60. doi: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2018.12.010
- Herve PL, Descamps D, Deloizy C, Dhelft V, Laubreton D, Bouguyon E, et al. Non-invasive epicutaneous vaccine against Respiratory Syncytial Virus: Preclinical proof of concept. J Control Release. (2016) 243:146–59. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.10.003
- 36. Sarkar I, Zardini Buzatto A, Garg R, Li L, van Drunen Littel-van den Hurk S. Metabolomic and immunological profiling of respiratory syncytial virus infection after intranasal immunization with a subunit vaccine candidate. J Proteome Res. (2019) 18:1145–61. doi: 10.1021/acs.jproteome.8b00806
- 37. Schneider-Ohrum K, Cayatte C, Bennett AS, Rajani GM, McTamney P, Nacel K, et al. Immunization with low doses of recombinant postfusion or prefusion respiratory syncytial virus F primes for vaccine-enhanced disease in the cotton rat model independently of the presence of a Th1-biasing (GLA-SE) or Th2-biasing (Alum) adjuvant. J Virol. (2017) 91:e02180-16. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02180-16
- Zhang L, Durr E, Galli JD, Cosmi S, Cejas PJ, Luo B, et al. Design and characterization of a fusion glycoprotein vaccine for Respiratory Syncytial Virus with improved stability. *Vaccine*. (2018) 36:8119–30. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.10.032
- 39. Brock LG, Liu X, Liang B, Lingemann M, Liu X, Herbert R, et al. Murine pneumonia virus expressing the fusion glycoprotein of human respiratory syncytial virus from an added gene is highly attenuated and immunogenic in rhesus macaques. J Virol. (2018) 92:e00723-18. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00 723-18
- 40. Green CA, Sande CJ, Scarselli E, Capone S, Vitelli A, Nicosia A, et al. Novel genetically-modified chimpanzee adenovirus and MVAvectored respiratory syncytial virus vaccine safely boosts humoral and cellular immunity in healthy older adults. J Infect. (2019) 78:382–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2019.02.003
- 41. Liang B, Kabatova B, Kabat J, Dorward DW, Liu X, Surman S, et al. Effects of alterations to the CX3C motif and secreted form of human respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) G protein on immune responses to a parainfluenza virus vector expressing the RSV G protein. *J Virol.* (2019) 93:e02043-18. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02043-18

- Lu X, Yang J, Wu H, Yang Z, Jin C, Wang J, et al. High-throughput sequencing identifies HIV-1-replication- and latency-related miRNAs in CD4(+) T cell lines. Arch Virol. (2017) 162:1933–42. doi: 10.1007/s00705-017-3305-5
- Phan SI, Adam CM, Chen Z, Citron M, Liang X, Espeseth AS, et al. Genetic stability of parainfluenza virus 5-vectored human respiratory syncytial virus vaccine candidates after *in vitro* and *in vivo* passage. J Virol. (2017) 91:e00559-17. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00559-17
- 44. Phan SI, Zengel JR, Wei H, Li Z, Wang D, He B. Parainfluenza virus 5 expressing wild-type or prefusion respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) fusion protein protects mice and cotton rats from RSV challenge. J Virol. (2017) 91:e00560-17. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00560-17
- 45. Wang D, Phan S, DiStefano DJ, Citron MP, Callahan CL, Indrawati L, et al. A single-dose recombinant parainfluenza virus 5-vectored vaccine expressing respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) F or G protein protected cotton rats and African green monkeys from RSV challenge. *J Virol.* (2017) 91:e00066-17. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00066-17
- 46. Wiegand MA, Gori-Savellini G, Gandolfo C, Papa G, Kaufmann C, Felder E, et al. A Respiratory syncytial virus vaccine vectored by a stable chimeric and replication-deficient sendai virus protects mice without inducing enhanced disease. J Virol. (2017) 91:e02298-16. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02298-16
- Harcourt JL, Anderson LJ, Sullender W, Tripp RA. Pulmonary delivery of respiratory syncytial virus DNA vaccines using macroaggregated albumin particles. *Vaccine*. (2004) 22:2248–60. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2003.11.050
- Murawski MR, McGinnes LW, Finberg RW, Kurt-Jones EA, Massare MJ, Smith G, et al. Newcastle disease virus-like particles containing respiratory syncytial virus G protein induced protection in BALB/c mice, with no evidence of immunopathology. J Virol. (2010) 84:1110–23. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01709-09
- Schmidt MR, McGinnes LW, Kenward SA, Willems KN, Woodland RT, Morrison TG. Long-term and memory immune responses in mice against Newcastle disease virus-like particles containing respiratory syncytial virus glycoprotein ectodomains. J Virol. (2012) 86:11654–62. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01510-12
- Rigter A, Widjaja I, Versantvoort H, Coenjaerts FE, van Roosmalen M, Leenhouts K, et al. A protective and safe intranasal RSV vaccine based on a recombinant prefusion-like form of the F protein bound to bacterium-like particles. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e71072. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0071072
- Van Braeckel-Budimir N, Haijema BJ, Leenhouts K. Bacterium-like particles for efficient immune stimulation of existing vaccines and new subunit vaccines in mucosal applications. *Front Immunol.* (2013) 4:282. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00282
- Lee S, Quan FS, Kwon Y, Sakamoto K, Kang SM, Compans RW, et al. Additive protection induced by mixed virus-like particles presenting respiratory syncytial virus fusion or attachment glycoproteins. *Antiviral Res.* (2014) 111:129–35. doi: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2014.09.005
- McGinnes Cullen L, Schmidt MR, Kenward SA, Woodland RT, Morrison TG. Murine immune responses to virus-like particle-associated pre- and postfusion forms of the respiratory syncytial virus F protein. J Virol. (2015) 89:6835–47. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00384-15
- Jorquera PA, Tripp RA. Synthetic biodegradable microparticle and nanoparticle vaccines against the respiratory syncytial virus. *Vaccines*. (2016) 4:E45. doi: 10.3390/vaccines4040045
- 55. Schwarz B, Morabito KM, Ruckwardt TJ, Patterson DP, Avera J, Miettinen HM, et al. Viruslike particles encapsidating respiratory syncytial virus M and M2 proteins induce robust T cell responses. ACS Biomater Sci Eng. (2016) 2:2324–32. doi: 10.1021/acsbiomaterials.6b00532
- 56. Hwang HS, Kim KH, Lee Y, Lee YT, Ko EJ, Park S, et al. Viruslike particle vaccines containing F or F and G proteins confer protection against respiratory syncytial virus without pulmonary inflammation in cotton rats. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*. (2017) 13:1031–9. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2016.1272743
- 57. Kim AR, Lee DH, Lee SH, Rubino I, Choi HJ, Quan FS. Protection induced by virus-like particle vaccine containing tandem repeat gene of respiratory syncytial virus G protein. *PLoS ONE*. (2018) 13:e0191277. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0191277
- 58. Smith TRF, Schultheis K, Morrow MP, Kraynyak KA, McCoy JR, Yim KC, et al. Development of an intradermal DNA vaccine delivery strategy to

achieve single-dose immunity against respiratory syncytial virus. Vaccine. (2017) 35:2840–7. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.04.008

- Smith TRF, Schultheis K, Broderick KE. Nucleic acid-based vaccines targeting respiratory syncytial virus: delivering the goods. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*. (2017) 13:2626–9. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2017.1363134
- 60. Hua Y, Jiao YY, Ma Y, Peng XL, Fu YH, Zhang XJ, et al. Enhanced humoral and CD8+ T cell immunity in mice vaccinated by DNA vaccine against human respiratory syncytial virus through targeting the encoded F protein to dendritic cells. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2017) 46:62–9. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2017.02.023
- Hua Y, Jiao YY, Ma Y, Peng XL, Fu YH, Zheng YP, et al. DNA vaccine encoding central conserved region of G protein induces Th1 predominant immune response and protection from RSV infection in mice. *Immunol Lett.* (2016) 179:95–101. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2016.09.011
- Eroglu E, Singh A, Bawage S, Tiwari PM, Vig K, Pillai SR, et al. Immunogenicity of RSV F DNA vaccine in BALB/c mice. Adv Virol. (2016) 2016:7971847. doi: 10.1155/2016/7971847
- Wu H, Dennis VA, Pillai SR, Singh SR. RSV fusion (F) protein DNA vaccine provides partial protection against viral infection. *Virus Res.* (2009) 145:39–47. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2009.06.012
- Barichievy S, Bakre A. Host-encoded miRNAs involved in host-pathogen interactions. In: Tripp RA, Karpilow J, editors. *Frontiers in RNAi*. Vol. 1. Oak Park, IL: Bentham Science Publishers (2014). p. 107–43. doi: 10.2174/9781608059409114010010
- Mgbemena V, Segovia J, Chang T, Bose S. Kruppel-like factor 6 regulates transforming growth factor-beta gene expression during human respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Virol J.* (2011) 8:409. doi: 10.1186/1743-422X-8-409
- Jadidi-Niaragh F, Mirshafiey A. The deviated balance between regulatory T cell and Th17 in autoimmunity. *Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol*. (2012) 34:727–39. doi: 10.3109/08923973.2011.619987
- Mukherjee M, Nair P. Autoimmune responses in severe asthma. Allergy Asthma Immunol Res. (2018) 10:428–47. doi: 10.4168/aair.2018.10.5.428
- Arenas-Padilla M, Mata-Haro V. Regulation of TLR signaling pathways by microRNAs: implications in inflammatory diseases. *Central Eur J Immunol.* (2018) 43:482–9. doi: 10.5114/ceji.2018.81351
- Salvi V, Gianello V, Tiberio L, Sozzani S, Bosisio D. Cytokine targeting by miRNAs in autoimmune diseases. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:15. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00015
- Yan L, Liang M, Hou X, Zhang Y, Zhang H, Guo Z, et al. The role of microRNA-16 in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases: a comprehensive review. *Biomed Pharmacother*. (2019) 112:108583. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2019.01.044
- Eyileten C, Wicik Z, De Rosa S, Mirowska-Guzel D, Soplinska A, Indolfi C, et al. MicroRNAs as diagnostic and prognostic biomarkers in ischemic stroke-a comprehensive review and bioinformatic analysis. *Cells.* (2018) 7:E249. doi: 10.3390/cells7120249
- Huang X, Zhu Z, Guo X, Kong X. The roles of microRNAs in the pathogenesis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2019) 67:335–47. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.201 8.12.013
- Lorente-Cebrian S, Gonzalez-Muniesa P, Milagro FI, Martinez JA. MicroRNAs and other non-coding RNAs in adipose tissue and obesity: emerging roles as biomarkers and therapeutic targets. *Clin Sci.* (2019) 133:23–40. doi: 10.1042/CS20180890
- Pockar S, Globocnik Petrovic M, Peterlin B, Vidovic Valentincic N. MiRNA as biomarker for uveitis - a systematic review of the literature. *Gene*. (2019) 696:162–75. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2019.02.004
- Amaral AJ, Andrade J, Foxall RB, Matoso P, Matos AM, Soares RS, et al. miRNA profiling of human naive CD4T cells links miR-34c-5p to cell activation and HIV replication. *EMBO J.* (2017) 36:346–60. doi: 10.15252/embj.201694335
- Gutierrez-Vazquez C, Rodriguez-Galan A, Fernandez-Alfara M, Mittelbrunn M, Sanchez-Cabo F, Martinez-Herrera DJ, et al. miRNA profiling during antigen-dependent T cell activation: a role for miR-132-3p. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:3508. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-03689-7
- 77. Torri A, Carpi D, Bulgheroni E, Crosti MC, Moro M, Gruarin P, et al. Extracellular MicroRNA signature of human helper T cell

subsets in health and autoimmunity. J Biol Chem. (2017) 292:2903-15. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116.769893

- Zhou H, Wu L. The development and function of dendritic cell populations and their regulation by miRNAs. *Protein Cell*. (2017) 8:501–13. doi: 10.1007/s13238-017-0398-2
- Johansson K, Malmhall C, Ramos-Ramirez P, Radinger M. MicroRNA-155 is a critical regulator of type 2 innate lymphoid cells and IL-33 signaling in experimental models of allergic airway inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2017) 139:1007–16.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.06.035
- Kim RY, Horvat JC, Pinkerton JW, Starkey MR, Essilfie AT, Mayall JR, et al. MicroRNA-21 drives severe, steroid-insensitive experimental asthma by amplifying phosphoinositide 3-kinase-mediated suppression of histone deacetylase 2. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2017) 139:519–32. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.04.038
- Lu S, Mukkada VA, Mangray S, Cleveland K, Shillingford N, Schorl C, et al. MicroRNA profiling in mucosal biopsies of eosinophilic esophagitis patients pre and post treatment with steroids and relationship with mRNA targets. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e40676. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0040676
- Lu TX, Sherrill JD, Wen T, Plassard AJ, Besse JA, Abonia JP, et al. MicroRNA signature in patients with eosinophilic esophagitis, reversibility with glucocorticoids, and assessment as disease biomarkers. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2012) 129:1064–75.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.01.060
- Malmhall C, Johansson K, Winkler C, Alawieh S, Ekerljung L, Radinger M. Altered miR-155 expression in allergic asthmatic airways. *Scand J Immunol.* (2017) 85:300–7. doi: 10.1111/sji.12535
- Yang M, Eyers F, Xiang Y, Guo M, Young IG, Rosenberg HF, et al. Expression profiling of differentiating eosinophils in bone marrow cultures predicts functional links between microRNAs and their target mRNAs. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e97537. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0097537
- Bartel DP. MicroRNAs: target recognition and regulatory functions. *Cell.* (2009) 136:215–33. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.01.002
- Cloonan N. Re-thinking miRNA-mRNA interactions: intertwining issues confound target discovery. *Bioessays*. (2015) 37:379–88. doi: 10.1002/bies.201400191
- Fabian MR, Sonenberg N, Filipowicz W. Regulation of mRNA translation and stability by microRNAs. *Annu Rev Biochem*. (2010) 79:351–79. doi: 10.1146/annurev-biochem-060308-103103
- Friedman RC, Farh KK, Burge CB, Bartel DP. Most mammalian mRNAs are conserved targets of microRNAs. *Genome Res.* (2009) 19:92–105. doi: 10.1101/gr.082701.108
- Jia S, Zhai H, Zhao M. MicroRNAs regulate immune system via multiple targets. *Discov Med.* (2014) 18:237–47.
- Jost D, Nowojewski A, Levine E. Small RNA biology is systems biology. BMB Rep. (2011) 44:11–21. doi: 10.5483/BMBRep.2011.44.1.11
- Place RF, Li LC, Pookot D, Noonan EJ, Dahiya R. MicroRNA-373 induces expression of genes with complementary promoter sequences. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2008) 105:1608–13. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0707594105
- Huang V, Place RF, Portnoy V, Wang J, Qi Z, Jia Z, et al. Upregulation of Cyclin B1 by miRNA and its implications in cancer. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2012) 40:1695–707. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkr934
- Bellingham SA, Hill AF. Analysis of miRNA signatures in neurodegenerative prion disease. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2017) 1658:67–80. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7244-9_6
- Chandra S, Vimal D, Sharma D, Rai V, Gupta SC, Chowdhuri DK. Role of miRNAs in development and disease: lessons learnt from small organisms. *Life Sci.* (2017) 185:8–14. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2017.07.017
- Dahiya N, Atreya CD. MicroRNAs and major bloodborne infectious viral diseases. *Microrna.* (2014) 2:212–8. doi: 10.2174/2211536602666131118224225
- 96. Diosa-Toro M, Echavarria-Consuegra L, Flipse J, Fernandez GJ, Kluiver J, van den Berg A, et al. MicroRNA profiling of human primary macrophages exposed to dengue virus identifies miRNA-3614-5p as antiviral and regulator of ADAR1 expression. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2017) 11:e0005981. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0005981
- Kumar H, Bot A. Role of MicroRNAs in shaping innate immunity and as therapeutic targets for autoimmune diseases. *Int Rev Immunol.* (2017) 36:123–4. doi: 10.1080/08830185.2017.1340043

- Xu Z, Zhou A, Ni J, Zhang Q, Wang Y, Lu J, et al. Differential expression of miRNAs and their relation to active tuberculosis. *Tuberculosis*. (2015) 95:395–403. doi: 10.1016/j.tube.2015.02.043
- Othumpangat S, Walton C, Piedimonte G. MicroRNA-221 modulates RSV replication in human bronchial epithelium by targeting NGF expression. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e30030. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0030030
- 100. Bakre A, Mitchell P, Coleman JK, Jones LP, Saavedra G, Teng M, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus modifies microRNAs regulating host genes that affect virus replication. J Gen Virol. (2012) 93:2346–56. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.044255-0
- Thornburg NJ, Hayward SL, Crowe JE Jr. Respiratory syncytial virus regulates human microRNAs by using mechanisms involving beta interferon and NF-kappaB. *MBio*. (2012) 3:e00220-12. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00220-12
- 102. Bakre A, Wu W, Hiscox J, Spann K, Teng MN, Tripp RA. Human respiratory syncytial virus non-structural protein NS1 modifies miR-24 expression via transforming growth factor-beta. J Gen Virol. (2015) 96:3179– 91. doi: 10.1099/jgv.0.000261
- 103. Bakre AA, Harcourt JL, Haynes LM, Anderson LJ, Tripp RA. The central conserved region (CCR) of respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) G protein modulates host miRNA expression and alters the cellular response to infection. *Vaccines*. (2017) 5:E16. doi: 10.3390/vaccines5030016
- 104. Banos-Lara MDR, Zabaleta J, Garai J, Baddoo M, Guerrero-Plata A. Comparative analysis of miRNA profile in human dendritic cells infected with respiratory syncytial virus and human metapneumovirus. *BMC Res Notes.* (2018) 11:432. doi: 10.1186/s13104-018-3541-0
- 105. Eilam-Frenkel B, Naaman H, Brkic G, Veksler-Lublinsky I, Rall G, Shemer-Avni Y, et al. MicroRNA 146-5p, miR-let-7c-5p, miR-221 and miR-345-5p are differentially expressed in Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) persistently infected HEp-2 cells. *Virus Res.* (2018) 251:34–9. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2018.05.006
- 106. Hasegawa K, Perez-Losada M, Hoptay CE, Epstein S, Mansbach JM, Teach SJ, et al. RSV vs. rhinovirus bronchiolitis: difference in nasal airway microRNA profiles and NFkappaB signaling. *Pediatr Res.* (2018) 83:606–14. doi: 10.1038/pr.2017.309
- 107. Inchley CS, Sonerud T, Fjaerli HO, Nakstad B. Nasal mucosal microRNA expression in children with respiratory syncytial virus infection. BMC Infect Dis. (2015) 15:150. doi: 10.1186/s12879-015-0878-z
- McCaskill JL, Ressel S, Alber A, Redford J, Power UF, Schwarze J, et al. Broadspectrum inhibition of respiratory virus infection by MicroRNA mimics targeting p38 MAPK signaling. *Mol Ther Nucleic Acids*. (2017) 7:256–66. doi: 10.1016/j.omtn.2017.03.008
- Wang S, Liu P, Yang P, Zheng J, Zhao D. Peripheral blood microRNAs expression is associated with infant respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Oncotarget*. (2017) 8:96627–35. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.19364
- 110. Feldman SA, Audet S, Beeler JA. The fusion glycoprotein of human respiratory syncytial virus facilitates virus attachment and infectivity via an interaction with cellular heparan sulfate. *J Virol.* (2000) 74:6442–7. doi: 10.1128/JVI.74.14.6442-6447.2000
- 111. Tripp RA, Moore D, Jones L, Sullender W, Winter J, Anderson LJ. Respiratory syncytial virus G and/or SH protein alters Th1 cytokines, natural killer cells, and neutrophils responding to pulmonary infection in BALB/c mice. J Virol. (1999) 73:7099–107.
- 112. Jorquera PA, Choi Y, Oakley KE, Powell TJ, Boyd JG, Palath N, et al. Nanoparticle vaccines encompassing the respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) G protein CX3C chemokine motif induce robust immunity protecting from challenge and disease. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e74905. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0074905
- 113. Prince GA, Curtis SJ, Yim KC, Porter DD. Vaccine-enhanced respiratory syncytial virus disease in cotton rats following immunization with Lot 100 or a newly prepared reference vaccine. *J Gen Virol.* (2001) 82:2881–8. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-82-12-2881
- 114. Haynes LM, Jones LP, Barskey A, Anderson LJ, Tripp RA. Enhanced disease and pulmonary eosinophilia associated with formalin-inactivated respiratory syncytial virus vaccination are linked to G glycoprotein CX3C-CX3CR1 interaction and expression of substance P. *J Virol.* (2003) 77:9831–44. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.18.9831-9844.2003
- 115. Anderson LJ. Respiratory syncytial virus vaccine development. Semin Immunol. (2013) 25:160–71. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2013.04.011

- 116. Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD. Analysis of relative gene expression data using realtime quantitative PCR and the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method. *Methods*. (2001) 25:402–8. doi: 10.1006/meth.2001.1262
- 117. Vlachos IS, Zagganas K, Paraskevopoulou MD, Georgakilas G, Karagkouni D, Vergoulis T, et al. DIANA-miRPath v3.0: deciphering microRNA function with experimental support. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2015) 43:W460–6. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkv403
- 118. Vlachos IS, Kostoulas N, Vergoulis T, Georgakilas G, Reczko M, Maragkakis M, et al. DIANA miRPath v.2.0: investigating the combinatorial effect of microRNAs in pathways. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2012) 40:W498–504. doi: 10.1093/nar/gks494
- Papadopoulos GL, Alexiou P, Maragkakis M, Reczko M, Hatzigeorgiou AG. DIANA-mirPath: Integrating human and mouse microRNAs in pathways. *Bioinformatics*. (2009) 25:1991–3. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btp299
- 120. Jorquera PA, Oakley KE, Powell TJ, Palath N, Boyd JG, Tripp RA. Layer-by-layer nanoparticle vaccines carrying the G protein CX3C motif protect against RSV infection and disease. *Vaccines*. (2015) 3:829–49. doi: 10.3390/vaccines3040829
- 121. Karron RA, Buonagurio DA, Georgiu AF, Whitehead SS, Adamus JE, Clements-Mann ML, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) SH and G proteins are not essential for viral replication *in vitro*: clinical evaluation and molecular characterization of a cold-passaged, attenuated RSV subgroup B mutant. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1997) 94:13961–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.25.13961
- 122. Crowe JE Jr, Bui PT, Firestone CY, Connors M, Elkins WR, Chanock RM, et al. Live subgroup B respiratory syncytial virus vaccines that are attenuated, genetically stable, and immunogenic in rodents and nonhuman primates. J Infect Dis. (1996) 173:829–39. doi: 10.1093/infdis/173.4.829
- 123. Gotera J, Giuffrida M, Mavarez A, Pons H, Bermudez J, Maldonado M, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus infection increases regulated on activation normal T cell expressed and secreted and monocyte chemotactic protein 1 levels in serum of patients with asthma and in human monocyte cultures. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* (2012) 108:316–20. doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2012.03.006
- 124. Oshansky CM, Barber JP, Crabtree J, Tripp RA. Respiratory syncytial virus F and G proteins induce interleukin 1alpha, CC, and CXC chemokine responses by normal human bronchoepithelial cells. J Infect Dis. (2010) 201:1201–7. doi: 10.1086/651431
- 125. Conti P, DiGioacchino M. MCP-1 and RANTES are mediators of acute and chronic inflammation. *Allergy Asthma Proc.* (2001) 22:133–7. doi: 10.2500/108854101778148737
- Gulyaeva LF, Kushlinskiy NE. Regulatory mechanisms of microRNA expression. J Transl Med. (2016) 14:143. doi: 10.1186/s12967-016-0893-x
- 127. Correia CN, Nalpas NC, McLoughlin KE, Browne JA, Gordon SV, MacHugh DE, et al. Circulating microRNAs as potential biomarkers of infectious disease. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:118. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00118
- 128. da Silva AM, de Araujo JN, de Freitas RC, Silbiger VN. Circulating MicroRNAs as potential biomarkers of atrial fibrillation. *Biomed Res Int.* (2017) 2017:7804763. doi: 10.1155/2017/7804763
- Henshall DC, Hamer HM, Pasterkamp RJ, Goldstein DB, Kjems J, Prehn JHM, et al. MicroRNAs in epilepsy: pathophysiology and clinical utility. *Lancet Neurol.* (2016) 15:1368–76. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(16)30246-0
- 130. Iljas JD, Guanzon D, Elfeky O, Rice GE, Salomon C. Review: bio-compartmentalization of microRNAs in exosomes during gestational diabetes mellitus. *Placenta*. (2017) 54:76–82. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2016.12.002
- Kumar S, Vijayan M, Bhatti JS, Reddy PH. MicroRNAs as peripheral biomarkers in aging and age-related diseases. *Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci.* (2017) 146:47–94. doi: 10.1016/bs.pmbts.2016.12.013
- 132. Liu X, Liu X, Wu Y, Wu Q, Wang Q, Yang Z, et al. MicroRNAs in biofluids are novel tools for bladder cancer screening. *Oncotarget*. (2017) 8:32370–9. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.16026
- 133. Shigeyasu K, Toden S, Zumwalt TJ, Okugawa Y, Goel A. Emerging role of MicroRNAs as liquid biopsy biomarkers in gastrointestinal cancers. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2017) 23:2391–9. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-1676
- 134. Mauri M, Kirchner M, Aharoni R, Ciolli Mattioli C, van den Bruck D, Gutkovitch N, et al. Conservation of miRNA-mediated silencing mechanisms across 600 million years of animal evolution. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2017) 45:938–50. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkw792

- Zhao Y, Song Y, Yao L, Song G, Teng C. Circulating microRNAs: promising biomarkers involved in several cancers and other diseases. DNA Cell Biol. (2017) 36:77–94. doi: 10.1089/dna.2016.3426
- Fujio K, Komai T, Inoue M, Morita K, Okamura T, Yamamoto K. Revisiting the regulatory roles of the TGF-beta family of cytokines. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2016) 15:917–22. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2016.07.007
- 137. Gagliardo R, Chanez P, Gjomarkaj M, La Grutta S, Bonanno A, Montalbano AM, et al. The role of transforming growth factor-betal in airway inflammation of childhood asthma. *Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol.* (2013) 26:725–38. doi: 10.1177/039463201302600316
- Ganeshan K, Johnston LK, Bryce PJ. TGF-beta1 limits the onset of innate lung inflammation by promoting mast cell-derived IL-6. *J Immunol.* (2013) 190:5731–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1203362
- 139. Kang HR, Cho SJ, Lee CG, Homer RJ, Elias JA. Transforming growth factor (TGF)-beta1 stimulates pulmonary fibrosis and inflammation via a Baxdependent, bid-activated pathway that involves matrix metalloproteinase-12. *J Biol Chem*. (2007) 282:7723–32. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M610764200
- 140. Li MO, Flavell RA. TGF-beta: a master of all T cell trades. Cell. (2008) 134:392–404. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.07.025
- 141. Li MO, Sanjabi S, Flavell RA. Transforming growth factor-beta controls development, homeostasis, and tolerance of T cells by regulatory T cell-dependent and -independent mechanisms. *Immunity.* (2006) 25:455–71. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2006.07.011
- 142. McCann KL, Imani F. Transforming growth factor beta enhances respiratory syncytial virus replication and tumor necrosis factor alpha induction in human epithelial cells. J Virol. (2007) 81:2880–6. doi: 10.1128/JVI. 02583-06
- Oh SA, Li MO. TGF-beta: guardian of T cell function. J Immunol. (2013) 191:3973–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301843
- 144. Tu E, Chia PZ, Chen W. TGFbeta in T cell biology and tumor immunity: angel or devil? *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* (2014) 25:423–35. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2014.07.014
- 145. Gibbs JD, Ornoff DM, Igo HA, Zeng JY, Imani F. Cell cycle arrest by transforming growth factor beta1 enhances replication of respiratory syncytial virus in lung epithelial cells. J Virol. (2009) 83:12424–31. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00806-09
- 146. Pokharel SM, Shil NK, Bose S. Autophagy, TGF-beta, and SMAD-2/3 signaling regulates interferon-beta response in respiratory syncytial virus infected macrophages. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol.* (2016) 6:174. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2016.00174
- 147. Thornburg NJ, Shepherd B, Crowe JE Jr. Transforming growth factor beta is a major regulator of human neonatal immune responses following respiratory syncytial virus infection. J Virol. (2010) 84:12895–902. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01273-10
- 148. Seiler F, Hellberg J, Lepper PM, Kamyschnikow A, Herr C, Bischoff M, et al. FOXO transcription factors regulate innate immune mechanisms in respiratory epithelial cells. *J Immunol.* (2013) 190:1603–13. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1200596
- 149. Ohol YM, Wang Z, Kemble G, Duke G. Direct inhibition of cellular fatty acid synthase impairs replication of respiratory syncytial virus and other respiratory viruses. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0144648. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0144648
- Kast JI, McFarlane AJ, Globinska A, Sokolowska M, Wawrzyniak P, Sanak M, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus infection influences tight junction integrity. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2017) 190:351–9. doi: 10.1111/cei.13042
- 151. Rezaee F, DeSando SA, Ivanov AI, Chapman TJ, Knowlden SA, Beck LA, et al. Sustained protein kinase D activation mediates respiratory

syncytial virus-induced airway barrier disruption. J Virol. (2013) 87:11088–95. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01573-13

- 152. Rezaee F, Harford TJ, Linfield DT, Altawallbeh G, Midura RJ, Ivanov AI, et al. cAMP-dependent activation of protein kinase A attenuates respiratory syncytial virus-induced human airway epithelial barrier disruption. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0181876. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0181876
- 153. Wong W. Hippo-sized antiviral defenses. Sci Signal. (2017) 10:eaan4043. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aan4043
- 154. Garofalo R, Mei F, Espejo R, Ye G, Haeberle H, Baron S, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus infection of human respiratory epithelial cells up-regulates class I MHC expression through the induction of IFN-beta and IL-1 alpha. J Immunol. (1996) 157:2506–13.
- 155. Konig B, Streckert HJ, Krusat T, Konig W. Respiratory syncytial virus G-protein modulates cytokine release from human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. J Leukoc Biol. (1996) 59:403–6. doi: 10.1002/jlb.59.3.403
- 156. Krishnan S, Craven M, Welliver RC, Ahmad N, Halonen M. Differences in participation of innate and adaptive immunity to respiratory syncytial virus in adults and neonates. *J Infect Dis.* (2003) 188:433–9. doi: 10.1086/376530
- 157. Cheng K, Rai P, Plagov A, Lan X, Mathieson PW, Saleem MA, et al. Rapamycin-induced modulation of miRNA expression is associated with amelioration of HIV-associated nephropathy (HIVAN). *Exp Cell Res.* (2013) 319:2073–80. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2013.04.011
- 158. de Souza AP, de Freitas DN, Antuntes Fernandes KE, D'Avila da Cunha M, Antunes Fernandes JL, Benetti Gassen R, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus induces phosphorylation of mTOR at ser2448 in CD8 T cells from nasal washes of infected infants. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2016) 183:248–57. doi: 10.1111/cei.12720
- 159. Kumar M, Sharma A, Ahmad T, Mabalirajan U, Aich J, Agrawal A, et al. Antagonism of mmu-mir-106a attenuates asthma features in allergic murine model. *J Appl Physiol.* (2012) 113:459–64. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00001.2012
- 160. Lu TX, Rothenberg ME. Diagnostic, functional, and therapeutic roles of microRNA in allergic diseases. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2013) 132:3–13; quiz 14. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2013.04.039
- 161. Herbert C, Collison A, Siegle JS, Mattes J, Foster PS, Kumar RK. Altered expression of microRNA in the airway wall in chronic asthma: miR-126 as a potential therapeutic target. *BMC Pulm Med.* (2011) 11:29. doi: 10.1186/1471-2466-11-29
- Knudson CJ, Hartwig SM, Meyerholz DK, Varga SM. RSV vaccine-enhanced disease is orchestrated by the combined actions of distinct CD4 T cell subsets. *PLoS Pathog.* (2015) 11:e1004757. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004757
- 163. Su YC, Townsend D, Herrero LJ, Zaid A, Rolph MS, Gahan ME, et al. Dual proinflammatory and antiviral properties of pulmonary eosinophils in respiratory syncytial virus vaccine-enhanced disease. *J Virol.* (2015) 89:1564– 78. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01536-14

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Atherton, Jorquera, Bakre and Tripp. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

